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Awards for Legacy

• Bronze medalist in the 2008 Moonbeam Children’s Book Awards 
for Young Adult Fiction

• Finalist in two categories in the National Best Books Awards 2008 
sponsored by USA Book News

• First place winner (reviewer’s choice)
in the Reader Views Literary Awards 2008 for Young Adult Fiction

• Young Voices Foundation book of the month for January 2009

Praise for Legacy

“Legacy follows the joys and dramas of a young girl
navigating her way out of the safe harbors of childhood and into 

the uncertain and difficult waters of adulthood. The first in a trilogy, 
Legacy is simple but effective, succeeding largely on the author’s 
ability to craft a sympathetic and human character in Alera….
A thoroughly entertaining read, Legacy shows a lot of promise,

for Kluver and her princess.”
—Miami Herald

“Alera’s sensitivity and willfulness will win readers over
who will sympathize as her choices dwindle. A looming war, 
characters with intriguingly hidden pasts, and a sad ending

set things up nicely for a sequel.”
—Booklist Online

“Anyone who says teens can’t write should meet
16-year-old Cayla Kluver…. Kluver’s writing is impressive, fluid and 
focuses heavily on social customs and deep, complex characters; the 
skill of the writing and the resulting story make Legacy one book 
that any fantasy fan should pick up at the earliest opportunity.”

—Cleveland Literature Examiner

“If you’re looking for a richly painted tapestry of words,
a fantasy sort of book written as if Jane Austen were still alive

and had decided to write fantasies involving princesses,
then you’re sure to love Legacy.”

—Curled Up With a Good Kid’s Book, Five Stars

“I enthusiastically encourage readers young and old alike to sample 
the nuanced richness of Cayla Kluver’s Legacy—it is both humbling 
and heartening for this reviewer to encounter tale-craft and youth 

blended so well in a debut novel.”
—Bookideas.com, Perfect 10!
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“I swear, once you start reading this book, you can’t stop.
It’s SO good. The book ended with me wanting more!

I can’t wait ’til Allegiance comes out!”
—BookLover (lizdoglover.blogspot.com), 5.0—The Best EVER!

“Well-paced and well-written,
Legacy has passages of idyllic prose, tensions between lovers,

and a powerful narrative in the description of a tournament battle…. 
But there are enough story threads left hanging to ensure that book 
two, Allegiance, will be a fitting sequel and to ensure Cayla Kluver’s 

legacy as a stellar author and storyteller.”
—ForeWord Clarion Reviews, Five Stars

“With likeable characters and vivid details,
this is an engrossing story for young adults….

Kluver’s grasp of language, dialogue and character development 
shows that she is as promising as her heroine.”

—Renaissance Magazine

“Legacy is a breathtakingly beautiful story
about one girl’s struggle to overcome the expectations of a

kingdom and find her own happiness…. Full of political struggle, 
duty, legends, brilliant characters, and beautiful prose,

Legacy will leave readers wanting more.”
—Chick Lit Teens (www.chicklitteens.com)

“First let me just say wow. I am in love with this book
and with Cayla’s beautiful writing…. I am so impressed with the 

storyline, it kept me on the edge of my seat. I loved the descriptive 
details, which helped me imagine the life of Princess Alera…. 
Legacy is a mix of King Arthur and Romeo and Juliet in a way.

I honestly will say it’s now on my top 5 favorite books
with Twilight and The Hunger Games.”

—La Femme Readers (lafemmereaders.blogspot.com)

“Cayla Kluver, the sixteen-year-old author of Legacy,
is truly brilliant. Her eloquent dialogue and cleverly plotted tale

of kings and queens, romance and deceit
will keep you turning the pages and wanting more.”
—Families Matter (familiesmatter2us.blogspot.com)
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Cayla Kluver
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If you purchased this book without a cover you should be aware
that this book is stolen property. It was reported as “unsold and
destroyed” to the publisher, and neither the author nor the
publisher has received any payment for this “stripped book.”

ISBN-13: 978-0-373-21034-3

LEGACY

Copyright © 2009 by Cayla Kluver  

First Paperback Edition 2011

All rights reserved. Except for use in any review, the reproduction or 
utilization of this work in whole or in part in any form by any electronic, 
mechanical or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including 
xerography, photocopying and recording, or in any information storage 
or retrieval system, is forbidden without the written permission of the 
publisher, Harlequin Enterprises Limited, 225 Duncan Mill Road, 
Don Mills, Ontario M3B 3K9, Canada.

This is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places and incidents are 
either the product of the author’s imagination or are used fictitiously, 
and any resemblance to actual persons, living or dead, business 
establishments, events or locales is entirely coincidental.

This edition published by arrangement with Harlequin Books S.A.

For questions and comments about the quality of this book
please contact us at Customer_eCare@Harlequin.ca.

® and TM are trademarks of the publisher. Trademarks indicated with
® are registered in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, 
the Canadian Trade Marks Office and in other countries.

www.HarlequinTEEN.com

Printed in U.S.A.

Recycling programs 
for this product may 

not exist in your area.
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This book is dedicated to Mom, Nina, and Grandma Frances,
who would have loved every moment.
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THE FIRST BOY DISAPPEARED ON THE DAY OF HIS 
birth, on a night when the pale yellow moon that ruled the 
sky turned red and bathed the heavens in the ghastly color of 
blood, the same night the Empire of Cokyri abruptly ceased 
its merciless attack.
 Across the land of Hytanica, in the villages, infant boys 
continued to vanish. King Adrik turned a blind eye fool-
ishly, seeking no explanation, for he needed to refortify his 
kingdom’s defenses in case Cokyri resumed its brutal on-
slaught. But when children inside the city’s walls began to 
disappear, he was forced to take notice. A count was made 
of the number missing, but before he could determine what 
action should be taken, the disappearances stopped. The last 
Hytanican child to vanish was the newborn son of a wealthy 
baron and baroness.
 Within the week, as the bleeding moon waned, the bodies 
of the infants were found outside the gates of the city, a final 
word from the greatest enemy Hytanica had ever known. 

9780373210343_TS.indd   119780373210343_TS.indd   11 2/4/11   9:31:00 AM2/4/11   9:31:00 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver12

Grieving parents collected the rotting remains of their sons, 
but there was one mystery that would for many years remain 
unsolved. Forty-nine babies were taken, but only forty-eight 
bodies were returned.
 No one knew why the Cokyrians had withdrawn from the 
land or why they had not been able to destroy Hytanica and 
her people. The Cokyrians were superior to the Hytanicans as 
fighters and strategists and did not adhere to any code of honor 
in war, but still Hytanica had not fallen. Some thought they 
had abandoned the effort out of frustration, for they had many 
times been poised to win only to once again lose ground; 
others thought the Cokyrian rulers had finally accepted the 
ancient story of Hytanica’s conception.
 According to lore, the first King of Hytanica, seeking to 
protect his foundling home, had been advised by his priests 
that a sacrifice of blood both royal and innocent would hallow 
the ground and make his kingdom invincible. After much 
soul-searching, the King had taken the life of his own infant 
son and placed drops of the boy’s blood at each corner of the 
land to forever shield the people he loved.
 I was born shortly before the end of the war, a Princess of 
Hytanica, my parents’ first heir. As my people settled into a 
long-awaited time of peace, learning to lead normal lives once 
more, I was brought before them and grew to be a young 
woman, living with a freedom the war-torn generations before 
me had never known. All such things must come to an end, 
however, and that is where my story begins.
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“I THINK I’M GOING TO VOMIT.”
 I paced in front of the barren fireplace that spanned most of 
one wall in my parlor, clasping and unclasping my hands. My 
younger sister, Princess Miranna, had retired to her quarters 
after breathlessly assuring me I would have a lovely evening, 
but then, she was much more enamored with the man I would 
be meeting for dinner tonight than I was. Now it was only 
London, my bodyguard and a member of the King’s Elite 
Guard, waiting with me in the richly furnished room.
 “You’re not going to vomit, Alera. Just try to relax,” London 
advised, one eyebrow raised in bemusement. He picked up a 
book from the table beside the burgundy velvet sofa and began 
to leaf through it.
 “How can I possibly eat?” I asked, my voice sounding shrill 
even to my own ears. “I don’t think I can go through with 
this.”
 “It’s going to be fine. He’s just another suitor, and like the 
rest of them, he has to impress you, not the other way around. 
Besides, as far as I can tell, you have no real interest in him, so I 
don’t know why you’re working yourself into such a state.”
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Cayla Kluver14

 “You don’t understand! If something goes wrong tonight, 
Father is going to be so disappointed.”
 “Well, unless you’ve made plans to marry Steldor that I 
don’t know about, you’re going to disappoint your father in 
the long run no matter what.”
 I stopped pacing and faced London, who had set the book 
back on the table and was now leaning against the tapes-
tried wall by the door, arms crossed over his muscular frame. 
Unruly silver bangs fell across his forehead, contrasting sharply 
with his deep-set indigo eyes, which were fixed upon me in 
anticipation of a response. I fumbled for one; every moment 
I could feel the noose of my impending marriage growing 
tighter. With my seventeenth birthday just around the corner, 
a betrothal would soon be arranged, with or without my ap-
proval of the gentleman. The idea that Steldor might be that 
gentleman…
 “But I can’t stand him. How can I spend the whole evening 
with him?”
 “It’s just one evening. You can survive one evening.” 
London hesitated, then teasingly added, “Besides, he may just 
win you over. I’m not one to underestimate the power of a 
romantic stroll in the garden.”
 “Please say he won’t expect that of me!”
 I stared at him, unable to find humor in such an awful pos-
sibility, and he tried to alleviate the worry he had inadvertently 
created.
 “If he does, tell him you’re feeling ill and that you must 
return to your quarters at once. He can’t argue with that.”
 I sank into one of the plush armchairs that stood near the 
hearth, buried my head in my hands, and moaned. My father, 
King Adrik, had arranged for this dinner between Lord Steldor 
and me, for he felt Steldor was better suited to be his successor 
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than anyone else in the kingdom. As the heir to the throne, I 
was to marry on that basis alone, for it was my husband, not 
I, who would come to rule Hytanica.
 Even I had to admit that Steldor was the obvious choice. 
Three and a half years older than I, he was the son of Cannan, 
the Captain of the Guard, and had one year ago become a 
military field commander at the young age of nineteen. He 
was charming, intelligent and strong, with stunning good 
looks, but I had disliked him from the moment we had met.
 A rap on the door interrupted my thoughts, and London 
stepped into the corridor while I fretfully plucked strands of 
my brown hair free of its upswept style.
 “We’d better go,” he said upon reentering, and I slowly 
rose from the chair. “I have just been informed that Steldor is 
waiting for you in the Grand Entry.”
 London opened the door for me, and we left my parlor to 
walk through the second-f loor corridors of the Royal Resi-
dence toward the spiral staircase at the rear of the palace. In 
addition to my quarters and those of my sister and parents, the 
residence included a library, a family dining room, a kitchen 
and a visitor’s parlor. The Royal Ballroom and the King’s 
Dining Hall were the only areas on the second f loor that were 
used for public events.
 We descended the stairs, emerging into a lantern-lit cor-
ridor, and London offered his arm to escort me toward the 
palace’s main entrance. As we walked, I hardly glanced at the 
intricate tapestries that adorned the walls, for my attention was 
drawn to the end of the hall where Steldor awaited me. Sup-
porting himself with his left hand on the wall, he was f lipping 
a dagger over and over in his right, impeccably positioned for 
maximum visual effect.
 “Have fun,” London said glibly, stopping midway down the 
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passage, for my handsome dinner companion had noticed my 
approach.
 “You’re not going far, are you?”
 “No, I would wager you’ll need more protection tonight 
than on most occasions. Besides, I’d be a pretty poor chaperone 
if I did, although I will try to give you two lovebirds some 
privacy.”
 “Go ahead and enjoy yourself at my expense, won’t you?” 
I complained, irritated by the tease that had once more crept 
into his voice.
 Steldor had returned his dagger to its sheath and was strid-
ing toward me. Although he was dressed more informally 
than was usual for him, his deportment would have made any 
clothing appear elegant. He was tall, broad shouldered and well 
muscled, with dark brown hair that fell in a perfectly careless 
manner to just below his prominent cheekbones. His brown 
eyes were guaranteed to make most girls swoon, and his smile 
was irresistible, given his straight and even, white teeth.
 “My lady.”
 Steldor bowed and kissed my hand. His eyes swept my form 
approvingly, taking in my shimmering gray gown and the 
silver locket that graced my neck. “Allow me to escort you to 
the dining room, Princess Alera.”
 With an uncomfortable glance at my bodyguard, Steldor 
drew me to his side, and I was certain London’s demeanor 
had given warning of how closely he intended to monitor 
the captain’s son. Suppressing a smile, I walked with Steldor 
through the remainder of the corridor, the savory smells from 
the kitchen arousing my appetite. At least I would be getting 
a delicious meal out of the evening.
 The first-f loor dining room was designed to accommodate 
intimate gatherings. There were twin marble fireplaces, one 
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on each side of the room, with an oblong table that could seat 
forty-five centered in between. Three candlelit chandeliers 
were suspended above the table, and oil-burning lanterns were 
attached at intervals along the walls. A small, round table 
draped with white linen had been prepared for us at the far end 
of the room in front of the bay window. On it, two f lickering 
candles provided subtle illumination, aided by the last glimmer 
of the day’s sun. I sat across from Steldor and he offered me a 
glass of wine, which I accepted with some trepidation, having 
no more liking for wine than I did for the man extending the 
goblet.
 “I have to say,” Steldor observed, “you look exceptionally 
beautiful tonight, Alera.”
 He paused as if permitting me an opportunity to extend my 
f lustered thanks. When none were forthcoming, he smiled.
 “You seem a little overwhelmed…perchance from hunger, 
although it’s not unusual for my company to have this effect 
upon women. Some food may restore you.” With a f lick of his 
hand he indicated to a servant that we were ready to receive 
our meal. “Some sustenance may enable you to find your voice 
as well.”
 I stared at the man my father desired me to wed, feeling 
ill-equipped to deal with his overly familiar attitude. The ar-
rival of the kitchen staff with vegetable-laden platters, warm 
bread and roast grouse saved me from having to reply.
 Steldor nodded curtly to dismiss the servants, then placed a 
slice of the sizzling game bird on each of our plates, permitting 
me to select my own vegetables and bread. We ate in silence 
for a time, although I found it difficult to do more than nibble, 
for his eyes continued to shamelessly peruse me.
 “I hope we shall come to spend a great deal of time to-
gether,” he finally said, his voice a practiced blend of honey 
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Cayla Kluver18

and conceit, velvety smooth but with an undertone of bore-
dom that not even he could conceal. Clearly this was not how 
he would have chosen to spend his evening free of duties. 
 “Although I should caution you that the military demands 
much of me. I am well suited for such a life, of course—
when I was at the Military Academy, my combat instructors 
had nothing but praise for me. As you probably know, I was 
 allowed to graduate a year early due to my abilities.”
 Finished with his meal, he pushed his plate forward to rest 
his left forearm on the table’s edge.
 “After fifteen months as a foot soldier, I went into officer 
training and became the youngest field commander in Hy-
tanican history. But despite the demands of my position, I find 
time to help train the students at the academy in hand-to-hand 
fighting. The instructors at the military school continue to 
hold me in high esteem and readily welcome my assistance.”
 I found myself paying more attention to his gestures than 
to his words as he droned on, for his movements were so f luid 
they seemed almost rehearsed. He paused to settle back in 
his chair, slowly swirling the wine in his goblet, once more 
perfectly posed.
 “Of course, I didn’t do anything special to win such ad-
miration,” he continued. “I was simply born with enviable 
talents. It was natural that I would become the favored one. 
You can understand that, can’t you, Alera? It’s much the same 
with you.”
 “And how is that like me at all?” I challenged, his arrogance 
at last goading me to reply.
 “She speaks,” he gently mocked, then elaborated. “Well, you 
didn’t ask to be born into the royal family, did you? I likewise 
didn’t ask to be the most admired man in the kingdom.”
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 “More admired than my father? Well, then, I suppose I 
should feel honored just to be here with you.”
 “Alera, admiration isn’t about wearing a crown. Your father 
is revered. But I have the eyes of an entire citizenry on me at 
every moment. That you cannot deny.”
 The churning in my stomach could no longer be attributed 
to nervousness. Just being in Steldor’s company was making 
me physically ill. When I did not converse further, he glanced 
to the other side of the room where London was sitting in a 
chair, booted feet resting on the oblong table.
 “It’s a shame London has to be here, isn’t it?”
 “Perhaps from your point of view. I believe it’s important 
that he diligently carry out his duties.”
 “Don’t take offense, Princess,” he said with a chuckle. “I 
only meant that, if we were alone, things could be a bit more…
intimate.”
 He leaned closer and reached for my hand, dark eyes lazily 
scanning me as if I were a gift for him to unwrap.
 “That would be improper, would it not?” I reproached, 
picking up my napkin to spoil his attempt.
 “And have you never done anything improper, Princess?” 
he drawled, wearing an insufferably indulgent expression. He 
stood when my only response was a deep blush. “As you don’t 
seem to be particularly hungry, I suggest we forgo dessert in 
favor of a stroll in the moonlight.”
 I tried to think of an excuse, or to remember London’s 
advice, but my brain had stopped working. In combination 
with my dry mouth, I found myself speechless.
 “I’ll take that as a yes,” he said, slipping a hand under my 
elbow to direct me to my feet. “To the garden, shall we?”
 Steldor’s arm snaked its way around my waist as he escorted 
me from the dining room, and London let his feet drop loudly 
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to the f loor, drawing our attention. He rose, his eyes connect-
ing with mine.
 “No need to keep such close watch,” Steldor told him with 
a dismissive wave. “She’s in good hands.”
 “That’s an interesting assertion, considering your reputa-
tion,” London replied, not about to let the young man out of 
his sight.
 We walked down the corridor that London and I had earlier 
traversed, toward the rear of the palace and the garden that 
extended to the northern section of the walled city. Beyond 
the high stone wall stretched the forest that climbed into the 
foothills of the rugged Niñeyre Mountains.
 Steldor acknowledged the Palace Guards who were stationed 
at the rear entrance, then held one of the double doors open 
for me, but I vacillated, reluctant to go into the dusky grounds 
with him.
 “I’m not sure this is a good idea,” I fussed, still struggling 
for words, aware that my periodic lapses in speech might be 
attributed to girlish excitement, when in reality all I wanted 
was for the evening to be over.
 “Of course it is—it’s a beautiful night.”
 “I’m a bit cold, and I neglected to bring a wrap,” I said 
lamely. The temperature was still comfortable, but since it was 
the beginning of May, a chill would advance as night settled 
over the land.
 “Just stay near to me, Princess. I assure you I’ll be able to 
keep you warm.”
 I nodded, and Steldor again draped his arm about my 
waist to guide me onward, one of the Palace Guards alert-
ing the others who patrolled the area that I had entered the 
grounds.
 Stars were beginning to glimmer in the clear nighttime sky 
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as we strolled along the stone footpaths that wove through 
the walled garden, dividing it into sections. Although torches 
burned around its perimeter, their f lickering light did not 
penetrate the garden’s depths, and we depended on the moon 
for guidance. Steldor led me toward one of four double-tiered 
white marble fountains located on the paths, and I was certain 
he viewed our surroundings as spectacularly romantic, even 
while I dreaded every impending second.
 Steldor stopped at a bench near the fountain, dragging me 
down to sit beside him. Taking my hands in his, he gazed 
into my eyes as if silently telling me that he had laid claim to 
me long before I had been aware of his pursuit, and my heart 
began to hammer in apprehension of what he might do.
 “You enchant me, Alera,” he whispered, leaning in close 
to me, and my senses reeled from his rich and alluring scent. 
It was deep and musky, but with the warmth of nutmeg and 
cinnamon, woven with a wistful hint of violet. As the fra-
grance washed over me, he played with a strand of my hair, 
then slid his hand to the base of my neck and pressed his lips 
against mine in a firm and entirely unwelcome kiss.
 I pulled away, eyes widening, appalled that he would make 
such a presumptuous move. For an instant he seemed angry, 
but then he dropped his hand with a wicked grin.
 “I didn’t know that would be your first kiss,” he chided. 
“Not that I mind, of course. It’s just that you are more inex-
perienced than I anticipated.”
 He reached out to touch my necklace, letting his fingertips 
rest against the hollow of my throat.
 “Of course, this does mean many other firsts will 
follow.”
 I glared at him in outrage, f loundering for words. Just 
when it looked like he might try to kiss me again, a voice cut 
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through my humiliation, disbelief and detestation, interrupt-
ing his advance.
 “Princess!” London called, striding into sight. “I’m afraid 
there’s an emergency in the palace and I must return you to 
your quarters. You’ll have to come with me now.”
 I sprang up from the bench and almost ran to my guard, 
warm relief spreading through me. Steldor came to his feet 
with a scowl, intending to accompany me, but London held 
up a hand.
 “You’ll have to go. This is not your business.”
 Steldor glowered at London, but my bodyguard steadily 
met his stare. Other than the fact that London was slightly 
shorter than my escort, the two men were a physical match. 
They even had the same youthful appearance, although, in 
truth, London was nearly twice Steldor’s age, just one of the 
things that made the man in whose protective shadow I had 
lived for sixteen years a mystery to me.
 Knowing that London, a deputy captain in the Elite Guard, 
held rank, Steldor backed down. I left the garden with my 
bodyguard, imagining my jilted dinner companion reentering 
the palace shortly after us and stalking down the corridor.
 “Well, you were right about the level of protection I would 
need tonight,” I admitted while London and I climbed the 
spiral staircase that was reserved for my family’s use.
 “Indeed.”
 He had evidently lost his good humor about the evening 
and seemed to be fuming, although at himself or at Steldor, I 
couldn’t tell.
 “And your father expects you to marry that pig,” he mut-
tered.
 “So it would seem.”
 While I was grateful for someone with whom I could share 
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my feelings, I was surprised by London’s forwardness in ex-
pressing his opinion of Steldor. I had only known him to 
listen to my complaints and never articulate his own, although 
having worked closely under Cannan for years, London would 
know the vagaries of Steldor’s personality where my father did 
not.
 As my thoughts returned to Steldor and his kiss, I wiped at 
my mouth in disgust. London took note of what I was doing 
and raised a sardonic eyebrow.
 “I don’t suppose that was the way you envisioned your first 
kiss.”
 “Why does everyone think that was my first kiss?” I de-
manded, dismayed that my life was so transparent.
 “Don’t forget you’re talking to me,” he replied with a know-
ing smirk.
 I averted my eyes, willing myself not to blush. “Well, in any 
case, I’m glad you stepped in. Who knows what else Steldor 
had in mind.”
 “What happened to telling him you felt ill if you wanted 
to make a hasty exit?”
 “When we were sitting on the bench, I couldn’t think 
straight. He has this amazing…” I lost the battle to stem the 
color rushing into my face, and my voice trailed away.
 “Amazing what?”
 “Scent, amazing scent,” I finished, cheeks now af lame.
 “He smells good?” London teased, breaking into a laugh. 
“As if he needs another way to attract women. On top of 
everything else, he smells better than the rest of us!”
 Returning to my quarters, I closed the parlor door behind 
me, murmuring good-night to London. I knew he would 
be headed for the East Wing, to the first-f loor rooms where 
most of the unmarried guards chose to live. As my primary 
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bodyguard, he was on duty from the time I awoke until the 
time I retired. At night, Palace Guards patrolled the corridors 
to provide security.
 I dragged myself through the parlor toward my bedroom, 
my limbs heavy. Upon entering the room that had been my 
refuge since I was a little girl, I sank into the chair that stood 
before my dressing table, removing the pins from my hair and 
shaking my head so that my thick locks tumbled about my 
shoulders. I looked into the mirror, letting my eyes wander 
over the familiar furnishings ref lected therein: a generously 
sized canopy bed, topped by a cream-colored spread and 
deliciously soft, overstuffed feather pillows; a pair of velvet 
lounging chairs that beckoned from in front of the fireplace; 
a dollhouse and a few other toys from my childhood, includ-
ing a top and a skipping rope; and an overf lowing bookcase. 
These were the things that would never change; the things to 
which I clung, knowing the events of the coming year could 
not be predicted.
 I stood and crossed the room to pull open one of the double 
wooden doors that led onto my balcony, my feet sinking into 
the thick rug that lay on the f loor. Despite a cool breeze that 
sent a shiver through me, I stepped outside to await the arrival 
of Sahdienne, my golden-haired, round-faced personal maid. 
During daylight hours, I had a clear view of the rolling ter-
rain that spread toward the lake marking the western border 
of our kingdom. At this time of night, I could see only what 
the moonlight permitted—the looming shapes of the build-
ings in the city.
 Knowing from the creak of my bedroom door that Sah-
dienne had entered, I retreated inside. She unlaced the back 
of my gown and drew the drapes across the window to the 
right of the balcony while I donned my nightdress. Then I 
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slipped under the covers that topped my bed, nestling my head 
amongst the pillows, and fell asleep before she had finished 
tidying the room.
 I was a princess of Hytanica, protected and sheltered from 
all the world’s horrors, except those of my nightmares. They 
were rife this night with visions of a future with Steldor: I 
was a meaningless ornament to an arrogant king, as quickly 
forgotten as a leaf blown past by the wind.
 Perhaps my birthday would alter more than my age. Per-
haps, this year, I would at last be able to resist the places nature 
wanted me to go.
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IT WAS DUSK, MY FAVORITE TIME OF DAY. I 
cher ished the moments when I could stand on the balcony 
off the ballroom and gaze beyond the courtyard gates of our 
palace into the walled city, watching for the points of lantern 
light that would appear to ward off the darkness. Beyond the 
city, farm fields sloped gradually toward the untamed Recorah 
River, which f lowed out of the mountains and defined our 
eastern and southern boundaries.
 It was the occasion of my seventeenth birthday, and the 
upper society of Hytanica had gathered to honor me on this 
tenth of May. There was an added air of excitement to this 
celebration, for it was custom that at eighteen, a female heir 
would marry the man who would become the next king, and I 
was therefore expected to choose a husband within the upcom-
ing year. When the whispers and speculation about who was 
in my favor had at last gotten the best of me, I had retreated 
to the balcony, hoping that the fresh air would provide relief 
from the conversation as well as the stuffiness of the room.
 Though arguably I should have been allowed to rule—it 
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was not unheard of for women to reign in many of the texts 
and stories I had read—Hytanican tradition steered my father’s 
and the kingdom’s views on leadership, dictating that they put 
their trust into the hands of a man and not those of a woman. 
My father having no male heir, I would be crowned Queen, 
but not ruler, and would play no role in actually governing 
the kingdom. The function of the Queen was to supervise 
the household, plan and execute social events and raise the 
children. While the line of descent would continue to f low 
through my blood, the man I married would reign in my 
stead.
 Hearing footsteps from behind, I turned, expecting that 
one of the young men who sought my attention had followed 
me. Instead, Miranna glided to the railing, radiant in a sky-
blue dress, her strawberry-blond hair falling in waves and 
curls down her back. With her porcelain skin and delicately 
sculpted features, she was destined to break the heart of many 
a suitor.
 “Are the celebrations too much for you, sister?” she asked, 
her blue eyes sparkling, for she knew I rarely enjoyed festivi-
ties that cast me in a starring role.
 “I confess I find myself struggling to breathe in that 
ballroom.”
 We stood in silence while I inhaled the refreshing air, then 
Miranna lightly touched my hand. “Tell me, has anyone man-
aged to draw your interest this evening?”
 “No one who would meet Father’s approval,” I said, trying 
to keep from sounding bitter. “And I cannot marry without 
his approval.”
 “True, but there are so many intriguing possibilities!” My 
sister’s face shone with enthusiasm, for she had, since turning 
fifteen, developed quite an interest in the male population. “I 
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know Father can be a bit demanding, but he is not unreason-
able. He has many times proven himself to be a good judge 
of character.”
 “He may very well be, but this time he seems to have his 
sights set on judging only one man.” My halfhearted attempt 
at humor fell f lat, for unlike Miranna, I saw no pleasure in 
the task before me. “Let’s review a few of the candidates, 
shall we? Lord Thane is kind and witty, but he has chosen 
to study medicine. This disqualifies him, for Father insists 
a military background is necessary for a king. Then there is 
Lord Mauston, who is in the cavalry, but his family has fallen 
on hard times, so he wouldn’t bring enough wealth to the 
marriage. Baron Galen is a field commander who inherited 
his father’s title, lands and holdings, which ought to make 
him acceptable, but he is Lord Steldor’s best friend and not the 
Captain of the Guard’s son, so is relegated to second choice at 
best. And Father wants me to marry someone older than me, 
someone with the maturity to ascend to the throne at once, 
which eliminates all the noblemen of my age.” With forced 
pleasantness, I concluded, “So, you see, the problem is not a 
lack of interest on my part, but Father’s rather extensive list 
of qualifications.”
 “And what of Lord Steldor? I don’t know if you’ve spoken 
with him tonight, but he is looking very fine indeed.”
 Miranna, like my father, had a preference for the Captain 
of the Guard’s son, although I suspected it was for quite a dif-
ferent reason.
 “I have never seen an occasion when he did not look fine. 
Since he has attracted your notice, have no misgivings on my 
account about pursuing him, Mira.”
 “What is it that makes you dislike him so?”
 “It’s his ego. Steldor doesn’t walk, he struts. He doesn’t 
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converse with someone, he blesses them with his presence. 
And word amongst the observant members of the nobility is 
always about his temper. That notion frightens me more than 
I care to say.”
 Miranna twirled a strand of hair around the fingers of her 
left hand, and I knew she understood my point, at least with 
respect to Steldor’s temper. A Hytanican woman was the prop-
erty of her husband, and he could deal with her as he saw fit. 
This alone made me a poor match for the captain’s son, for I 
was, at times, more outspoken than was wise. I suspected that 
Steldor’s reaction to such behavior might prove unpleasant.
 “Still, he has many exceptional qualities,” she finally coun-
tered. “And though the issues you’ve raised may make him a 
less appealing husband for you, they hardly affect his ability 
to rule. Besides, he will be guided by both our father and his. 
He will make a good king, Alera. Everyone sees it. Why can’t 
you?”
 “I think it’s time we return to the festivities,” I said. “Father 
and Mother will be making their entrance soon and will be 
expecting me to join them.”
 I turned from her and reentered the ballroom, sweeping 
my long hair over my shoulders and forcing a genial expres-
sion, the ball gown that had been commissioned especially 
for this occasion swishing around my ankles. Made of white 
silk chiffon that followed the curves of my body, it had lace-
accented bell sleeves that almost touched the f loor. Upon my 
head I wore a silver tiara, its delicate diamond f lowers offset 
by tiny leaves forming three gentle arches that crested in the 
middle. The ensemble had looked regal in my mirror, but now 
it seemed to press on me as if the weight of the world rested 
on my head. Miranna walked at my side, no doubt hoping to 
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resume our discussion, but I prevented her from doing so by 
greeting everyone we passed.
 The voice of Lanek, the palace herald and my father’s per-
sonal secretary, rang out from the front of the ballroom in his 
traditional announcement. Although he had incredible lung 
capacity, Lanek was rather short and stocky and bore a marked 
resemblance to an overfed and contented cat.
 “All hail the King, King Adrik of Hytanica, and his queen, 
the Lady Elissia!”
 Everyone, including Miranna and I, bowed or curtseyed 
before my parents as they entered the Royal Ballroom from 
the Dignitary’s Room onto a raised platform. The Dignitary’s 
Room was adjacent to my parents’ quarters and was a wait-
ing area for the King and Queen, and occasionally for special 
guests, prior to their formal appearances.
 My parents were accompanied by the Captain of the Guard, 
Cannan, a tall and imposing man with dark hair and eyes who 
rarely smiled. Similar in age to my father, he was a member of 
the nobility and the commander of the Hytanican Military, 
having assumed that position during the Cokyrian War shortly 
before my father had become king. In the years since then, he 
had earned my father’s respect and friendship, and he often 
accompanied the King as an adviser and bodyguard.
 My father and mother were dressed in similar colors this 
evening, in accordance with tradition governing formal oc-
casions. My mother wore a golden gown with red stitching 
on the bodice; a crown set with rubies adorned her upswept 
 honey-blond hair. My father, whose hair and eye color matched 
my own, was likewise clothed and crowned in gold, and he 
shouldered a f loor-length red robe with thick cording on the 
sleeves and at the neckline. While my mother was demure 
and dignified, my father was jovial in nature, with laugh lines 
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around his brown eyes and a little extra weight padding his 
girth.
 “Welcome!” my father proclaimed, inclining his head 
toward the crowd. “This celebration is not to honor me or 
my queen, but in honor of our daughter, Princess Alera. By 
the end of her next year, she will marry, and the man who 
becomes her husband will be my successor. When the day 
comes for him to ascend the throne, I trust that you will grant 
the new king the same loyalty and respect you have shown me 
throughout my reign. Until then, long live Princess Alera!”
 My father motioned to me with his hand, beaming broadly, 
and our guests repeated his petition, shifting their attention 
to me. As I curtseyed, I saw my father look to Steldor, who 
had conveniently located himself close to the platform upon 
which my parents stood. Baron Galen, Steldor’s counterpart, 
was with him and a few feet away stood the rest of Steldor’s 
entourage—two burly soldiers of aristocratic birth called Barid 
and Devant.
 A little shorter and less handsome than Steldor, Galen had 
wavy ash-brown hair and warm brown eyes. His father had 
died in the war when Galen was three years old, and Cannan 
had been as much a father to him as he had been to Steldor. 
The young men had both become field commanders upon 
graduation from the Military Academy and were practically 
inseparable, though Galen was noticeably less cocky and more 
levelheaded than his friend. I sometimes wondered if it was 
solely Steldor’s inf luence that brought out the reckless side of 
Galen’s personality.
 Barid and Devant had become Steldor’s tagalongs during 
military school. They seemed less intelligent than their 
 leaders, though they had to add value to Steldor in some way 
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or he would never have allowed them to remain among his 
comrades.
 I had not had many encounters with Steldor and his asso-
ciates as a group, but their rowdy reputation preceded them. 
They relished making life unpleasant for the people they con-
sidered beneath them (which, for Steldor, seemed to be just 
about everyone), though they primarily concentrated on ter-
rorizing the young cadets at the Military Academy. They never 
did anything truly harmful, but I was certain the students were 
tired of having their horses untethered, their boots filled with 
mud or rocks and their water salted so it was undrinkable.
 Steldor and company also had a reputation for making the 
rounds of all the taverns in Hytanica in a single night, growing 
a little louder with each drink and pulling some fairly outra-
geous stunts. It was both amusing and irritating to me that 
regardless of how quickly the rumors about Steldor’s behavior 
circulated, as long as he acted the perfect gentleman around 
my parents, they were content to judge his unseemly conduct 
as the antics of youth.
 My father and mother stepped down from the stage and 
approached me, accompanied by Cannan, with the King’s 
personal guards falling in behind. The guests resumed their 
conversations, and Galen gave his best friend a good-natured 
shove in my direction, though I doubted Steldor, who was 
quite accustomed to conquering the ladies, needed any such 
encouragement.
 “Alera,” my father said cheerily, arriving before me with 
my mother at his side, “how do you like the decor? Do you 
find it tasteful for this occasion?”
 I scanned the torch-lit hall, noting the glorious f lower ar-
rangements set against its walls and the white chiffon and lace 
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that draped the edges of the refreshment tables in the same 
way it draped my body.
 “Yes, the decorations are splendid, Your Majesty.”
 “Now, now,” my father chortled. “You know I don’t stand 
on ceremony.”
 “But how can I help myself when you look so majestic?” I 
teased.
 “You are just as deserving of that title as I am, my dear.” He 
reached out a hand to brush my cheek. “I would like to speak 
to you later this evening about the selection of your husband. I 
know you understand the importance of this decision, but all 
the same…” He trailed off as Steldor, with impeccable timing, 
came to stand beside me.
 “Your Majesty, My Queen,” Steldor said with a bow before 
turning to face me. “Princess Alera.”
 He kissed my hand, a self-assured grin touching his lips, 
and my father, looking immensely happy, gave me a wink.
 “Lord Steldor.” I acknowledged him coolly, and I had the 
feeling my father would have taken back his approving wink 
if such a thing were possible.
 Steldor crossed his arms, a trace of a pout tainting his fea-
tures, and I stole a glance at the Captain of the Guard, who 
stood as impassively as always. His job was to protect the royal 
family, not to become emotionally involved in its dealings, 
but I thought I could detect the faintest urge within him to 
roll his eyes at his son’s behavior.
 Conversation resumed, with surprisingly little input from 
Steldor, for he was watching me intently. Displeasure at his 
manner f lared within me, for I had the feeling he was plotting 
his next move. I shifted farther away from him as Miranna, 
clasping the hand of her good friend, Semari, f loated into our 
midst.
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 Semari’s parents, Baron Koranis and Baroness Alantonya, 
were among those who had suffered the loss of a child toward 
the end of the Cokyrian War. Their lives had always been 
clouded by tragedy and mystery, for their firstborn had been 
taken in the night from his cradle a week after his birth, and 
his body was the sole one that had not been returned by the 
Cokyrians. The family had moved on as best they could, and 
two years later, Semari had been born, followed over the next 
five years by two more daughters and another all-important 
son, for only a male could inherit titles and property.
 Now that my effervescent sister and her friend were captur-
ing everyone’s interest, I seized the opportunity to exit the 
ballroom. With a nod to the Palace Guards in the corridor, 
I stepped onto the landing of the open double staircase and 
peered over the railing to the f loor twenty-five feet below. 
Seeing no signs of movement other than that of the guards 
stationed by the front doors, I descended the set of stairs to 
my left and stepped into the Grand Entry Hall, from which 
one could pass under the Grand Staircase and into the Throne 
Room, or proceed into either the West Wing or East Wing 
of the palace.
 I headed into the West Wing, which contained, among 
other things, the King’s Drawing Room, the small dining 
room that had been the scene of my date with Steldor, the 
large Meeting Hall and the service areas of the palace. As I 
strolled, I listened to the scuffing of my leather-soled slippers 
against the stone beneath my feet. These f loors had not been 
kind to me in my youth. Running up and down the halls 
barefooted had made my feet sore, and tripping had resulted 
in more than a few skinned knees and bloodied noses. My 
parents had at times been unable to tend to me when I was 
hurt, for my sister had been very sick when she was a child 
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and had needed special care. They had also, of course, been 
trying to put the kingdom back together in the aftermath of 
the war. For these reasons, my personal bodyguard had stepped 
into the parental role during my early years.
 I glanced around, but London was nowhere to be seen. A 
smile crept across my face at the thought that he might not 
have seen me leave the ballroom. He had not been at my side 
but had been moving among the crowd, alert for signs of 
trouble.
 Reveling in my unexpected freedom, I turned to walk past 
the Meeting Hall and toward the rear of the palace, intent on 
seeking sanctuary in the garden. When I reached the back 
entry, the guards drew open the heavy oak doors and I stepped 
outside. In accordance with procedure, one of the guards an-
nounced my presence to his peers who patrolled the area’s 
perimeter.
 My father had often warned Miranna and me not to enter 
these grounds without a bodyguard. He feared the garden 
was an ideal target for enemy infiltration, as access to the 
palace estate could be gained by scaling only one barrier, the 
garden wall that was also the northernmost wall of the city. 
This concern was counterbalanced in part by the wildness of 
the forested and mountainous terrain that lay to the north of 
the city, and in part by the fact that this portion of the city’s 
barrier rose ten feet higher than the rest. In any event, I had 
never believed there could be danger amidst such beauty.
 It was now fully dark, and only the moon and the torches 
anchored to the stone walls of the garden provided light. I took 
a deep breath of the scented air and walked forward into the 
shadow land, glad for the opportunity to savor the quietude 
of the evening alone.
 “Don’t think I didn’t see you leave the ballroom.”
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 I jumped and spun around to find London leaning against 
the palace doors with one eyebrow cocked. He was dressed, as 
always, in a brown leather jerkin layered over a long-sleeved 
white shirt. Leather bracers covered his wrists and forearms, 
and twin long knives hung from his belt. He wore tall leather 
boots folded down below the knee, and I could see the handle 
of a dagger extending from one of them. An unusual silver 
ring shone on the first finger of his right hand.
 “I was—I was just going for a walk,” I stammered. “I didn’t 
want to bother you with something as trivial as that.”
 London smiled in genuine amusement. “Nice try. It’s my 
job to protect you and make sure you don’t go off and do 
something foolish—like this. I’d like to see you try that excuse 
on your father.”
 “You’re not going to tell him, are you, London?”
 I felt a rush of panic, for years of war had left my father 
extremely paranoid, which was the reason Miranna and I were 
almost constantly accompanied by our bodyguards. I knew 
only too well how displeased he would be if he learned that 
I’d deliberately slipped away from the man charged with my 
protection, for I had been bruised by his anger in the past.
 “No, I won’t tell him.” London laughed. “I only made the 
comment because I knew you’d lose your nerve if I did.”
 I fixed him with my most withering glare and turned to 
stalk down one of the pathways.
 “I suppose you’ll have to come with me then,” I tossed over 
my shoulder. “Just drop back to the extent you’re permitted 
and don’t say a word.”
 “Whatever you say, Princess.”
 “I mean it, London.”
 “Of course. I can appreciate your desire for some peace.”
 I walked along the path, soothed by the rustle of the plants 
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and the trees in the soft breeze. Crickets chirped around me, 
and I found myself enjoying the sounds of the night as much 
as I did the garden’s fragrance. True to his word, London was 
silent, to the point where I wondered if he was even behind 
me.
 I turned a corner and gasped, barely stif ling a scream. 
Eyes—luminescent green eyes—stared at me from the dark-
ness. I struggled to focus, fear coursing through my veins, not 
wanting to believe what I was seeing. A figure stepped toward 
me, and the sinister outline of a man clad in black took form, 
a glint of moonlight off metal telling me he held a sword in 
his right hand.
 “Princess,” he said slyly, the pitch of his voice unexpectedly 
high.
 I backed away, but before I could turn to run, London 
seemed to fall from the sky and land between the intruder 
and me, twin double-edged blades drawn and ready. He and 
the young man engaged in combat while I stood rooted to 
the spot, mesmerized by the clashing of the blades and the 
concomitant explosion of sparks. When the trespasser’s weapon 
soared through the air to land a few feet away, my trance 
broke, but it was no longer necessary for me to f lee. Drop-
ping his left blade, London twisted one of the intruder’s arms 
behind his back, pressing his other knife against the man’s 
throat.
 “Tell me, Cokyrian,” London spat, as if the name were a 
bad taste in his mouth. “How many of you are there?”
 The Cokyrian made no reply, and I took a small step closer, 
wanting to get a better look at the assailant, even though my 
body still tingled with fright. I squinted through the darkness 
and my mouth fell open in surprise.
 “You’re…a woman?”
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 The intruder made no response except to snort at my stu-
pidity for thinking she could be anything but a woman.
 “Stay back, Alera!” London barked, and I halted, unaware 
that I had been about to put myself in danger. “Call for the 
guard!”
 I hesitated, for the only guard I’d ever had to call was the 
one in front of me, but London sharply reminded me of the 
urgency of the situation.
 “Now!”
 “Guard!” I shouted, hurrying toward the palace, repeating 
the call several times.
 By the time I reached the pathway that formed the  perimeter 
of the garden, three of the men on patrol duty were rushing 
my way.
 “London needs assistance,” I sputtered, pointing down the 
path from which I had come. “There is an intruder!”
 I followed the men as they hastened to my bodyguard’s 
aid.
 “Take her to the dungeon,” London commanded when the 
guards reached him, releasing the Cokyrian into their custody. 
“I will alert the captain and the King.”
 London grabbed my wrist and hurried me back inside, and 
I stumbled along behind him up the spiral stairway to the 
second f loor.
 “Where are you taking me?” I demanded when we emerged 
into the corridor, trying to plant my feet to prevent him from 
dragging me farther.
 “To the King. I must tell him what has happened.”
 “And what exactly did happen?” I asked, hoping I did not 
sound idiotic.
 London swiveled around to face me so suddenly that I 
almost crashed into him.
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 “Do you not know who intruded upon your precious 
garden?”
 “N-n-no, I—”
 “Well, perhaps you have heard of her people—the Cokyrians.”
 “I have, but what does this mean?”
 London did not answer but merely tightened his hold on 
my wrist and continued down the corridor. I did not fight 
him but insisted once more that he explain.
 “Tell me, London!”
 “This may be a shock, but it is imperative that you refrain 
from asking inane questions. I need to think!”
 I hated the tears that welled due to London’s abruptness. 
He had never before snubbed me in such a manner, and I felt 
as if I had been slapped. Wiping the excess moisture from my 
eyes, I sped up so as not to hinder him any more than I could 
help. He stopped outside the door to the ballroom and faced 
me.
 “I’m not going to haul you in there. It’s better if we don’t 
make a scene. Just follow me and go straight to the King.”
 His manner invited no response, so I simply nodded, trail-
ing him through the crowd of revelers. He advanced on my 
father, who stood beside my mother in a group that included 
Baron Koranis and Baroness Alantonya, along with Cannan 
and his wife, Baroness Faramay. Without waiting for anyone 
to acknowledge him, he addressed the King directly, ignoring 
Cannan, his commanding officer, to whom he should have 
been reporting.
 “Your Highness, there’s been a disturbance. I would advise 
that your guards escort you and your family to your quarters 
at once.”
 My father smiled at London. “This is a little unorthodox, 
don’t you think?” he asked with an unconcerned chuckle.
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 “Your Majesty, I believe you to be a man of some intel-
ligence, therefore, I expect you are wise enough to follow my 
suggestion. Please, Sire, do as I say.”
 Turning to the captain, London brashly issued an order. 
“Come with me. We must secure the palace.”
 Cannan’s brows drew together at London’s blatant, though 
not uncharacteristic, disregard for chain of command, but 
given the urgency in the Elite Guard’s voice, he said nothing. 
Instead, he glanced around for Kade, the sergeant at arms in 
charge of the Palace Guard, who was already moving our way. 
Upon his arrival, Cannan gave the sergeant his orders and then 
set off with his deputy captain. Fear swelled within me as I 
watched their retreating backs, for this night, my home was 
not safe.
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I ONCE AGAIN PACED IN MY PARLOR, TOO 
intrigued and perplexed to sit down or rest. I had been escorted 
to my quarters for safety, with one guard stationed inside the 
room with me and two more in the corridor. The guard who 
had temporarily taken over for London stood in front of the 
windows, trying not to look uncomfortable in my quarters. 
He wore the uniform of the Palace Guard, and the sword 
that had been issued to him upon completion of the training 
regimen hung from his belt. He was no more than a few years 
older than Steldor, and clearly had not expected to end up 
protecting the Crown Princess of Hytanica.
 “Do you know what is going on?” I boldly inquired, break-
ing the nerve-racking silence.
 “I’m afraid you have a better idea of what this is about than 
I do, Your Highness.” He shrugged, but I could see curiosity 
in his eyes. “If you don’t mind my asking, Princess Alera… 
What exactly did happen in the garden?”
 I stopped pacing and relayed the entire story to him, includ-
ing London’s identification of the intruder.
 “Cokyrian?” he repeated.
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 “That’s what London said.”
 “What are they doing here?”
 “Well, actually, there was only one of them.”
 “There’s never just one of them, Princess.”
 “But what does this mean?” I grumbled, feeling as though 
we were playing a game.
 A dramatic pause followed, and I would have laughed at 
his histrionics if not for his next words.
 “It means the war could begin again.”
 His statement hit me with sufficient force to expel the air 
from my lungs, and I finally understood London’s reaction. I 
knew enough of the tragedy and the horrors of the war that 
I had no desire to experience such things firsthand, and most 
definitely not during the reign of my future husband.
 “We haven’t seen or heard from the Cokyrians in sixteen 
years,” he continued. “The fighting stopped with no victory 
for either side and no treaty signed, which means the war 
could resume just as suddenly as it ended.”
 I nodded, then resumed my pacing, clenching my fists to 
the point where my fingernails pressed into my palms. I drew 
up short at a rap on the door, but it was only a servant to start 
a fire in the hearth, for a chill was now descending upon the 
room. Eventually, I took a seat in a gold velvet armchair and 
f lipped through a book in a vain attempt to distract my mind 
from the slowness of the passing hours.
 When my tolerance for waiting had been all but exhausted, 
there was another knock on my door, and London entered, 
dismissing the young man who had been standing in for him. 
The guard bowed to me and departed, as London appeared to 
be in a foul mood.
 “Who is she?” I clamored, springing to my feet, the book 
sliding off my lap onto the f loor.
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 “I assume you mean the woman in the garden,” London 
said, leaning against the wall by the door. Either in deep 
thought or out of a reluctance to encourage my interest, he 
folded his arms across his chest and seemed to be scrutinizing 
the pattern of the rug that covered much of the wood f loor.
 “You asked me if I had any idea who had intruded upon 
my ‘precious garden.’ I believe those were your exact words. 
Now I want to know.”
 London f linched, not used to being the target of my 
indignation.
 “I’m sorry…about how I spoke to you earlier.”
 He raised his eyes to mine, his expression sincere, and I 
moved closer to him, my irritation slipping away.
 “You were dealing with the circumstances at hand. No one 
can blame you for that. Now, won’t you please tell me who 
she is?”
 “Her name is Nantilam.” He spoke these words as if I were 
an irksome f ly he hoped to shoo away.
 I scrunched up my face in concentration, for the name 
sounded familiar, but I was unable to dredge any details from 
my memory.
 “Who?” I repeated, exasperated.
 “Nantilam. I’m sure you’ve heard of her. She’s—” London 
broke off and shook his head, scowling. “I’ve said too much 
already.”
 He pushed away from the wall and walked to the hearth, 
where he stooped to add wood to the fire.
 “London,” I pleaded, pursuing him for a few steps. “If you’re 
worried that telling me will rouse my father’s anger, I promise 
that nothing you say to me will find its way to him. I am well 
aware that he does not view such matters as appropriate for 
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the ears of a woman, and you would not be the only one with 
whom he would be displeased. Now, who is she?”
 London regarded me for a moment before relenting.
 “Nantilam is the High Priestess of Cokyri. You might say 
she’s their queen, except that she bears no marital ties to their 
overlord. They are siblings—twins.”
 “So what exactly is her purpose?”
 He sighed, recalling how little I knew of the Cokyrian 
lifestyle.
 “In Cokyri, females are held in higher regard than males, 
and historically women have ruled the empire. Now the High 
Priestess and her brother, the Overlord, reign over Cokyri to-
gether. The Overlord is a seldom seen and greatly feared entity 
who protects and defends the High Priestess and the Cokyrian 
people. Nantilam rules Cokyri in all other respects.”
 “Why are the people so afraid of the Overlord?”
 “He is not viewed as a person, like our king. He is a fierce 
warlord, evil and terrifying, sensationalized by decades of 
legends and myths. They say he has the power to wield black 
magic, to call it forth from his wicked soul. That he can kill 
you or worse with a wave of his hand. And it is not just the 
Cokyrians who tell these stories—Hytanicans swear by them 
also—soldiers who met him on the battlefield and never re-
turned to the way they once were. Few returned at all.”
 “Did you ever see him?”
 I knew little about London’s past, other than that he had 
fought in the war—he was, first and foremost, a soldier of 
Hytanica and had been before becoming a member of the 
King’s Elite Guard. I had never asked about his life, and he 
had never volunteered any information.
 London turned to gaze at the crackling fire and did not 
respond for a long time.
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 “I did,” he finally answered.
 My inquisitiveness got the better of me, and I pressed fur-
ther. “What is he like?”
 “We were talking about Nantilam,” London said tightly, 
eyes once more on me, forbidding me to insist he recount 
more.
 I yielded, abandoning my pursuit of information about the 
warlord and hoping I hadn’t quashed his willingness to share 
what he knew about Nantilam.
 “Then please, tell me more about the High Priestess.”
 To my relief, he motioned for me to sit, and I resettled upon 
the burgundy sofa, waiting for him to continue.
 “We don’t know much. Despite all his secrecy, we actually 
know more about the Overlord than the High Priestess. She 
was not openly involved in fighting the war and has not been 
of particular importance to us…until tonight. Now we need 
to know what she was doing in the garden of the Hytanican 
Palace.”
 “What will be done with her?”
 He sighed, clearly tiring of my tenacious interest.
 “She’ll stay in a cell overnight, and tomorrow she’ll be 
brought to the Throne Room for questioning.”
 “Will I be allowed to be there?”
 “Well, you are a member of the royal family.” London ran 
a hand wearily through his silver hair. “However, the King 
could forbid your attendance.”
 I frowned, all too familiar with the restrictions brought 
about by my father’s overzealous concern for safety.
 “By next year I will be Queen. I must be prepared for 
that in every way possible, and that means learning about the 
enemy, doesn’t it?”
 “Yes, but you will not be King. It will not be left to you to 
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make important decisions for the kingdom, so your knowledge 
of the enemy, as you call it, is inconsequential.”
 I was fuming inside, for I knew London was right, and 
that my father in all likelihood would bar me from the 
interrogation.
 “I don’t care. I will be there, no matter my father’s opin-
ions.”
 My bodyguard gave an unconcerned shrug. “You should 
go to bed. Tomorrow will be a notable day, I’m sure.”
 “Good night, London, and thanks for expanding my 
knowledge.”
 I prepared for bed, confident that the Palace Guards outside 
my door had been posted until morning, for I knew Cannan 
and Kade well enough to realize that they would view the 
evening’s developments as necessitating extra precautions. I 
snuffed out my lantern and slid under my comforter, my ex-
hausted body battling my restless mind, for the former sought 
sleep while the latter wrestled with the best way to approach 
my father in the morning. My body eventually won out and 
I fell into oblivion, no firm plan of action at the ready.

 “Father!”
 My voice echoed throughout the cavernous Throne Room, 
with its stone walls and f loor and vaulted oak-beamed ceil-
ing. It was just after sunrise, and the weak light that filtered 
through the windows high in the northern wall did little to 
dispel the morning’s somber atmosphere.
 A spacious marble dais was centered at the far end of the 
hall, and my father regarded me from where he sat upon his 
jewel-encrusted throne. My mother’s throne stood to his left 
but was unoccupied, whether by her choice or my father’s 
decree I did not know. A traditional woman, she would follow 
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my father’s instruction without question. I had always been 
able to rely on her for a parent’s love, but never for support 
in challenging the King. Two ornate chairs were positioned 
to the left of her throne, to be used by Miranna and me on 
those occasions when we attended my parents in the Hall of 
Kings, as this room was also known.
 I determinedly closed the distance between us, London at 
my heels. My father came to his feet, his disapproving expres-
sion intensified by the austere faces of my ancestors in the 
portraits that hung on the walls to my left and right. Clearly 
the King was stunned by my unconventional entrance, and 
the expressions on the faces of the dozen Elite Guards, who 
stood six to each side of the thrones, matched my father’s. Only 
Cannan, standing on the King’s right, seemed unperturbed.
 “Alera,” my father said, dropping his volume but not his 
scold. “You should not be here.”
 “I’ve come to witness the interrogation, Your Majesty. I 
see no reason why I should be confined to my quarters.”
 “But you must stay in your quarters. I will not have my 
daughter exposed to the vile creature about to be brought 
before us.”
 “I have already been exposed to her, Sire, for I am the one 
who was threatened in the garden. Out of all those assembled 
here, it is I who most deserve to know the significance of this 
incident.”
 My father, his mind already focused on the day’s business, 
was at a loss for a response. He moved his mouth to articulate 
an argument, but no sound came forth. Before he could rally 
to deny my request, he was distracted by the opening of a 
door at the far end of the room, and I knew the prisoner was 
about to be brought into the hall.
 “Stay,” he muttered.
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 “Thank you,” I said, and both he and I took our seats, 
London moving to stand behind me.
 Kade emerged through the door that led to the dungeon, 
followed by two guards who held the Cokyrian between them. 
The dungeon was a wholly unpleasant place that I had only 
visited once in my life, thanks to London’s willingness to 
satisfy a ten-year-old’s curiosity. There were many cells with 
stone walls, dirt f loors and thick wooden doors, each with a 
barred window barely large enough to show a prisoner’s full 
face. It was dark, lit sparsely by torches placed only along the 
corridor walls, and the dampness created a cold that could 
not be forgotten, even if a captive was fortunate enough to 
be released.
 I did not know how the woman cast before the King had 
been able to abide her time in our custody. The shadows on 
her face gave evidence of a rough night, but still she was strik-
ing. Her eyes were large and many different shades of green, 
somehow stormy as the sea and bright as the spring at the 
same time. Her hair, though unkempt, was a beautiful deep 
red, falling unevenly to her rounded jaw, and her skin was the 
golden color of one who spent her life out of doors. She was 
clothed in black, her shirt and leggings made of a lightweight 
and f luid fabric, and a most unusual silver pendant hung about 
her neck. It was narrow at its gold-tipped base, widening in 
a graceful curve as it f lowed upward to be banded together 
with six overlapping pieces of silver, which reminded me of 
blades of grass bending before a breeze.
 “Tell us who you are,” demanded my father, staring down 
at her and growling out the words with a commanding quality 
that he saved for criminals and misbehaving daughters.
 The prisoner, whose hands were bound in front of her, 
did not respond. Instead she shifted position, pushing herself 
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more upright so that she crouched on one knee, the other 
foot planted beneath her. Her head was bowed, although most 
certainly not out of respect.
 “Answer now, Cokyrian,” my father ordered, and I surveyed 
the scene in confusion, for I would have thought it unneces-
sary to press the woman about her identity.
 Still she did not reply, but slowly raised her head, meeting 
the gaze of her enemy evenly, almost challengingly. There 
was an unmistakable aura of power about her.
 “Need I remind you that you are in our control, and we 
therefore have the ability to make you talk? You would do 
well to cooperate.”
 At last Nantilam spoke, her tone derisive. “And you would 
do well to let me go, for I am not now, nor will I ever be, in 
your control, Hytanican cur.”
 The insult had barely reached my ears when I felt, more 
than heard, London move forward to jump from the dais and 
land before the prisoner. With a swift kick to the chest, he 
knocked her backward off her feet, and I gripped the arms 
of my chair in alarm, terrified that his hatred of Cokyri had 
taken control of his senses. I watched as he dropped down 
beside Nantilam, one of his blades pressed against her throat, 
his deep indigo eyes boring into her belligerent green ones.
 “How did she obtain a weapon?”
 Cannan was striding down the steps of the dais, jaw 
clenched. He halted next to London and yanked Nantilam to 
her feet. My bodyguard rose, and I barely registered, above 
the wild beating of my heart, the clatter as the small dagger 
the prisoner had been clutching landed on the f loor.
 London reached out with one hand and jerked the silver 
chain from the prisoner’s neck, examining it thoroughly, for 
the pendant looked broken. Picking up the dagger, he carefully 
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fitted it into the portion of the pendant that dangled from the 
chain.
 My father had risen to his feet and was now twisting the 
royal ring in agitation, his expression a mixture of disgust and 
fear.
 “Take her away,” he ordered. “Bring her before us again at 
the end of the week with a looser tongue.”
 Kade signaled to his guards, who grabbed the prisoner by 
her arms and pulled her away from London and Cannan. She 
did not resist, but her cool gaze never wavered from my father’s 
face.
 The men conferred in the aftermath of the incident while 
I pondered the question the King had repeatedly posed.
 “Father,” I asked, when I finally had an opportunity to 
approach him. “Why did you demand her name when we 
already know who she is?”
 My father’s brow creased.
 “We do not know who she is, or what she is doing in 
Hytanica. All we know is that she is a Cokyrian intruding 
upon our home, and we intend to discover the reason.” He 
considered me, his frown deepening. “Why would you think 
otherwise?”
 “I’m sorry,” I mumbled. “I just assumed.”
 I left the Hall of Kings in a muddled state, wanting to talk 
to London, who had stayed behind in discussion with Cannan. 
I knew, however, that he would soon return to duty as my 
bodyguard, providing ample opportunity for me to satisfy my 
curiosity and clear up my confusion.
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THOUGH THE INTERROGATION HAD NOT
yielded any information about Nantilam, the next few days did 
indeed prove to be notable. Cannan had organized a search of 
the entire kingdom for other Cokyrians who might have been 
aiding our prisoner in her as yet undetermined scheme; he also 
had put additional security measures in place within the palace. 
No member of the royal family was to be left unguarded at any 
time for any reason, which meant that London was now on 
duty twenty-four hours a day. In addition, Kade, at Cannan’s 
direction, had posted Palace Guards around every corner, and 
areas that were already under guard were reinforced so that it 
was impossible to be alone under any circumstance.
 As the initial f lurry of activity subsided, my father tried 
several times to talk to me, no doubt about choosing a suitor, 
and how that suitor should be Steldor. While I was confident 
he would never force me to marry Cannan’s willful and arro-
gant son, I also knew he would not understand my resistance 
to the match. Most people agreed with my father’s assessment 
of Steldor, and it pained me to witness the adoration that was 
heaped upon him; it seemed every young man wanted to be 
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like him and every young woman wanted to be in his arms. 
Giggling girls were the worst—from their point of view, he 
was status and wealth wrapped in a very enticing package, 
and they did not seem to mind that he toyed with them for 
his own amusement. But I needed neither status nor wealth, 
and had no interest in being used for entertainment.
 Ultimately, my father did manage to confront me about my 
marriage prospects. I was lounging on the sofa in my parlor 
in the early evening when there was a knock on the door.
 “Should I get that, or do you want to pretend you’re not 
here?” London asked from where he was placidly leaning 
against the wall in the back of the room.
 “You can answer it, if you wish to do so,” I replied with a 
shrug.
 I tried to disregard his last comment. It was true that I used 
that ruse on occasion when I was trying to avoid someone, 
and London knew I was not looking forward to a conversation 
with the King. In any case, he went to the door and granted 
entrance to my father, who swept across the threshold before 
I had time to mentally prepare.
 “Alera,” he said cheerfully. “With all that’s been going on, 
I feel as though we’ve been dodging each other!” He chortled 
at what he considered to be a joke. “It’s good to finally have 
some time when we can talk.”
 “Shall I step outside?” London offered from his position by 
the open door.
 “No, no. That’s not necessary at all. I’ll only be a moment. 
Besides, you’d probably run afoul of one of your captain’s rules 
if you did. I wouldn’t want to be responsible for getting you 
in trouble with Cannan!”
 London closed the door and rested against the wall, arms 
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crossed in his usual manner, while my father came to sit beside 
me on the sofa, spurring me to straighten my posture.
 “As I was saying, Alera. I had intended to speak to you on 
the night of your birthday, but things got a bit chaotic. Thank 
goodness for Cannan’s clear head. If it weren’t for him, I don’t 
know what sort of mess we’d be in right now.”
 London bristled in an uncommon show of annoyance that 
my father was giving Cannan credit for dealing with the in-
truder. All the same, he held his tongue.
 “What I would like to discuss with you is the selection of 
your husband,” my father continued, his brown eyes warm 
and affectionate. “I was delighted to hear from Lord Steldor 
that he greatly enjoyed the evening he spent with you. Tell 
me, has any other young man caught your eye?”
 While almost any young man might have been better than 
Steldor, I could think of no one whom my father would be 
willing to seriously evaluate. Steldor was clearly the heir ap-
parent; he had been groomed his entire life to be successor to 
the King.
 “I’m afraid not, Father.”
 “I will not conceal my thoughts from you,” he responded, 
a satisfied air settling over him. “I am content that Steldor 
is the only young man under consideration, and I am quite 
heartened that he has shown an interest in you.”
 I suppressed a grimace, having noticed that my father was 
far more concerned about Steldor’s opinion of me than he was 
about my opinion of Steldor.
 “Lord Steldor is…a remarkable person. But I am not con-
vinced he is the man I should marry.”
 “What can you possibly mean, Alera?”
 “I simply mean…” I was scrambling for a rationale other 
than the truth, which he would not find sufficient. “I see 

9780373210343_TS.indd   539780373210343_TS.indd   53 2/4/11   9:31:03 AM2/4/11   9:31:03 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver54

Steldor only as a friend. Perhaps it would be better if he were 
to marry Mira.”
 “Oh, don’t be ridiculous,” he scoffed. “If he married 
Miranna, he wouldn’t become King.”
 “But she is better suited to his…personality.”
 “And he is better suited to rule than anyone else in this 
kingdom.” My father’s rising level of frustration was evidenced 
by the increasing animation of his hands. “And ability to rule is 
the primary basis upon which this decision is to be made.”
 “I understand that, Father,” I acknowledged, looking toward 
the f loor.
 He cupped my chin to raise my face to his, and his coun-
tenance softened.
 “It is surely not a big step from friend to husband. I insist 
you envision Steldor in that capacity.”
 “Yes, Father,” I murmured, deciding it was best at this time 
to go along with his desires.
 “Very good!” he exclaimed, clapping his hands together, 
his cheerful mood restored. “Then I shall inform him that 
you are receptive to his advances.”
 Before I had a chance to protest, my father stood and 
whooshed out the door.
 “No,” I whispered, the color draining from my cheeks. 
“What have I done?”
 I caught the smirk forming on London’s lips and sprang to 
my feet.
 “Don’t you dare laugh,” I said indignantly.
 “I wasn’t going to,” London insisted, though the smile did 
not fade from his eyes.
 Feeling tense, I sent for Sahdienne to draw a bath for me. 
My bath chamber met its practical purposes with a washbasin 
on a stand and a garderobe built into the side wall of the castle. 
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What made it unique, however, was the large tub that was 
sunk into the tiled f loor. Water was supplied to the room by 
pipes that ran within the walls to one of several wells serv-
ing the palace and was heated by virtue of the double-sided 
fireplace that served both my bedroom and parlor.
 While I bathed and continued my preparations for bed, 
London waited in the parlor. Until Cannan’s recent orders, his 
assignment as a bodyguard had not required him to be within 
my quarters while I attended to such personal tasks, and I 
could imagine his discomfort now. Finally ready to retire, I 
dismissed Sahdienne and opened my bedroom door a crack 
to murmur good-night to him.
 Slumber eluded me, for I couldn’t stop wondering what the 
morning would bring. I knew the Cokyrian prisoner would 
be dragged before the King and the captain once more, and 
I was even more determined than before to be in attendance. 
Yet it seemed likely that my father would forbid it.
 I had at last begun to doze when something from the previ-
ous interrogation came rushing back, and I hastened into the 
parlor where London was reclining on the sofa. Before I could 
speak, he was on his feet, causing me to jump in alarm. His 
practiced eyes scanned the room for an enemy before settling 
on me.
 “And why are you not in bed?” he asked, irritated at having 
been disturbed for no good reason.
 “How did you know?”
 He stared at me, baff led. “How did I know what?”
 “How did you know she was the High Priestess and that 
her name was Nantilam?”
 “I was mistaken,” he said, his expression clouding over. “It 
was speculation that I unwisely made known to you. Now, 
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can I get some peace or do you want me to read you a bed-
time story?”
 I rolled my eyes—London’s sarcasm a clear indication he 
was not in a talkative mood—and withdrew to my bed to fall 
into a fitful slumber. I woke while it was still dark and, after 
much tossing and turning, sat up to get a drink of water. I 
poured myself a glass from the pitcher on my nightstand and 
took a sip, knowing I would not get back to sleep unless I was 
able to walk around and mull things over. But I also knew 
I would never be able to get past London and that he would 
not embrace the idea of a late-night stroll.
 I decided to chance it. Maybe the Elite Guard had dozed off 
and would not wake to the sound of quiet footfalls. I slowly 
opened my bedroom door and tiptoed into the parlor. I was 
about to go into the corridor, amazed at my luck, when I 
glanced back to the sofa on which London had been resting. 
He was not there.
 I stepped closer to where he should have been, thinking my 
vision was distorted by the darkness, but there was no sign of 
him.
 “London?”
 Only silence filled the room. I opened the door to the cor-
ridor and peered down its dimly lit length, but he was not in 
sight.
 Suddenly losing the will to wander, I opted to curl up in 
bed, worried about where London had gone. Why would he 
have left me unprotected, against his orders? Had there been 
some problem that had caused him to run off in the middle 
of the night? I lay quietly for what felt like hours, at long last 
falling into a troubled sleep, my dreams haunted by images 
of the terrible fates that might have befallen my bodyguard.
 The following morning, I awoke and went straight to the 
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bath chamber, not wanting to check on London for fear he 
had not returned. I dressed with Sahdienne’s help, electing to 
wear my silver-and-diamond tiara so that I would have an air 
of authority for this second interrogation.
 After Sahdienne had curtseyed and left, I walked into the 
parlor where, to my relief, London was waiting next to the 
door in his characteristic stance, back against the wall, arms 
crossed over his chest. We surveyed each other for a short 
while before either of us spoke.
 “What?” London smirked. “Did I put my shirt on backward 
or something?”
 “No!” I blurted, realizing I had been staring at him word-
lessly for an inordinate length of time. “I was just wondering 
where you were last night.”
 London’s smile disappeared and he shifted his position.
 “I have no idea what you’re talking about.”
 “I got up in the dark and you weren’t here.”
 “I didn’t go anywhere. I might have stepped into the cor-
ridor for a moment, but other than that, I was here all night. 
Perhaps you were dreaming.”
 “Pretty vivid dream, I’d say.” I bit my lower lip in agitation. 
“Why are you lying to me, London?”
 “I’m not lying to you!” he snapped, pushing away from the 
wall, his eyes f lashing. “Are you accusing me of abandoning 
my charge?”
 “No, of course not,” I said, taken aback by his anger.
 Abandoning his charge would mean disregarding every-
thing he stood for, all the oaths he had taken as a soldier of 
Hytanica and a member of the King’s Elite Guard. It would 
mean forfeiting his career, perhaps even his life.
 “I didn’t mean to imply any such thing. I’m sorry if I of-
fended you. I was just…curious.”
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 “If you still want to witness that interrogation, we’d better 
be going.” His manner was brusque and his voice still sim-
mered with indignation.
 We walked in silence toward the spiral staircase, a sense of 
shame resounding within my chest at how I had spoken to 
London, and at how he had reacted, though I knew he would 
pardon me. As we descended the stairs to the first f loor, loud 
and disgruntled voices drifted to us from down the corridor, 
and my father, the captain and four Elite Guards came into 
view.
 “How can this be?” My father’s voice was frantic, and he 
was almost spinning the royal ring upon his finger.
 “She must have escaped during the night. When Kade went 
to retrieve her this morning, she was gone.” Cannan’s response 
was calm, but worry lines creased his forehead.
 “Is there a problem?” London queried, attracting the at-
tention of the others.
 My father cut in before Cannan could speak. “Our prisoner 
broke out sometime during the night and has f led.”
 “Has the area been searched? She may still be on the palace 
grounds.”
 “Yes, the search of the palace and of the grounds has turned 
up nothing,” Cannan replied, seeming rankled by London’s 
tendency to usurp his authority. “I’ve expanded the search 
throughout the city and have alerted our border patrols, but 
so far, we have found no trace of her.”
 “How could she have escaped?” I blurted, unable to stop 
myself, though I knew I was not the one who should be asking 
questions.
 Cannan gave me a stern glance but responded nonetheless.
 “That is yet to be determined. According to Kade, her cell 
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was locked, exactly as it should have been, except she wasn’t 
in it.”
 “None of this makes sense!” my father exclaimed, empha-
sizing his words with gestures so sweeping that the rest of us 
took a step away from him. “It’s impossible to escape from our 
dungeon, with or without the surveillance of the guards!”
 “I have asked Kade to summon for questioning any guard 
who was on dungeon duty last night,” Cannan replied. “Unless 
the Cokyrians really are as clever and cunning as myth sug-
gests, the men should be able to provide some answers.”
 “Blame the traitor!” one of the Elite Guards who had ac-
companied the captain and the King cried out.
 “Tadark!” Cannan reprimanded the young lieutenant 
harshly. “Enough!”
 “There is a traitor among us, make no mistake,” Tadark de-
fiantly repeated. “The prisoner could not have escaped without 
help, and only someone who was already in the palace would 
have been able to gain entry to the dungeon.”
 Tadark then dramatically addressed my father. “My only 
request is that you sleep lightly, Your Highness, and be wary 
even in the presence of your most trusted guards.”
 “Enough!” Cannan thundered, his voice so severe that I 
momentarily felt sorry for Steldor if he’d ever had to endure 
the wrath his father expressed in that one word.
 “Yes, sir,” Tadark responded, but his sullen tone indicated 
he believed himself justified in making his point known.
 Since there would no longer be an interrogation, I returned 
to my quarters laden with fresh worries that I desperately 
wanted someone to alleviate. How could our prisoner have 
escaped? My father had said it was impossible to break out of 
the dungeon. Had someone assisted her? But to what end? 
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The more I tried to think things through, the more confused 
I became and in the end succeeded only in giving myself a 
dreadful headache.

 The next few days were hectic and a little jumbled in my 
memory. Cannan had again ordered heightened security 
within the palace, and Kade had doubled the number of guards 
stationed at every post and on every assignment. Perhaps more 
disconcerting, my sister and I were forbidden to leave the 
palace at any time, even to visit the garden.
 Cannan must have taken to heart the inopportunely ex-
pressed conjectures of his young lieutenant because he ordered 
that no member of the royal family was to be left alone with 
a single guard. This meant that I was given a second personal 
bodyguard, and it was my misfortune that the man who re-
ceived the assignment was none other than Tadark himself.
 Tadark was at least two inches shorter than I, and several 
inches shorter than London, with well-kept sandy brown hair 
and brown eyes. He was baby-faced, which gave him an in-
nocent and boyish look, although I knew he had to be in his 
late twenties. Unlike London, he dressed in the uniform of 
the Elite Guard, a double-breasted royal-blue doublet, white 
shirt and black breeches, and was obviously proud to have 
achieved the position. He wore the sword of the Elite Guard 
on his right hip, from which placement I surmised he was 
left-handed.
 In many ways, Tadark was the opposite of London. He 
was superstitious and spoke often and at great length. While 
London tended to blend into the background, Tadark was con-
stantly at my side, always telling me, “Watch out!” for this and, 
“Stay away!” from that. London, of course, found Tadark’s 
methods comical, but I did not. By the end of the week, I was 
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ready to poison the annoying lieutenant. I began to speculate 
about how he had become a member of the Elite Guard and 
resolved to ask London at my earliest opportunity.
 Morale inside the palace dropped throughout the week, 
and tempers f lared as those who worked for the royal family 
started to suspect each other of having betrayed us in some 
way. Only Cannan, Kade, the members of the Elite Guard 
and the King knew the full details of the investigation. While 
this was probably necessary to maintain the integrity of the 
inquiry, it also ensured that tension in the palace remained 
high.
 I was growing increasingly frustrated as London learned 
more and more about the state of affairs, while I was left in 
the dark. Although I was a member of the royal family, I had 
no more ability to gather information than did the palace staff, 
for princess or not, I was but a woman and had no need to be 
involved in military matters. This situation did little to allay 
my anxiety, and I disliked the feeling that I was a prisoner 
in my own home, especially when, given the possibility of a 
traitor among us, the danger inside was potentially as great as 
any that lurked outside the palace walls.
 Then one day during the following week, an idea came 
to me. Steldor, as the captain’s son and a troop commander 
himself, most likely knew a good deal of information relat-
ing to the Cokyrian woman’s escape. It was also true that he 
loved to hear himself talk. Despite the revulsion I felt at the 
prospect, it was time for another date with Steldor.
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“EXACTLY WHY ARE YOU DOING THIS AGAIN?” 
London asked for the third time in the last half hour.
 We were about to leave my parlor so that I could spend the 
afternoon with Steldor in the Central Courtyard, but I stopped 
to face him, exasperated by his refusal to drop the subject.
 “With all these new rules, the only way I could obtain my 
father’s permission to go outside was to play upon his desire 
that I spend some time with Steldor.”
 I wasn’t being entirely forthcoming with London—though 
the palace seemed to shrink in on me with each passing day, 
this was not the reason I had arranged another rendezvous with 
the Captain of the Guard’s son. I wanted to know what was 
going on, and Steldor was going to be my unwitting source.
 “You’re asking me to believe that you’re willing to be alone 
with Steldor for hours just to get a little fresh air?” London 
said, one raised eyebrow punctuating his skepticism.
 “London, you should be jumping at this opportunity, just 
as Tadark did. You are free of your duties for once and should 
be taking advantage of that, not trying to dissuade me from 
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my plans. And remember, this wasn’t my decision. It was the 
King’s. He has somehow acquired the idea that Steldor is a 
little put off by you, and thinks it would be best if the two of 
us spent some time together outside your presence. Besides, 
Steldor can protect me if the need arises, and there are dozens 
of guards stationed in the courtyard. So, go into the city! Do…
whatever it is you do for entertainment. Be thankful that you 
finally have a day when you don’t have to worry about me or 
my schedule.”
 Guilt nipped at me for not being honest—I had been the 
one to tell my father that Steldor was uncomfortable around 
London—but if my bodyguard were allowed to chaperone me, 
he would figure out what I was doing and spoil any chance I 
might have for success.
 “I still don’t like it,” London said morosely. In a rare display 
of affection, he reached out a hand and brushed the backs of 
his fingers along my jawline. “And I can no more stop wor-
rying about you than I can stop myself from breathing.”
 I couldn’t restrain my smile, despite my determination to 
stay firm.
 “I know you don’t like Steldor, or the King’s decision, but 
you must comply with it.”
 “It isn’t just dislike. I don’t trust him. Have you forgotten 
what he tried last time?”
 I put my hands on my hips, my patience put to the test.
 “He won’t try anything out in the open in broad daylight, 
London. He’s not that idiotic. And besides, Madam Matallia 
has consented to be our chaperone.”
 Madam Matallia, plump but nevertheless pinched-faced, 
was the elderly woman who had been instructing Miranna 
and me in etiquette for the past twelve years and in household 
management for the last five. From what I understood, she 
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had also been my mother’s instructor, although the madam 
now answered to her former student for my sister’s and my 
behavior at various social functions.
 “Madam Matallia? She’ll be asleep under a shade tree within 
five minutes. And even if she’s not, she adores Steldor. She’ll 
purposefully look the other way in the hope that he kisses 
you!”
 I again fought a smile, for Madam Matallia’s infatuation 
with Steldor was precisely the reason I had requested her for 
a chaperone.
 “And what of his amazing scent? How will you ever resist 
him?” London had moved to lean against the door, as though 
standing in front of it would make me forget where it was 
located.
 Gnawing on my lower lip, I made one final attempt to mol-
lify my bodyguard. “I know what I’m up against this time, so 
if he tries to kiss me, I’ll slap him, all right?”
 “Well, that would certainly be a new experience for 
him.”
 As we left my quarters, London crossed his arms and sank 
into a stony silence. In an effort to dispel the tension, and since 
Tadark was not with us for once, I decided now was the time 
to ask about my younger guard.
 “London, I’ve been wondering about something. Tadark 
doesn’t seem to fit the mold of an Elite Guard. Do you know 
how he came to be one?”
 My bodyguard uncrossed his arms and smiled a little, despite 
his dismal mood, and the discord between us eased.
 “Well, that depends,” he said, running a hand through his 
hair.
 “On what?”
 “On which version you want to hear.”
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 “There’s more than one?”
 London nodded, his smile broadening into a grin. “Do you 
want to hear the official version, the one Tadark claims to be 
true, or an eyewitness account from another guard?”
 “Begin with Tadark’s, then tell me the other,” I prompted, 
sensing I was about to hear an interesting story.
 We had reached the spiral staircase, but rather than proceed-
ing down it, London rested his back against the wall.
 “Tadark’s placement in the Elite Guard occurred a few years 
ago and involved your mother. The Queen had been brows-
ing the merchandise in the market, and was about to make a 
purchase when an imbecilic thief snatched her money pouch 
from her hands, bumping into her and knocking her to the 
ground. Her guards ensured she had not suffered injury before 
pursuing the man, so the cretin was given a head start…and 
then Tadark showed up on the scene. According to Tadark 
himself, he saw the thief assault the Queen, then gave chase, 
catching him, wrestling him to the ground and taking him 
into custody before the others could lend a hand.”
 I almost laughed out loud at the notion of Tadark acting so 
heroically. “And the other version?”
 “The beginning is very much the same,” London said, 
enjoying the telling of the tale. “It is in the circumstances 
surrounding Tadark’s arrival that the accounts differ greatly. 
According to one of the Queen’s own men, he and another 
guard pursued the thief. They were gaining ground on the 
man when Tadark, then a City Guard, stepped out from a 
side street. It would be correct to say that the thief did not see 
Tadark in time to avoid a collision. The criminal was knocked 
out, presumably from the impact of his head upon the ground, 
and the other guards arrested him while Tadark struggled to 
his feet.
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 “Tadark and the unlucky thief were brought before the 
Queen, who, naturally enough, assumed some act of bravery 
on Tadark’s part. Upon her return to the palace, she insisted 
that he receive recognition for his ‘noble deed.’ Cannan there-
upon placed him in the training program for the Elite Guard. I 
have always suspected that some other issue was preoccupying 
the captain at the time, otherwise he would have come up 
with a less grand reward.”
 London moved away from the wall, indicating with his hand 
that we should descend the stairs, and I obliged. As we stepped 
out into the first-f loor corridor, he finished his story.
 “I would guess Cannan never thought Tadark would com-
plete the training program, for about half of those who enter 
drop out. But he made it through. Personally, I believe some-
one made a mistake in determining who was to be admitted 
to the Elite Guard that year, thus cursing us with the constant 
and aggravating presence of our dear friend Tadark. My only 
consolation is that he is unlikely to advance up the ranks of the 
Guard, always and forever remaining a lowly lieutenant.”
 I was forced to stif le another laugh as we walked onto the 
mosaic stone f loor of the Grand Entry Hall and saw both 
Madam Matallia, clutching a basket of embroidery, and Stel-
dor, carelessly f lipping his dagger, waiting for me.
 Palace Guards pulled open the twin entrance doors, and 
Madam Matallia, her graying hair arranged into a precise 
bun, stepped over the threshold and out into the sunshine. 
Steldor sheathed his dagger and stepped forward to bow and 
kiss my hand, then smiled lazily at me, an unmistakable trace 
of tedium in his eyes. Despite the simple style of his belted 
green-suede tunic, he was effortlessly stunning, and I felt 
plain in comparison in my sapphire-blue gown. I took the 
arm Steldor was extending, wondering if he counted me as 
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just another task on his schedule, and glanced back to assess 
London’s reaction. My bodyguard, however, refused to meet 
my gaze.
 The Central Courtyard was one of my favorite haunts, 
second only to the garden. Lilac hedges lined the wide stone 
path that led from the palace to the front gates, the point of 
entry into the grounds, and their profuse blossoms gave off 
a fragrance that clung to our clothes and hair like mist to 
the lowlands. Majestic oak trees, white birches and f lowering 
cherry trees cast cooling shadows over the benches situated 
throughout the grassy expanse, while doors on both of the 
fifteen-foot-high side walls of the courtyard could be opened 
to provide access to the equally beautiful East Courtyard and 
West Courtyard. It was a lovely place to read, think or simply 
daydream. Neither the increased number of guards on the 
grounds nor the company I was keeping could dampen the joy 
I felt at being able to spend this early-June afternoon outside 
the palace in such a pleasant setting.
 I came out of my reverie, trying to listen to Steldor, who 
was once more rambling on.
 “I mean, there was nothing attractive about this girl at all. 
Luckily her father is wealthy so she’ll still marry well, but let 
me tell you we made quite the pair on the dance f loor. It was 
the talk of the party, but not for reasons I would have liked. 
Don’t misunderstand me, I appreciate my father’s expectation 
that I show favor to the daughter of a comrade, and she was 
certainly in need of the attention, but I—”
 “Yes,” I said sweetly, interrupting his monologue. “There 
are so many who would be pleased to receive a single crumb 
of your attention.”
 He looked bemused for a moment, then continued un-
deterred.
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 “Well, yes. Who wouldn’t be, given my extraordinary 
looks, heritage and charm?”
 My first reaction was to gawk, but then it occurred to me 
he might be teasing, and I managed to disguise my reaction 
with a girlish giggle. Sensing an opportunity to acquire in-
formation, I glanced around for Madam Matallia, who had 
perched herself upon a shaded bench and was conveniently 
out of earshot.
 “Not to mention how strong and brave you are,” I put 
forth, moving closer to him. “I have no doubt that everyone 
admires you and, of course, would trust you with important 
information.”
 “Well, I do hear about many things,” he confirmed, putting 
his arm around my waist, and I hoped I hadn’t given him the 
wrong kind of encouragement.
 “Oh, do tell me about something…official.”
 “What do you want to know?”
 “Tell me something about Cokyri, perhaps about the 
Cokyrian woman who was our prisoner.”
 “You want to know something about Cokyri?” he repeated, 
and I wondered if he had caught on to what I was doing.
 “Yes, I mean, you’re so experienced and smart, you must 
have a theory about how she escaped.”
 We stopped walking and Steldor faced me, brows drawn to-
gether. I reached out f lirtatiously to finger the silver wolf ’s head 
talisman that he wore around his neck, and he laughed.
 “Well, I am experienced and smart,” he smirked, placing 
his hand atop my own and pressing it against his chest. “But 
really, Alera, it would be much simpler just to ask me if you 
want the details of the investigation.”
 I stared at his pendant, my cheeks turning every conceivable 
shade of pink.
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 “Then again, I do generally enjoy f lattery, and your attempt 
to trick me into providing you with confidential information 
has been amusing.” To my mortification, he put his other hand 
under my chin, raising my deep brown eyes to his own. “But 
you’ll find it difficult to match my wits.”
 I jerked my hand away from his, stung by his words, hor-
rified and embarrassed that I had been caught. Spurred by the 
threat of tears, I turned around, not wanting him to know that 
he had hurt me. Taking several deep breaths, I walked bleary-
eyed toward a stone bench that stood beneath the branches of a 
white birch tree. When I reached it, I sat down in as dignified 
a fashion as I could, gazing away from him and wishing that 
London would return and rescue me. After a moment, Steldor 
walked over to sit beside me, but I could not bring myself to 
acknowledge him.
 “Now, now,” he said in a patronizing tone, and I felt like 
a recalcitrant child. “There’s no reason to be this upset that 
your little ploy didn’t work.”
 When I refused to respond, his voice softened, and he 
sounded as though he were offering me a treat.
 “I know my father and the King would be unwilling to 
talk about military affairs with you, but I see no harm in sat-
isfying your curiosity. After all, there is no use to which you 
could put the information.” He began to play with the hair 
that tumbled down my back. “All you have to do is ask.”
 My breath caught in my throat at the humiliating position 
in which he was placing me, but I swallowed my pride and 
looked at him, seeing no other way to garner what I wanted 
to know.
 “I would appreciate the details of the investigation into the 
Cokyrian prisoner’s escape.”
 “Very well,” he said, far too pleased with himself. He 
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relaxed in an affected manner, resting his upper arms on the 
back of the bench and continuing to play with my dark brown 
tresses.
 “We have reached no conclusions at this point, but I do 
know my father has redirected the investigation toward find-
ing a traitor. The two dungeon guards who came on duty 
at midnight have confessed that they fell asleep during their 
shift. Neither man has ever shown neglect in his duties before, 
leading my father to suspect treachery. He thinks the guards 
were drugged.
 “A meal was brought to the men about three hours after 
they reported for duty, and they nodded off right after they 
ate. Both say they woke with the rising of the sun, shortly 
before Kade came to retrieve the prisoner. That gives us the 
time frame of the escape.”
 “Does your father suspect anyone in particular?” I probed, 
my embarrassment forgotten.
 “No, but the traitor would have to have known the orders 
that were issued by Kade to the dungeon guards. They vary 
day to day, and only those on duty at that time and the Elite 
Guards know the schedule for changing posts. If the traitor 
knew the orders, he could have drugged the food.”
 “So our traitor would have to be someone in the Elite 
Guard?” I forced the sentence from my tightening throat. The 
very suggestion was alarming, for these men were the royal 
family’s most trusted guards.
 “In theory. Hence the doubling up of all the bodyguards. 
The drugging also seems plausible because there were no signs 
of a forced breakout. The keys could easily have been used 
and returned while the guards were unconscious.”
 “That’s frightening,” I murmured, and a chill swept through 
me despite the warmth of the day.
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 “Ah, never fear, Princess,” Steldor said with a self-assured 
chuckle, putting his arm around my shoulder and drawing me 
near. “I’ll protect you.”
 “I’m sure you will,” I forced myself to say, slipping from 
beneath his arm to come to my feet. London’s lack of trust in 
Steldor was beginning to nag at me.
 “Let’s walk a bit more, shall we?” I invited.
 I spent most of the afternoon with the captain’s son, shar-
ing a bite to eat with him and listening with feigned interest 
as he returned to making speeches about himself. Eventually, 
we went back inside the palace, I, at least, feeling somewhat 
guilty about leaving Madam Matallia asleep on her bench. 
Steldor accompanied me to the spiral staircase, and although 
he offered to escort me farther, I latched onto a Palace Guard 
to stand in for London.
 Having escaped Steldor without a kiss, I trod lightly up 
the steps to the second f loor, picturing the faces of the Elite 
Guards in my mind while I mulled over the possibility that 
one of them was a traitor. Most of them had protected the 
royal family for at least half my life, and I knew that in order 
to be inducted into the Elite Guard, a soldier’s loyalty to the 
throne had to be proven. What could have prompted one of 
them to betray the kingdom he loved?
 Hearing muff led conversation from inside the library, I 
moved in the direction of the sound. As I approached the 
half-open library door, Tadark’s unmistakable voice reached 
my ears, and I sent the Palace Guard who had walked with 
me on his way. Words were tumbling from the lieutenant’s 
mouth, and I assumed London was with him, for no one else 
would have had the patience to put up with such never-ending 
chatter.
 “When I was nine, I would steal my father’s sword to play 
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with. I never hurt anybody, but I got in a lot of trouble, 
believe you me. For some reason, I kept doing it, though. I 
don’t know why. I guess I was just destined to be a soldier. It 
was my dream to become part of the Elite Guard. You people 
inspired me to become what I am today. I made a lot of stupid 
mistakes when I was just a soldier, so I didn’t think I’d make 
it, but I did! I remember hearing in military school about the 
training you have to go through to be in the Elite Guard, and 
I just thought, never. Never would I survive that. But once I 
was in the training program, I didn’t want to drop out, and 
so somehow I made it through.”
 There was a pause, and I pictured Tadark surfacing like a 
swimmer for air, as his speech had surely put a strain on his 
lungs. Then he continued, more slowly, his enthusiasm now 
tempered with curiosity.
 “How did you survive it?”
 Time slipped away while Tadark waited for London to 
respond. I guessed that the deputy captain was reading a 
book and not paying any heed to what the younger man was 
saying.
 “You’re the quiet type, aren’t you?” It was still Tadark who 
was speaking.
 “Only around you,” London replied absently, at last giving 
his partner his due.
 “Why’s that? I really can’t picture you talking much ever. 
You strike me as a bit…dull.”
 I covered my mouth with my hand in order to keep from 
laughing out loud, drawing many odd stares from the guards 
and servants who passed me.
 There was a pause, then London gave an explanation. “I 
just figure you talk enough for the both of us, Tad.”
 “My name is Tadark.”
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 “What, you don’t like the name Tad? I think it fits you. 
Tad.”
 “Don’t call me that!”
 “Whatever you say…Tad.”
 Tadark exhaled huffily several times, and I was certain 
London had returned to his book, at ease with Tadark’s dis-
pleasure. After a moment, the lieutenant collected himself and 
attempted again to engage London.
 “You want to know why I follow you around all the 
time?”
 “Because we’re stationed together?”
 “Well, yes, but I mean other than that.”
 “Tell me, Tad. Why do you follow me around all the 
time?”
 “Because I respect you. You’re everything I strive to 
 become—everything an Elite Guard should be.”
 “I’m honored.”
 “I’d hate to think you’d betray your king and queen for 
your own profit.”
 A few moments of silence greeted this outrageous state-
ment.
 “What are you talking about?” London’s voice betrayed a 
belief that Tadark might be hopelessly feebleminded.
 “Someone has to have done it—released the Cokyrian 
prisoner. It could be you just as easily as it could be anyone 
else.”
 “There’s no proof that anyone helped her escape.”
 “Oh, please. You know there’s a traitor. I’m just saying 
that…everyone…is a suspect.”
 “You’re in no position to point fingers, Tadark. More often 
than not, the accuser is the guilty party.” London was riled. I 
had never before heard him use a deep, warning tone like the 
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one he was using now. “Don’t push me. I can cause you a lot 
of problems, boy.”
 “Boy? Who are you to be calling me boy? You look younger 
than I do!” Tadark was almost squealing, his voice rising in 
pitch as he became increasingly overwrought.
 A book tumbled to the f loor, and I knew London had 
gotten to his feet.
 “Attention!” he barked. “Have you forgotten that I am your 
superior officer?”
 “No, sir, I haven’t, sir,” Tadark mumbled.
 “I didn’t hear you,” London snarled.
 “No, sir, I haven’t, sir,” Tadark repeated, with greater 
volume and clarity.
 I decided to intervene before some horrible punishment 
befell my younger guard. I knew London, who generally fol-
lowed no rules but his own, had to be incensed to have called 
upon military protocol.
 Swinging open the library door, I hailed them, deliberately 
cheerful. “I was heading back to my room when I heard you 
talking, and thought I might join you here.”
 London, uncharacteristically agitated, stood across from 
me in front of the library’s bay window, the book through 
which he had been paging forgotten at his feet, while Tadark 
was frozen before him at attention amidst several scattered 
armchairs. Along the right wall, near the fireplace, were a sofa 
and several additional chairs. On the f loor, between the seating 
areas, was a large rug upon which I had frequently lain during 
my childhood, often entertained by drawings that London 
would make for me. Book-filled shelves formed legions of 
aisles on the left.
 “At ease,” London muttered upon seeing me, and the ri-
gidity left Tadark’s posture despite the embarrassed f lush that 
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was creeping up his neck. The two men glanced at each other 
and I could almost hear the question that had formed in their 
minds—Did she hear us?
 “Now, gentlemen,” I teased. “Judging by your faces, you 
must have been discussing something I’m not supposed to 
know about.”
 “Don’t be ridiculous,” London replied a bit too harshly.
 I decided to stop making them feel self-conscious. “Well 
then, please resume your discussion. I’ll just browse through 
the books while we’re here.”
 My father had assembled a substantial book collection over 
the years and had insisted that both of his daughters were 
not only taught to read but permitted to read a wide variety of 
subjects. The books themselves represented years of painstak-
ing effort by scribes, who copied the original authors’ words 
onto sheets of parchment that were then bound in leather or 
in elaborately designed metal covers.
 I meandered down one of the aisles, running a finger lov-
ingly over some of the volumes. Here were books of science, 
theology, philosophy, history and medicine, along with vo-
cabularies and encyclopedias. There were also compilations 
of short stories and folktales as well as poetry, romances and 
plays. London, in all likelihood, had been reading one of the 
books of law, for he had a keen mind and knowledge of Latin. 
I was thankful that my father was a progressive man when it 
came to the education of his daughters, for he had engaged 
tutors to teach us to read and write, to understand rudimentary 
Latin and to do figures, in addition to the traditional feminine 
subjects of etiquette, movement, household management, em-
broidery and music.
 I continued to wander among the dusty tomes, needing 
some time to think without distraction. I was still unwilling 
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to believe there was a traitor among the Elite Guards, or any 
of the guards, for that matter, but, as Tadark had said, there 
seemed to be no other possibility. But how could I doubt any 
of them? They were my guardians, and I trusted each of them 
with my life. At the same time, any of them could have ac-
complished the act, except perhaps for Tadark, who was too 
loud and foolish to get away with something as clever as this 
escape had been.
 The only other option, one to which I clung desperately, 
was something Cannan had said after our prisoner’s escape. 
He had mentioned that the Cokyrians were famous for their 
stealth and trickery. I hoped that Nantilam’s f light was proof 
of that and not of a traitor within the royal house.
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I NEEDED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. NOT
about the breakout, but about the Cokyrian people. I ran 
through the list of those who might be able to tell me some-
thing, but turned up no one whom I would dare to ask. 
London would be dubious of my motives and Tadark was 
unlikely to know anything. I had already solicited Steldor and 
had no desire to do so again. My father, Cannan and Kade 
would refuse to tell me anything and would think the request 
inappropriate. Settling upon a person whose knowledge of the 
Cokyrian people was uncertain, I walked back to where my 
bodyguards sat in tense silence—London perched on the deep 
padded sill of the library’s sun-streaked window and Tadark 
in a leather armchair.
 “I’m going to seek out my mother,” I announced. “I have 
hardly spoken to her in weeks.”
 While this was not my true reason for wanting to spend 
time with the Queen, it was accurate all the same. I had 
seen her only occasionally at dinner since my birthday 
celebration nearly a month before. We operated on vastly 
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dif fer ent schedules, and my mother existed at my father’s 
beck and call.
 London and Tadark stood to escort me to the quarters that 
my mother and father shared. I knew my mother would be 
there, as the sun was going down and it was her habit to retire 
early. She jealously guarded her sleep so that there would be 
no circles beneath her sparkling eyes or lines upon her deli-
cate face, for it would be unacceptable for the King to have 
anything less than a beautiful wife.
 My parents’ quarters occupied the opposite corner of the 
second f loor from my own, and consisted of five luxurious 
rooms: two primarily for my mother, two primarily for my 
father, and one large parlor used by both. It was thought 
unwise for the rulers of the kingdom to sleep beside each other 
at night for the simple reason that separation made it more 
difficult for an enemy to pose a threat.
 A servant girl answered my knock.
 “Is my mother in her bedroom?” I asked, glancing around 
the elegant room, with its cream brocade armchairs and gold 
velvet sofas.
 “Yes, Your Highness,” she responded with a curtsey.
 I entered the parlor, leaving London and Tadark in the 
corridor with the Queen’s personal guards, and went to rap 
upon her bedroom door.
 “Come in,” my mother responded, her voice airy and 
melodic.
 I opened the door to find her sitting at her dressing table, 
brushing her beautiful, long, honey-blond hair. She was al-
ready in her nightgown, and her personal maid had drawn the 
heavy velvet drapes across the window that looked out over 
the garden.
 My mother turned with a smile, gazing at me with blue 
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eyes that were identical to Miranna’s in every way, although 
their depth was currently enhanced by the rich plum color of 
the furnishings in her room.
 “It’s good to see you, my darling. I trust Cannan’s restric-
tions have not been too stif ling for you?”
 “I’m managing,” I said, electing not to mention my escapade 
with Steldor. “I just wish that the mystery of the Cokyrian 
prisoner’s escape would be solved.”
 My mother nodded sympathetically and laid the hairbrush 
on the table.
 “Tell me what you wish to know,” she said, gliding to sit 
upon the bed and gesturing for me to join her, surprising me 
with her insight.
 “Don’t look so astounded,” she lightly admonished. “I was 
the same way at your age—always wanting to know every-
thing. But you mustn’t tell your father that it was I who en-
lightened you.”
 “I won’t, Mother.” I went to sit on her velvet spread, scoot-
ing close to her. “What can you tell me about Cokyri? I mean, 
other than what they put in the books.”
 She studied me for a moment, and I wondered if I had raised 
a proscribed subject.
 “I’m not sure I am the one you should come to for knowl-
edge of Cokyri. There are many who know more than I, 
London in particular.”
 I cocked my head, a bit confused. “Why would London 
know so much about the enemy?”
 “Oh,” she exclaimed, apparently realizing she had made 
reference to something about which I did not know. “It may 
not be my place to tell you.”
 “Tell me what?”
 She hesitated, and I feared she would not continue. With a 
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whisper of a sigh, she relented, reaching out to push my hair 
away from my face.
 “Years ago, toward the end of the war, London was a pris-
oner of the Cokyrians for almost ten months.”
 My eyes widened in shock, and it was suddenly much more 
difficult to breathe.
 “There was a ruthless battle in which our soldiers were 
greatly outnumbered. London was in command of the troops 
at the time, and when our soldiers were forced to retreat, he 
stayed to the end. When we went back to collect the bodies 
of our fallen, London was not among them, leading us to 
the conclusion that he had been taken for interrogation. The 
Cokyrians rarely took prisoners, and he is the only one who 
ever survived. Most of the information we have about the 
Overlord and the High Priestess has come from London.”
 My mother’s lilting voice was sharply out of character with 
the nature of the topic about which she was speaking, making 
the story she was telling all the more unreal.
 “He was a prisoner at the time the Cokyrians were stealing 
our children. He said they must have found what they were 
after, as they abruptly withdrew from our lands. All we really 
know is that they vacated their encampments and took f light. 
It was during the disarray surrounding the return of the troops 
to Cokyri that he managed to escape.”
 “What exactly do you mean when you say he was ‘taken 
for interrogation’?” I asked, anticipating the worst.
 “We know little of what London went through while he 
was in the enemy’s clutches,” she replied, patting my hand. 
“Those details were not something he wanted to share.”
 “But did they hurt him?”
 I felt ill remembering how London had spoken of the 
Overlord. I did not want to believe that he had incurred the 
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warlord’s wrath, but it was inconceivable that a prisoner would 
not have been mistreated.
 “As I said, we know very little about what he endured,” my 
mother repeated.
 It was clear she hoped I would cease my inquiries if she 
refused to satisfactorily address them, but the determination 
in my eyes told her otherwise.
 “He returned to us in a very strange state,” she con tinued.
 “What do you mean by ‘strange’?”
 “He had no physical injuries that we could see, but it took 
months for him to recover.”
 “Well, of course it would,” I reasoned, relieved that my 
bodyguard and friend had not been tortured by the enemy. 
“It would take a while to put such an ordeal behind you.”
 “Yes, it would, but that’s not the kind of recovery I’m talk-
ing about.”
 She raised a hand to massage her forehead, as if encouraging 
the memories to surface, and I waited, bewildered, for her to 
carry on.
 “He was terribly sick, but not from any illness that our 
doctors could identify. He seemed feverish, but his skin was 
colder than ice. He was delirious, unable to speak coherently 
or respond in any way to what was said to him. He screamed 
in agony, but our doctors could not locate a source for his 
pain. He ate and drank little for weeks. Our doctors bled him 
several times, but it made no difference, and they advised us 
he would die.”
 She sat deep in thought for a moment.
 “We can’t imagine the willpower it must have taken for him 
to return to Hytanica in that condition. When he regained his 
senses, he told us what he could, about his escape and about 
the Overlord. I’m afraid your father and Cannan quite besieged 
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him, concerned he would slip back into the mysterious ill-
ness that had incapacitated him for so long. Then I suppose 
he needed time to come to terms with the torment he had 
endured. He was withdrawn for many months, but eventually 
returned to his former self.”
 I contemplated the pattern of the woolen tapestry that blan-
keted the f loor, trying to make sense of the information my 
mother had provided.
 “London has never mentioned any of this to me,” I mur-
mured.
 “London is a very private person,” she said. “If you ever 
ask him about Cokyri, don’t let your questions become too 
personal. Some things are better left buried.”
 I agreed, knowing that bringing up any of this with London 
would be uncomfortable for us both.
 “Good night, Alera,” my mother said, giving me a kiss on 
the cheek before returning to her dressing table to resume 
brushing her hair. “Do not let your curiosity lead you to 
err.”
 “Good night, Mother. And thank you.”
 I left her bedroom, taking my time crossing the parlor to the 
door leading to the corridor. I had been so naive when I had 
asked London about Cokyri and the Overlord, on the night 
the Cokyrian woman had been discovered in the garden. I 
now understood why London never spoke of fighting in the 
war or his experiences with the enemy. I very much wanted 
to know what he had suffered, but I would never raise the 
subject with him. I had to accept that I might never know.

 I tossed and turned in bed that night, plagued by disturbing 
images, my restlessness tempered only by the knowledge that 
Tadark and London were on duty in my parlor. London had 
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claimed the sofa, which meant that Tadark would try to catch 
a few winks, rather gracelessly, in an armchair. It was usually 
the sound of the lieutenant’s moaning and complaining that 
put me to sleep, but tonight the noise was irritating rather 
than calming in its familiarity.
 I lay in the darkness, imagining my longtime bodyguard 
starving in a Cokyrian dungeon, not knowing whether 
he would live or die. Our dungeon was a horrific place, 
and I dared not consider how the Cokyrians housed their 
captives.
 He had said he’d seen the Overlord. I had been frightened 
by the reality that such a person existed in this world. London 
had faced him. He had borne his fury. Or had he?
 London had not sustained any physical injuries, but had 
suffered from an unusual illness. Perhaps it was a Cokyrian 
illness—one of which Hytanicans had not heard and to which 
we had never been exposed. But if that were the case, the 
disease would have spread to everyone London had encoun-
tered, and the whole kingdom could have become infected. 
And London should have died. The doctors had said it. Maybe 
the illness was unidentified, but surely a doctor would know 
when someone was going to die.
 As I continued to sort details out in my mind, comprehen-
sion dawned. London knew Cokyri better than anyone in 
Hytanica. It was implausible that someone could have seen 
the Overlord and not also have seen the High Priestess. He 
had recognized Nantilam in the garden, and had later told me 
who she was, then had tried to claim he was mistaken. Why 
would he withhold such information from the captain and 
the King? And if he were reluctant to reveal what he knew, 
why had he shared it with me? I could only presume that 
my pledge to maintain his confidence had made him more 
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willing to speak than he perhaps should have been, and that 
he had not thought my father would permit me to attend the 
interrogation.
 And why would he lie to me, not once, but twice? London 
had never lied to me before, but here, with the Cokyrians, 
came a side of him that I did not know or like. He had left my 
quarters during the night of Nantilam’s escape, and though 
he had tried to convince me otherwise, I knew it was true. I 
wanted to believe there was an explanation, but I had no faith 
that he would tell me even if I demanded it of him.
 I came to a decision, one that made me anxious and sad, 
but that I judged to be right. London might lie to me, but he 
would not lie to his king.

 The next morning, I sent word to Lanek that I wished to 
see my father, then visited our family chapel, which was in 
the East Wing just past the Queen’s Drawing Room and the 
Music Room. At this time of day, sunshine filtered through 
the stained-glass windows set high into the eastern wall of 
the Royal Chapel, glinting off the gilded altar and cross at 
the front of the room. I slid into one of the carved pews and 
bowed my head in unspoken prayer, soliciting strength and 
guidance as I carried out the decision I had reached. Then I 
departed, determined to see my father, London and Tadark 
joining me when I reentered the corridor.
 I paced in the small antechamber outside the Throne Room, 
for I needed permission to enter. The antechamber provided 
a waiting area for formal audiences with the King, and was 
accessed by walking beneath the Grand Staircase. There were 
three other points of entry into the Throne Room, one next 
to the Captain of the Guard’s office, another by the sergeant at 
arms’ office, and the last through the King’s Drawing Room. 
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The King’s Drawing Room was in the West Wing across the 
corridor from our private staircase and therefore gave my father 
easy access to the Hall of Kings from his quarters.
 London and Tadark were both in unusually good moods, 
or perhaps it just seemed so in comparison with my own. 
They remained on their feet, despite the availability of several 
armchairs, unwilling to sit down while I remained standing, 
although London rested his back against a wall.
 “So what time is your ‘appointment’?” London teased, ref-
erencing my father’s need for formal arrangements just to meet 
with his own daughter.
 I gave no response, but continued pacing, feeling as though 
the elaborate tapestries on the walls that depicted battle scenes 
were telling me I ought to retreat.
 “It’s rather ironic, really,” London persisted. “The Princess 
can’t see the King without an appointment. I suspect it would 
be easier for her to swim the Recorah River than to see her 
own father on short notice.”
 Tadark chuckled, then snapped his head around, apparently 
to check that no one had seen him acting less than dignified 
while on duty.
 London was more relaxed than he had been the previous 
afternoon in the library, and it pained me to be in his pres-
ence in light of what I was about to do. The military was his 
whole life. Was I prepared to destroy that? I shook my head. 
London would have a good explanation for everything, and 
if he didn’t…then he had destroyed his life himself.
 Deciding I was in no mood to reciprocate his teasing, 
London moved on to his new pastime—antagonizing Tadark. 
While this was entertaining for both London and me, Tadark 
did not appreciate the pursuit.
 Just when my younger guard had finally conceived of a 
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retort to a rather unkind comment of London’s, the doors to 
the Hall of Kings were pulled open, and I was motioned inside 
by one of the Palace Guards who stood just over the threshold. 
I felt weak as I entered, aware that this was my last chance to 
turn from my decision, but no matter how I felt about what 
I had come to do, I believed I did not have a choice.
 London and Tadark remained outside for the second time 
in two days while I stepped up to speak to one of my parents. 
I curtseyed upon approaching my father where he sat upon 
his throne, my eyes falling on the royal coat of arms that hung 
on the wall behind him. Banners in the kingdom’s colors of 
royal-blue-and-gold framed the imposing shield, which was 
divided into quadrants. The top section of the shield was red 
with a golden lion to symbolize courage, a quality I definitely 
needed right now. The right section was purple with a silver 
moon for justice, reminding me that I was relying on my 
father to be fair. A blue tear upon gold in the bottom section 
encouraged me to trust in my father’s usually kind nature. 
The final section of the shield consisted of a falcon on a blue 
background for loyalty, a characteristic I had always believed 
London to possess and that I hoped he would now display.
 “To what do I owe the pleasure of this visit?” my father 
asked, his brown eyes warm and bright, and I knew at once 
what he was expecting me to address, like a rush of cold wind 
hitting me in the face.
 “It has nothing to do with choosing a husband or with 
Steldor,” I told him, not wanting to address that topic.
 His face fell, and he lost a bit of his good humor. “Well, 
then, what can be so pressing as to seek me out at this time of 
day? You know I have a busy schedule, Alera.”
 “I think you’ll find this of greater importance than today’s 
business, Father,” I asserted, twining my fingers.
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 His eyebrows drew together. “Is everything all right? You’re 
rather pale, my dear.”
 I took a steadying breath before inquiring, “How close are 
you to identifying the traitor?”
 “How do you know about that?” my father demanded.
 “Word travels. The guards suspect each other.”
 “Still, this is not your worry. You needn’t be afraid within 
the palace, and you should not concern yourself with the 
military’s business.”
 “Father, please. Do you know who he is?”
 He exhaled heavily. “No, we do not. But we will find 
him…if in fact there is a traitor. Do not fret, Alera. Cannan 
is taking care of everything.”
 My eyes passed over the Elite Guards who stood in their 
usual formation, six on each side of the King.
 “Could we talk privately, Father?”
 “If that is what you wish.”
 He stood, puzzled, and stepped down from the dais, mo-
tioning me through the door beside the thrones that led into 
his study.
 My father’s study was warm and inviting, if a bit cluttered. 
On our left as we entered, shelves overf lowed with books, 
and a mahogany desk, littered with parchments, was straight 
ahead. Against the wall to the right was a brown leather sofa, 
upon which were strewn even more books. The near right 
corner of the room was occupied by a fireplace, and several 
armchairs sat haphazardly in front of the hearth. In the far 
corner, between the sofa and the desk, was a table that cur-
rently held my father’s prized chess set. Rich tapestries hung 
on the walls, and furs strewn on the f loor provided softness 
beneath our feet.
 I crossed the study and sat on the sofa, my palms moist 
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from nervousness. My father gathered the books and dropped 
them on the f loor with a resounding thud, then sat beside me, 
waiting for me to speak.
 “London left me alone in my quarters on the night of the 
Cokyrian woman’s escape,” I began, without any prelim-
inaries.
 “What?” he exclaimed. “Are you certain?”
 “I woke up during the night and London was gone. I called 
for him—he was not there.”
 “You have no doubt of this?”
 “I am certain, Father,” I confirmed, feeling somewhat 
queasy. “I would not have come to you if I were not.”
 “He knew he was not to leave you. Why did you not tell 
me this sooner?”
 “Because London is my bodyguard and my friend. I was 
afraid of what might happen to him if I did.”
 My father laid a hand upon my own to quiet them, as I had 
been clasping and unclasping them in my lap.
 “And you no longer fear for him?”
 “I fear for him,” I said, head bowed. “But I could no longer 
keep this from you.”
 “Have you spoken of this to London?”
 “He lied to me, Father,” I said disconsolately, raising my 
head to gaze upon his troubled countenance. “I know he left, 
but he claimed he was with me all night. He said I must have 
been dreaming.”
 “Perhaps he is right. In any event, it is your word against 
his. Royal or not, you are a woman, and London is a highly 
respected soldier of Hytanica.”
 He stood to pace in front of the cold hearth. I took a 
heaving breath, regret nipping at me, and then resumed my 
confession.
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 “That is not the only reason I came to you. If you remem-
ber, on the night the Cokyrian woman invaded our garden, 
it was London who put her under arrest.”
 “Yes, I remember,” my father said, coming to a halt. “Of 
what relevance is that?”
 “London said something strange to me that night. He spoke 
of the woman as if he knew her. He said she was the High 
Priestess of Cokyri, and that her name was Nantilam. When 
you told me her identity was not known, I asked him about it, 
and he said he’d been mistaken. He lied to me again, Father. 
I know he did.”
 My father said nothing, but stood deep in deliberation, rub-
bing the royal ring with the fingers of his left hand. I fidgeted, 
aware that I had just disclosed the most important secret of 
my life, a secret I had promised to keep for someone I dearly 
loved.
 “This cannot be,” my father muttered under his breath.
 “I know that he was a prisoner of war in Cokyri for ten 
months. He would know the High Priestess if he saw her.”
 “Has London told you—”
 “No. He hasn’t told me of his time as a captive.” At his 
baff led expression, I gave an honest explanation. “I spoke to 
Mother. I went to her for information and she obliged. Be 
angry with me if you must be angry with someone.”
 He said nothing, but resumed his pacing.
 “I’m sure London has an explanation for why he was gone, 
other than what I know we’re both thinking. He will tell you 
if you ask it of him.”
 “But nothing can excuse the fact that he left his post while 
under strict orders not to do so. And any explanation he has 
will not justify keeping this woman’s identity a secret.”
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 He pivoted, then moved to open the door of his study. 
“Guard! Summon the captain immediately.”
 “Yes, Sire,” one of the Elite Guards responded before exit-
ing the Throne Room.
 “Alera,” my father said, coming to sit next to me once more 
and folding my hands in his. “It’s very important that you tell 
Cannan exactly what you told me.”
 I nodded. As much as it pained me to know that with every 
word I spoke, I condemned my bodyguard and friend further, 
I would tell the Captain of the Guard the truth.
 After a few minutes, Cannan strode into my father’s 
study.
 “What is it, Your Majesty?”
 My father stood and motioned to me, and I complied with 
his command, telling Cannan all that I knew. While the cap-
tain’s reaction to the information was difficult to discern, his 
slightly drawn eyebrows told me he, too, was shaken by this 
information.
 “London and Tadark are in the antechamber?” he finally 
asked, his dark, perceptive eyes fixed on me.
 I inclined my head in confirmation, and he spoke to the 
Elite Guard outside the door to the study just as my father had 
done.
 “Bring London and Tadark in now.”
 Cannan glanced at my father, who indicated to me that I 
should accompany them, and the three of us reentered the Hall 
of Kings to await my bodyguards. My father took the throne, 
while I sat in one of the ornate chairs to his left, Cannan 
standing on his right.
 The guard soon returned, bringing the two men before us, 
Tadark perplexed, London wary.
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 “Tadark, escort Princess Alera to her quarters,” Cannan 
commanded.
 “Sir?” he said uncertainly, expecting his commanding 
 officer to give London similar orders. None came.
 “Now,” the captain prompted.
 I glanced at London, then stood and went to Tadark. As I 
departed with the lieutenant, London shot me a look filled 
with both fire and quiet resignation, a look that told me he 
knew exactly what I had done.
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I SAT STIFFLY IN AN ARMCHAIR IN MY PARLOR, 
too distraught to move. Since leaving the Throne Room, I 
had tried to eat, to read and to embroider, but as time passed 
without news of London, I had become less and less able to 
concentrate. I longed to think of anything but what was hap-
pening in the Hall of Kings, but at the same time I could think 
of nothing else. It had been almost six hours, and the waiting 
had become unbearable. I wanted to know what London’s 
fate was to be, and yet I didn’t, because if a punishment befell 
him, I couldn’t help but feel at fault.
 Tadark had several times taken a breath to say something, 
but had thought better of it each time. He wanted to ask 
what I had said to my father that was so confidential London 
would be trusted with the information but not he. Though 
he had tossed accusations at London in the library, I knew it 
would never really enter his mind that my first bodyguard, 
his partner, could be charged with treason.
 London would not be charged with treason, I assured myself. 
He would be able to explain everything, and would return to 
duty before the day was out. I kept repeating the phrase over 
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and over in my head—London is not a traitor—until it sounded 
hollow, and I was ashamed to discover that there was a part 
of me that doubted its truth.
 I did not hear the knock on my door, but Tadark went to 
open it, granting entry to an Elite Guard I knew on sight.
 “Destari!” I exclaimed, rising from my seat as he advanced 
a few feet into the room. “What are you doing here?”
 Destari bowed, then assumed a less formal stance. He was 
an unusually tall and muscular individual who made Cannan 
look short and Tadark childlike. He had raven hair, black eyes, 
a chiseled jaw and thick eyebrows that gave him an intense 
and intimidating presence, but I had known him my entire 
life and he did not frighten me in the least. Like Tadark and 
every member of the Elite Guard other than London, he wore 
the proper uniform, a royal-blue doublet, white shirt and black 
trousers.
 “I have been assigned to be your secondary bodyguard,” he 
said in his deep resonating voice, and the bit of undigested food 
that remained in my stomach from lunch swirled queasily.
 “Where is London?”
 Destari stared at the f loor while he struggled to answer 
my question, for he and London had been friends since mili-
tary school and had entered the ranks of the Elite Guard 
together.
 “London has been relieved of his duties.”
 “What?” I whispered, shocked by this news. “Why?”
 “You know why.”
 “What I said doesn’t prove anything!” I recklessly retorted, 
struggling to absorb the consequences of my actions.
 “It proves enough.”
 “What does that mean?” My mind was racing, seeking 
some way to reverse what I had done.
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 “London would not allow doubts to be cast on your cred-
ibility, so he admitted to knowing the identity of the Cokyrian 
woman. He also admitted leaving your quarters on the night 
of her escape, and therefore abandoning his post, but he would 
not speak further. He neither confessed to nor denied assisting 
her.”
 “I must see my father,” I announced, moving toward the 
door. I tried to step around my replacement bodyguard, who 
was blocking my path, but he would not budge.
 “Destari, move this instant!” I ordered, both my pitch and 
my volume rising.
 “With all due respect, Princess Alera, it is getting late, and 
it would be better if you waited until morning to meet with 
the King.”
 “With all due respect, Destari, get out of my way!”
 Tadark, who had been remarkably absent from this ex-
change, could restrain himself no longer.
 “I have to agree with Destari, Princess,” he began, but I 
cut him off.
 “You have no say in this, Tadark! I am sick of hearing your 
opinions!”
 Tadark, brown eyes mournful as a hurt puppy’s, shrank 
back, and I aimed my ire at the towering guard once more.
 “Unless you were given orders to keep me here—orders 
that I would nonetheless refuse to obey—you are overstepping 
your bounds. So move!”
 I pointed in the direction in which I wanted him to shift, 
willing him to yield. Admitting defeat, Destari stepped aside, 
and I stormed into the corridor, both guards following. I 
descended the Grand Staircase, the hopelessness of my quest 
tearing at me, and my anger turned to desperation.
 I entered the Hall of Kings, leaving Destari and Tadark in 
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the antechamber, and found my father upon his throne, no 
guards in attendance. The waning afternoon light coming 
through the high northern windows resulted in lurking shad-
ows in the corners, giving the room an ominous feel.
 “Father, what is going on?” I called, hastening toward 
him.
 “Alera,” he said wearily. “I knew you would come when I 
sent Destari.”
 I stopped before him, and he rubbed his jaw, the laugh lines 
upon his face paradoxically giving him an aged and haggard 
appearance.
 “Cannan and I acted on what you told us. We had to do 
what we did—there was no other option.”
 “What will be done with him?” I choked, a horrible sink-
ing feeling in the pit of my stomach.
 “He is spending one last night in his quarters under guard. In 
the morning, he will be removed from the palace grounds.”
 “But Father, London is not a traitor. He must have an 
explanation!”
 “If he does, he did not share it with us. I cannot allow him 
to continue serving as a guard, much less one of the Elite 
Guards who protects the royal family, when his allegiance is 
in question.”
 “His allegiance lies with Hytanica!” I cried out, for I could 
not bear to think that London’s loyalty could lie anywhere 
else. “He is not a traitor.”
 “Well, someone is! Would it be easier to accuse some other 
member of the Elite Guard, when you have known most of 
them your entire life? One of them is guilty of treachery. Why 
could it not be London?” Taking in my tormented visage, his 
attitude softened. “I know that you are close to him, but I 
cannot run the risk of further betrayal.”
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 “I know there is good cause for his behavior of late. He just 
hasn’t spoken of it yet.”
 “If he would not explain his actions to his king or his cap-
tain,” my father noted, “then to whom will he speak?”
 I wilted, sitting down on the steps of the dais. Although the 
answer was evident to me, I did not want to say it. If London 
would not explain his actions to his king, he would explain 
to no one.
 “I want to see him again,” I finally said, a dull ache in my 
chest where my heart had once resided. “I need to say good-
bye.”
 I knew this could be the last chance I would have to see 
London. I had been forbidden to leave the palace, and London 
would be forbidden to enter the grounds. I knew not how long 
this arrangement would last, and if there came a time for me 
to see or speak with him again, I did not know if he would 
oblige. I had ruined his entire life in one audience with my 
father, and I would not have blamed him if he never forgave 
me.
 “Very well. I will have him brought to your parlor in the 
morning before he is taken from the palace.”
 “Thank you,” I murmured, rising to curtsey. I departed 
the Throne Room, returning to my quarters to try to rein in 
my feelings and bring order to my jumbled thoughts before I 
had to face London.

 I woke early the next morning and sat on the edge of the 
sofa in my parlor to await London’s arrival. I knew he would 
be brought to my quarters with the rising of the sun, and I 
could not risk missing him while I slept. Destari and Tadark 
silently attended me, Tadark standing by the fireplace and 
Destari, dark and brooding, near the door to the corridor.
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 There were so many things I wanted to say to London, 
but I would not have much time, and I was not sure how to 
say them. I did not know what his mood would be, or if he 
would be willing to listen. But I had to try.
 There was a knock on the door, and I sprang to my feet. 
Destari stepped forward to open the door, revealing London 
and a Palace Guard almost as tall as Destari and twice as thick. 
Apparently Cannan believed that someone of substantial size 
was needed to control the former Elite Guard. While this 
would have been true if London were set on resisting, it was 
completely unnecessary in this situation.
 “London!” I exclaimed, as though I had experienced 
qualms about who would be outside my door. “I was afraid 
you wouldn’t come.”
 “If it had been my choice, Princess, I would not have.” He 
stepped into the room, his voice bitter.
 I was dismayed by his manner, though I had no right to 
expect him to greet me warmly. I glanced around the room to 
see that Tadark was in a snit—his rounded cheeks were almost 
a match to my burgundy furniture, and his fists were balled 
at his sides. Though he appeared to be in an uproar over the 
way London had spoken to me, I knew that his antagonism 
really stemmed from the fact that he had borne the brunt of 
London’s wit for weeks.
 In contrast, the guard who had come with London did 
not seem to care one way or another how London spoke to 
me, a Princess of Hytanica, the thickness of his head likely a 
match to the thickness of his arms. Destari, who had stepped 
up beside his friend, looked uncomfortable, though he was 
not surprised or infuriated the way Tadark was. No one said 
anything, however, and I did my utmost to hold on to my 
composure despite the hurt I felt at London’s harshness.
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 “Would you leave us now?” I said to the three guards, feel-
ing that anything London had to say would be justified and 
worried that someone might interfere on my behalf. I needed 
to talk to London alone.
 Tadark was predictably the first to assert an opinion.
 “I’m not going to leave you alone with this criminal!”
 He pulled himself up to his full and unimposing height, 
puffing out his chest in a feeble attempt to look menacing, 
then def lating at the deadly glare in London’s eyes.
 “Oh, be still, Tadark,” Destari grumbled, reaching out to 
grab his best friend’s shoulder and hold him in position.
 Tadark mumbled something incomprehensible under his 
breath, and Destari nodded toward the door with his head. 
“Get into the hall.”
 Tadark wavered, then crossed the room to slouch past the 
older guards into the corridor, not daring to disobey a deputy 
captain.
 “Take whatever time you need,” Destari said, giving me a 
slight bow. “I will detain Tadark.”
 I nodded, and Destari moved to tap the thickly built guard 
on the arm to remind him that he also needed to exit. When 
the men had departed, I turned once more to London. He 
said nothing, but folded his arms across his chest and moved to 
lean as always against the wall, although this time his posture 
was rigid.
 “You must be angry with me,” I ventured, taking a couple 
of steps toward him, not knowing where this conversation 
would lead.
 “And why would I be angry with you, Princess?” he coldly 
replied.
 “You don’t need to address me so formally,” I reminded 
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him, for his use of my title was increasing my sense of des-
peration.
 “I don’t know what you’re talking about, Your Highness. 
I’m speaking to you the same way all of your lowly subjects 
speak to you. That’s what I am now, you know.”
 “London, stop it,” I insisted, guilt scorching the inside of 
my chest.
 “As my lady commands,” he said with mock politeness, 
seeming to back off, but in reality doing exactly what I had 
just asked him not to do.
 “Please, London.”
 “I’m not sure what you desire of me, Princess.”
 “London, don’t,” I finally implored with a stamp of my foot, 
unwanted tears searing my eyes. “I did what I thought best, 
and you’re furious with me. Shout at me! Tell me I’m foolish 
and that I meddled in things I shouldn’t have. But don’t just 
stand there and ignore what has happened!”
 After my outburst, there was a silence in the room that 
threatened to stretch into eternity. Then London straightened 
and stepped away from the wall, his jaw clenching in subdued 
anger, and I stumbled back from him. His indigo eyes were 
harsh and a chill pulsated from him that was sufficient to rob 
me of breath. At last he spoke, his words cutting.
 “It’s interesting to me—it is my life that has been ruined, 
and yet you purport to be the one who is suffering. Per-
haps you are not entirely convinced that what you did was 
necessary.”
 “I did what I believed best,” I repeated, for London had 
just pinpointed the question I had been pondering since I had 
spoken to my father—had I done the right thing? My decision 
had seemed justified at the time, but now, in the aftermath, 
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nothing was clear. “If I was wrong in my suspicions, you 
should have explained to my father and Cannan.”
 “Don’t be a fool, Alera. There was no way for me to defend 
leaving your side against my orders. No matter what explana-
tion I might have had, that was inexcusable.”
 “You could have told them the truth.”
 “I told them what I could.”
 “What does that mean? You’ve been branded a traitor, 
London! The truth can’t be worse than that.”
 “Perhaps it is.”
 I was growing more distraught by the second, for London 
was making no sense at all.
 “What would you have had me do? I went to my father 
because I could think of no alternative. If you know of some 
other action I could have taken so things would not have 
reached this end, please share it.”
 “You should have come to me,” London said, as if that 
would clearly have been the most logical course.
 “I did! You wouldn’t tell me anything. In fact, you lied to 
me twice! What was I to think?”
 “If I had known what you were planning to do, I would 
have…offered you assurances.” London sighed heavily and 
brushed back his silver bangs. “You should have given me that 
chance.”
 “Then perhaps you would like to explain to me now,” I 
mercilessly countered.
 “It no longer makes a difference what I say.”
 London sounded almost sad, but I would break down if I 
let myself feel his pain, and right now I wanted him to talk 
to me.
 “Just answer one question, then. Did you help her escape?”
 “This isn’t—”
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 “Did you help her escape?”
 “You don’t know—”
 “It’s a simple yes or no question, and I wish you would just 
answer it. Are you the traitor? Did you assist in her escape?” 
I stared at him, silently compelling him to respond honestly.
 “I am not a traitor,” he declared. The air thrummed with 
tension for a moment, then he continued, his heart obviously 
heavy. “If you truly trust someone, then you trust their words 
and actions, even without explanation. You apparently don’t 
have that level of trust in me.”
 I felt for a moment as if I were drowning. The only thing 
I found harder to endure than London’s anger was his disap-
pointment. I looked pleadingly at him, but his expression did 
not change.
 “If there is nothing further you want of me, I will take my 
leave.”
 I grudgingly dismissed him, stepping into the corridor after 
him. As he and the guard assigned to remove him from the 
palace strode away, I was gripped by genuine sorrow instead 
of guilt, regret or denial. I did not know when I would next 
see him, and it felt like my heart was trying to follow him. 
With each step he took, it pressed more painfully against my 
chest, trying to escape. I wanted to run after him and somehow 
erase the events of the past day, but there was no way to fix 
what I had done.
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THE DAYS THAT FOLLOWED LONDON’S REMOVAL 
from the palace brought feelings of sorrow and regret, and 
I wished I could stop wallowing in my grief, his comments 
about my self-pitying behavior continuing to ring in my ears. I 
found myself going through the motions of my day—working 
on embroidery and handwriting, receiving music lessons, visit-
ing the chapel for afternoon prayer, reading in the evening—
without any energy or enthusiasm. Cannan had now lifted 
some of the restrictions imposed upon Miranna and me so 
that we could again go outside the palace accompanied by 
our bodyguards, but I had no desire to do so.
 London’s shoes were impossible to fill, and regardless of how 
I spent my time, it felt as though something was missing from 
my life. I longed for someone with whom I could talk, but 
though Tadark and Destari were constantly around, neither of 
them made appealing candidates. Destari was probably feeling 
similarly despondent, for he was a good friend of London’s, 
but he was reserved and stoic, and I did not know him well 
enough to talk openly with him. And Tadark couldn’t resist 
spewing about how he had never really trusted London, how 
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there had been something sinister about him, something that 
just didn’t make sense. It was ironic that the person I really 
wanted to talk to about this was, in fact, London.
 About two weeks after London’s dismissal, my mother 
forced me back to life and out among my friends and ac-
quaintances. As Queen, she regularly held social gatherings 
at the palace for groups of twenty to thirty young Hytanican 
women of noble birth, and such a function had been planned 
for the nineteenth of June. The purpose of these gatherings 
was to continue our etiquette training by testing our social 
graces. Sometimes the gathering was a picnic, oftentimes it 
was a tea party and once a year it was a holiday party. Whether 
my mother and the older women who helped her evaluate our 
skills knew it or not, it was also always a gossip party.
 This particular event was a tea party that coincided with 
Miranna’s sixteenth birthday, which would not be heralded 
with a palace celebration in the manner of mine, for sixteen 
was not an age that held special significance in the kingdom. 
Nevertheless, my mother had decided to take advantage of 
one of her gatherings to include a small tribute to her younger 
daughter.
 On the appointed afternoon, I strolled into the East Court-
yard with my mother and Miranna, accompanied by the Elite 
Guards who protected the Queen. The East Courtyard had its 
own distinct attributes, different from both the Central Court-
yard and the West Courtyard. While the West Courtyard was 
relatively unspoiled, with crab apple and cherry trees growing 
among the wildf lowers that spread at will, the East Courtyard 
was statelier and was often used for public functions. The 
middle area of the courtyard was paved with multi colored 
stone that formed concentric circles around a large two-tiered 
fountain. Oak and elm trees provided shade, and f lowers grew 
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riotously toward the exterior walls. On a day such as today, 
the air was thick with perfume and the water in the fountain 
sparkled in the sunlight as it splashed into its basin.
 Five small tables, each with a white linen tablecloth and 
five place settings, stood in close proximity upon the paved 
stones. The young women who had been invited had already 
gathered and were twittering among themselves like exotically 
plumed birds. Four older women were also present, providing 
one adult to oversee each table and ensure that our manners 
were impeccable. The lovely Lady Hauna, mother of Stel-
dor’s best friend, Galen, was in attendance with her demure 
seventeen-year-old daughters, Niana and Nadeja; the sensible 
Lady Edorra had accompanied her vivacious daughter Kalem, 
also seventeen; the exceedingly proper Lady Kadia had brought 
easily excited sixteen-year-old Noralee; and bubbly Semari 
had come with the sedate Baroness Alantonya.
 Miranna and I wove our way through the guests with our 
mother, greeting each in turn. When at last she approached 
her table to stand behind her chair, all of her guests likewise 
moved to the tables, observing protocol by remaining on their 
feet until the Queen had been seated.
 The tea service itself was very formal and somewhat or-
chestrated. Biscuits and sweet cakes were served along with 
the hot drink. We were expected to sit up straight, arms in at 
our sides, no leaning over the dishes or elbows on the table. 
Gentlewomen took small bites and ate slowly, and did not talk 
or drink with food in their mouths. In addition, only particular 
subjects were appropriate for a lady’s delicate sensibilities, but 
given the level of scrutiny we were under, we did not speak 
unless it was necessary.
 It was when the formal tea ended that the real conversation 
began. Released from the tables, and enormously relieved if 
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we had survived without being chastised, we would walk and 
talk among ourselves, gossiping freely while the adult women 
chatted with one another.
 I stood with a group of ten acquaintances that included 
Galen’s twin sisters and Steldor’s cousin Shaselle, all of whom 
were dying to discuss the latest developments with me. Today’s 
primary topics were, of course, the discovery of the traitor 
in the palace and a review of the young men in the kingdom 
who might make a good husband for me.
 “Tell us, Alera,” began Reveina, a bold and serious bru-
nette who tended to be the leader of our circle. “How was 
the traitor discovered? Rumor has it that you were the one 
who uncovered him and turned him in to the Captain of the 
Guard.”
 I did not know how to respond. It had been information 
provided by me that had led to London’s dismissal, but I, at 
least, did not regard him as a traitor. This seemed too com-
plicated to explain, however, so I answered more simply.
 “I had observed some activities that were relevant to the 
investigation and, I suppose, played a small part in the decision 
to dismiss London.”
 “He was your bodyguard!” blond-haired Noralee blurted. 
She generally found everything to be shocking. “Doesn’t it 
give you pause to think of all the times you were alone in his 
company, not knowing he was a threat to the royal family?”
 A strong urge to defend London rose within me, but at the 
same time, I wanted this conversation to end.
 “I never felt unsafe with him,” I said firmly. “And he was 
never proven to have betrayed the royal family. He was dis-
missed for dereliction of duty.”
 “So do you believe he aided the Cokyrian prisoner in 
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her escape?” Reveina ignored my explanation for London’s 
dismissal, her eyes shining with a desire for intrigue.
 “In truth, I don’t know what I believe.”
 Just then Miranna and Semari joined our group, drawing 
attention away from me, and I hoped my ordeal had ended. 
Such was not to be. The girls extended birthday greetings to 
my sister, which, unfortunately, reminded several of them of 
my recent birthday celebration. The discussion then shifted 
to an examination of the kingdom’s eligible young men and 
their relative qualifications to be King. After a dozen were 
discussed and discarded, Reveina gave voice to what everyone 
was thinking.
 “We all know there really is only one candidate. We just 
don’t want to give him up to you.”
 Amidst a burst of giggles, several eager voices murmured, 
“Lord Steldor.” There were also several sighs, as most of the 
girls thought longingly of spending time in his company. But 
Shaselle chuckled with a roll of her hazel eyes, used to the 
adoration heaped upon her cousin. She was the daughter of 
Cannan’s younger brother, Baelic, and was known for both 
her kindness and her occasionally brusque nature. She would 
not be so easily taken in by Steldor’s charm, although doubt-
less she admired him.
 “He is divine,” Reveina gushed, voicing a collective opin-
ion. To my consternation, even Galen’s sisters, who were blond 
like their mother, but with the light brown eyes and carefree 
smile of their brother, were nodding enthusiastically. “You are 
so fortunate to have him among your choices…and to have 
attracted his notice. He could marry anyone he wanted, you 
know.”
 “The way he looks at you,” added Kalem, the most boy-
obsessed of the young women, her alabaster skin shining 
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radiantly. “I hope some day a young man looks at me that 
way.”
 Again, many heads bobbed in agreement. This last statement 
struck me dumb, for I had always viewed Steldor as coveting 
the throne rather than coveting me.
 Kalem laughed at my expression, tossing her coarse dark 
hair. “Oh, Alera, you really are naive. He swoons over you 
the way we swoon over him!”
 Although I disliked Steldor intensely, her observation 
brought a satisfied smile to my face. Perhaps through the 
embarrassment I had endured in his company recently, I had 
managed to show him that I was not a mindless toy. At that 
moment, Lady Edorra, Kalem’s mother, approached, inter-
rupting us and drawing several dismayed sighs.
 “The Queen is preparing to depart,” she said, glaring know-
ingly down her narrow nose at us.
 Feeling that my life was not in need of further examination, 
I glanced at Miranna to convey my desire to leave, and she 
and I departed shortly after our mother. When we passed the 
guardroom to the right of the Grand Staircase, our bodyguards 
fell into step with us, and Miranna caught my hand.
 “How are you, really? London’s absence must be hard to 
bear.”
 “It is hard to bear. He’s been with me most of my life, and 
I feel adrift without him. I guess I relied on him for many 
things other than protection.”
 “I can imagine how terrible you must feel. Halias has always 
been my bodyguard. Part of my life would be lost if he weren’t 
with me anymore. But I’m sure it will get better with time. 
And you will see London again, someday.”
 Halias had become Miranna’s personal bodyguard on the 
day of her birth. He, London and now Destari shared similar 
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styles in that they would often keep their distance from their 
charges to give them privacy. Tadark, on the other hand, 
hovered constantly; currently, he was hanging off my elbow. 
Miranna had also been assigned a second bodyguard, but she 
had been fortunate enough not to get stuck with a Tadark.
 “I suppose I will see him again. But I just don’t know how 
to feel right now. His absence leaves a great void that no one 
else can fill.” Merely saying the words caused me fresh pain.
 Tadark, who had a million remarks about London at the 
ready these days and was always looking for an opportunity 
to let them spill from his mouth, could no longer restrain 
himself.
 “London left his post, in the middle of the night. I would 
never do such a thing!” he exclaimed, his ego having been 
dealt an enormous insult. “There was always something about 
him. I saw it the first time I met him, I did!”
 “Tadark,” I said, irritated. “This phrase is probably mean-
ingless to you as it is so oft repeated, but do be quiet.”
 “London wasn’t half the bodyguard I am!”
 I couldn’t help wondering if his vociferous assertion was in 
reality an attempt to convince himself that his statement was 
true.
 “Now, please,” I said, striving to keep my tone civil.
 Tadark stared petulantly at me, then dropped back to fall 
in step with our other guards. I glanced back in time to catch 
the glare he received from Destari.
 “I don’t know how much more of him I can tolerate,” I 
whispered to Miranna, and her face told me she understood 
completely.
 We approached the spiral staircase at the back of the palace, 
and I felt an inclination to take a stroll in the garden. Although 
my sister would have walked with me, I assured her such was 
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not necessary, preferring to be alone and trusting Destari to 
control Tadark.
 The Palace Guards on duty pulled the doors open for me 
and I stepped through to amble along the garden’s paths, let-
ting my mind become still amid the beautiful foliage: the elm, 
oak, chestnut and mulberry trees that offered cooling shade; 
the pear, lime and orange trees that supplied us with unusual 
fruit; the abundant lilies, violets, tulips and roses that plied 
the air with fragrance; and the herbs that provided seasoning 
for cooking as well as treatment for injuries and illnesses. Of 
course, the grounds were also home to a multitude of birds, 
and their music in the softly rustling leaves was often the only 
sound in the gloriously peaceful setting.
 By the end of the afternoon, my mood had improved. Al-
though I continued to ache for London’s presence more than I 
had ever longed for anything before, the beauty of the garden 
had assuaged my disconsolate feelings, and I slept well that 
night for the first time since the Elite Guard had been removed 
from the palace.
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“ALERA!”
 A shrill and exhilarated voice jarred me from sleep, and I 
sat up, dragging my eyelids open. The drapes on my windows 
were drawn together, making my bedroom as dark as if the sun 
had not risen, but my noisy intruder saw fit to remedy that, 
f linging aside the window coverings so that I had to squint 
to keep from going blind.
 “Miranna? What…?” My body demanded sleep, and 
my brain refused to work hard enough to form a complete 
sentence.
 “Have you heard the news? You won’t believe it!”
 Miranna sounded elated, so I assumed that the news to 
which she referred was not something bad.
 “This early in the morning, I’d believe just about anything,” 
I said, sounding raspy from my deep slumber. “What is it?”
 “You simply won’t believe it!” my sister repeated, bouncing 
up and down on her toes in excitement, her strawberry-blond 
curls dancing about her face.
 “Yes, we’ve covered that,” I grumped, sitting up so I could 
more readily examine her.

9780373210343_TS.indd   1109780373210343_TS.indd   110 2/4/11   9:31:04 AM2/4/11   9:31:04 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



111

 “Try to guess. You’ll never guess! This is so exciting!”
 “Mira, can’t you just tell me?”
 Miranna put on a little pout, disappointed that I was not 
in a mood to play guessing games, but regardless could not 
contain her secret.
 “Listen to this,” she bubbled, lying down on her stomach 
atop my bed, propping her elbows so her hands held her chin. 
“The servants are whispering about it. Our soldiers have cap-
tured another Cokyrian within Hytanican walls! Cannan is 
bringing him in today!”
 Miranna had succeeded in arousing my interest.
 “Are you positive?”
 “After I heard the rumors, I talked to Halias to find out if 
they were true.” She cleared her throat and dropped her pitch 
to do a surprisingly accurate imitation of Halias. “Another 
one has been arrested within the city, but you didn’t learn that from 
me.”
 “Just hope he didn’t hear you,” I teased, for all four of our 
bodyguards were likely standing self-consciously in the parlor 
while we gossiped.
 Miranna waved my comment off with a grin. “So, are you 
up for a bit of spying?”
 “Me? Sneaking around? Never!”
 We both laughed, and Miranna went on to explain how 
she planned to spend the whole day in the Central Courtyard, 
inadvertently being present when the prisoner was brought into 
the palace. My curiosity was too great not to join her, though 
we both recognized that Halias, at least, would know exactly 
what we were doing.
 “He’ll be fine about it,” Miranna assured me, swinging her 
legs off the bed to sit up straight. “It’s not like a sword fight 
is going to break out in the middle of the courtyard. Halias 
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knows there will be no danger. Though he’ll probably expect 
us to hide to save his skin. If Cannan sees we’re there, he’ll 
have Halias’s head!”
 “Destari’s, too,” I agreed, knowing Cannan would assign 
the blame to the older and more experienced of his Elite 
Guards.
 I found myself feeling almost jealous of Miranna’s good 
fortune in a bodyguard, as I had on a few other occasions. 
Halias had twinkling blue eyes, a broad face, a ready smile and 
soft ash-blond hair that fell to his shoulders when not pulled 
back at the nape of his neck. While he was irreproachable 
when it came to protecting my sister, he made even London 
look tense. He had always given Miranna a lot of freedom, 
asserting that his job was to keep her safe and not to raise her. 
This easygoing attitude made him a much sought-after escort. 
Like Destari and London, he was a veteran of the Cokyrian 
War, having served as a Palace Guard, and was credited with 
uncovering a plot to kill the King.
 Tired of my sluggishness, Miranna jumped up and yanked 
my blankets off me.
 “Come on,” she said, tugging at my hand. “I haven’t the 
faintest idea what time Cannan will be bringing the prisoner 
in. For all we know, we may have already missed it!”
 Deciding not to call for my personal maid, I scrambled to 
my feet and dressed with my sister’s help. Skipping breakfast, 
we rushed from my quarters and into the corridor, followed by 
Destari, Tadark, Halias and Miranna’s secondary bodyguard, 
a reserved Elite Guard a few years older than Tadark named 
Orsiett.
 As we hurried toward the courtyard, I felt unsettled about 
our enthusiasm. I knew we should not be this enthralled about 
finding our worst enemy within our homeland. We were 
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acting like children, with no appreciation whatsoever for what 
this incident might mean. But when I remembered the few 
but intriguing facts I had learned about Cokyri in the previ-
ous weeks, and what a stir the capture and escape of our other 
prisoner had caused, I could not contain my inquisitiveness. 
The only Cokyrian I had ever seen was Nantilam, the High 
Priestess, and this new person would be of a completely differ-
ent status. For one thing, this time our prisoner was, according 
to Miranna and her informants, a man. London had told me 
that men were inferior to women in Cokyrian culture, and I 
wanted to know how the prisoner would act and the manner 
of his speech; what he would look like and the style of his 
clothing; if he were a soldier, or servant or even a master.
 A warm breeze caressed my cheeks as we stepped into the 
Central Courtyard, a welcome reminder that summer had ar-
rived. It was late June, and though just yesterday it had been 
cool and refreshing outdoors, this morning it was sultry, with 
a promise of blazing hot weather later in the day.
 Hytanican summers were notorious for sweltering days, 
with light rain often falling in the evenings. The weather was 
predictable in a most uncanny way, which was good for the 
crops grown by the farmers in the villages surrounding the 
walled city and ensured that the rolling hills that marked our 
western border lay draped in green.
 We stayed outside for hours, until I felt faint from the heat 
and ready to abandon our mission, but Miranna wouldn’t hear 
of it.
 “The minute you leave, Cannan will come marching up 
to those gates with the prisoner, and you will miss it.”
 She was referring to the exterior gates that permitted entry 
into the courtyard. The gates were locked to commoners most 
hours of the day, open only for a short amount of time during 
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which anyone who had not been banished from the palace 
grounds or the kingdom itself could seek counsel from the 
King.
 “They’re approaching now,” Halias abruptly announced. “If 
you don’t want to be seen, you’d better hide—and not behind 
that cherry tree.”
 He motioned to the thin trunk of a young tree that Miranna 
was moving toward as though it would conceal her.
 My sister changed course, and she and I maladroitly crouched 
behind the lilac hedges, peering through the irregular gaps in 
the branches to where the stone path leading from the gates 
to the steps of the palace lay, dirt-free and so white from the 
sun’s rays that it was almost painful to view. Our bodyguards 
seemed to vanish, as I supposed they had been trained to do.
 Drawn by shouts and the sounds of milling horses, our 
heads snapped toward the gates and we impatiently waited 
for them to open. Within a few minutes, they swung inward 
and Cannan strode between them, looking grim. He turned 
to wait for his troops to dismount, for no animals were per-
mitted in the courtyard—a single spooked horse could damage 
its beauty. The mounts would be taken to the Royal Stables, 
where they would be fed and groomed while their riders at-
tended to business.
 My eyes roved over the scene before me until the movement 
of a particular soldier caught my notice. He was roughly pull-
ing a man whose hands were tied behind his back off one of 
the horses. This soldier and another then approached Cannan, 
holding the bound man by his arms between them.
 “That’s him!” Miranna hissed, gripping my wrist.
 I could not see the prisoner’s face from where we were 
hidden, but he was wearing the white shirt and sleeveless 
brown tunic typically donned by Hytanican villagers, and had 
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I not known he was Cokyrian, I never would have guessed it. 
Nothing about him that I could see would have set him apart 
from all the other villagers frequenting the streets and shops 
of our kingdom.
 I slipped behind Miranna and, continuing to stoop, moved 
down the line of bushes to the far end in order to get a better 
glimpse of the man held captive between the large guards. 
As the gates closed and Cannan turned to lead his troops 
onward, I gained a more distinct view of the prisoner’s face. 
I stif led a gasp, for he was not a man, but a teenage boy. He 
held his head high, as though unafraid, but the way his eyes 
f litted between the guards at his sides and Cannan before him 
gave away his unease. His hair was thick and many shades of 
gold, the sun’s rays having colored it to their own content, 
and its darker undertone was a close match to his skin. It was 
cut about an inch below his ears, and his bangs, which were 
slightly shorter, fell haphazardly over his forehead.
 Miranna, plainly astounded, moved to crouch next to me. 
“He can’t be any older than I am!”
 My gaze swept the rest of the soldiers, and all thoughts of 
the Cokyrian youth left my mind as I caught the light but 
confident stride, the muscular frame, the twin double-edged 
blades sheathed at the hips, the untidy silver hair partially 
obscuring mysterious indigo eyes—London was there, walk-
ing at the forefront of a half dozen soldiers as if he were one 
of them.
 “What is he doing here?” I asked aloud, more to myself 
than to my sister.
 “Who?” Miranna queried, too spellbound by the young 
Cokyrian to notice anything else.
 “London,” I responded, pointing.
 Miranna’s gaze followed the invisible line stretching from 
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my finger and landed on my former bodyguard, bewilderment 
to match mine breaking over her face.
 “What is he doing here?” she repeated.
 With no available answer, I returned my attention to the 
captive, and it was then that I noticed his eyes. They were 
steel-blue, sharp and intense. Despite the youthful glow of his 
suntanned face, his eyes were cold, suggesting he had great 
experience in the world and was now expecting the worst.
 I stooped lower as the troops passed, watching London 
stride toward the palace, oblivious to my presence, and an 
unexpected f lood of emotions threatened to overwhelm me—
regret, guilt, sorrow, shame and love for the man before me. 
The urge to run to him once again surfaced, and I had to look 
away, though Miranna continued to watch, entranced, until 
the soldiers had passed between the thick palace doors.
 “Curious about London?” Destari’s deep, resonating voice 
startled us, and we wheeled around to see the pair of deputy 
captains crouching behind us.
 Booted feet scraped against bark, and I turned my head to 
see Tadark tumble out of an oak tree, gracelessly landing on 
his rear end. He let out a wounded groan and was shushed by 
Orsiett, who was walking toward him.
 “Making furry friends up in the tree, were you?” Halias 
jibed, his blue eyes alight.
 “No,” Tadark grumbled. “I wanted to see what was going 
on.”
 “Oh, now I understand.” Halias laughed. “You’re a scenery 
guard, not a bodyguard!”
 “Halias, we’ve been mistaken all this time,” Destari added, 
unable to pass up the fun. “It’s not the royal family we’re sup-
posed to protect, it’s the royal foliage.”
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 Tadark’s cheeks burned and he bitterly muttered, “Leave 
me alone. You’ve made your point.”
 I watched the three guards in amusement, surprised to see 
Destari, who was usually quite serious, teasing the lieuten-
ant much as London would have done, and it struck me that 
Tadark drew jests from people like a f lower drew bees.
 Destari returned his attention to me, and I suppressed my 
mirth in order to repeat my question.
 “What is London doing here? Isn’t he banished from the 
palace grounds?” I forced out the words, on some level believ-
ing they would cease to be true if I refused to say them.
 Destari opened his mouth to speak but was interrupted by 
Tadark’s moans as he inched closer to where the four of us sat, 
pulling himself along the ground in apparent agony.
 “Are you trying to make that inchworm feel good about 
itself ?” Halias ridiculed, pointing to a slow-moving speci-
men that was nonetheless crawling faster than Tadark across 
the grass.
 Tadark made a noise that sounded like humph, and contin-
ued to scoot along.
 “I think I broke something,” he mumbled.
 Reaching another tree, he sat up and leaned against its 
trunk, then plucked a blade of grass, fiddling with it between 
his fingers. Orsiett stopped and sat down by Tadark, presum-
ably too intimidated by the older guards to join us.
 Destari chuckled, noticing as we all were that Tadark was 
monitoring the greenery rather than his charge, more or less 
proving Halias’s statement to be true.
 “You wanted to know about London,” Destari finally 
said.
 I nodded.
 “He’s here because he is the one who discovered the 
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Cokyrian in the city. He went to the captain at his home and 
asked that in exchange for handing over the prisoner, he be 
allowed an audience with the King.”
 I made some noise of affirmation, for everything suddenly 
made sense to me, but Miranna was confused enough to pursue 
the subject.
 “But how did he find that boy when no one else could, 
when the search of the kingdom by Cannan’s soldiers turned 
up nothing?”
 Halias and Destari glanced at each other, trying to judge 
how much they should tell us. At last Destari spoke.
 “During the war, London saw much of the Cokyrians. I 
suppose he developed a keener eye for their mannerisms than 
the average foot soldier.”
 Miranna nodded, satisfied with this explanation. Unbe-
knownst to the guards, however, and thanks to my mother, I 
was mindful of the real reason London had greater knowledge 
of Cokyri than did anyone else.

 Suspicion and apprehension rippled through the palace that 
afternoon like the swift rapids of the river, but I cared not. I 
waited outside the doors to the Throne Room, unintelligible 
voices barely reaching my ears.
 Miranna and I had eaten lunch together, then she had left, 
for the day was getting late and she had other tasks to under-
take. After we had parted ways, I entered the antechamber 
and now paced ceaselessly, too anxious to sit down or stand 
still. Destari leaned against the wall next to the door to the 
Grand Entry in London’s characteristic posture, while Tadark 
stood in the middle of the room, shifting his weight from foot 
to foot. Every time he winced in pain, I remembered with 
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some sympathy his fall from the tree or, more to the point, 
his not-so-gentle landing.
 Though neither spoke, I wished I could be alone. Even the 
dull sound of Tadark’s fidgeting in the otherwise quiet room 
was a distraction to me. While I very much needed to think, 
I seemed to have lost the ability to do so.
 The time I might have had for ref lection was cut short by 
the creaking of the Throne Room doors as they were pulled 
open from the inside. London stepped between them and 
immediately took note of me. His reaction to my presence, 
however, was difficult to discern.
 “Princess,” he greeted me, halting and tilting his head in 
respect.
 “Please, let’s not start where we left off,” I beseeched, want-
ing to avoid the pattern of our earlier quarrel.
 An awkward pause followed, the only sound the breath-
ing of the others in the antechamber, but I gratefully realized 
that the lack of a heated reply meant London’s hurt had eased 
somewhat.
 “You spoke with my father?” I chanced.
 London’s only answer was a nod.
 “I hear you made a good catch,” I timidly continued. “Is 
he pleased?”
 “He is.”
 “And?”
 “Your father is not a forgiving man.”
 I cast my eyes to the stone f loor. I knew it had been a fool’s 
hope that London might be given his life back based on this 
one deed, but against my will, my heart had become set upon 
it. It was the only thing that could possibly heal the rift be-
tween us, but any such hope had now been shattered by my 
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father’s obstinacy and mistrust. There was only one thing I 
could think to say.
 “And you, London? Are you a forgiving man?”
 “Some might say so.” He said this in a way that was very 
near lighthearted, as if he meant to make me feel better. Then 
his tone darkened almost imperceptibly. “But some things are 
not so easily forgiven.”
 I managed to hold his gaze, though my head felt heavy with 
shame, and I searched his familiar face for something more.
 “London…I’m sorry.” I did not elaborate, hoping my simple 
words would suffice.
 “I know,” he said, and an uneasy silence fell between us.
 His eyes f licked to Destari, who was no longer leaning 
against the wall, probably having straightened the moment 
my former bodyguard had come into the room.
 “I must take my leave now,” London said, then he crossed 
to his friend to say a few words before stepping into the Grand 
Entry Hall.
 London departed, and a sinking feeling of uncertainty as 
to when I would next see him overwhelmed me. I waited for 
a chance to talk to Destari, for he knew London better than 
anyone.
 “Will he ever forgive me?” I moaned when Destari looked 
at me.
 “I cannot say,” he said, black eyes murky and unrevealing. 
“London does not trust easily, and he does not forgive easily 
when his trust has been betrayed.”
 I pondered Destari’s words for a moment, convinced he was 
hiding something.
 “You speak as though you know of some other betrayal. 
Help me to understand him so that I can learn how best to 
seek his pardon.”

9780373210343_TS.indd   1209780373210343_TS.indd   120 2/4/11   9:31:05 AM2/4/11   9:31:05 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



121

 Destari glanced warily at Tadark, clearly not wanting to 
discuss London in his presence.
 “Tadark,” I said. “Remove yourself to the Grand Entry 
Hall. We will be but a minute.”
 Tadark hobbled from the room without comment, shooting 
the deputy captain a sullen look on his way out.
 Destari cautiously assessed me, trying to decide whether he 
should confide in me.
 “I already know London was a prisoner of the Cokyrians 
during the war,” I disclosed, hoping to persuade him. “If this 
relates to that time, you needn’t keep anything from me.”
 Destari’s heavy eyebrows rose, and I knew he had expected 
me to be ignorant of London’s history. After another moment 
of deliberation, he capitulated.
 “The incident of which I am about to speak is related to 
that period in his life.”
 “Go on,” I urged.
 “Before London was imprisoned by the Cokyrians, he was 
betrothed to a young woman of noble birth.”
 Destari halted at my stunned expression. While I knew 
London had never married, I had always assumed the reason 
was that his devotion to the military had left little time for a 
personal life. Destari’s revelation reconfirmed how paltry was 
my knowledge of the man, and a crushing sense of remorse 
hit me at the thought that I had always been too self-absorbed 
to even be curious. I took a deep, steadying breath, waiting 
for my bodyguard to elaborate. With a measure of concern, 
he stepped forward and gripped my elbow, directing me to 
an armchair. When I had seated myself, he resumed his tale, 
voice strangely hollow.
 “A couple of months into his captivity, the parents of his 
betrothed determined to have her marry another, believing 
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London to be dead. She had already been pledged to him for 
a year and a half, and her parents worried that at age twenty-
two, her marriage prospects were becoming limited. She at 
first refused, for she was very much in love with London, but 
in the end, acquiesced to her parents’ wishes. She was mar-
ried to a much older man about two months before London’s 
escape.
 “As I assume you know, London was deathly ill upon his 
return to Hytanica and did not immediately learn of any of 
this. When he had recovered enough to communicate, he 
began to ask for her, and it fell to me to tell him of her 
circumstances.
 “He did not take the news well, and I feared he might not 
be strong enough to survive this second trial. He was with-
drawn for a long time, and in truth never fully came back to 
himself. He is more guarded now than he once was.”
 Destari sounded weary, as if just telling the story were 
exhausting.
 “He has not, since that time, permitted himself to form 
deep attachments. Or at least, he has tried not to form strong 
attachments, but he did not count on the bond he would de-
velop with you while being your lifelong bodyguard.” Destari 
paused, sighing heavily before he finished. “London never 
really forgave his betrothed for doubting his return, and I 
don’t know that he will ever really forgive you for doubting 
his loyalty.”
 I stared numbly at Destari, too overwhelmed by London’s 
tragic past to respond. Finally regaining the ability to speak, 
I asked, “Who was she?”
 Destari frowned, then shook his head. “That is not for me to 
say. Perhaps someday London will be inclined to tell you.”
 I continued to stare at him, biting my lip while I debated 
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whether to ask him the question upon which I had unendingly 
dwelt since London’s dismissal from the military. In the end 
I risked his anger.
 “We both know London recognized the High Priestess. 
Do you think he released her?”
 As I had expected, Destari glowered at me.
 “I don’t know whether he released her or not, nor do I care. 
London has always acted in Hytanica’s best interests, and if 
he did release her, he had good cause. He is not and never has 
been a traitor, and I would follow him without hesitation, 
even to my death.”
 I shrank under his glare, feeling pitiful, for I did not have 
the same ability to take things on faith.
 Destari and I left the antechamber in weighty silence, to 
be rejoined by Tadark in the Grand Entry. I could tell by 
Tadark’s expression that he was unhappy about having been 
excluded from our conversation, but he simply fell into step 
with us. I returned to my quarters to eat dinner, then prepared 
for bed, emotionally drained. I lay in the darkness, beginning 
to drift toward sleep while listening to Destari and Tadark’s 
faint bickering. The only thing I could make out was Destari 
saying, “My sofa, your armchair.”

9780373210343_TS.indd   1239780373210343_TS.indd   123 2/4/11   9:31:05 AM2/4/11   9:31:05 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



I AWOKE LATER THAN USUAL THE FOLLOWING 
morning and dressed with Sahdienne’s assistance. When I 
entered the parlor, Tadark was standing near a serving tray 
that had been set on a small table, as though he had been or-
dered to guard the Princess’s breakfast instead of the Princess 
herself. Destari’s looming form, however, was absent. Upon 
Sahdienne’s departure, I took the tray and went to sit in one 
of the gold velvet armchairs.
 “Where is Destari?” I asked, removing the cloth that cov-
ered my food to keep it warm, the delicious aroma of freshly 
baked bread and scrambled eggs wafting up to greet me.
 “He was sent for by the Captain of the Guard early this 
morning,” Tadark responded, still lingering by the table.
 “For what purpose was he summoned?” I pressed, con-
cerned in light of recent happenings.
 “I don’t know—I wasn’t told anything.” He tried to act 
nonchalant, but I could tell he was bothered by the fact that 
he had once again been left out of a meeting.
 I shrugged and continued to eat my breakfast, hoping 
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to conceal my building and insatiable hunger for palace 
politics.
 Just as I put my utensils down upon my empty plate, there 
was a knock and Tadark opened the door. Destari entered and 
I could contain my curiosity no more.
 “The last time I woke to find one of my bodyguards miss-
ing, the outcome was disastrous,” I said, guilt over London’s 
dismissal crushing the intended light tone of my voice. “I 
would like to know what’s going on.”
 I stood and walked toward him, placing my tray back upon 
the table it had originally occupied.
 “I am to inform you that I will no longer be your body-
guard,” Destari rumbled, giving me a slight bow.
 “And are you to inform me of the reason you have been 
removed?”
 I had grown tired of Cannan and my father making de-
cisions that directly affected me without bothering to offer 
explanation.
 “I was not instructed to tell you anything further, but 
the explanation is straightforward. I have been given a new 
assignment.”
 An involuntary shudder rippled through my body as it came 
to me that with London gone and Destari reassigned, I might 
end up with a single bodyguard by the name of Tadark.
 “Couldn’t someone else—” I tipped my head toward Tadark 
“—be given this new task?”
 Destari caught my meaning and shook his head. “I’m afraid 
this is much too important to be entrusted to someone else.”
 I frowned in annoyance. “What is this new assignment?”
 “Perhaps you should raise that question with the captain or 
the King.”
 “I’m asking you,” I said pointedly. “I will learn what this is 
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about one way or another. Why don’t you save me the trouble 
and tell me now.”
 For a moment, he grappled with the decision, unwilling 
to relent yet knowing there was truth in my assertion. In the 
end, he acceded.
 “Have you not wondered where we are holding the 
 Cokyrian prisoner?”
 I heard Tadark shuff ling around by the door and saw his 
eyes shift to Destari’s face, his interest also captured by the 
deputy captain’s words.
 “In the dungeon, I presume,” I said, already unsure of my 
statement based on Destari’s expression.
 “Do you see your father as the type of man who would 
imprison in such a place a boy of the same age as his daugh-
ters?”
 “No,” I said, considering his words carefully. “Is it safe then 
to assume he is being housed in the palace proper?”
 “That would be a fair assumption.”
 “And can I also assume that he will be guarded by someone 
with great experience?”
 “That also is a reasonable conclusion.”
 I nodded gratefully. “One last thing, then.”
 Destari scowled at me, wondering what else I could possibly 
demand of him.
 “Will I be assigned a new secondary bodyguard?”
 “I’m afraid not,” Destari responded with a knowing smile. 
“The captain has decided that the measure of security we’ve 
been maintaining within the palace is no longer necessary, 
as the traitor has been identified. The members of the royal 
family will once again have only one bodyguard and he will 
return to a normal daily routine. Tadark will be your perma-
nent guard.”
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 I contained my groan of misery with great effort. The 
only positive aspect of the situation was that Tadark would 
no longer be protecting me twenty-four hours a day—he was 
a bit more tolerable when taken in smaller doses.
 “I appreciate that you took the time to tell me of your 
change in duty,” I said, trying to sound lighthearted.
 Destari inclined his head and turned to leave.
 “Wait!” Tadark cried. “Aren’t you going to tell us about 
your new assignment?”
 Destari stared at him as though no expression he could 
form upon his face would quite convey what he was feeling 
and then walked out the door without another word.

 I saw nothing of Destari or the Cokyrian prisoner over the 
next few days, which led me to believe the boy was being 
held in one of the guest rooms on the third f loor, away from 
the areas the royal family frequented. My father and Cannan 
could often be seen in conversation, most likely about their 
young captive, though they never said anything in my presence 
about what they intended to do with him. If not for Destari, 
I would have believed him to be starving in the dungeon like 
our other prisoners, though it should have occurred to me 
that my father would not allow a child to be confined within 
those dank walls. The captive needed to be interrogated, but 
my father would not want him subjected to torture.
 As I considered these things, I felt relieved that I, unlike my 
father, did not have to make judgments about the prisoner. He 
was young, yes, but also a Cokyrian, and though they would 
not treat him unkindly for the first reason, neither could they 
trust him. Hytanicans had only ever encountered Cokyrian 
adults and no one could imagine what this boy was doing here, 
if he had been sent as a spy or a messenger, or if he had for 
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some reason f led his homeland. I was, of course, also frustrated 
by the lack of information I had been able to gather, but I sup-
posed this situation was held in stricter confidence than even 
the investigation of the Elite Guard. It was unlikely Steldor 
would know about this, I had been thankful to deduce, for 
it saved me from having to suffer through another afternoon 
with him.
 On the morning of the fourth day after Destari had been 
assigned to be the young Cokyrian’s guard, I headed to the 
library, desirous of a location to think, where Tadark might 
hold his tongue. I was brimming with questions, yet could 
not concentrate, for the lieutenant was still bent on talking 
about London’s incompetence. He was in the middle of a tirade 
when I pushed the library door open.
 “Once in a while I would see a glint in his eyes almost as 
though he were taunting me….”
 I fought the urge to tell Tadark outright that London had 
been taunting him, when I saw my sister. She was sitting on 
the padded window seat across the room with her best friend, 
Semari, whom I had not known was visiting us. They were 
clearly gossiping about something, because their voices were 
low and occasionally one of them would clap a hand over 
her mouth, aghast at what the other had said. Aware that 
someone had entered, they stopped talking and looked in my 
direction.
 “Come here, Alera!” Miranna said delightedly, springing 
to her feet. “We were just discussing the latest scandals!”
 I smiled and moved toward the window, ready to contribute 
heartily to their conversation. When Tadark followed, I waved 
him off, and he instead joined Halias by the fireplace.
 “Miranna has just been telling me about the Cokyrian pris-
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oner,” Semari said, her clear blue eyes glistening. “She says 
he is very handsome.”
 She and Miranna giggled, and I readily concurred, sitting in 
a chair opposite them. The prisoner was undeniably attractive, 
though in a much different way than Steldor. The captain’s son 
had a polished style, with classic good looks and sophisticated 
taste. The Cokyrian was unique, with eyes that entranced in a 
moment and a young but worldly face. While I had only seen 
him once, I sensed a deepness within him that Steldor would 
never possess. Not wanting to share any of these thoughts, I 
attempted to redirect the discussion to something of greater 
appeal to me.
 “What do you think he’s doing here?”
 “I don’t care much about that,” Semari scoffed, not sharing 
my interest in the least. “But I do so want to meet him and ask 
him about his homeland. I’ve never been into the desert lands 
of the east or into the mountains, and can’t imagine what it 
must be like to live in such a forbidding place.”
 “He can’t be as dangerous as the adults of his kind, so it 
would be safe to talk with him, wouldn’t it?” Miranna agreed. 
“He may well be our only chance to learn firsthand about the 
Cokyrians!”
 Semari sat quietly, gnawing on a fingernail. Although she 
was almost a year and a half younger than my sister, her bubbly 
nature and love of all things feminine made them an ideal 
match.
 “What are you thinking?” Miranna asked.
 Semari sighed in frustration, having discovered a fault in 
whatever she had been working through in her mind.
 “We could never get to him in the dungeon. With all the 
guards down there, it would be impossible!”
 I laughed to myself, for I knew something they did not. I 
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leaned closer, motioning them to do the same, and whispered 
in their ears.
 “Are you certain?” Miranna asked when I had finished.
 I gave a self-assured nod.
 Semari was gleeful. “This is perfect! I know exactly what 
to do.”
 We huddled together so that our foreheads almost touched 
and began to plot our strategy.
 Semari spent the night with Miranna in her quarters, and 
the next morning we put our scheme into action. In order to 
discover where the prisoner was being kept, I chanced a visit 
to the Guest Wing, which comprised the eastern half of the 
palace’s third f loor. I thought it probable that the Cokyrian 
was being housed in one of the rooms at the rear of the palace, 
and so avoided using my family’s stairway, instead using the 
stairwell located just off the Grand Staircase to gain access 
to the upper f loor. Although there were generally no guards 
posted on the third f loor unless guests were occupying the 
rooms, I did not want to emerge into the corridor and blunder 
into Destari.
 My mission was to lurk in the Guest Wing as long as it 
took to locate the prisoner’s room, then return to the library, 
where Miranna and Semari would be passing the time. The 
only disquiet I felt about my task was Tadark’s constant and 
clinging company, but as it turned out he became a potential 
obstacle only once.
 “I don’t understand what we’re doing here,” he said, 
bored with my chosen activity, or more precisely, the lack of 
activity.
 “You don’t have to understand, Tadark. All that is required 
is that you leave me be.”
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 “Are you doing something you’re not supposed to be doing? 
Destari said something about guest rooms—”
 “I implore you to be quiet…Tad,” I needled, remembering 
how much he despised the moniker.
 “Don’t call me that.” Tadark’s brown eyes narrowed.
 “If you stop talking right now, I’ll never call you Tad 
again.”
 He nodded, then stood back from me, and no further sound 
escaped his lips.
 The Guest Wing contained seven rooms, five of which 
were located along exterior walls, and two windowless interior 
rooms. A corridor led all the way through the wing so that I 
could start where I now stood and travel past all of the rooms, 
arriving back at my point of origin.
 I walked to the west, then turned north into the corri-
dor that divided the Guest Wing from the servants’ quarters. 
Coming to the end of the hall, I leaned around the corner 
to the right to peer down its length, looking for Destari. His 
enormous frame was disappearing into the nearest of the two 
interior rooms. Though there was no sign of his charge, I had 
to assume I had discovered where the Cokyrian was being 
held. I considered the location, realizing that it made sense to 
house our captive in one of the windowless rooms.
 I retreated to the stairwell and descended the steps to return 
to the second f loor, Tadark trotting behind. I hastened past 
the King’s Dining Hall, then continued toward the library 
at the rear of the palace, where I was to collect Miranna and 
Semari. They were seated together on the wide sill of the bay 
window when I entered, with Halias in front of them in an 
armchair, indulging their desire to braid pieces of his long, 
blond hair.
 “Miranna, Semari, come with me,” I called. “I have some-
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thing to show you!” They knew by my words that I had 
located Destari and the prisoner.
 Semari and Halias stood, but Miranna remained seated for 
a moment longer, the brightness of her smile fading.
 “Are you all right?” Halias asked as he moved his chair off 
to the side of the window.
 “Yes, I’m fine,” she murmured. “Just a bit dizzy.”
 She got to her feet and began to cross the room with her 
friend.
 “Now, what is it you have to show…”
 Without further warning, Miranna collapsed, falling like 
a doll in the middle of the large rug on the library f loor, her 
sentence left unfinished. I rushed to her, dropping to my knees 
beside her.
 “Mira!” I cried, panic in my voice.
 She lay on her side and her limbs began to quake, violent 
shivers soon consuming her whole body. Nonsense tumbled 
from her lips in the same way it had when she had suffered 
similar attacks as a little girl. Semari was standing with her back 
to the library wall, her face stricken. Halias was at  Miranna’s 
other side in an instant, his blue eyes darting between me 
and my sister, as this was not a danger from which he could 
provide protection. It had been twelve years since Miranna’s 
last attack, and none of us were any more prepared to handle 
the situation today than we had been over a decade ago.
 “Tadark!” I called to my horrified bodyguard, who was 
frozen by the door. “Fetch Bhadran! Tell him it’s Miranna!”
 Tadark raced from the room, off to find the doctor who 
attended the royal family.
 “Quickly,” I said to Halias, my words catching in my throat. 
“Find my mother.”
 Halias followed Tadark out the door without a backward 
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glance, and Semari scurried after him to peek into the 
corridor.
 “They’re gone!” she whispered, turning to face me.
 Miranna stayed her spasms and sat up, whereupon I helped 
her to her feet.
 “We don’t have long,” I reminded them. “We have to 
hurry.”
 Semari rushed out the door, her face f lushed with excite-
ment. Miranna and I followed, having successfully eluded our 
bodyguards, and the three of us hastened south through the 
corridor toward the front of the palace, then up the stairs to 
the third f loor. As I led our trio out of the stairwell, I turned 
east, then crept north until we could peer to our left around 
the far corner to observe the prisoner’s room.
 Semari retreated to the southern end of the corridor and 
Miranna and I ducked into a vacant guest room. It wasn’t 
long before she let out an ear-piercing scream. A few seconds 
passed and then we heard another.
 As we had intended, Destari came hurtling around the 
corner to investigate, going past the room in which my sister 
and I were hiding and giving us a chance to slip out undiscov-
ered. While he searched for the source of the screams, I clasped 
Miranna’s hand and we went directly to the door Destari had 
been guarding. I turned the handle, stepping quickly inside, 
shadowed by my sister, who gave the door a push so it swung 
shut.
 The Cokyrian was sitting cross-legged atop the bed in the 
sparsely furnished room, one of his hands shackled to the 
bedpost, but despite this, he looked more relaxed than the last 
time I had seen him. He had bathed and changed into dif-
ferent clothing—black trousers and a loose white shirt, both 
too big for him, the cumulative effect of which was to make 
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him appear even younger. The only items on his person of his 
own were probably the belt about his hips and the well-worn 
boots on his feet.
 He looked up when we entered, his deep blue eyes ap-
praising us, the lift in his eyebrows his only reaction to our 
unorthodox arrival. In that instant, my tongue failed me. I 
had been concentrating so heavily on executing our plan that 
I had not given a single thought to what I would say should 
it prove successful.
 For a long and agonizing moment, Miranna and I stared 
at him, and he stared back at us. Finally, I introduced myself 
the way I would have to anyone else.
 “Excuse our intrusion,” I said, trying my best to sound con-
fident. “I am Princess Alera of Hytanica, and this is my sister, 
Princess Miranna.” I motioned to Miranna, who was standing 
beside me. “We deemed it time to greet our guest.”
 He continued to assess us. Just as I was beginning to wonder 
if he were mute, he spoke, voice smooth and polite.
 “Forgive me for being forward, Your Highnesses, but I was 
under the impression that I am more a prisoner than a guest.” 
He raised his arm and shook his shackled wrist.
 I fought back the blush that threatened my cheeks, for this 
was not the answer I had expected. Rallying my dignity, I 
tried again.
 “Prisoner or otherwise, you cannot deny that you are being 
treated kindly. Since we have already introduced ourselves, 
common courtesy would dictate that you do the same.”
 He continued to watch us warily, as if determining whether 
we represented some new interrogation technique.
 “I am called Narian,” he finally answered, a hint of suspi-
cion in his voice.
 “It’s nice to meet you, Narian.”
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 Miranna had not uttered a word, apparently too stupefied 
that our strategy had worked to enter the conversation. She 
was not to be given the chance to speak, for at that moment, 
the door forcefully opened, and she and I just managed to 
avoid being hit. Destari stood in the corridor, face livid, black 
eyes glittering like shards of glass, grasping Semari’s wrist in 
his left hand. He tugged her into the room with him, glar-
ing fiercely at everyone present, excluding Narian, who had 
played no role in creating the present circumstances.
 “What were you thinking?” Destari boomed. “I would never 
have expected such rash behavior from any of you—especially 
you two!” he said, aiming his tirade at Miranna and me. 
“Princesses! Whatever made you think to try something this 
brainless? And just how were you planning to slip back out 
once you were inside? Did you actually think you would get 
away with something as childish and irresponsible as this? You 
should be ashamed!”
 He continued his rant for a moment longer, then stopped, 
realizing no one was listening to him. My sister and I were 
gaping at Semari and Narian, who were staring transfixed at 
each other. Though Semari’s blond hair was lighter and her 
skin fairer, their faces were strikingly similar, with full lips, 
straight noses and softly arching eyebrows. Their eyes, too, 
were a similar shade of blue, though Narian’s were cold and 
aloof, in contrast to Semari’s, which were bright and innocent. 
The resemblance was so strong, in fact, that once I saw them 
together, I couldn’t believe his looks had not immediately 
brought her to mind.
 “Kyenn?” Semari said tentatively.
 “I’m taking you to the Captain of the Guard,” Destari 
interjected, seizing control of the situation. “All of you.”
 He unshackled Narian from the bedpost, then marched us 
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out of the room and west through the corridor toward the 
spiral staircase, keeping a distrustful hand on Narian’s shoulder 
the entire way. As we approached the landing, we ran into 
Halias, who had caught on to part of our plan and was not 
the least bit amused, and Tadark, who was quite perplexed, 
not yet having figured out what was happening.
 “Destari!” Halias exclaimed in unmistakable relief when he 
saw us in the company of his fellow deputy captain. He ap-
proached, his relief instantly suffused with an unusual display 
of temper. “Where did you find them?” he growled, glaring 
at Miranna, Semari and me.
 “In the prisoner’s room,” Destari fumed, his black hair and 
heavy brows making him especially formidable. “They took 
it upon themselves to meet him.”
 Halias gave Miranna a look that would have made me 
tremble, but which she met with a sheepish grin, peering up 
at him through lowered lashes.
 At last realizing what we had done, Tadark gasped, then 
glared at me in an attempt to match Halias’s look of disap-
proval, but it did not have nearly the same effect. I smiled at 
him, and he widened his light brown eyes as if to intensify his 
glower, but with his boyish face, he only succeeded in making 
himself look all the more ridiculous.
 Halias continued to hold Miranna in his fierce gaze while 
he briefed Destari on the details of our grand scheme.
 “Bhadran and the Queen are in the library, waiting for us 
to return,” he finished.
 “Then we should go to them at once.” Destari’s statement 
left no room for argument.
 Halias moved to Miranna’s side, and Tadark to mine, and we 
descended the stairway to proceed toward the library, Destari 
following with Narian. I was glad that, after my mother and 
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father, it was Tadark to whom I would have to answer and 
not London. I didn’t even want to consider what London’s 
reaction to our behavior would have been.
 We arrived in the library far too quickly for my liking. 
The Queen and the Royal Physician rose from armchairs by 
the window the moment we entered, but did not speak. My 
mother was shaking her head at Miranna and me in disap-
proval, and I could not meet her gaze for shame.
 Destari remained by the door, not relinquishing his grip on 
Narian’s shoulder, and motioned for Halias to join him. The 
two guards had a hushed exchange, and several times Halias 
glanced from Narian to Semari, who was standing beside me, 
examining the f loor. When they had finished, Halias seized 
Narian by the upper arm and guided him toward the window 
seat. He dragged an armchair several feet away from where 
my mother and the doctor stood, then pushed the young man 
into it.
 “Sit,” he commanded.
 After Destari had departed to find Cannan, my mother 
walked over to where Semari, Miranna and I were clustered 
in the middle of the rug. Although she was fully composed, 
I dreaded what she would say.
 “Miranna, tell me that you did not fake this entire thing,” 
she said, referring to my sister’s seizure.
 Miranna hung her head, her coppery-blond hair falling 
forward like a veil.
 “I’m sorry, Mother, but I cannot tell you that,” she con-
fessed.
 “I don’t understand the three of you,” my mother continued, 
although she did not raise her voice. “What could possibly 
have possessed you?”
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 “We only wanted to see what he was like,” Miranna replied, 
her face still obscured by her hair.
 “We…weren’t really thinking at all,” I conceded, hoping 
my mother, who had recently told me of her own irrepressible 
girlhood curiosity, might sympathize with us.
 “You’re right. You didn’t think this through at all.” Her 
voice was devoid of its usual lyrical quality, and her blue eyes 
sparked in a rare display of anger. “We know nothing about 
this boy! You marched into his room without a single guard 
to protect you. Do you not see how reckless you were?”
 “He’s our age, Mother!” Miranna protested. “What could 
he have done?”
 “Foolish child!” she admonished, sounding incredibly for-
midable while keeping her voice low so that no one could hear 
except us three. “If he were a Hytanican boy, he would be in 
his third year at the Military Academy! We do not know how 
they train their soldiers in Cokyri, but if he had intended to 
do you harm, I believe he could have done so. You haven’t 
the faintest idea with whom you are dealing. He is Cokyrian! 
None of you were alive during the war, but perhaps if you 
had been you would comprehend how rashly you acted today. 
If you had seen the death, the misery—if you had lost your 
entire family to those cold-blooded creatures in the manner I 
did when I was your age, then maybe you would have thought 
twice before entering that room.”
 Semari, Miranna and I stood still as death, barely daring 
to breathe, my mother’s lecture somehow more painful than 
a physical form of punishment would have been.
 “Your behavior calls for apologies to your bodyguards,” 
she finished primly. “And I would strongly suggest that you 
go to the chapel to seek forgiveness and say a prayer for better 
judgment in the future.”
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 She turned from us and approached the physician to tell him 
he had been called unnecessarily. After hearing her account, 
Bhadran bowed and took his leave, shaking his graying head 
on his way past us. My mother reseated herself, and we moved 
to stand beside her, heads bowed in penitence. Time passed in 
strained silence until Narian spoke, and I became aware for 
the first time that he had a subtle accent.
 “Why did you address me in that way before? Who is 
Kyenn?”
 Semari tore her eyes away from her hands and stared at him, 
hope illuminating her face, which was so uncannily similar 
to his own. I could draw no other conclusion than the one 
I knew was spinning in the minds of everyone around me. 
Semari opened her mouth to reply, but Halias stopped her.
 “Don’t say anything, Semari. There will be no conversing 
with the prisoner until the captain arrives.”
 As if on cue, the library door swung open and Cannan 
strode in, followed closely by Destari, the imposing bearing 
of the two men casting a greater pall over the room. All at-
tention shifted to the Captain of the Guard, but he said noth-
ing. Instead, he stood in the center of the rug, first studying 
Semari, then shifting his eyes to Narian, then back to Semari, 
and again to Narian, his expression ponderous.
 Destari, who had stepped up beside him, gravely asked, 
“What do you make of this, sir?”
 “There is a clear likeness between them,” Cannan al-
lowed.
 “Can it be?” Halias echoed, momentarily too distracted to 
use proper military protocol. Then he added, “Captain?”
 “I cannot think of another explanation. The King must be 
notified.”
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RUMORS QUICKLY CIRCULATED IN THE PALACE 
about our escapade, stirring up speculations that became my 
only source of information. My father was furious with both 
Miranna and me, but he was preoccupied with settling the 
issue of the Cokyrian boy’s possible identity and had not yet 
taken the time to discipline us. I was grateful for this small 
mercy.
 The day after we had executed our plan, Semari had re-
turned to the palace with her parents. Neither Miranna nor 
I had been in attendance when they had met with Cannan 
and my father, and I had not since then been able to discover 
exactly what had transpired.
 Miranna longed to speak with Semari once more, but she 
was afraid to ask Father’s permission to pay her friend a visit, 
lest she remind him that he had not yet dealt with us. I also 
wanted to know what had been determined about Narian, but 
the only people from whom I could receive accurate informa-
tion were in the military, and none among them would be 
willing to enlighten me.
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 My thirst for knowledge was likewise not to be quenched 
by my father, who finally broke away from his duties to deal 
with his errant daughters. He came to my quarters during the 
early hours of the morning, before undertaking his duties as 
King.
 Tadark had reported to his post and was waiting in the 
corridor to learn of my schedule for the day. He rapped upon 
my door and opened it to announce the King, who entered 
looking unusually grim. I had just emerged from my bedroom 
and was sitting upon the sofa, brushing my dark brown hair. 
The humid morning air already had a stif ling quality, which 
I felt even more keenly upon my father’s arrival. I put down 
the brush and stood, but with his hand he bade me to sit.
 “Your actions of this past week have greatly disappointed 
me, Alera,” he said with little emotion. “I have lost much 
confidence in your decision making.”
 “I know, Father,” I said, not dropping my head as I had 
done with my mother, but meeting his gaze remorsefully. “I’m 
sorry.”
 “I’m afraid ‘sorry’ simply isn’t good enough this time. You 
endangered not only yourself but also your sister and her best 
friend. You made a very foolish choice, and I am not certain 
I can trust you to act less rashly in the future.
 “What am I to do, Alera? You are seventeen years old, and 
yet you continue to play these childish games! You are to be 
Queen in less than a year. Given your age and upbringing, I 
should not have to be telling you to behave more sensibly.”
 It was my misfortune that my father was eager to abdicate 
the throne. Had he been happier in his role as King, I sensed I 
might not be forced to sit in wretched silence as his extensive 
criticism rained down upon me.
 “Who is to govern beside such an unpromising queen? 
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Would she enable her husband to rule the kingdom with a 
steady hand or distract him with her silly ploys?”
 He looked at me as though daring me to respond, but I 
knew there was nothing I could say. My throat had constricted, 
and I was incapable of thinking about anything other than my 
own incompetence, which my father had brought painfully 
into the open.
 “A suitor must be chosen, Alera,” he continued, beginning 
to pace in front of me, his brow dampened with sweat. “You 
know who I want to succeed me. If another young man of 
quality does not soon present himself, then you will marry 
Lord Steldor, under my last order as King of Hytanica.”
 “But I cannot marry Steldor,” I gasped, my brain finally 
jarred into action.
 “Then perhaps you have another suitor in mind?”
 My father stopped and turned toward me, his tone telling 
me he thought it unlikely he would approve of anyone of my 
choosing.
 “There is no one else, Father,” I murmured, vague echoes 
of a previous conversation rebounding in my head.
 “As I expected,” he said unpleasantly, and my sense of in-
eptitude became overwhelming. “I have taken the liberty of 
inviting Steldor to accompany you on a picnic outside the city 
walls. I have given him my permission to court you, and I 
insist that you honestly evaluate him in terms of his qualities 
and not based merely on your whims.”
 My father swung around to go, but I hastily stood to call 
him back.
 “Wait! Miranna would also enjoy such an outing. I pray 
you to permit her to come with us.”
 My father did not appear to be in a mood to compromise, 
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but I was compelled to plead my case by the thought of how 
stressful such an outing would be.
 “A young man could be chosen to accompany her. The 
arrangement would place less pressure upon Steldor and me. 
And it would help me to be at ease in his company.”
 My father thought for a moment, and as usual, began to toy 
with his ring.
 “Amidst all your terrible ideas, there is occasionally one of 
value. I will inform Miranna that she will be joining you and 
Steldor on your outing ten days hence.”
 He left the room without another word, and I sank down 
on the sofa, the morning heat and my misery depleting my 
energy. After many minutes, it dawned on me that my father 
might have paid a visit to Miranna, too. Even if he had not, my 
sister was someone who would empathize with my feelings.
 Leaving my parlor, I hastened down the hallway toward 
Miranna’s quarters, which also consisted of a trio of rooms, 
although she did not have a balcony as I did. Her parlor was 
similar to mine, with tapestries decorating the walls, rugs 
padding the f loor and a sofa and several armchairs to provide 
seating. The primary difference was in color, as she favored 
blues while I preferred rich shades of red.
 Halias knocked on Miranna’s parlor door, then opened it 
to grant me entry. My sister was sitting in an armchair doing 
some handwork, but stood to usher me into her bedroom 
when she took in my gloomy countenance.
 Unlike the parlor, her bedroom sharply contrasted mine, 
for hers was decorated more playfully, with a lacy spread and 
pale blue velvet draperies. The walls were not hung with tap-
estries but with silks in softest hues of blue, yellow, green and 
pink. Ribbons in the same colors hung in streams from the 
four posts of her bed and decorated the edges of its canopy. 
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A large number of lovingly kept dolls sat atop her bookshelf 
and dressing table.
 She plopped down on her bed and motioned for me to do 
the same.
 “Is it Father?”
 “Of course.” I sank glumly onto the bed beside her.
 “He spoke with me this morning about the need for me to 
act more prudently and to set a good example,” she said, hug-
ging a pillow to her chest. “It wasn’t a pleasant conversation, 
but he at least didn’t strike me. How did he treat you?”
 “He didn’t hit me either, although that might have been 
easier to bear. No, he lectured me on my shortcomings as a 
daughter.” I hesitated, then gushed, “He told me he fears I 
will be an incompetent queen. He said that I am too old to 
be playing childish games and that he can no longer trust my 
judgment.”
 My eyes welled with tears, though I was determined not to 
let them fall, for that would have somehow been an admission 
that his assessment was correct.
 “He doesn’t know what he’s talking about,” Miranna said, 
shifting to take my hands in hers. “You will be an excep-
tional queen. He should not base his opinion on this one 
incident.”
 “Father rules this kingdom, Mira. He, better than anyone, 
knows the qualities that are necessary in a queen.”
 “What we did was very unwise, but Father has overreacted. 
He has never before doubted your suitability to be crowned, 
and I’m sure in his heart he truly doesn’t now.”
 “He also said that unless I soon find another ‘man of qual-
ity’ to be my husband, he will order me to marry Steldor.”
 This Miranna had not expected. “Order you?”
 “Yes! What am I going to do? I cannot marry Steldor!” 
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I pulled my hands from hers in agitation, then plucked at the 
lace on her bedspread.
 “That doesn’t sound like Father,” she said, dismayed. She 
regarded me sympathetically for a moment. “He is just…under 
a lot of stress right now. I’m certain in time he will rethink 
his position…and regain his sense of humor.”
 Her attempt to reassure me fell short, for her tone was not 
convincing.
 “And if he doesn’t? Then what am I to do? I had hoped 
to marry for love—an intelligent and compassionate man—
someone with the potential to become the greatest King in 
Hytanican history! How much time will Father give me before 
he forces me to marry the man I detest?”
 “Calm down, Alera! While I don’t share your opinion of 
Steldor, I do agree that you should marry for love. Just give 
Father some time and he will come around.”
 We sat in abject silence for a few minutes, and then she 
scrambled to her feet.
 “A change of scenery would do us both some good. Why 
don’t we go out for a while? Leave the palace and our troubles 
behind?”
 “A change couldn’t hurt,” I agreed.
 She twisted a strand of her hair over and over with her left 
hand as she reviewed our options, finally f lashing me a smile.
 “I think today is market day—let’s get some fresh air and 
take in the sights.” She grabbed my hand and pulled me to 
my feet. “And we can scout for alternative suitors!”
 I couldn’t keep from smiling at her suggestion, although I 
did not see my predicament as the least bit comical.

 Two hours later, Tadark and Halias followed us out of the 
palace, through the Central Courtyard and into the city. We 
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proceeded for a short while down the wide main thorough-
fare that cut the city in half, eventually turning west into 
the Market District. Here, shop fronts opened onto narrow 
streets, with similar types of businesses clustered together. We 
strolled along, perusing the offerings of the bakers, the spice 
grocers, the apothecaries and the jewelers. Their wares were 
displayed on counters that doubled as the shutters that closed 
the storefronts at the end of the day. The top halves of the 
shutters were propped up to provide the merchandise with 
some protection from the elements. Down one of the many 
side streets we could see the signboards for the shoemakers, 
saddle and harness makers and tanners. Down another were 
the fish merchants, butchers and chandlers.
 As we came to the last of the shops, the cobblestone street 
opened into a large grassy area atop a hill that sloped down 
into the training field just south of Hytanica’s Military Com-
plex. Here, temporary tents and stalls had been erected to 
accommodate the various vendors who had brought items for 
sale or trade.
 Market day was held once a week and attracted a teeming 
crowd. In addition to farm products, the craftsmen from the 
villages surrounding the walled city would come to sell their 
handmade goods. Traveling merchants would also offer wares 
for sale, resulting in an ever-changing selection. Furniture, 
tools, furs, glassware, exotic spices, rare oils and perfumes, 
pots and pans, laces and unusual fabrics were all part of the 
hodgepodge that was market day.
 Miranna and I were wearing simple frocks, for Cannan had 
long ago decreed that we should dress in the style of villagers 
when we visited the market. The captain was a cautious man, 
and did not want the manner of our dress to announce who 
we were. Of course, no disguise in the world would have 

9780373210343_TS.indd   1469780373210343_TS.indd   146 2/4/11   9:31:06 AM2/4/11   9:31:06 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



147

worked when our uniformed bodyguards were conspicuously 
present, so Tadark and Halias were clad more plainly as well. 
To my great relief, and Tadark’s chagrin, the deputy captain 
was also willing to give us a bit more freedom to roam and 
was refusing to permit the lieutenant to hang off my elbow.
 We joined the throng of people surrounding the tents and 
stalls and were bombarded by the sounds of vendors hawking 
their wares, customers arguing and negotiating, little children 
playing and animals complaining in their various ways. My 
spirits lifted as I absorbed the energy that hung in the air in 
this fascinating place.
 “Oh, look over there!” Miranna said, touching my arm 
and pointing over the heads of the milling crowd to a young 
man in his mid-twenties who stood beside one of the many 
vegetable stands.
 “He’s handsome—you could marry him!”
 “I’m sure that would improve Father’s opinion of me. ‘Sire, 
I would like to marry a vegetable merchant…or perhaps the servant 
of a vegetable merchant,’” I said with exaggerated formality.
 “It would be interesting to see his face when you asked 
him.”
 We continued to work our way through the shoppers, scan-
ning the items that were available this week. Miranna was 
replacing a scarf she had been examining at one of the stands 
when a familiar voice rang out behind us.
 “Mira!” Semari was making her way toward us through 
the bustling swarm of people, her cheeks f lushed and her blue 
eyes dancing with excitement.
 “Semari!” Miranna returned, moving forward to greet her 
friend with a hug. “How are you?”
 “Papa was furious when he was told what we had done, 
but I’m hardly even sore anymore,” Semari said, the smile on 

9780373210343_TS.indd   1479780373210343_TS.indd   147 2/4/11   9:31:06 AM2/4/11   9:31:06 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver148

her face broadening, though it hardly fit her words. “And he’s 
forgotten all about it now.”
 “Because of Narian?” Miranna pressed, jumping to the 
topic that had been foremost in our minds of late—the shock-
ing resemblance between Semari and the Cokyrian youth.
 Semari nodded and we moved off to the side of one of 
the tents to converse without being jostled by the bustling 
shoppers.
 “When the Captain of the Guard and the King met with 
us, they asked if my parents could identify him as their son, 
in some manner other than his looks and his age. My mother 
recalled that Kyenn had been born with an unusual mark 
behind his left ear, a mark in the shape of a jagged crescent 
moon. The captain examined Narian and discovered the mark 
exactly as my mother had described it! How likely is it that 
two people would have the exact same birthmark, let alone 
such an unusual one?”
 “Not likely at all,” I said, captivated by her tale.
 “The King and the captain then concluded that he is the 
long-missing member of our family, my older brother.”
 “What are they going to do with him?” Miranna asked.
 “Well, my parents want him to live at home, but he can’t 
be completely trusted, so for now he stays under guard at the 
palace. The captain wants to slowly introduce him to Hy-
tanican life, at the same time watching over him, in case the 
Cokyrians did send him here for a purpose.”
 “Have you spoken with him?” Miranna persisted.
 “Of course I have! The captain has arranged for him to visit 
us each week. On the appointed days, Destari transports him 
to our home in the morning and returns him to the palace 
in the evening. The men keep a close eye on him when he is 
with us, but there have been no real problems.”
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 “What is he like?” I breathlessly asked.
 “It’s so thrilling to meet him, my long-lost older brother, 
but the situation is also very strange.” Semari had become 
contemplative. “I have always been the oldest child in my 
family. It feels odd to be someone’s younger sister. And from 
my parents’ standpoint, it’s as though he’s come back from the 
dead.”
 I ref lected on this for a moment. Semari’s older brother, 
Kyenn, had been abducted just a week after his birth and was 
believed to have been murdered, though his body had not been 
among those returned by the Cokyrians. The trauma Semari’s 
parents, Baron Koranis and Baroness Alantonya, had suffered 
had been so devastating that they still felt its pain sixteen years 
later and had always been haunted by the uncertainty of their 
son’s fate. It was almost inconceivable that the Cokyrian youth 
arrested by London could be their missing child. But their joy 
at his return had to be tempered by the knowledge that he 
had been raised in the land of Hytanica’s greatest enemy.
 “He is very quiet.” Semari’s voice drew me from my 
thoughts. “He doesn’t talk much at all, he just observes 
everything.”
 “Well, Hytanica must be interesting to him,” Miranna 
speculated. “The way we live is no doubt different from life 
in Cokyri.”
 “I don’t know if ‘interesting’ is the right description. He 
acts almost condescending about the way we live…like he’s 
disappointed, as if he expected more from us.”
 “What do you mean?” I queried.
 “He’s not exactly conceited. To give you an example—he 
was surprised, irritated almost, when he learned that I did not 
know how to handle a weapon, that the focus of my education 
and that of my sisters has been on etiquette and not Hytanica’s 

9780373210343_TS.indd   1499780373210343_TS.indd   149 2/4/11   9:31:06 AM2/4/11   9:31:06 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver150

history or its politics. He seemed to think our educations 
insufficient.”
 “Does he ever mention Cokyri?” Miranna asked, managing 
to divert us to the subject she’d been dying to discuss since 
we had begun chatting.
 “As I said, he’s not very forthcoming. The only thing we 
know is that while he was in Cokyri, he discovered he was 
Hytanican, and that’s why he left to come here. He hasn’t 
said how he found out or anything else about his life, and we 
haven’t pressured him to tell us. My parents believe that he 
was raised as a member of the upper class, though, as he is 
quite well spoken and well mannered.”
 Just then, another aspect of the situation occurred to 
me. “How are you addressing him? He apparently has two 
names.”
 “That is somewhat undetermined,” Semari answered rue-
fully. “My parents want to call him Kyenn—he was born to 
them and that is what they christened him—but he insists 
that they call him Narian. My mother, though it dismays her, 
understands his preference and is willing to use his Cokyrian 
name, but Papa refuses. My father went to him and told him 
that he can introduce himself as Narian, or whatever he wants 
to be called, when he is elsewhere, but while he is under his 
father’s roof, his name will be Kyenn. My brother replied that 
he would respond to no name except Narian, regardless of 
whose roof he was under.
 “So as not to anger my father, the rest of us have been call-
ing him Kyenn, which only increases the tension as he will 
respond to my mother’s use of the name, but not my father’s. 
He also directs any questions he might have, though they are 
few indeed, to her, and glares at Papa as if he were a simpleton 
if he deigns to answer on her behalf.”
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 “London told me once that Cokyrian women, rather than 
men, occupy positions of power,” I mused. “Perhaps that is 
why he is willing to obey your mother but not your father.”
 “I suppose that could be the reason.”
 Semari glanced down the street as someone called her 
name.
 “I’m coming, Mother!” she responded, and then continued. 
“It’s just that neither of my parents knows quite how to deal 
with him. My mother is not accustomed to being the center 
of attention, and she knows little about some of what he asks 
her. My father is the head of the house and deserves to be 
treated as such, but at the same time, he does not want to be 
angry with Narian—Kyenn. My father’s oldest son has come 
back to life, and all Papa wants is to get to know him. Kyenn’s 
attitude is difficult for all of us, but especially for my father, 
as he is not used to being someone’s second choice.”
 Narian’s was an attitude with which no one in Hytanica 
would be familiar. I could not imagine someone showing 
more respect for women than men, or treating their father as 
inferior to their mother. Both would be completely unaccept-
able in Hytanica, and I wondered how Narian would ever fit 
into our world.
 “I’m coming, Mother!” Semari repeated, as her name once 
again reached our ears over the crowd. “I have to go, but 
maybe you can come for a visit to our country estate. There 
is a good chance that Kyenn will be there.” She hugged us 
each in turn and then ran off to join her family.
 “She’s incredibly lucky.” Miranna sulked in the aftermath 
of her friend’s departure. “The plan was for us to meet him 
and ask about Cokyri, and now he’s practically living in her 
home.”
 “Life just isn’t fair sometimes, even for princesses,” I teased, 
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though feelings of envy were twisting my stomach also, for 
it was unlikely that we would be allowed to visit Semari at 
home while Narian was there. My father would insist upon 
giving the Baron and his family privacy so that Koranis and 
Alantonya could get reacquainted with their son, and their 
children could get to know their brother.
 “We’d better return to the palace,” I said, noticing that the 
sky was clouding over in preparation for an evening shower. 
We were walking back through the cobblestone streets, Tadark 
and Halias in tow, when a dreary issue sprang to mind.
 “Father wants me to see Steldor again,” I said.
 “Really? When?”
 “Next week. Unfortunately, I had to use you to avoid being 
trapped alone with him. Father is going to find an escort for 
you, and then the four of us will go on a picnic.”
 “Oh, that sounds splendid! We haven’t been out of the city 
in such a long time.”
 “You’re not upset with me?”
 “Not in the least! I rather welcome Steldor’s company. And I 
can help by drawing some of his attention away from you.”
 I still did not understand how Miranna could look forward 
to spending time with Steldor, but I wasn’t about to argue with 
her. The more diversions there were, the less time would be 
available to the Captain of the Guard’s son for bragging about 
himself.
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WHAT HAD STARTED AS A SIMPLE PICNIC SOON 
became an event requiring as much planning as a grand fes-
tival. First, there came the problem of finding an escort for 
Miranna. My father spoke with most of the upper-class young 
men in Hytanica, but had difficulty finding one that he viewed 
as responsible enough to attend his younger daughter.
 Next, the King gave due consideration to how we would be 
transported, and where we would eat. I had assumed we would 
spontaneously pick a site, but he was insistent on knowing 
exactly where we were going to be at all times, and I realized 
that his desire for oversight had less to do with fatherly inter-
est and more to do with paranoia over potential Cokyrian 
danger.
 And what about our bodyguards? Should both accompany 
us? My father concluded that only one was necessary as we 
would be in Steldor’s very capable hands, and I suspected 
Cannan would have the place where we were heading under 
surveillance. Tadark, who was closer to the rest of us in age, 
staunchly refused to be left behind and so became the fa-
vored one, despite Halias’s superior rank. Neither Halias nor 
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I was happy about this particular decision, but as long as the 
King was satisfied, there was nothing either of us could do 
about it.
 At my father’s direction, my mother spoke with the cooks 
to have them prepare and deliver a list of foods from which 
we could choose our picnic lunch. The resulting menu was 
pages long, and I picked the first few items that caught my 
eye, not having the willpower to review all the options.
 By the time the day of the outing arrived, I was so tired of 
hearing about it that I was eager for it to be over. Miranna’s 
enthusiasm, on the other hand, continued to run high, due 
more to her infatuation with Steldor, I was sure, than anything 
else.
 It was the third week in July, and the day was destined to 
be hot. Miranna and I had thus chosen to wear long, full-cut 
skirts with short-sleeved white blouses. I had also braided my 
hair into a single plait down my back, while Miranna’s was 
tied at the nape of her neck in the manner in which Halias 
often wore his.
 We left the palace grounds midmorning, riding in a buggy 
that had been furnished by the Royal Stables and was pulled 
by a magnificent pair of black Friesian horses. The buggy had 
a high wooden seat over the front wheels upon which the 
driver would sit, with a double front-facing seat over the back 
wheels that was padded for comfort. The f loor of the buggy 
was relatively low to the ground for ease of entry.
 As Steldor would be handling the reins, it was assumed 
that I would sit beside him, and a pad had been laid on the 
normally bare wooden seat in recognition of this arrange-
ment. My escort was informally but elegantly dressed in a 
double-breasted white shirt with gold buttons and trim, and 
black breeches. As usual, he wore his showy black boots with 
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the half dozen buckles running up the tall shafts. His shirt 
sharply contrasted with his dark hair and eyes and had no 
doubt been calculated to increase the intensity of their effect 
and raise the pulse rate of any woman within range. Even I 
had caught myself staring as he’d strapped our picnic supplies 
to the rear-facing jump seat at the back of the buggy.
 Miranna’s companion was a stocky young man named 
 Temerson, whose height and eye color matched my own but 
whose hair was cinnamon-brown. He was clad in the Military 
Academy’s standard-issue brown tunic and sash and looked ter-
ribly out of place next to Steldor, although in truth he would 
have been rather cute if not subjected to such a comparison.
 Miranna and Temerson occupied the backseat while Tadark 
rode alongside on his own mount, the horses’ hooves clacking 
pleasantly against the cobblestone of the main thoroughfare 
as we passed through the walled city. To the west of the thor-
oughfare lay the Market District, while to the east was the 
Business District, where money changers and lenders, taverns, 
inns, doctors and barbers did a lively business. Farther away 
from the wide street, we could see church spires, the granary 
and innumerable residences. Ahead of us rose the thirty-foot-
high turreted stone wall that surrounded the city, with guard 
towers on each side of the gate as well as spaced evenly along 
its length. The city was home to about fifteen thousand people, 
with another twenty-five hundred living on farms and in vil-
lages scattered throughout the Hytanican countryside.
 As we left the city, the stone thoroughfare turned into a 
dirt highway that wound its way through the terrain to the 
only bridge spanning the Recorah River. Our route soon took 
us east onto a much narrower and less traveled country road, 
for we were headed toward a protected setting in the bend of 
the river, where trees promised shade and the wide, rapidly 
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f lowing water would ensure a cool breeze. Even at a brisk trot, 
it would take well over two hours to reach our destination.
 The outing began smoothly enough, but it did not take 
me long to discover that the mind-numbing planning for 
the picnic had made me even less tolerant of Steldor’s ego. It 
helped that Miranna was present, but Steldor was f lirting with 
me, not my sister. As the horses trotted onward, I tried my 
best to silently dissuade him by concentrating on the passing 
landscape.
 Hytanica’s rolling terrain was lush and green at this time of 
year, and the fields of f lax that would soon be harvested were 
dotted with beautiful pale blue f lowers. As we drove along, 
we saw many farmhands hard at work in the fields, and my 
suitor would wave magnanimously to them on occasion.
 Undaunted by my reluctance to interact with him, Steldor 
proved quite capable of carrying a conversation by himself. 
After another tedious monologue similar in content to the 
one he had delivered on the night we had dined together, he 
leaned toward me.
 “So what’s the name of your sister’s friend?” he asked.
 Temerson had shyly introduced himself to us all, but Steldor 
had been too busy being Steldor to pay attention.
 “Lord Temerson,” I supplied, his arrogance depleting my 
patience. “I assume you know his father, Lieutenant Garreck, 
as he is a veteran battalion commander who has been teach-
ing at the Military Academy for the past fifteen years, and his 
mother, Lady Tanda, is a friend of my mother’s, and I presume, 
of your mother’s.”
 “Ah,” he replied, then he glanced back at the young man 
with whom my sister had been unsuccessfully attempting to 
converse. “So, Temerson, are you a student at the Military 
Academy?”
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 The inquiry was unnecessary, given Temerson’s age and 
apparel, but I suspected the military might be the only subject 
they would have in common.
 I scrutinized Miranna’s escort while waiting for him to 
respond and saw the look of a cornered animal settle upon his 
face. He opened his mouth but no sound came forth, and he 
instead opted for nodding his head twice. It struck me that to 
someone with a reticent nature, Steldor could be exception-
ally intimidating, and probably doubly so to a young cadet 
over whom he held rank. It was possible as well that Temer-
son had at some time been the object of Steldor and Galen’s 
derision.
 “The quiet type,” Steldor remarked to me, as if Temerson 
weren’t there. “Reminds me of another his age.”
 “And who would that be?” I asked, social graces win-
ning out despite my determination to discourage him from 
talking.
 “That Cokyrian boy.”
 “You mean Hytanican boy,” I corrected, assuming he knew 
the young man’s true identity.
 Steldor brushed my comment off. “He was raised Cokyrian. 
He thinks like them and behaves like them. That’s all I need 
to know.”
 “Yes, but he was born Hytanican,” I argued, hardly believ-
ing that Steldor would be so quick to judge Narian. “That’s 
all I need to know.”
 “That’s beside the point, anyway. All I was going to say is 
that he has barely spoken a word since we brought him to the 
palace, and I find it rather odd.”
 “Perhaps he is just overwhelmed by all that has happened 
to him. He was captured by the people he undoubtedly fears 
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the most and now has been reunited with the family he’s never 
known. I don’t think I would be talking much, either.”
 “Or perhaps he doesn’t speak because there is nothing going 
on in his head.”
 “Just because he is not about to divulge his life story at the 
merest implication that he should does not mean he is un-
intelligent, Steldor.” I could tell my keenness to debate was 
beginning to annoy him, but I was enjoying his discomfort 
too much to drop the matter.
 “Why are you defending him? You know no more about 
him than I do.”
 “Then why are you deriding him?”
 “We clearly aren’t going to agree on anything here.”
 “On the contrary. That’s the one opinion of yours with 
which I will agree.”
 The rest of the trip passed without much discussion. Steldor 
and I did not converse further, and though Miranna tried sev-
eral times to elicit a response from Temerson, nothing came 
of her attempts.
 Steldor halted the horses beside a large oak tree near 
the river, leaving Tadark to secure them. Temerson helped 
Miranna from the buggy and I grudgingly permitted Steldor 
to lift me to the ground. His hands were upon my waist as he 
set me down, but he did not immediately release me. Instead, 
his gaze bored into my own, and the blood drained from my 
face at the thought that he might kiss me. Then he smiled and 
dropped his hands, leaving me with the distinct impression 
that he had gotten the reaction he’d wanted.
 Tadark and Temerson began to remove the picnic sup-
plies from the buggy, while Steldor supervised, unmistakably 
of the opinion that he was exempt from the work. He did, 
however, give directions as to where everything should be 
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located, treating the picnic like some sort of military drill. 
When he directed Tadark to a specific spot to lay our quilt, I 
could restrain myself no longer.
 “I would like the quilt to go over there,” I called genially to 
the men, motioning to a grassy area closer to the river where 
several large willow trees stood, their tendrils trailing across 
the ground in the breeze.
 “No,” Steldor said with a commanding air. “The quilt 
should be here.”
 Tadark, who was standing with two corners of the quilt in 
his hands, ready to lay it on the ground, stopped as we began 
to bicker.
 “This ground is smoother,” I contended, walking over to 
my chosen location, remarkably willing to spend the entire 
afternoon arguing about this insignificant decision.
 “We will have better shade here.”
 “But I’m standing over here and if we put the quilt over there, 
I will have to move.” I gave Steldor a sweet smile.
 He tried once more. “Tadark already has the quilt halfway 
on the ground.”
 “Surely it will take minimal effort to pick it up and bring 
it to me. If Tadark does not wish to exert himself, I expect 
you could manage it without undue strain.”
 Steldor studied me for a moment, aware that he and I were 
engaging in some form of power struggle. Concluding he 
could afford to lose this skirmish, he surrendered.
 “As you wish. We will put the quilt wherever you direct, 
Princess.”
 “Thank you,” I said, trying to conceal my smugness.
 Tadark huffed as though moving the quilt were the most 
unreasonable thing I could have asked of him, but he neverthe-
less picked it up and brought it to where I stood. Temerson, 
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who had been holding a large basket of food during our entire 
exchange, set it down appreciatively but did not say a word.
 The men returned to the buggy, Tadark and Temerson to 
retrieve whatever drinks the cooks had supplied, and Steldor 
to again supervise the task. Miranna and I settled ourselves on 
the quilt, whereupon my sister turned to me with an exasper-
ated sigh.
 “Why can’t you treat Steldor with some decency?”
 “I am not in the mood to put up with his pretentious be-
havior,” I replied defensively.
 “Give him a chance, Alera,” Miranna pleaded. “Has he 
really done anything so terrible today? And don’t say he’s 
egotistical. He’s Steldor. You’ve known that about him for 
years.”
 “I suppose he really hasn’t behaved too badly,” I said, a bit 
more petulantly than I had intended. “If it will make the day 
more pleasant for you, I’ll try to assume his intentions are for 
the best.”
 “See that you do.”
 Steldor was the first to return, strutting along in front of 
Temerson and Tadark, who were carrying wine f lasks and 
goblets.
 “I propose that we go for a stroll along the riverbank before 
we dine,” he said, his manner once again authoritative and, 
to me at least, grating.
 “I think we should eat first,” I disagreed, in blatant disregard 
of the promise I had just made to my sister.
 “If we walk now, we will build up an appetite.”
 “I am hungry already. If we walk, I may faint.”
 Steldor seemed to know what I was doing, and his amused 
visage only rankled me more. Unable to abide my obduracy, 
Miranna took control, rising to her feet to accompany him. 
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She gave me a chilling look that told me to yield, and I exhaled 
in resignation.
 “On second thought, a walk sounds lovely,” I managed, 
though my tone was insincere.
 I stood and gripped Miranna’s hand, pulling her next to me 
so I would not be forced to stroll alongside Steldor.
 The two military officers joined us without delay, Tadark’s 
duty and Steldor’s pride not allowing either of them to let us 
get far ahead. Temerson trailed the four of us, too daunted by 
the company he was keeping to walk in step with us.
 The ground sloped gently toward the Recorah, f latten-
ing as it reached the river’s bank, thus permitting us to walk 
within a few feet of the racing water. Here, where the Recorah 
changed course, no longer f lowing south but curving toward 
the western hills in the distance, its wide expanse narrowed, 
increasing the speed of its f low and creating a white froth 
against the far bank. The one bridge that spanned the river to 
permit entry into our kingdom was several miles to our west 
and was heavily guarded by Hytanican soldiers. Even though 
the threat from Cokyri that had been felt after the High Priest-
ess’s capture had seemingly abated, my father and Cannan had 
not relaxed their vigilance, and patrols continued to monitor 
Hytanica’s borders while sentries kept twenty-four-hour watch 
over the bridge.
 Miranna and I followed the bend in the river, talking softly. 
Steldor attempted to slide in next to me, but I was walking 
close to the water’s edge with Miranna planted on my other 
side so he had no way to position himself. He chose not to try 
again, which might have cast him in a foolish light, instead 
drifted over to Tadark, with whom he began to talk just loudly 
enough for us to hear.
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 “So, you’ve become Alera’s new bodyguard, have you?” he 
asked, a sly connotation to his words that I did not like.
 “I have, indeed,” Tadark replied proudly.
 “Here’s hoping you prove better than the last one.”
 “I most definitely am better!” Tadark squeaked. “London 
was not a good bodyguard. He couldn’t keep track of Alera 
for a minute. I don’t know how he came to be a member of 
the Elite Guard. He clearly wasn’t fit to handle such important 
responsibilities.”
 “I agree,” Steldor said with mock indignation. “I was never 
much impressed with him, unlike my father. The captain was 
in such an uproar when we learned that London was the trai-
tor. Personally, I don’t understand why no one saw it coming. 
He’s always been a renegade.”
 “I saw it coming!” Tadark exclaimed, sounding like an 
excited five-year-old. “I knew there was something suspicious 
about him from the very first moment I met him. I never 
quite trusted him, for his mind was often elsewhere, as if the 
Princess were not his first priority.”
 Unable to suffer more, I opened my mouth to defend 
London, but Miranna’s soothing voice cut me off.
 “Just ignore them,” she advised. “They don’t know what 
they’re talking about. Besides, Steldor is doing this on purpose. 
He wants to needle you. Don’t give him the satisfaction of 
knowing he has succeeded.”
 With some effort, I regained my composure, recognizing 
that my sister had spoken wisely. Steldor and Tadark continued 
to talk, but I did my best to shut them out, for their words hurt 
me and only increased my disliking for the captain’s son.
 We circled around and returned to our picnic site, the bas-
kets waiting for us upon the quilt. As Tadark withdrew toward 
the buggy, Temerson finally came to join the rest of us and we 
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sat down to unpack the provisions. Our picnic fare of hearty 
breads, cheeses, cold soup, fruit and wine looked delicious, but 
Steldor’s presence had once again robbed me of my appetite. 
Even so, I was thankful we were eating as it brought all talk 
to an end.
 As the meal drew to a close, Miranna turned to Temerson 
with a sweet smile.
 “Would you go with me to the river? I would like to rinse 
my hands in the water.”
 Temerson nodded, his eyes growing large at having received 
such a request. Then he stood to accompany her, leaving me 
alone with my escort.
 I thought there would be a very long, very tense silence, 
but Steldor had other plans. He sidled over to me and, plac-
ing one hand about my waist, swept me into his arms. I tried 
to resist, but he was strong and assured in his actions, and his 
intoxicating scent addled my brain.
 “Don’t be afraid of me, Alera,” he murmured. “I appreci-
ate a little spirit in a woman.” As his lips brushed my cheek, 
he continued, “At least this time we have a bodyguard who 
won’t interfere.”
 “What do you mean by that?” I snapped, leaning away from 
him, his reference to London jarring me to my senses.
 “The last time we had a chance to be alone, London inter-
rupted us, citing some emergency in the palace.”
 He was now whisking over my shoulders the strands of hair 
that had escaped my braid, lightly caressing my neck with his 
fingers.
 “I would deem rescuing me from your unwanted advances 
to be an emergency,” I said, pushing against him.
 Steldor froze. I was certain no one had ever before so much 
as intimated that his advances might be unwanted, and I had 
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just told him outright that I had no desire to be close to him 
at all. I could almost feel the heat rising inside of him as he 
got to his feet, knocking me off balance so that I tumbled 
uncomfortably onto my side.
 “Here I am, alone with you, as affectionate and charming 
as anyone could ever be, and you want none of it!” His voice 
had lost its honeyed quality, sounding lower, rougher. “There 
are countless young women in Hytanica who would, without 
hesitation, give everything they have to win the attention I 
freely give to you, Alera.”
 After giving the picnic basket a swift kick, he stormed off 
to the river’s edge, where Miranna and Temerson were sit-
ting side by side on a rock outcropping. Miranna had finally 
encouraged some conversation from the timid young man, but 
as the field commander approached, Temerson fell silent.
 Steldor situated himself close to my sister, unsheathing his 
dagger and placing one foot upon a boulder. I was too far away 
to hear him, but his body language as he f lipped the knife 
back and forth between his hands, as well as the way Miranna 
was blushing, told me enough about what he was doing. With 
every giggle he elicited from her, my dislike for the Captain 
of the Guard’s son grew stronger. I was positive Steldor was 
trif ling with Miranna in an attempt to make me jealous, but 
while I was feeling many things at that moment, jealousy was 
not in the mix.
 Steldor’s f lirtations continued for many minutes, until 
Miranna glanced over toward me and understood what his 
motivations truly were. She abruptly stood and pointed over 
his shoulder.
 “Look, an apple tree!” she exclaimed.
 Steldor seemed taken aback that my sister would have the 
presence of mind to notice an apple tree while under his spell. 
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Then he shrugged and pivoted to face in the direction she 
was indicating, presumably deciding that she was too young 
to know how to respond to a show of interest from someone 
as attractive as he.
 “Alera!” Miranna called. “Come pick apples with me!”
 My sister walked toward me, followed by Temerson and 
Steldor, who had returned his dagger to its sheath. Steldor 
stopped beside me, wearing a smug expression, confident that 
his attempts to make me jealous had succeeded.
 “Yes, Alera, come pick apples with us.”
 I motioned to Miranna and Temerson to go on ahead, and 
turned to the suitor of my father’s choosing.
 “Perhaps you and Tadark should ready the horses for our 
departure,” I suggested.
 “Oh, hoping to leave so soon?” he asked. “The King won’t 
look for our return until late afternoon. We really shouldn’t 
disappoint him.” He moved closer, his eyes locked on mine.
 “The horses do need tending, though,” I repeated, ner-
vously giving ground as he advanced. “You and Tadark should 
lead them to the river for some water.”
 For a moment, I feared he was going to seize hold of me, 
and my pulse quickened in recognition of how easy it would 
be for him to assert his will. Then he stepped past, the glint 
in his eyes revealing he had once again achieved his intended 
effect.
 “As you wish,” he said f lippantly over his shoulder. “Tadark 
and I will water the horses.”
 He strode toward my befuddled bodyguard and gave him 
a push in the direction of the buggy.
 Shaken, I trailed after Miranna and Temerson, knowing I 
should not oppose Steldor so boldly, for women in Hytanica 
were expected to obey the men in their lives without question, 
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or suffer the consequences. While Steldor was not yet my 
husband, he had my father’s ear, and I did not doubt that the 
King would permit him latitude in dealing with me.
 As I crested a small hill, I was pleased to find that there 
were, in fact, several apple trees. My sister was standing be-
neath one of them as I approached, staring up into its branches. 
Just as I began to wonder where Temerson was, I heard a snap 
and a startled yelp from high up in the tree. Miranna’s mouth 
opened in alarm as the young man fell from above, landing 
right on top of her. They tumbled to the ground, then Tem-
erson scrambled quickly to his feet.
 “Are you h-hurt?” he asked her as I rushed forward, his 
face turning scarlet with embarrassment.
 “No, no, I’m fine,” my sister reassured him, but she winced 
as she shifted her body and had not yet attempted to stand.
 “Well, c-can I get you anything?”
 “A sip of water might be helpful,” Miranna replied.
 “Are you sure you’re not hurt?” I asked after the young 
man had gone, afraid she might be downplaying her injuries 
so as not to worry anyone.
 “Yes, I’m all right, really,” she maintained. “Just a little 
stiff.”
 “What was Temerson doing in that tree?”
 “He was trying to get that big apple for me—the ripe red 
one on that upper branch—and he fell. Just help me up. I don’t 
want to be a burden to anyone.”
 I reached for her hand and had her halfway to her feet when 
she cried out in pain and fell back again.
 “What’s wrong?” I asked. “Where are you hurt?”
 “I—I don’t know,” she said, as though every word cost her 
dearly. “I can’t breathe.”
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 “I’m calling for help.” Turning to face the buggy, I shouted, 
“Tadark!”
 The Elite Guard was at my side in an instant, accompanied 
by Steldor, who had likewise heard my urgent call.
 “What’s wrong?” Steldor said worriedly, as though I had 
called for him and not my bodyguard.
 I set my eyes on Tadark as I explained, “Miranna is hurt—we 
must return to the palace with haste.”
 “I’ve seen something like this before,” Tadark said, looking 
at Steldor.
 “Are you that desperate to get away from me, Alera?” There 
was a definite edge to Steldor’s voice, and it was clear he had 
heard of the attack Miranna had faked in the library, which 
no doubt had generated talk among the guards.
 I, in turn, was furious. “Though this may come as a revela-
tion, not everything is about you, Steldor! My sister is hurt, 
and I demand that you transport us back to the palace.”
 Miranna’s ragged breathing had become more regular, 
and Steldor interpreted this to mean she had grown tired of 
pretending.
 “See,” he said, motioning to her where she lay on the 
ground with her eyes shut. “Her condition has improved. 
The game is up, Alera. Your little tricks will not work on me. 
We will not return to the palace until the appointed hour.”
 “Fine! I will take the buggy and bring her back myself. But 
I would start inventing excuses, Steldor, because you’re going 
to need something spectacular to explain this to my father!”
 I bent down beside Miranna with my back to my bodyguard 
and my escort. “Try again to stand and I will help you to the 
buggy.”
 I guided her into a sitting position, although she gasped 
with the effort. As she attempted to rise, a sharp cry escaped 
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her lips and she collapsed, fainting from the pain. I barely 
managed to put my arm under her back and catch her, thus 
saving her from another collision with the ground.
 After easing her down, I glared at the men with whom I was 
growing ever more enraged, willing them to do something. 
At last Steldor knelt beside my sister’s limp form and pressed 
a hand against her ashen cheek.
 “Her skin does feel clammy,” he acknowledged, his forehead 
at last furrowed with worry.
 “What do we do?” Tadark asked, shifting his weight from 
foot to foot as if he wanted to run somewhere, but was un-
certain in which direction to f lee.
 “Gather whatever you can in the next few minutes and pack 
it into the buggy,” Steldor commanded, then turned to me. 
“How was she injured?”
 “She fell,” I lied, hoping to save Temerson from Steldor’s 
wrath. Fortunately, he did not press me further.
 “Go to the buggy,” he directed. “I can carry Miranna.”
 I watched as Steldor lifted my sister, then he and I strode 
after Tadark. Temerson was standing beside the picnic quilt, 
holding the cup of water he had retrieved, shock upon his face 
as he watched the field commander bearing the incapacitated 
princess.
 I stopped Steldor as he was about to try to position Miranna 
upright in the back of the buggy.
 “Don’t! She needs to lie down.” I hurried to tug the quilt 
out from under the remaining picnic items, then carried it to 
where Steldor stood with my sister in his arms, moving past 
him to fold the quilt and provide Miranna with a pillow.
 “There isn’t going to be enough space for the rest of us,” 
Steldor pointed out.
 “I can kneel on the f loor and watch over her.”
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 Steldor frowned, then laid Miranna down.
 “You will ride up front with me. Temerson can kneel and 
tend to Miranna. The f loor is no place for a lady, and I fear 
you would tumble from the buggy. One injured princess is 
quite enough.”
 He called to Temerson to take up his place and assisted me 
onto the front bench seat.
 “Abandon anything that cannot be transported with you 
on your horse,” he told Tadark as he climbed up beside me. 
With a snap of the reins, he sent the horses off at a gallop, and I 
silently prayed that Miranna had not suffered serious harm.
 The enormous stone walls surrounding the city looked 
forbidding and cold against the steadily darkening sky as we 
neared our destination, and the first rumble of thunder reached 
our ears as Steldor pulled the horses down to a trot. The heavy 
gates of iron that controlled access to the city were raised at 
this hour of the day, and though we passed unhindered be-
neath their spikes, the City Guards on either side regarded us 
quizzically, having witnessed our reckless return.
 We continued down the thoroughfare toward the palace 
at a slow but steady trot, for it was market day again and the 
streets were packed with people. Steldor halted before the 
gates to the courtyard, and he and Temerson leapt from the 
buggy. As the captain’s son lifted me to the ground, he barked 
an order to the worried young man.
 “Run ahead and tell the Palace Guards to summon the 
doctor. I will bring Miranna to her quarters.”
 I went to my sister, laying a hand upon her damp forehead, 
meeting her agonized blue eyes.
 “We’ll have you in your bedroom in a few minutes,” I 
murmured.
 She gave a slight nod, but did not otherwise respond. Steldor 
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brushed me aside and scooped her into his arms, then pro-
ceeded through the courtyard gates and up the hedge-lined 
pathway that led to the palace. By this time, Tadark had ar-
rived, and he and I followed behind. As we approached the 
entry, I could see Palace Guards holding the double doors 
open for us.
 “This way,” I said, moving past Steldor as we stepped into 
the entryway, leading him up the Grand Staircase and on to 
Miranna’s quarters. I opened the door into her parlor, and 
we went straight through to her bedroom, where he ducked 
beneath the pastel ribbons that streamed from the canopy over 
her bed to lay her down.
 “I’ll wait in the parlor,” he said, glancing uncomfortably 
about at the frilly and feminine decor.
 The Royal Physician arrived a short time later, along with 
my mother. Temerson, f lushed and frightened, followed 
behind them, but he remained in the parlor with Steldor and 
Tadark.
 As Bhadran examined Miranna, he asked me to explain 
how she had been hurt.
 “She tripped and fell as we were gathering apples,” I said, 
attempting to make eye contact with my sister. I hoped she 
was alert enough to understand what I was doing.
 The man who had treated every injury and illness we had 
suffered throughout our lives looked skeptically at me, but did 
not comment, and I exited the room, for Miranna was now 
in qualified hands.
 As soon as I joined the others in the parlor, Temerson turned 
his terrified eyes upon me, and I was filled with sympathy. 
He had never before escorted a princess, likely felt at fault for 
causing her some irreparable injury and was anticipating that 
Steldor and perhaps the entire royal family would be furious 
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with him. I admired him for the simple fact that he had not 
f led. I smiled kindly at him, but then addressed Steldor, who 
was likewise worried, although whether about Miranna or his 
own skin, I could not tell.
 “Thank you for your assistance,” I said, as rain began to 
patter against the window. Unable to help myself, I added, 
“It would appear our picnic was ill-fated for a number of 
reasons.”
 He studied me carefully, no doubt trying to ascertain 
whether or not I would tell my father that he had delayed our 
return to the palace by questioning our honesty, but he did 
not make the inquiry.
 “How is she?” he asked instead.
 “The doctor has not yet determined the nature of her 
injury, but she is awake and some rosiness has returned to her 
cheeks.”
 “Tell me again how she came to harm,” he said, dissatisfied 
with my earlier explanation.
 “She tripped and fell. She must have landed on top of some-
thing, perhaps a stone or a branch.”
 Steldor looked askance at me, then whirled on Temerson. 
“You were with her. Is that how she was hurt?” The color 
drained from the young man’s face, and I deftly intercepted 
the question.
 “The injury is what it is. It is not really relevant how it was 
inf licted.”
 Just then Halias rushed through the door, his hair falling 
loosely about his shoulders rather than pulled back in its cus-
tomary manner.
 “What is going on?” he demanded. “Is Miranna safe?”
 “She fell and was injured,” I told him. “Bhadran and my 
mother are with her.”
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 “This is the last time she goes anywhere without me by her 
side,” he declared with a reproving look at Tadark. “She does 
not come to harm when I am there to protect her.”
 Tadark glared at him. Before he could reply, however, 
the bedroom door opened, and my mother glided into our 
midst.
 “Our physician has given Miranna something to relieve 
the pain, and she is sleeping now,” she informed us in her 
genteel manner. “She has bruised or broken several ribs, but 
will recover.” She smiled gratefully at Steldor and Temerson. 
“Thank you for bringing her back to the palace so quickly, 
and for your kind ministrations.”
 Although my mother’s voice was gentle, they understood 
that they were being dismissed. They bowed and turned to 
leave.
 “Temerson, a moment,” I called. As both he and Steldor 
hesitated, I said, “I only need a word with Temerson. You are 
free to go.”
 Steldor looked irked but departed nonetheless.
 I approached the fidgety youth and quietly explained, 
“Miranna’s injury was an accident, and I will not put you in 
a position of blame. As she and I remember it, she fell.”
 His cheeks dimpled into their first smile of the day, then 
he bowed and left the room.

 Later that afternoon, after I had returned to my parlor and 
Tadark had resumed his duties as my bodyguard, I informed 
him that I wanted to speak with him, and he entered my 
quarters.
 “I believe the King would be desirous to know of the poor 
judgment you exercised earlier today,” I informed him, a devi-
ous twinkle in my eyes.
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 Tadark’s posture became more rigid, but he remained mute.
 “Perhaps you are not fit to handle such important responsi-
bilities,” I continued, maliciously repeating his earlier criticism 
of London.
 His sullen expression told me that he realized his assignment 
as a bodyguard might be in jeopardy.
 “Relax,” I said, savoring the power I now wielded over him. 
“If you don’t cause me trouble, I won’t cause you trouble. Do 
you understand?”
 He stared at me, brown eyes wide with indignation, hating 
the fact that I had acquired some leverage over him.
 “That is all. You are dismissed.”
 As he departed, I turned and walked into my bedroom, 
feeling that my day had just improved immensely.
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ONE WEEK LATER, MY MOTHER CALLED MIRANNA 
and me to the Queen’s Drawing Room. This was the room 
in which she received visitors, met with household staff and 
planned all of Hytanica’s royal functions. I could not anticipate 
what she wanted from us, as we were rarely needed when she 
was meeting with visitors or staff, and I did not know of any 
upcoming events that would require the personal touch of the 
Queen and her daughters.
 Miranna and I were not forced to wait before entering our 
mother’s drawing room as we were when going to see our 
father in the Hall of Kings, so we simply walked through the 
doorway. The drawing room was similar in size to our parlors, 
with two small cream brocade sofas and several rose velvet 
armchairs grouped together on the right beside a wide bay 
window. An abundance of fresh-cut f lowers stood in vases on 
the tables and in large pots on the f loor to create a fragrant 
and heady ambiance.
 “Oh, good,” our mother said pleasantly as we entered. She 
was sitting at a desk to our left, fussing with some correspon-
dence. “We have many things of which to speak.”
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 She came to her feet to guide us to the seating area, settling 
on one of the sofas. Miranna gingerly sat down next to her, 
while I chose an adjacent armchair.
 “How are you feeling today?” Mother asked, helping 
Miranna to get settled upon the cushions.
 Miranna shrugged, wincing in pain. “I’m feeling better, 
but not as well as I would like.”
 “I’m sorry, dear, but I still can’t see how you managed to 
injure your ribs in this way just by tripping.”
 A sly look passed between my sister and me, for we had 
agreed we would not tell anyone the true story of her injury, 
lest we condemn Temerson to some horrible fate that he did 
not deserve.
 Remembering something, our mother stood, then moved 
to retrieve a bouquet of long-stemmed yellow roses from her 
desk.
 “These are for you, dear. Lord Steldor stopped by earlier to 
ask after you and left these to brighten your day.” She handed 
the f lowers to Miranna before training her clear blue eyes 
upon me. “And how is the courtship proceeding?”
 At my averted gaze, she gave a gentle reminder: “Disagree-
able women rarely make desirable wives…or queens.”
 I glanced contritely at her, for she and Steldor must have 
conferred about the attitude I had adopted toward him at the 
picnic, but internally I seethed at his presumptuous attempt 
to use my mother to his advantage.
 “If one gives in to fate, life can become much more pleasur-
able,” she added in her lyrical voice. “Removing the thorns 
from a rose does not change the nature of the f lower, but it 
does permit one to more easily enjoy its scent.”
 I nodded once, acknowledging her subtle advice, wondering 
if Steldor had also spoken with my father. If he had, the King 

9780373210343_TS.indd   1759780373210343_TS.indd   175 2/4/11   9:31:07 AM2/4/11   9:31:07 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver176

would make his opinion known in a far less tactful way, and 
his disappointment with me would deepen.
 “There is another reason I called you here today,” Mother 
continued, satisfied with my acceptance of her criticism. “Your 
father and I have decided to host a gathering in honor of Baron 
Koranis and Baroness Alantonya, in celebration of the return 
of their son, Lord Kyenn. Since you are to be Queen, Alera, 
I want you to make the arrangements, although I will review 
everything before it is finalized. Miranna, of course, may assist 
you.”
 While I had known that upon becoming Queen, I would 
have to take on all of the responsibilities that my mother car-
ried, I had not expected them to be given to me in such an 
abrupt fashion. Suddenly, despite all my schooling, I did not 
know where to begin in planning this affair, and I was glad 
that I would have my sister’s help.
 “The event is scheduled for the third week in August, which 
gives you just under a month to make the necessary prepara-
tions,” Mother said, smoothing her upswept golden hair. “The 
most pressing item is writing up a guest list and sending out 
the invitations, as they ought to be delivered by the end of 
the week.”
 “Who is to be invited?” I harbored hope that she would 
have some list of names prepared to show us, but she did 
not.
 “That is for you to establish. Keep in mind that this cel-
ebration is to introduce Kyenn to the Hytanican aristocracy, 
so everyone of noble birth should be included. He has been 
adjusting remarkably well to Hytanican life so far—Cannan 
returned him to his family last week, and everything is going 
favorably. This is the final step to restoring him to the life into 
which he was born.”
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 My mother continued her instructions, detailing what 
needed to be done and by when. I felt that arranging this 
event was a blessing in disguise. As I had said to Miranna 
earlier, marrying the captain’s son was, for me, out of the 
realm of possibility. This celebration presented the ideal op-
portunity to seriously seek another suitor, one of whom my 
father would approve, and with whom I could at least have a 
civil exchange. Although Steldor would be in attendance, as 
Cannan and Faramay were a given on the guest list, I hoped 
that in a gathering of over six hundred nobles, I would be able 
to avoid him altogether.
 Miranna and I were extremely busy during the next few 
weeks, and I found myself attending to the smallest of details. 
My father had made no attempt to talk with me about the 
picnic, and I thought perhaps neither Steldor nor my mother 
had discussed the outing with him. I even dared to believe 
that a well-executed palace function would redeem me in his 
eyes.
 This event would not include a formal dinner, but all the 
same, refreshments were a necessity. Accommodations also 
had to be arranged for guests traveling long distances, some of 
whom would be staying in the palace, while others would be 
placed in guesthouses within the city. Koranis and his family 
would not be among those staying in our third-f loor rooms, 
however, as the Baron owned not only a country estate, but 
also a house within the city proper.
 It also fell to me to ensure a thorough cleaning of the palace, 
and servants could be seen at all hours sweeping f loors, whisk-
ing away cobwebs from corners, polishing serving dishes and 
readying a large number of oil lamps, torches and candles.
 From my point of view, the most tedious task was the design 
and fitting of the gown I would wear to the gala. Miranna 
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loved choosing new fabrics and styles for her clothing, but I 
did not have much interest in fashion and viewed it as a rather 
tiresome process.
 Our finished dresses naturally ref lected our different per-
sonalities. My gown was fitted through the bust and waist, 
f laring out into a full skirt. The sleeves echoed the cut of the 
dress—fitted above the elbows, then falling liberally over the 
wrists. Made of crushed silk in a light wine color, it was simple 
but pleasing to the eye. Miranna’s gown, on the other hand, 
was fun and f lirty. It was made of silk in a shimmering mint-
green that f lowed loosely to the f loor. Its empire waist was 
accented with colorful ribbons that hung freely and rippled 
when she moved.
 On the evening of the event, once Miranna and I were 
groomed and attired, we made our way to the Dignitary’s 
Room, where we would wait to make our entrance into the 
ballroom. As we walked, a swirling sensation pervaded my 
stomach—I had organized this affair and planned every aspect 
of the evening, and if the event did not go well, my father’s 
assessment that I was an “unpromising Queen” would be 
confirmed.
 Halias knocked on the door of the Dignitary’s Room, and 
when it was opened from the inside by a palace aide, I could 
see that Koranis and his family had already arrived. As the 
guests of honor, they would walk behind the royal family 
when we made our entrance. Miranna and I stepped inside, 
but Tadark and Halias departed, for they would patrol among 
the gathering guests, alert for signs of trouble.
 “All rise for Lady Alera and Lady Miranna, Princesses of 
Hytanica,” proclaimed the aide, announcing us to the Baron 
and his family.
 Baroness Alantonya and her daughters came to their feet 
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from where they had been sitting on the sofa across the room 
from us. The Baroness was attired in a turquoise brocade gown 
that had the effect of shading her blue eyes toward green, and 
her white-blond hair was pulled up off her shoulders. Semari’s 
beautiful pale gold dress was similar in design to her mother’s, 
but was cut more simply as befitting a girl of fourteen. Her 
younger sisters, Charisa, twelve, and Adalan, ten, wore simple 
blue frocks, their ash-blond hair falling halfway down their 
backs.
 Baron Koranis stood to the right just behind the three steps 
that led up to the double doors that would be opened when it 
was time to enter the ballroom. One heavily ringed hand hung 
by his side, and the other held the inside edge of his ostenta-
tious cream-colored dress coat, the sleeves and sides of which 
were decorated with elaborate gold embroidery. Nine-year-old 
Zayle, as blond as the rest of his family, had sprung up from 
his sitting position on the edge of the platform in the far left 
corner, upon which were placed a pair of massive armchairs.
 Narian stood on the opposite side of the room from his 
father, facing us with arms crossed over his chest, shoulder 
resting against the wall, an occasional shift in his stance sug-
gesting he was discontented with his circumstances. He was 
handsomely clad in a fitted dark gold coat that fastened off to 
one side rather than down the center as were Hytanican gar-
ments, suggesting he had dictated the design himself. Only 
the state of his well-worn boots seemed out of character with 
the rest of his attire. Made of leather with a deep cuff below 
the knee, they had a higher heel and thicker sole than were 
typical of the boots worn by Hytanican men.
 While I knew Narian’s identity had been confirmed by the 
mark he bore upon his neck, the blue of his eyes, along with 
his straight nose and strong jawline, also offered proof that he 
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was the Baron’s son. His thick and untidy hair connected him 
to the Baron as well, but only by its golden color, for Koranis’s 
hairline was receding and every inch of him was fastidiously 
groomed.
 Alantonya and her daughters curtseyed before us, while 
Zayle gave a slight, but very endearing, bow. Narian stepped 
away from the wall to bow as his father did, bent at the waist 
with head lowered in respect.
 “Your Highnesses,” Koranis said, walking forward to greet 
us. “Allow me to introduce my son, Lord Kyenn.”
 He held his hand out toward Narian to invite him over, but 
the young man did not move, looking as if he were choosing 
whether or not he would comply. Just as we all began to feel 
self-conscious, he came to meet us.
 “Pardon my father,” he said, inclining his head, his keen 
eyes momentarily obscured by his thick hair, “but my name 
is Narian.”
 Koranis’s focus shifted to his son, while Alantonya, who was 
just behind her husband, put her hand over her heart as though 
the one thing she had been dreading had just occurred.
 “I’m not under your roof,” Narian added, meeting his fa-
ther’s harsh gaze. His voice contained no trace of disrespect, 
sounding instead as though he were stating fact.
 The silence that followed was unsettling for everyone except 
Narian, who was unperturbed despite the affronted look on 
Koranis’s face. It was Semari who broke the awkward hush, 
stepping around the Baron.
 “Your gowns are gorgeous this evening. Are they new?”
 We began to converse, the rather peculiar exchange we 
had witnessed between father and son forgotten. A few min-
utes later, Koranis, having regained his tongue and his poise, 
approached Narian, who had resumed his stance against the 

9780373210343_TS.indd   1809780373210343_TS.indd   180 2/4/11   9:31:07 AM2/4/11   9:31:07 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



181

wall. As Miranna and Semari were now talking primarily to 
each other, I was able to overhear the Baron’s words.
 “This event is in celebration of your return to Hytanica,” 
Koranis stated in an unassailable tone. “Therefore, it will be 
your Hytanican name that is used tonight, and to which you 
will respond.”
 Narian met his father’s gaze, neither acquiescence nor ob-
jection upon his lips, and my attention was drawn to his deep 
blue eyes. Piercing, yet guarded, they lacked the childish light 
everything else about him suggested should be there. While he 
was lean and obviously strong, his body had not yet matured 
into the well-muscled physique of Steldor or any of the body-
guards protecting my sister and me. Koranis overshadowed 
his son, standing several inches taller and weighing half as 
much again. If not for those intense eyes and his inscrutable 
expression, Narian would have passed for a normal Hytanican 
youth, not yet fully grown, enjoying carefree days with his 
friends and creating worry lines upon his parents’ faces.
 The King and Queen, wearing robes of royal-blue that 
were banded and stitched in gold, joined us shortly thereafter. 
They were accompanied by Cannan and their personal guards, 
although the latter took up posts in the corridor. Lanek pre-
ceded them into the room to make his usual introduction.
 “All rise—” he paused as he realized everyone was already 
on their feet “—for His Highness, King Adrik of Hytanica, 
and his Queen, the Lady Elissia.”
 Once more Alantonya and her daughters, as well as Miranna 
and I, curtseyed, while Koranis and his sons bowed. Just as he 
had upon my arrival with my sister, the Baron stepped forward 
and addressed my parents.
 “Your Majesty, My Queen. It is my pleasure to introduce 
to you my son, Lord Kyenn.”
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 He said the name with an emphasis that was lost on my 
parents and followed it with a warning look in Narian’s direc-
tion. Narian came away from the wall to bow his head to the 
King and Queen.
 “Your Highnesses,” he murmured as he came before them. 
Though he had seemed insolent to me moments before, he 
now sounded awed by the grand company among whom he 
stood.
 “It is delightful to finally meet you under such amicable 
circumstances. I am afraid our previous encounters were a bit 
less civil,” my father said with his typical cheeriness, and the 
slight rise in Narian’s eyebrows implied that the King’s jovial 
nature had not been made known on the other occasions when 
they had met.
 “Indeed, Your Majesty, I am honored you feel that way,” 
Narian replied, his words and manner befitting a gentleman. 
There was not a trace of his earlier attitude toward his father, 
and I was unsettled by his chameleonlike ability to adjust his 
personality to his interlocutor.
 My father’s smile broadened, showing that he was favorably 
impressed by the young man’s comportment. Most Hytanicans 
viewed Cokyrians as ruthless thieves and murderers; therefore, 
a boy who had grown up among them was not expected to 
have such a respectful manner. While my father did not easily 
succumb to closed-minded notions, I knew some part of him 
believed Cokyrians to be so insufferable that even he expected 
less of Narian because of where he had been raised.
 I did not share these prejudices, perhaps because I knew 
very little of Cokyri and the horrors of the war, but still I was 
perplexed by Koranis’s son. While we knew nothing of his 
upbringing, his pattern of speech and impeccable manners pro-
vided proof that he had been well bred, and yet his demeanor 
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suggested a harsher childhood. I glanced at Cannan, whose 
dark eyes seemed to be taking stock of Narian, and realized 
he, too, was struggling to figure out the mysterious boy.
 Lanek departed, as it would be his role to inform the King 
when all of the guests had arrived, and my father and mother 
took up their seats on the raised platform in the corner of 
the room, conversing with the Baron and Baroness. Semari, 
Miranna and I resumed our small talk while the younger chil-
dren claimed the sofa. Cannan stayed by the door, his interest 
held by Narian, who once more stood with a shoulder against 
the wall.
 I wanted to ask Semari about her older brother just as I 
had that day in the marketplace. Had anything changed now 
that he was actually living with them? Had he spoken further 
about his past? But I refrained, as to do so might seem rude, 
especially with Narian nearby.
 After about half an hour, Lanek returned, and the aide who 
granted him entry swung the door fully open so that the Elite 
Guards in the corridor could follow after us when it came time 
to enter the Royal Ballroom.
 “Sire, the nobility have arrived and await your pleasure,” 
Lanek reported with a deep bow.
 “Very well,” my father said, rising to his feet. He motioned 
toward the doors across the room from him as he added, “It 
is time to greet our guests.”
 My mother stood, and after smoothing her gown and her 
hair, linked arms with my father as she always did when 
they made public appearances. They stepped down from the 
platform and crossed the room, while Cannan pushed open 
the doors that led into the ballroom and proceeded through 
them to make way for Lanek. The stocky, small-statured man 
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marched up the steps onto the stagelike platform and took a 
deep breath.
 “All hail the King, King Adrik of Hytanica, and his Queen, 
the Lady Elissia,” he boomed, and hundreds of eyes turned 
toward us and then were lowered in respect, as those gathered 
bowed or curtseyed to their sovereign.
 My parents stepped forward and Miranna and I followed, 
moving to stand beside our mother. We would not be receiv-
ing a formal introduction as had the King and Queen, for the 
event was not in our honor, but all the same, the people were 
showing respect to us as well.
 “Welcome,” my father proclaimed, starting his introduction 
as he always did. “On this occasion, we honor a family that 
has, for many years, served this kingdom well, and in so doing 
has earned my friendship as well as that of my queen and our 
daughters. I present to you the Baron Koranis and his wife, 
the Baroness Alantonya, their daughters, Lady Semari, Lady 
Charisa and Lady Adalan, their youngest son, Lord Zayle, and 
the young man whose startling return has provided the im-
petus for this gathering—their oldest son and firstborn child, 
Lord Kyenn.”
 Koranis and his family stepped forward on my father’s right 
as they were introduced, and the guests gave a vigorous round 
of applause at the end of the King’s speech.
 Cannan led my parents down the set of stairs on the ball-
room side of the stage and the rest of us followed, the guards 
who protected the King and Queen bringing up the rear. A 
seating area with two thrones had been readied to the right of 
the platform, and my parents would spend most of the evening 
there, greeting guests and speaking to those who sought an 
audience with them. Ornate chairs had been set in the same 
area for Miranna and me, though we were unlikely to use 
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them. While my father would no doubt expect me to wait 
for Steldor, I was set on avoiding the young man who had 
permission to court me, intending to mingle with the crowd 
in an earnest effort to find a different suitor. Narian and his 
family would also move among the aristocracy, making less 
formal introductions and engaging in small talk, although the 
younger children would run off to find their friends.
 Tonight the ballroom was arranged so that two long re-
freshment tables lined its sides, with the area in the middle 
occupied in part by a dance f loor. The remaining space was 
left open, providing an area for people to meet and chat. As 
the purpose of the gathering was to welcome Narian into 
Hytanican society, the colors that dominated the decor in the 
room were Hytanica’s royal-blue and gold.
 Walking with Miranna through the vast hall, I scoured the 
crowd for what my sister kept referring to as “a good catch.” 
It wasn’t long before young men were coming up to me ev-
erywhere I turned, having taken my glance in their direction 
as an invitation to approach. While I needed to find a suitor 
other than Steldor who would be acceptable to my father, I 
soon tired of the monotonous interactions. Every gentleman to 
whom I spoke had apparently been taught to greet me in the 
same way: “Good evening, Princess Alera. You look beautiful 
tonight…. And what lovely weather we are having.”
 Even Miranna, who was far more boy-obsessed than I, was 
growing weary of these clumsy f lirtations. She seized the op-
portunity to escape the boredom when she spotted someone 
she knew across the room close to one of the refreshment 
tables.
 “Oh, look!” she exclaimed, taking my hand in hers and tug-
ging at it. “There’s Temerson! I must go speak with him.”
 After pinching her cheeks to raise their color and f luffing 
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her curly hair, she sashayed toward the bashful sixteen-year-
old. As she approached, his eyes widened in panic, and I won-
dered if he knew he was fast becoming her favored escort.
 Unfortunately for me, my sister’s departure meant that I 
would now have to brave the guests on my own. I moved 
toward my parents, desiring a break from the males swarm-
ing around me, noticing Steldor halfway across the room as I 
did so. Galen was, of course, at his side, and the two friends 
were surrounded by a group of girls who were giggling and 
blushing at every utterance that came forth from their mouths. 
Although Steldor was likely toying with the affections of the 
other girls in an effort to make me jealous, I was very content 
with this tactic. I did not care with whom he f lirted as long 
as he kept his distance from me.
 I looked ahead at the large group of people surrounding 
my parents, then rethought my destination, opting instead to 
visit the dance f loor on the other side of the ballroom. While 
I had no desire to dance this evening, I appreciated the music 
and was curious as to who was courting whom.
 My eyes were on the musicians as I approached, for they 
seemed to be enjoying themselves as much as the dancers. They 
performed using a variety of instruments including mandolins, 
lutes, a dulcimer, the f lute and various types of recorders and 
drums. Depending on the instruments used, the sound ranged 
from beautiful and haunting to fast and wild.
 Standing at the edge of the dance f loor, I couldn’t help but 
smile at the absolute delight on the faces of every individual 
spinning in the arms of another. As the couples moved around 
the crowded f loor, my gaze came to rest upon Miranna and 
Temerson. They were by no means the most refined couple 
present, and at times it was difficult to tell who was leading 
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and who was following, but they were laughing and smiling 
and having more fun than anyone else I could see.
 My spirits lifted as I listened to the music and beheld the 
movement. My good mood evaporated, however, when I 
glanced behind and saw Steldor making his way toward me.
 I scanned the room for an escape route, some way I could 
f lee without making my intent to avoid him obvious. I moved 
away, hoping he did not know that I had seen him. When his 
progress was impeded by several parents keen on introducing 
him to their daughters, I hastened to the back of the ballroom, 
where the wide-open balcony doors beckoned. As I stepped 
out into the warm late-August air, I looked over my shoulder 
to confirm that Steldor’s progress was still hindered. Satisfied 
that I had eluded him, I turned, expecting to be alone. I was 
not.
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MY HEART BEGAN TO THUMP MUCH TOO FAST AS 
I saw Narian leaning back against the railing, his hands rest-
ing on either side of him on the dark wood, barely visible in 
the sudden change from the brightness of the ballroom to the 
moonlit balcony. A slight smirk curled his lips, belying his 
otherwise serious countenance.
 “I didn’t mean to startle you, Princess,” he said, straighten-
ing to give me a respectful bow, his face smooth and unread-
able now that his smile had vanished. His speech was refined, 
with a faint but pleasing accent, and his tone was rehearsed, 
as if he had been taught how to speak to people of status.
 “You are forgiven, Lord Narian,” I said, addressing him 
formally as I endeavored to regain my composure.
 Trying to mask my unease, I glided to the railing a discreet 
distance from where he stood and rested my forearms upon 
its surface. He casually moved closer to me, turning to face 
the railing and assuming a posture similar to my own.
 “Think me impudent if you will, but I must inquire as to 
what a princess is doing out here on this balcony in the middle 
of such a grand gala.”
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 I tossed my hair over my shoulders and gazed at him, drawn 
to his intense blue eyes. Unable to pull away, I stared into 
them as though I might break through the f loor if I looked 
anywhere else.
 “I have my reasons,” I answered, acutely aware of his prox-
imity. “On occasion I come out here to avoid the crowd.”
 My skin was prickling, and I felt disconcerted, although I 
could not have identified good cause for my reaction. Irritated 
at myself, I posed an inquiry of my own.
 “Now I must ask what the guest of honor is doing out here 
on this balcony with so many people inside clamoring to meet 
him?”
 “Avoiding the crowds or avoiding that dark-haired gentle-
man?”
 Narian had sidestepped my question, and I was unnerved 
by both the intrusive nature of his query and the astuteness 
of his observation. How could he have known Steldor had 
designs on me? For what purpose had Narian been watching 
me? Despite the warning now f lashing through my brain, I 
could not bring myself to move away from him, for I was as 
enticed by him as I was f lustered.
 “Lord Steldor might have something to do with it. He is the 
son of Cannan, the Captain of the Guard.” I half expected a 
reaction to the mention of the man who had arrested him, but 
there was none. “He wishes to take my hand in marriage.”
 “And you do not return his affections.” He turned toward 
me, one hand now resting on the railing.
 “No,” I admitted.
 Although I felt I had said too much already, I was compelled 
to continue by his unwavering show of interest. Here was 
someone other than London who was listening to me, rather 
than brushing me aside because I was a woman.
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 “It is what my father desires, not I. Steldor is hot-tempered 
and spoiled, and I do not see him as making a good king, 
now or in the future. But my father will see to it that Steldor 
becomes King, no matter my feelings.”
 I stopped, embarrassed that I was pouring out my deepest 
secrets to someone I barely knew, and perturbed that he had 
so easily inspired me to share such confidences. This was not 
a topic about which I readily spoke, and I had not voiced my 
opinions about Steldor and my father’s edict that we be wed 
to anyone other than London and Miranna.
 “I’m sorry,” I fumbled. “I should not be saying this to 
you.”
 “There is no need to seek my pardon. I, too, despise having 
my life laid out for me.”
 Although Narian had pinpointed my feelings with his casual 
statement, I was not about to acknowledge it.
 “If my words have implied that I am dissatisfied with my 
obligations as Crown Princess of Hytanica, I certainly meant 
no such thing,” I said.
 “I understood no such thing,” he responded with a hint 
of a smile, as though he knew what I was doing. “Duty is 
important. But at some point you have to choose whether to 
carry out your duties or live your life.”
 “And what would you know of such matters?” I pressed. 
I waited as he stared for a moment at the f lickering lights 
coming from the lanterns in the city.
 “We should go back inside,” he advised, once more disre-
garding my question. “I’m sure someone has noted the absence 
of the Crown Princess and the guest of honor.”
 I nodded, not foolish enough to be disappointed by his 
reluctance to provide answers.
 “Shall I escort you back to your parents?”
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 “Perhaps it would be best if we went in separately,” I sug-
gested, my thoughts f lying to Steldor and his temper.
 Narian, as if reading my mind, asked, “Are you afraid of 
Steldor?”
 “No!” I exclaimed, not willing to admit that the man I 
detested was the reason I dared not be seen with Narian. “I 
do not fear Steldor.”
 “Then are you fearful of what people will think?”
 “Of course not.”
 “Then it will be my honor to escort you.”
 Having no further basis for objection, I accepted his arm 
and together we walked through the balcony doors to rejoin 
the celebration.
 As soon as we entered the ballroom, my eyes connected 
with Steldor’s and I halted, knowing there would be no es-
caping this time. He had seen me move toward the balcony 
and had come looking for me, and now stood but fifteen feet 
away. I could almost feel the anger simmering inside him as 
he took note of my hand nestled in the crook of another man’s 
arm. He strode to where we stood, then put his arm around 
my waist, twisting me forcefully away from Narian.
 “I can take it from here, thank you very much.” He spat 
the words as he held me at his side.
 “Steldor, let me go!” I demanded, straining against him.
 He did not comply, instead wrapping his arm more tightly 
about me. I guessed that he’d had too much to drink this 
evening, as a gentleman with his upbringing would normally 
have had the good sense to release me.
 As practiced as he was at hiding his emotions, Narian could 
not disguise his disdain in the face of Steldor’s behavior.
 “It would seem that Princess Alera does not welcome your 
advances,” he said.

9780373210343_TS.indd   1919780373210343_TS.indd   191 2/4/11   9:31:07 AM2/4/11   9:31:07 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver192

 “And who are you to speak for the Princess?” Steldor re-
torted, pushing me behind him.
 “She spoke quite clearly for herself, though you did not 
heed her.”
 “Stay out of this, Cokyrian,” Steldor growled, his eyes dark 
with menace.
 The heads of the people around us had begun to turn, and 
the surrounding area had stilled. Pleasant banter had ceased, 
as everyone’s attention was now riveted upon Steldor and 
Narian.
 “Was that supposed to be an insult?” Narian asked, having 
taken no offense whatsoever to having been called a Cokyrian.
 “No, that was a warning.”
 “Then consider me warned.”
 Narian did not yield as Steldor stepped toward him, fists 
clenched, and I cast about for someone who could intervene 
and prevent the clash between the two young men from be-
coming more heated. I saw no one in the immediate crowd 
who would be of help, as the guests were too busy watching 
the altercation unfold to think about putting a stop to it. While 
Steldor’s friends, Galen, Barid and Devant, had joined the 
circle, they had no interest in interfering. To the contrary, their 
faces showed they were relishing the action. For the first time 
since he had become my bodyguard, I longed for Tadark, but 
then just as desperately hoped he would stay away, knowing 
he would be ineffectual at best and might make the situation 
worse.
 Narian and Steldor were now standing less than two feet 
apart, and the unsettling thought that Steldor might strike 
Narian f lashed through my brain. Steldor was almost four 
inches taller and more heavily muscled than his challenger, 
leading me to believe Narian might actually be in danger. The 
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fact that Steldor was capable of overpowering almost anyone 
in Hytanica was no comfort.
 “Steldor, that’s enough,” I implored, coming up beside him 
and grabbing his arm to no avail. “Come with me, my lord, 
and we can talk,” I persisted, now tugging on his arm to get 
his attention. “This isn’t necessary.”
 He jerked away from me, and I stumbled back in alarm.
 “What?” he scorned, nodding his head in Narian’s direc-
tion, “Your pretty boy can’t take care of himself ? He needs 
to be saved by a woman?”
 “You will not speak to the Princess in such a manner,” 
Narian interjected, authoritative in a fashion I would not have 
thought possible. “If your fight is with me, then you will ad-
dress me.”
 Steldor rounded on Narian, his rage rising to the point 
where it was almost an audible rumble.
 “Perhaps you should run off to Mama and Papa before you 
get hurt,” he taunted.
 He shoved his challenger in the chest, trying to push him 
backward, but Narian shifted his weight to absorb Steldor’s 
prod. As Narian stood his ground, Steldor’s eyes burned, and 
I knew he was dangerously close to exploding.
 “Did you hear what I said?” he demanded, jabbing Narian 
with increasing force.
 “I heard what you said, but perhaps you should be more 
concerned about your father than about mine.”
 Steldor faltered and his eyes f licked over the crowd, as if he 
worried Cannan might be among the spectators, then returned 
to rest on Narian’s face. A f lush crept up his neck, for the 
younger man had deduced one of his only vulnerabilities.
 I felt ill, knowing that Narian was too brave, or perhaps too 
foolish, for his own good. I feverishly searched the vicinity, 
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and caught sight of several guards conversing near the western 
wall. In the midst of them I saw Destari, and I willed him to 
notice my plight.
 After a moment, he glanced in my direction, then stepped 
away from the other guards to stride toward me. Tall enough 
to peer over the heads of the other guests, he assessed the situ-
ation and quickened his pace. He had no idea how anything 
had started or exactly what was taking place, but all the same, 
Steldor was involved, and everyone in the military knew of 
the youthful commander’s fiery temper.
 “I said, move!” Steldor thundered, and Narian assumed a 
fighting stance with his forearms in front of his chest and his 
left foot slightly ahead of his right. As Steldor employed his 
full weight to drive him back, Narian def lected his lunge with 
ease.
 For an instant, Steldor looked stunned, then he balled up 
his fists to strike. Fortunately, Destari stepped between the 
two of them at that moment, putting a hand on Steldor’s chest 
to restrain him.
 “This is not the place for such conduct,” he admonished in 
his deep and powerful voice.
 Steldor thrust Destari’s hand away in another attempt to 
get at Narian, but the Elite Guard gripped him firmly by the 
arm.
 “Get out of my way!” Steldor demanded, fixing Destari 
with a glare that contained all the loathing he could rally. 
Unwisely he landed one great shove upon his superior officer’s 
shoulder.
 “If you are a smart man, you will not try that again,” Destari 
warned, his black eyes glistening.
 Steldor took a step back, and as he did so, glanced past 
 Destari, whereupon I saw his resolve weaken. Though his 
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anger did not diminish, his face paled, and I followed his 
gaze to where Cannan, composed yet dangerous, stood just 
outside the circle of people surrounding us. The captain must 
have seen that trouble was brewing, and had come to deal 
with whatever the problem might be. I suspected that by the 
time he had drawn near, Destari had arrived on the scene, and 
Cannan had decided to let him handle things so Steldor did 
not have to suffer the indignity of being reprimanded by his 
father in front of all these people.
 “You need to cool off,” Destari said to Steldor through grit-
ted teeth, not raising his volume. “Go. And that’s an order.”
 With one final vindictive glower at the Elite Guard, my 
hotheaded suitor turned and, motioning to his friends to join 
him, stormed off, to where I knew not.
 I thought about Steldor’s reaction to his father, and knowing 
what I did about Cannan’s status and temperament, I could 
understand Steldor’s reluctance to cross him. Cannan was a 
confident and decisive man of action who was known to 
have a formidable temper, although it was much better con-
trolled than that of his son. I did not know of a single person 
who was not, to some extent, intimidated by the Captain of 
the Guard, and Steldor had grown up answering to him. As 
Cannan had an uncanny ability to see right through people, 
it was inconceivable that he was taken in by his son’s charm. 
Steldor also had to deal with the fact that Cannan was not 
only his father, but his military leader, and in that role, would 
tolerate no disrespect.
 For a brief moment following Steldor’s ignominious exit, 
Destari and Cannan locked eyes, then both of them scrutinized 
Narian, attempting to sort out what they had just seen. What 
manner of sixteen-year-old boy would challenge Steldor, much 
less do so without a sign of trepidation?
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 Narian did not acknowledge the military men, but simply 
held out his arm once more to me.
 “Shall we?”
 I clutched at him, feeling weak in the knees, and for a 
moment leaned against him.
 “Are you all right?” he asked, and I could feel his breath 
upon my cheek.
 “Yes, of course,” I murmured, then I straightened, giving 
him a feeble smile. “Let’s just move on.”
 As we walked toward the front of the ballroom, people 
continued to gawk, although they resumed their activities 
upon our passing. The entertainment was over, and there was 
no need to waste such a delectable evening.
 Having recovered my poise, I thanked Narian when we 
reached the sitting area where my parents were holding court. 
Koranis and Alantonya were nearby, and motioned their 
son over for additional introductions. As he joined them, I 
wondered who he truly was, for I knew his name and little 
else. How could he, a boy one year my junior, be so coura-
geous? Grown men quaked in the face of Steldor’s temper, 
but Narian had not so much as f linched. Perhaps he had un-
derestimated Steldor’s skill, or overestimated his own, and all 
in my defense.
 I was f lattered, though I supposed his actions had nothing 
to do with me personally. As Semari had told Miranna and 
me in the market, Narian had an unusual amount of respect 
for women, and had no doubt been offended by Steldor’s 
treatment of me on that basis alone. As I mulled this over, I 
realized how unaccustomed I was to being taken seriously. 
I had been taught all my life how to be a lady, a submissive 
being (though my actions were sometimes viewed as less than 
appropriate), and the rapt attention Narian had paid to my 
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opinions out on the balcony had made me feel credible and 
important in an entirely new way.
 I looked around and saw my sister pushing through the 
crowd of people, coming in my direction. I nodded my head 
toward the door to the corridor, and informed my parents that 
I had developed a headache and would be returning to my 
quarters. After meeting with me, Miranna would no doubt 
return to the ballroom, but I was beginning to feel as though 
I would drown in its heavy air.
 As a guard opened one of the double doors for me, I stepped 
into the corridor, noticing for the first time how stif ling the 
gala had become with so many people in attendance. Where I 
now stood, it was cool and open, and, more important, quiet. 
All I could hear was the faint hum of conversation through 
the thick ballroom doors.
 Miranna joined me a few seconds later, the babble of the 
guests momentarily loud as she stepped out beside me.
 “What happened?” she asked, her voice trembling with 
curiosity. She clasped my hand and led me onto the landing 
of the Grand Staircase. “All I saw was Steldor as he stormed 
off, and you taking Narian’s arm, but judging from the mut-
tering around me, the three of you created quite a stir.”
 I relayed the story to her, beginning with my hasty escape 
to the balcony and my interlude with Narian, and finishing 
with our courteous good-byes once we had reached the front 
of the ballroom.
 Miranna laughed, playfully tugging at her strawberry-blond 
hair.
 “What?” I asked, unable to see the humor in the evening’s 
events.
 “Well, Sister, it appears that you are being fought over,” she 
said with a grin.
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 “Oh, nonsense.”
 “It’s true! Perhaps Narian could be the man of your dreams, 
standing up to your enemy to defend your honor.”
 “You’re infatuated with romance.”
 “Perhaps, but all the same, I’m going to arrange an outing 
to Semari’s country home for us. Perhaps we’ll get another 
glimpse of your champion.”
 I shook my head, believing it better to let Miranna poke 
fun than to waste my breath arguing.
 “And how about your suitor?” I said, changing the subject.
 “Who, Temerson?”
 I f lashed a mischievous grin of my own. “You two were 
quite a sight on the dance f loor.”
 Miranna’s blue eyes shone. “I may have lost a few toes 
tonight, Alera, but nothing you say can put a damper on my 
mood.”
 “Is there something you’re not telling me?”
 “No,” she replied with a shy smile. “But he blushed horribly 
when I kissed him on the cheek as we parted.”
 “Mira!” I exclaimed in feigned disapproval as she giggled. 
“It seems you are having quite an enjoyable evening.”
 “Yes, indeed, and I will continue to do so if I ever get back 
inside. I’ll speak to Mother in the morning to make arrange-
ments to visit Semari.”
 Her face lit up in anticipation of rejoining the festivities. She 
did a graceful pirouette as she said good-night, then reentered 
the ballroom, brushing her fingertips through her hair as the 
doors closed behind her.
 Just after Miranna’s departure, Tadark tumbled through the 
doors to see if I desired an escort. He would be off duty after I 
retired, so I gave him leave to enjoy the rest of the celebration. 
Having dismissed him, I walked alone through the corridors, 
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savoring the quietude, my mind returning to Narian. I had 
formed several new impressions of the young man over the 
course of the evening, many of which were contradictory, and 
none of which shed light on his obscure past. While I did not 
live in Miranna’s romantic fantasy world, the idea of seeing 
him again was more appealing than it should have been.

9780373210343_TS.indd   1999780373210343_TS.indd   199 2/4/11   9:31:07 AM2/4/11   9:31:07 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



THE BUGGY JOSTLED US UNCOMFORTABLY AS WE 
made our way to the country home of the Baron Koranis and 
his family, for the road had become pitted from the rain the 
night before. Miranna sat beside me, surveying the passing 
landscape while the black Friesians trotted onward under the 
guidance of a Palace Guard, our bodyguards traveling with us 
on their own horses. I stared straight ahead, excitement stirring 
within me, mixed with a hint of annoyance at how closely 
Tadark clung to my side of the buggy. I supposed his zeal-
ousness was due to the fact that Koranis’s estate lay along the 
eastern border of our kingdom in the direction of Cokyri.
 Miranna had arranged everything so that our mother and 
father were under the impression that we were making this 
journey to visit Semari. If either of our parents had known 
our true purpose, we would not have been allowed to go. I 
felt guilty, not about permitting Miranna to mislead our par-
ents, but about causing Alantonya the effort of preparing for 
and fussing over our arrival just so that we could get another 
look at her eldest son, whose privacy we would indisputably 
be invading.
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 In spite of Miranna’s encouragement, it was impossible for 
me to think of Narian as a suitor. One year younger than me, 
he was not even an adult by Hytanican standards. Age was 
not, however, my only concern.
 Narian was an enigma, a complete and total mystery to me, 
to my father, to his family and to Cannan. There was simply 
too little known about him for me to put faith in him. And 
after the incident at the celebration in his honor…though it 
had happened five days previously, it was as fresh in my mind 
as though it had occurred moments ago. I could see his youth 
plainly, but I could sense no youthful innocence within him, 
and that confused and disturbed me.
 After another hour, our driver brought the horses to a halt 
in front of Koranis’s home. Halias and Tadark dismounted and 
helped us to the ground as my eyes roamed over the property. 
I had only been to this country estate a few times in my life, 
for although I was friendly with all members of Koranis’s 
family, I was not good friends with any of them, as Miranna 
was with Semari. My sister had come here often during our 
childhood, but I had rarely accompanied her.
 The house itself was large and well crafted, standing two 
stories tall upon a stone foundation. It was wood framed, filled 
in with wattle and daub, and had costly glass windows in every 
room. The cream-colored exterior was partially covered with 
vines and topped with a dark brown tile roof, and the grass 
surrounding the multicolored stone path leading to the door 
was lush and green.
 I barely had time to acclimate to my surroundings before 
Semari rushed through the front door and over to Miranna 
and me. She curtseyed to us, then discarded all formality as 
she began jabbering to my sister. A few moments later, Alan-
tonya came more sedately out of the dwelling, followed by 
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Charisa and Adalan, who stood behind her while she awaited 
our approach.
 “Your Highnesses,” she said in greeting, dropping into a low 
curtsey, her younger daughters imitating her movement.
 She invited us into the house where we took up seats in a 
tastefully decorated parlor and began to engage in idle conver-
sation. Less than an hour later, a servant entered to announce 
that tea was ready to be served, and Alantonya informed us that 
we would be taking our refreshment in the backyard. As she 
ushered us through her home, we passed several lavish rooms 
that shamelessly gave notice of Koranis’s wealth. I looked over 
my shoulder for Narian one final time as we stepped out the 
rear door of the dwelling, but was again disappointed. As far 
as I could tell, he was not at home.
 Before us on the soft, green grass was a small circular table 
set for six, obligingly shaded from the mid-afternoon sun by 
a large maple tree. Although the days were still hot, they were 
becoming less humid as the end of August approached, and 
the evenings now had a definite chill. As we seated ourselves 
around the table, I looked out across the Baron’s property. To 
my right under the cloudless sky lay vast fields, while to my 
left and before me the land sloped toward the forest, and I 
marveled at the unsurpassed beauty of this property.
 The small talk continued, although Charisa and Adalan said 
not a word, probably afraid they would make some glaring 
error in etiquette. I complimented Alantonya on the loveliness 
of her home, then inquired about the property itself.
 “Does the Baron own all the land reaching from here to 
the forest?”
 “Yes,” Alantonya replied, sipping her tea. “My lord owns 
in excess of a hundred acres, most of it cleared for farming. 
He inherited some of the land, received some as a gift from 
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the King and purchased the rest. He also claims part of the 
forest. When he first took over the property, he hired some 
villagers to cut trails through the woods for safer passage on 
horseback. That’s where he is now—out riding with Kyenn 
and Zayle.”
 I nodded, now understanding Narian’s absence, though I 
could not help but be dismayed by it. We had primarily come, 
after all, to see him. We finished our tea, then Alantonya made 
a suggestion.
 “Semari, perhaps you and the princesses would like to walk 
along the riverbank. It is a lovely afternoon, and a stroll will 
put a blush in your cheeks.”
 “Yes!” Semari happily agreed, tugging at my sister’s hand 
and pulling her to her feet. “It’s not far into the trees, and it’s 
so pretty there!”
 Miranna and Semari skipped away from the house, Halias 
following, as I remained a moment longer to thank our 
hostess.
 “It was my pleasure,” Alantonya responded, rising to give 
me a curtsey, then beckoning her younger daughters to ac-
company her into the house.
 I hastened after the other girls, Tadark as always at my 
heels, and though I was not dressed for such an excursion, I 
soon caught up with them, for they were dillydallying. I was 
wearing two skirts over a white chemise and a matching panel 
bodice that laced up both sides, and I was already feeling the 
exertion.
 The three of us, bodyguards trailing, ambled down the hill 
together and into the woods, taking care to follow the wind-
ing, leaf-strewn, tree-rooted path where water still puddled, 
for the sun could not easily reach the forest f loor. The damp-
ened foliage and earth emitted a musty fragrance, a smell I 
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always associated with the earthworms that rose to the surface 
in the palace garden after it rained.
 A short while later, Semari led us to the right on a rockier 
trail that opened into a narrow clearing that bordered the 
Recorah River. Trees hung over the edges of the clearing, 
their trunks obeying the invisible boundary but their leaves 
and branches unable to be restrained. The open space between 
the woods and the river was only about twelve feet; although 
the closeness of the trees ensured refreshing shade, it also 
seemed to magnify the sound of the water.
 I looked into the splashing and tumbling torrent and saw 
that it was deep here, even along the water’s rocky edge, so 
deep that it would have risen above my head had I stumbled in. 
The sound of Semari’s giggling drew me from my reverie, and 
I looked up to see the younger girls skipping away, following 
the Recorah downstream. Sighing, I once more followed.
 The two friends stopped by a cluster of boulders that stood 
sentinel next to the river, the craggy tops of the stones rising 
above the rapids. Semari perched atop one of the boulders and 
Miranna joined her, but I chose to stand a few feet away, too 
wary of the roiling water to move closer.
 The trees grew even nearer to the river here, giving the 
area an ominous feel. I gazed farther upstream and could see 
the remains of the old bridge that had once provided passage 
to the east. It had been burned during the war and had never 
been rebuilt. Across the Recorah from where we stood, the 
terrain became rocky and the foliage more intermittent as 
the land stretched into the foothills of the Niñeyre Mountain 
Range. This inhospitable area was sparsely populated, pri-
marily by nomads, for it became windy and dry as one moved 
away from the water. This was the land the Cokyrians had to 
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cross to enter our kingdom, for they claimed the high desert 
area of the mountains as their own.
 Miranna, growing restless atop the boulder, rose to her feet 
and took a step forward, peering down into the water.
 “What are you doing, Mira?” Semari asked, shifting to get 
a better view of her friend.
 “I’m seeing if I can spot any fish. Temerson told me they 
sparkle when the sun shines off their scales.”
 “You won’t see any fish in this part of the river.” Semari 
giggled. “The water is moving too fast.”
 “You may as well come down,” I called apprehensively to 
them. The last thing I wanted was for my sister to plunge into 
the Recorah.
 I glanced over at Halias and Tadark, who had moved along 
the tree line with us and were talking at the edge of the clear-
ing. Tadark was sitting on his heels near a large willow tree, 
but Halias remained on his feet, eyes fixed on his charge.
 “As you wish,” Miranna said, dropping her hands to the 
rough stone surface to make the short descent less arduous. Just 
as she did, I heard the chink of something metal as it ricocheted 
off the rock and splashed into the water.
 “Oh no!” Miranna exclaimed, leaning forward. “My brace-
let! It’s fallen into the river!” She dropped to her knees, pre-
paring to reach for it.
 “Get down from there now!” I snapped, my overprotective-
ness as her elder sibling kicking in full force.
 Miranna looked at me petulantly, but then eased her way 
to the ground.
 “But what about my bracelet? I can see it—it’s right there, 
caught between two of the rocks.”
 She and Semari approached, a pout upon my sister’s face. 
I again glanced at Halias, whose stance had relaxed now that 
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Miranna’s feet were securely on the ground. I deliberated call-
ing him over to retrieve my sister’s lost jewelry, then settled 
against it. While the younger girls deemed this important, I 
thought it rather trivial, and would have been embarrassed to 
make anyone attempt this retrieval task, especially a member 
of Hytanica’s Elite Guard.
 “I’ll try to reach it,” I finally groaned.
 I pulled myself, with a distinct lack of grace, up on top of 
the rock outcropping, crouching down on its jagged surface. 
I could see Miranna’s bracelet directly below me, shimmering 
with sunlight between the last of the bleak gray rocks that 
tumbled into the water, and I cautiously advanced toward it. 
As I could not reach it from my current position, I sat and 
continued to move forward, using the uneven edges of the 
stones as footholds. When it looked to be within my grasp, I 
seized the best handhold I could find and stretched toward it, 
straightening my arms as I attempted to rescue the bracelet 
from the clutches of the Recorah.
 I wasn’t close enough. Grimacing with frustration, I released 
my handhold very slightly, trying to gain another inch.
 Things happened quickly then. My fingers were grasping 
air and my arm was waving about as if independent from my 
body, groping for something to keep me in place, but there 
was nothing to which I could cling to prevent myself from 
plummeting into the frothing water. As the river consumed 
first my left shoulder and then my hips and legs, I vaguely 
heard the sound of a high-pitched shriek, either from Miranna 
or Semari, but the water splashing into my mouth prevented 
me from uttering any cry of distress.
 The raw torrent swirled around me, threatening to drag 
me under, and I sputtered and f lailed, certain I would drown. 
Just as the current was about to sweep me away from the 
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boulders, I was half dragged onto the rock by a pair of strong 
arms. My dress, which was now soaked and extraordinarily 
heavy, seemed reluctant to leave the river behind, but this did 
not hinder my rescuer. My first coherent thought, strangely, 
as I coughed and fought to draw air into my burning lungs, 
was that London had somehow appeared to save me. When 
my breathing eased, I looked into the face of the man upon 
whom I was leaning for support, and felt a shock as intense as 
the one the cold water had just dealt me.
 Narian. Narian had pulled me from the river. I hadn’t 
known he was there, yet somehow he had been near enough 
to reach me and agile enough to save me without falling into 
the water himself.
 “Where did you…?” I muttered in bewilderment.
 “I came down the path,” he said as he nimbly jumped off 
the rock pile. “I saw you falling.”
 As he turned to offer me a hand, Halias brushed him aside 
and lifted me to the ground. The Elite Guard had evidently 
seen me plunge into the water but had not been close enough 
to help. Narian must have been very close indeed to have 
grabbed me before I had yielded to the river’s strength—much 
closer than either of the bodyguards and definitely closer than 
the path.
 “Are you all right, Princess?” Halias asked urgently. “Are 
you hurt?”
 “I’m fine,” I assured him, although my heart continued 
to pound in recognition of the danger in which I had placed 
myself, and I shook from the chill of the water. Tadark, who 
hovered a few feet away, might have been shaking more, how-
ever—I was, after all, his responsibility.
 Miranna and Semari, who had been hanging on to each 
other as though afraid they might fall into the river as well, 
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now rushed to me. Miranna hugged me, having concluded 
that I would live, and then she and Semari began to laugh in 
relief. Even I had to chuckle a little bit at what had been an 
ungainly entry into the water.
 As Miranna began to wring the water out of my long hair, 
Halias removed the royal-blue doublet he wore as a member 
of the Elite Guard, so that he stood in his white shirt, and 
insisted that I put the garment on for warmth. As I did so, I 
stared down at my skirt. It was rumpled and dripping, and 
grime from the rocks had collected among its thick folds. I 
looked at Narian and saw that his dark shirt and breeches were 
also wet where he had held me against him.
 Halias, too, was now gazing at Narian, although there was 
a much edgier look upon his face than on mine. I realized that 
this must be confounding for both him and Tadark. They had 
been trained to notice and react the moment a disloyal eye 
f lickered in the direction of a royal, and yet they had been 
effortlessly skirted by a sixteen-year-old boy. And, on top of 
that, this boy had just saved the dignity, if not the life, of one 
of their charges.
 “What is going on over here?” A man’s voice hailed us, and 
Koranis, followed by Zayle, emerged from among the trees, 
the two having come down the path. Koranis’s eyes widened 
as he passed Tadark and took in the entire scene.
 “My goodness, Princess Alera,” he exclaimed. “What has 
happened to your gown?”
 He looked at the others gathered around me, then a frown 
creased his brow as he noted the condition of his older son’s 
clothing.
 “I fell in,” I said, motioning toward the river with my hand. 
“Nar—Kyenn rescued me.” I glanced at Narian to see his reac-
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tion to the name I used for him, but his face was inscrutable. 
“I am quite grateful to him.”
 “You should return to the house without delay,” Koranis 
decreed, rather needlessly, given my sodden appearance. “We 
are certain to have something into which you can change.” 
He gazed at Narian, then finished in his overbearing manner, 
“Kyenn and I will accompany you. He could benefit from a 
change of clothing as well.”
 “Thank you for your ministrations, but please don’t let this 
ruin the afternoon for everyone else,” I politely but firmly 
stated. “I am unharmed, and there is no need for you to escort 
me to the house, as the Baroness will be there to assist me. I 
would much prefer that you take some respite from your day 
rather than trouble yourself.”
 “Oh, please, Papa!” Semari implored. “Won’t you stay for 
a little while? You and Zayle have only just come.”
 Koranis paused, and I recalled what Semari had said about 
her father having been told to keep an eye on Narian. Most 
likely concerned that letting his son walk through the woods 
with the Crown Princess of Hytanica would be unwise,  Koranis 
turned to Halias, seeking his opinion. At the Elite Guard’s 
permissive nod, he smiled indulgently at his daughter.
 “I suppose I could stay for a short while,” the Baron pro-
nounced. “Kyenn, you will return to the house with Princess 
Alera and her bodyguard.”
 I could tell from Narian’s expression that he detested his 
father’s dictatorial air, just as I could tell from Tadark’s wide 
brown eyes that the prospect of being my only defense against 
Narian was making him feel ill. It was obvious from my body-
guard’s reaction that talk of the recent confrontation between 
Steldor and Narian had circulated among the palace force.

9780373210343_TS.indd   2099780373210343_TS.indd   209 2/4/11   9:31:08 AM2/4/11   9:31:08 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver210

 “You’re not truly frightened of a teenager, are you?” I heard 
Halias mutter to Tadark.
 “No,” the younger guard said, puffing out his chest like a 
small, offended owl.
 Halias saw through him and added, his words barely audible, 
“My God, Tadark, he’s not even armed! How did you get into 
the Elite Guard anyway, with such a core of cowardice?”
 I was once again amazed at Tadark’s ability to provoke even 
the most tolerant of people. It was practically impossible to 
anger the good-natured deputy captain, and here Tadark had 
done it as effortlessly as a bird taking wing.
 “Come, Tadark,” I interposed, before their exchange could 
become more heated. “I would like to return with some mea-
sure of haste.”
 My bodyguard’s cheeks colored as he stepped forward to 
lead the way. I followed behind, wondering where Narian 
had gone, for he had departed the moment Koranis had told 
him to do so, although I was sure he hadn’t acted out of obe-
dience. Perhaps he did not like the company gathered in the 
clearing, or perhaps accompanying me didn’t appeal to him in 
the least. But as Tadark and I came to the end of the narrow 
trail that connected to the main path, I saw Narian resting 
his back against a tree, waiting for us. Tadark shot the young 
man a distrustful glare when he came to walk beside me, 
then dropped behind us in order to better monitor Narian’s 
conduct, his left hand gripping the hilt of his sword.
 We made our way through the trees without speaking. I 
was eager to say something to Narian—I had never been so 
intrigued by a person in my life—but he seemed content to 
maintain the silence between us, the only sounds the incessant 
sloshing of my gown and squishing of my shoes.
 I grabbed fistfuls of my skirt in an attempt to make my 
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movement less hindered as Narian lithely moved ahead of 
me, but to no avail. My dress clung to my skin and my un-
dergarments, causing me to stumble over and over. I moaned, 
longing to break free of the woods. I knew from the sunlight 
that filtered through the trees that the forest was becoming 
less dense as we advanced, and could only hope I didn’t fall 
before we came to the trail’s end.
 “Do you always dress like that?” Narian had halted a dozen 
or so paces in front of me to check on my progress.
 I stared at him as if a stream of profanities had come from 
his mouth rather than the simple question he had actually 
posed, astounded that he had spoken.
 “I’m generally tidier,” I said, eyes shifting to my dishev-
eled clothing as I pushed my damp, limp hair away from my 
face.
 “I mean, do you always wear those impractical skirts?” he 
clarified, scrutinizing me as I labored to move toward him 
without tripping over the heavy tent that hung around my 
legs.
 “Impractical?” I frowned at him, unsure whether he had 
meant to insult me.
 “Well, yes. You no doubt would have drowned from the 
weight of your gown had I not been there to prevent it.”
 Stopping a few feet in front of him, I snipped, “I’m afraid 
I didn’t consider the risk of falling into a river and nearly 
drowning when I chose my wardrobe.”
 “Well, what did you consider?”
 “I don’t know!” I said, bridling at the criticism in his tone. 
I uttered the first thing that came to mind. “The weather!”
 “The weather?” he repeated.
 “What would you have had me take into account?”
 “Self-defense. Cokyrian women only wear dresses at formal 
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functions, and even then they bear weapons. You have no 
ability to carry a weapon at all.”
 “That’s what he’s for,” I countered, waving in Tadark’s 
general direction.
 “He is your only protection?”
 “Yes, on an outing such as this,” I confirmed, perplexed 
by his interest, but certain I was about to put an end to this 
debate. “At larger affairs, multiple guards watch over me.”
 “Tell me,” he murmured, taking a step closer. “How would 
your guard protect you now?”
 Narian’s nearness was disturbing, and I began to worry that 
Tadark was daydreaming.
 “From what would I need protection?” I asked slowly, 
unable to look away from his keen blue eyes, which were 
boring into my suspicious brown ones.
 A f lash of light, a glint of metal in the sun, told me before 
he readied it to strike that he held a dagger in his right hand. 
In stunned disbelief, I saw the blade come toward me. Terror 
f litted through my brain as I grasped that I might again be in 
mortal peril. Then Narian stooped and slashed off the front 
of my skirt below the knee so that my leggings were exposed 
indecently to the air.
 I stood frozen, too horrified to move. Tadark was at my side 
in an instant, his sword drawn as if he were protecting me, 
although I knew he would have arrived too late had Narian 
intended to do me harm.
 “Step away from the Princess,” Tadark commanded.
 Narian stared unf linchingly down the length of the cold 
metal, then relented and moved backward so that I was beyond 
his reach. Flipping the dagger so that he held the blade, he 
extended the weapon to my bodyguard.
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 “I assume you’re going to demand that I relinquish my 
weapon,” Narian explained.
 Tadark said nothing, but snatched the knife from Narian’s 
proffered hand.
 “It is of no great loss to me,” the young man continued, 
as Tadark tucked the dagger away in his belt. “A Cokyrian is 
never without a weapon.”
 I wasted no time puzzling over this last statement, for my 
anger was rising.
 “Look what you’ve done!” I railed, frustration emanating 
from the very pores of my skin. “My dress is ruined!”
 Narian surveyed me, unaffected by my outburst.
 “You’ll find walking to be much easier now. And I must 
say, Princess, that there wasn’t much hope for your gown 
anyway.”
 I opened my mouth, expecting a suitable comeback to 
emerge, but none came. Before I could gather my wits, he 
started once more down the path, and I followed, shaking my 
head in awe of his nerve. But, I grudgingly had to admit to 
myself, I didn’t stumble once.
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“MY LADY, LORD STELDOR AWAITS YOU IN THE 
garden.”
 “Thank you,” I said to the Palace Guard who had been sent 
to the library to find me. I had been lounging, scanning a book 
or two, and simply letting my thoughts wander. As the guard 
hurried away, I groaned inwardly, though my feelings were 
no doubt written upon my face. Steldor was not the person I 
wanted to see.
 In fact, there was just one person on my mind. I could not 
escape the image of Narian’s knife drawing near my f lesh, or 
erase the knowledge of how easily he could have harmed me 
before Tadark had arrived to stand between us. Narian was 
correct regarding my protection—in a scenario such as the one 
I had faced two days previously, the only person who could 
have defended me was me, and I barely possessed the ability 
to f lee with some semblance of coordination.
 I thought back to how he had rescued me from the river. I 
could have drowned—my own bodyguards had been too far 
away to help me. But Narian had been there, somehow having 
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bypassed Tadark and (more impressively) Halias. How could 
he have gotten close enough to reach me without anyone 
noticing? How long had he been there, and would he have 
revealed himself to us if my clumsiness had not made it neces-
sary? These questions haunted me, despite my efforts to divert 
my attention elsewhere.
 Tadark had ignored my introverted attitude of late, too 
humiliated by his own blunder in underestimating Narian 
to bring up the incident. I too kept silent about it, prefer-
ring to ponder on my own the mystery that the young man 
presented.
 I stood and made my way to the garden to meet with the 
man of my nightmares. I had not seen Steldor since the eve-
ning of the event held in honor of Narian’s family, and still 
had no inclination to do so. Narian was almost the converse 
of Steldor, and having spent time recently with the former, I 
suspected that I would have a harder time than usual abiding 
the latter.
 I ambled through the corridor, in no rush to get to my des-
tination, and walked down the family staircase, Tadark beside 
me this time rather than behind. My last visit with Narian had 
increased my bodyguard’s vigilance, inside as well as outside 
the palace. He would not accompany me within the garden, 
however, as Steldor was viewed by my father and Cannan as 
fully qualified to protect me.
 Upon entering the grounds, I saw Steldor a short way down 
the path from me. Given his attire—a black leather military 
jerkin—he must have come from the military base. In his 
left hand he held a bouquet of f lowers that I recognized as 
having come from the garden in which we stood, obviously 
an impromptu addition to whatever he had planned for me.
 “You’re especially radiant today, Princess Alera,” he said, 
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bowing and kissing my hand in his customary way, appar-
ently hoping that the cheap f lattery he used on other girls 
would have a softening effect upon me. He extended the 
hand in which he held the bouquet. “These f lowers pale in 
comparison.”
 I wanted to roll my eyes, but I suppressed the urge and 
halfheartedly accepted his gift.
 “What do you want, Steldor?” I inquired, his outrageous 
behavior of a week ago uppermost in my mind.
 “Perhaps we should walk.” He made a sweeping motion 
with his hand toward the garden pathway.
 “I’d rather not.”
 A shadow of displeasure fell upon his features at my refusal, 
and I knew his thoughts had tracked my own. “You’re not 
making this easy for me.”
 “And why should I make things easy?”
 “Really, Alera,” he scoffed, voice thick with condescension. 
“You can’t honestly believe my actions at the palace celebration 
were unjustified. I admit I may have overreacted somewhat, 
but you can hardly claim my anger was unprovoked.”
 “And what exactly did I do to provoke you?” I asked, my 
jaw set, not willing to let him get away with blaming that 
fiasco on me.
 “You must get past these childish games!” he admonished, 
running a hand through his dark hair. “You know very well 
we are courting. Could you have possibly thought that I would 
react in any other way? You being seen with another man will 
not change the fact that we are to marry. It’s time you accepted 
that and began acting in an appropriate manner.”
 I was momentarily at a loss, for this was the first time mar-
riage had come up in conversation between us. Both of us 
knew the expectations held by our parents and the kingdom, 
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so we had never felt the need to discuss the matter specifically. 
It was assumed, by Steldor at least, that we would in the future 
be wed. I had a different opinion.
 “That wasn’t quite the proposal I envisioned,” I said, giving 
him a withering look.
 He sighed. “Do you want me to get down on one knee, 
Alera? Is that it? If that will cause you to see things as they 
are, then I will gladly do it.”
 “That will hardly be necessary, as you would only dirty 
your knee to hear an answer you would not welcome.” With 
no thought to the consequences, I forged ahead. “I believe you 
need to get past the childish assumption that everything will 
fall neatly into place for you, because the truth is, the expec-
tations of my father, of my mother and sister, of the kingdom, 
cannot force me to marry you. In order for you to marry me, 
my Lord Steldor, I would have to say ‘I do,’ and quite frankly, 
I don’t!”
 I brandished the bouquet he had given me in his face. “My 
only regret is that my f lowers had to die in vain!”
 I hurled the bouquet at his chest, then turned and stalked 
down the path, a triumphant smile pulling at the corners of 
my mouth.
 As I reentered the palace, the same guard who had in-
formed me of Steldor’s desire to meet with me was talking 
with Tadark.
 “Your Highness,” he said, giving a slight bow. “The Captain 
of the Guard requests to see you and your bodyguard in his 
office. He said it was of some importance.”
 I nodded to the guard, dismissing him, and my victorious 
feeling was eradicated by dread. Cannan had never before 
sent for me, and I could think of no reason for him to want 
to speak with me now. Did this have something to do with 
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the courtship between his son and me? Should I add Cannan’s 
name to the growing list of people I had disappointed? The list 
that included London, my father, my mother and Steldor?
 Tadark and I walked through the King’s Drawing Room 
to gain entry into the Throne Room, continuing across its 
f loor to the Captain of the Guard’s office, which was located 
near the antechamber. As we entered Cannan’s domain, I saw 
Halias standing in the back of the room, though Miranna was 
nowhere to be seen.
 The furnishings in Cannan’s office were dark and imposing, 
much like the man himself. Weapons of every kind hung on 
the walls or were confined in glass-fronted cabinets. A map 
of Hytanica hung on one wall, next to a map of the entire 
Recorah River Valley that identified neighboring kingdoms 
as well as our own. The Kingdoms of Gourhan and Emotana 
lay to the south, across the Recorah River. West of us, Lake 
Resare, fed by a tributary of the mighty river, marked our 
boundary with the Kingdom of Sarterad. I shuddered invol-
untarily as I noted the identification of the Empire of Cokyri 
in the high desert area of the Niñeyre Mountains to the north 
and east of our borders.
 Cannan, as commander of Hytanica’s military, had to be the 
busiest man in Hytanica, for the heads of each of the military’s 
five divisions reported to him: the major in charge of the 
Reconnaissance Unit; Kade as sergeant at arms in command 
of the Palace Guard; the master-at-arms who headed the City 
Guard; the colonel who was the headmaster at the Military 
Academy; and the various battalion commanders who led the 
armed forces. In addition, the King’s Elite Guard, charged 
most specifically with defense of the King and the royal family, 
was under Cannan’s direct control. London, Halias, Destari 
and the others who held the rank of deputy captain were the 
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highest-ranking officers in the military next to the Captain 
of the Guard.
 Cannan sat behind his austere, heavy oak desk, studying 
several sheets of parchment. Behind and to his left, the door 
to the armory stood ajar, revealing an even wider variety of 
weaponry. A second door that led into the guardroom by 
the Grand Staircase was closed. Cannan raised his head as I 
entered, but did not rise.
 “Please be seated, Princess Alera,” he said, motioning to 
the plain wooden chairs across from him on the other side of 
the desk.
 As I complied, Tadark moved to stand on my right, Halias 
taking up a similar position on my left, neither sitting while 
in their captain’s office, although there were several chairs 
available.
 Cannan did not waste time with small talk.
 “Tadark has reported on the events that occurred during 
your visit to Baron Koranis’s country estate two days ago. He 
has informed me that you had a conversation with Narian. 
What was the nature of your interaction with him?”
 I was startled by his interest, but nonetheless answered his 
question, albeit hesitantly.
 “We discussed what he called the impracticality of my 
clothing.”
 “Tell me more.”
 “He said that I should be able to protect myself, that he 
thought Tadark’s protection was—” I glanced uncertainly at 
my bodyguard “—insufficient.” Tadark bristled but remained 
mute. “He told me Cokyrian women wear dresses only on 
formal occasions and that they always bear weapons.”
 Cannan mulled over my words for a moment, then changed 
the topic slightly.
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 “Tell me about the dagger. Did you see where he had it 
concealed?”
 “No,” I said with remorse, for I could provide very little 
useful information. “It was just there in his hand.”
 Cannan did not seem disappointed by my answer. “Can 
you think of anything else that would be important for me 
to know?” His words gave me hope that this inquisition was 
soon to end.
 I concentrated for a moment, and then recalled something 
I had not fully appreciated at the time, but which now gave 
me pause.
 “He did say something rather odd to Tadark as he offered 
him his knife,” I said, recognizing halfway through my sen-
tence that I was likely contradicting whatever story Tadark 
had woven to explain how he had managed to disarm Narian. 
“He said, ‘Cokyrians are never without weapons.’”
 Cannan nodded and directed a question to Halias.
 “And do you have any explanation for how this boy managed 
to get to the Princess without alerting you to his presence?”
 Halias’s light blue eyes f licked in irritation in Tadark’s direc-
tion, as he apparently had not known before this moment that 
the younger guard had informed their captain of this aspect 
of the incident.
 “I have no explanation, sir,” Halias said, coming to atten-
tion. “But I can assure you we were vigilant in our protec-
tion of the princesses. I know of only one other person who 
could have accomplished this, and he ought to be standing in 
Tadark’s place.”
 The silence that followed was deafening. Tadark gave an 
offended huff, and Cannan shot him a silencing glare before 
turning back to Halias, his countenance stony.
 I was dazed by the boldness of the bodyguard’s statement. 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2209780373210343_TS.indd   220 2/4/11   9:31:08 AM2/4/11   9:31:08 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



221

Halias, unlike London, had never been one to challenge 
authority. He did his job in protecting my sister, but was 
generally content to trust his captain and the King to make 
important decisions. Now, as he looked staunchly at Cannan, 
I realized that Destari and I were not the only ones who still 
trusted London, regardless of how damaging the evidence 
against him might be.
 Cannan had not broken eye contact with his deputy captain, 
and I slowly became conscious of the fact that Halias’s asser-
tion could be viewed as insubordination. But just as I began to 
fret, the captain again scrutinized me, letting his Elite Guard’s 
defiance pass unaddressed.
 “You had an exchange with Lord Narian on the balcony at 
the palace celebration last month,” he said, and I felt as though 
I were once more under interrogation. “What did you discuss 
at that time?”
 I shifted, unsure what information he was hoping to obtain 
from me. I thought back to the evening when I had stood 
beside Narian on the balcony, all the while feeling that none 
of this was Cannan’s business, but too in awe of him to say so. 
Just as I concluded it would be best to tell him what I could, 
I remembered that I had confessed to Narian my disapproval 
of, and extreme dislike for, Steldor.
 “Well…” I said, trying to phrase the information in such a 
way that I would not be forced to share my opinion of Steldor 
with his father, “we talked about the importance of duty.”
 A frown creased Cannan’s forehead, as though he were 
contemplating what would have prompted us to confer on 
such a topic.
 “I see. Go on.”
 “He told me that he despised having his life laid out for 
him.” I looked downward, examining my shoes, knowing, 
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though no one else did, that my complaints about my obliga-
tions as Crown Princess had inspired this declaration from 
him.
 If Cannan was aware of my discomfort, he ignored it.
 “Interesting. Did he say anything else?”
 “Yes…that at some point, I would have to choose between 
carrying out my duties and living my life.” I winced at Can-
nan’s penetrating look and quickly finished. “After that he 
offered to escort me back inside.” I did not elaborate, knowing 
everyone in the room was aware of what had happened after 
that.
 A long silence followed as Cannan sank into thought, 
unperturbed by what I might be feeling. In truth, I found 
myself humbled and humiliated. Did the captain view my 
encounters with Narian as inappropriate? Perhaps he shared 
Steldor’s opinion of my conduct, that I should be approaching 
my responsibilities more seriously and not be wasting my time 
speaking to sixteen-year-old boys. I fidgeted with the folds of 
my skirt, desperate for this line of questioning to end, until 
Cannan spoke once more.
 “I want you to return to Baron Koranis’s estate to visit 
Narian and his family several times during the next month. 
You will report to me on anything Narian tells you about 
Cokyri and his upbringing there.”
 His candid request, or rather his outright order, tightened 
my stomach.
 “Are you suggesting that I spy for you?”
 “No,” he replied, unfazed by my response. “I simply want 
you to interact with him and relate to me any information he 
volunteers.”
 I still was not happy with the idea.
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 “I don’t want to betray his trust,” I ventured, though I 
sensed my attempt to dissuade Cannan would be futile.
 The captain was silent for a moment, as though deciding 
whether he owed me an explanation. When next he spoke, 
his voice was placating.
 “You must understand that what Narian has told you of his 
past in your two brief meetings exceeds what he has revealed 
to any other person. In order for us to trust him, we need to 
learn about his life in Cokyri. Who raised him? What has 
been his training? How did he learn of his true identity?”
 Cannan’s tone now became insistent, and his eyes held 
mine.
 “It is imperative that we discover what we can about his 
background. He seems to be more open with you than with 
anyone else, and it behooves us to take advantage of that 
fact.”
 I nodded, feeling rather childish for attempting to argue 
with him.
 Cannan stood and planted his hands on the wood surface 
before him, brushing the sheets of parchment aside. He then 
spoke to the three of us, his voice unassailable.
 “No one other than those in this room and the King has 
knowledge of this plan, and no other is to learn of it.” Ad-
dressing me, he continued, “You may choose to invite Princess 
Miranna on your return visits to see Narian. In fact, to avoid 
scrutiny, I would suggest that you do so. But she must remain 
ignorant as to your true purpose.”
 Cannan’s eyes shifted to Halias’s face, and he allowed a 
transitory pause to emphasize his point.
 “That is all,” he finished, straightening to his full height. 
“You may go now.”
 I rose as Tadark and Halias turned to escort me back to 
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my quarters. Having had very few dealings with the Captain 
of the Guard in the past, I was impressed by the measure of 
authority he had exhibited, even toward a member of the royal 
family. He was confident in a much different way from his 
son—Steldor was conceited, whereas Cannan was decisive. 
The deep respect I had for him made me feel as if I should 
have bowed prior to leaving his office.

 It was early September, and this time my mother was host-
ing a recital in the Music Room of the palace. She had invited 
two dozen young noblewomen, accompanied by their mothers, 
to share their vocal abilities, as well as their accomplishments 
on the harp and f lute. Miranna was to be one of the young 
women demonstrating her talents on the harp, but my mother 
had not approached me with a similar request, perhaps think-
ing I had endured enough stress over the last month as a result 
of the palace function I had orchestrated.
 I was thankful that this gathering had a specific aim, as it 
meant there would be little time for gossip. I dreaded the ques-
tions that would be f lung at me with respect to the altercation 
between Narian and Steldor that had taken place just ten days 
ago.
 The Music Room was adjacent to the Queen’s Drawing 
Room, and likewise had a bay window that yielded a view of 
the East Courtyard. Two rows of benches had been arranged so 
that they faced away from the window toward the front of the 
room where the performers would sit or stand. As I selected a 
bench, I glanced outside and could see that summer was giving 
way to fall, as the f lowers in the courtyard were beginning 
to forlornly wither and die while the leaves on the trees were 
taking on vibrant hues. As I seated myself, dark-eyed Reveina, 
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ever the leader, slid in on one side of me, boy-obsessed Kalem 
on the other.
 “So tell us,” said Reveina, brushing back her sleek brown 
tresses and leaning toward me. “What exactly happened be-
tween Lord Steldor and the Cokyrian?”
 “Yes, we were in the ballroom that evening but did not 
witness the quarrel. We’ve heard so many conf licting versions 
of it that we want to know the truth from you,” Kalem added, 
her glistening gray eyes framed by her coal-black hair.
 “His name is Lord Narian,” I said tersely. “And he is Hy-
tanican, not Cokyrian.”
 Neither my comments nor my argumentative manner 
dampened their enthusiasm.
 “Did Steldor strike him? Did he strike Steldor?” Reveina 
was persistent. “We’ve heard both versions, and tend to believe 
the first, but the second would be so…”
 “Worthy of gossip?” I finished.
 “Yes, of course.” Kalem laughed.
 I looked toward the front of the room, longing for the per-
formances to begin. As Miranna, who was to play first, was 
not yet ready, I attempted to put a stop to the speculations as 
best I could.
 “There was no fight at all. Steldor had just consumed more 
ale than he perhaps should have and became a little jealous. 
He did not like me speaking with Narian, although it was 
to be expected I would converse with the guest of honor.” I 
was being as tactful about the incident as I could. “Sorry to 
disappoint, but no one hit anyone.”
 Their faces dropped and their lips formed pouts, as if they 
had at least expected I would make a good story out of it. 
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Before they could say anything further, the first notes of the 
harp caught my ear and I was saved by the start of Miranna’s 
solo.
 The recital continued for another two hours, alternating 
between singers and instrumentalists. Right before the last 
vocalist of the day, I excused myself, exiting the room so I 
would not have to deal with any further inquiries. I knew 
my mother would view my behavior as rude and that I would 
suffer a reprimand later, but that was a price I was willing 
to pay.
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BY THE TIME MIRANNA AND I PAID ANOTHER VISIT 
to Koranis’s country estate, harvest time was upon us. From 
mid-September through October, crops such as wheat, barley, 
rye and oats were gathered and stored, grapes were harvested 
for wine, honey was collected, and fruit, including the apples 
in the royal orchards, was picked. It was the most anticipated 
time of the year, culminating in a week of celebrations at the 
end of October that included feasting and dancing, along with 
a tournament and faire.
 As we crossed the countryside in our buggy, I consid-
ered what Narian would think of the upcoming festivities. I 
doubted he would be as enthused as the rest of the kingdom, 
for if he had been disappointed by almost everything else he 
had seen in Hytanica, as Semari had indicated, then I supposed 
he would look askance at the Harvest Festival as well. Even 
so, I could not help but hope that after partaking of the most 
thrilling of the year’s celebrations, he would prove to be more 
impressed with Hytanica than he had been thus far.
 Miranna and I chatted with Koranis and Alantonya upon 
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our arrival at the Baron’s estate until we were interrupted 
by Semari, who bounded out of the house. Alantonya took 
advantage of her daughter’s appearance to retreat into the 
home, suggesting before she did so that we take another con-
stitutional, though she reminded us to stay far from the river. 
Koranis also chose to take his leave, overwhelmed by the 
chattering of the two younger girls, but was intercepted by 
Tadark as he began to walk toward the stables. Curious as to 
what business my bodyguard would have with the Baron, I 
stepped away from my sister and her friend so as to position 
myself for eavesdropping.
 “I believe this belongs to you,” Tadark was saying, sound-
ing self-important, extending the dagger Narian had wielded 
after my fall into the river.
 “Yes, that is mine,” Koranis affirmed, bewildered. “I as-
sumed I had lost it. How ever did you come by it?”
 “It wasn’t lost, sir,” explained a gleeful Tadark, probably 
knowing he was about to cause trouble for Narian and enjoy-
ing the bit of revenge he could exact for the embarrassment 
the young man had previously dealt him. “I took it from Lord 
Kyenn the last time we were here. I brought it to the Captain 
of the Guard as I did not know it was yours.”
 Koranis looked blankly at Tadark for a moment.
 “I remember having it when we were out riding and thought 
I must have dropped it. But if Kyenn had it…” A f lush crept 
over his double chins as comprehension dawned.
 “Kyenn!” he called, turning to face the house.
 After several minutes and another angry call, Narian saun-
tered out the front door.
 “In what manner did you come by my dagger?” Koranis 
demanded as his son came to stand before him.
 “I removed it from its sheath,” Narian answered.
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 “Then you are a thief, boy, and I will not tolerate a thief 
in my home!”
 Koranis, who had assumed a stern posture, recoiled almost 
imperceptibly as Narian’s piercing blue eyes locked upon 
him. Tadark, who was smaller in stature than the other two 
men, now looked cherubic, undisguised joy shining upon his 
face.
 “Perhaps a good whipping is in order to teach you respect 
for other people’s possessions.” Strangely, Koranis’s words came 
out sounding more like a proposal than the imposition of a 
punishment.
 There was silence in the aftermath of the Baron’s statement. 
Even Semari and Miranna’s prattling had died away and they 
watched father and son with interest. I could not tear my at-
tention from the scene as the golden-haired pair stared at each 
other, Narian’s lean and muscular build in sharp contrast to 
Koranis’s overfed and overfussed appearance.
 Narian appraised his father with disdain in his eyes, show-
ing no sign of remorse or concern in the face of Koranis’s 
threat.
 “I wouldn’t try that if I were you,” he cautioned, his voice 
barely audible.
 Koranis took a small step back from his son, realizing as he 
did that the two of them had attracted our attention.
 “Get back into the house,” he blustered. “I will deal with 
you later.”
 Narian shrugged, then unhurriedly reentered the home.
 Perturbed by Narian’s attitude, Koranis turned to my body-
guard and said curtly, “Thank you for returning my weapon.” 
He then huffed off to the stables, leaving an extremely disap-
pointed Tadark behind.
 Miranna and Semari soon resumed their chattering, but I 
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was staggered by what we had witnessed. In Hytanica, the 
father was the undisputed head of the family, with absolute 
dominion over his wife, his children, and their lands and 
possessions. Yet I could not shake the feeling that Narian had 
been the one in charge. This was all the more disconcerting 
as Narian had neither shown signs of anger nor aggression. 
Rather, he had seemed to be coldly sizing up a foe, and the 
shocking notion that Narian held power over the Baron en-
tered my head.
 It wasn’t long before Semari, Miranna and I took Alan-
tonya’s suggestion and again traipsed through the trees along 
the path to the river, Halias and Tadark in our wake. To my 
dismay, Narian was not with us. I had taken advantage of his 
presence in the house to invite him to accompany us, but he 
had merely raised his eyebrows, giving no other response, 
leading me to the conclusion that I would not see him further 
this day. I had hoped that simple curiosity would entice him 
on our walk, although part of me suspected that he viewed 
us as tedious and uninteresting.
 As soon as we reached the clearing near the bank of the 
Recorah, Miranna and Semari rushed ahead, their giggling 
becoming fainter as they approached the water. Halias went 
after them, but I hung back, preferring to enjoy the view from 
a safe distance.
 I examined my surroundings, searching for a shady spot 
where I might sit, and spied the gnarled, exposed root of an 
ancient oak. As I moved toward it, I was amazed to see Narian 
leaning against another tree but a few feet to my left. He was 
clad in a black shirt, this time topped by a leather vest, and 
black breeches, so he was enabled to fade into the shade cast 
by the dense trees. It occurred to me as I contemplated him 
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that the High Priestess at the time of her capture had likewise 
been dressed all in black.
 Tadark had seen Narian as well and clung annoyingly to 
my side, and I knew something had to be done. I stopped and 
turned to him, struggling to repress my irritation.
 “If Lord Narian is to be relaxed enough to talk to me, you 
are going to have to give us some room.”
 My bodyguard looked torn, but then motioned forward 
with his hand to indicate that I should proceed without him. 
After glancing toward the younger girls, who were being en-
tertained by Halias’s demonstration of the proper way to skip 
rocks, I changed course and walked toward Narian, knowing 
that there was no way to conceal that I wanted to speak with 
him. He examined me as I came closer, but made no indica-
tion of a desire to converse when I reached him. I decided to 
cut straight to the point.
 “I’ve been thinking about what you said to me on my last 
visit—about protecting myself.”
 I felt enormously self-conscious due to the lack of the usual 
niceties preceding my words, but tried not to let my discomfort 
show.
 “You were right. There may come a time when my body-
guards will be unable to defend me. It would seem wise that 
I learn to defend myself.”
 I waited to see what his reaction would be, but he continued 
to survey me, and I cleared my throat.
 “I can think of no one to teach me these things, except…
you,” I finished.
 He nodded, as if understanding how I had reached this 
conclusion, but his reply was not what I expected.
 “I can’t do that,” he said matter-of-factly.
 “Why not?” I demanded, planting my hands on my hips 
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in mild frustration. “First you tell me that I must be able to 
protect myself, then you refuse to teach me the necessary 
skills? Women in Cokyri know how to defend themselves. 
You said so yourself.”
 He smirked, the same smirk I’d seen on the balcony. 
“Women in Cokyri wear breeches.”
 I was silent for a moment, grasping his implication. “You 
want me to…wear breeches?”
 “Only if you wish to learn self-defense,” he replied, and I 
had the impression he was issuing a challenge.
 “Then I will do so.”
 I waited for him to offer a pair to me, but he said nothing, 
the gleam in his startlingly blue eyes telling me he knew what 
was on my mind, but that he would not give me anything 
unless I requested it. And that I was not about to do.
 “When next I come,” I said obstinately, “I will bring 
breeches.”
 How I was going to accomplish this was beyond me at that 
moment, but I cared not. I would not give Narian the satisfac-
tion of having a princess of Hytanica ask to borrow a pair of 
his trousers.

 We returned to the palace as the pale shades of evening were 
beginning to brush the sky, and slowly walked up the court-
yard path and through the large front doors into the Grand 
Entry Hall. I began to climb the winding double staircase, 
expecting Miranna to follow, but she made a comment about 
wanting to stroll in the garden, as she was feeling stiff from 
the buggy ride.
 I wavered, debating whether I should join her, when the 
sound of a door opening and closing, and footfalls other than 
my sister’s reached my ears. I glanced down and saw Steldor 
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emerge from the guardroom to the right of the staircase, from 
which one could gain access to Cannan’s office. Not wanting 
to be seen, I hurried up the stairs to where Tadark was waiting 
on the landing. Steldor stood in the entryway for a moment, 
then headed in the same direction as Miranna, settling the 
question of whether or not I should follow after her. I instead 
elected to go on to the library.
 “You’re not actually going to wear breeches, are you?” 
Tadark asked when we reached my destination.
 It was obvious he had overheard my talk with Narian, 
and I feared he might mention my plan to the Captain of the 
Guard when next he reported, and that Cannan would relay 
the information to my father. That would put an end to any 
possibility of acquiring what I needed, which in turn would 
paint me as foolish in front of Narian when I returned empty-
handed, not to mention that it would leave me with no one to 
teach me self-defense. The time had come to refresh Tadark’s 
memory of something I had not mentioned since the day of 
the picnic.
 “Yes, I am,” I said with assurance. “And you are not to say 
a word about it…to anyone.”
 “It is hardly appropriate for a princess to wear a man’s cloth-
ing,” he muttered.
 “Your opinion isn’t relevant, Tadark, and this will not travel 
back to the captain or my father,” I declared, preparing to 
deliver my final blow. “Or I will be forced to inform them 
of your errors in judgment when Miranna was injured at the 
picnic.”
 Tadark’s face paled and I felt a twinge of pleasure in know-
ing that I had secured his cooperation.
 “Fine,” he mumbled, crossing his arms.
 Feeling rather proud of myself, I began to ponder the 
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problem of how to obtain the trousers. Concluding that I 
needed a coconspirator, I decided to find Miranna in the 
garden after all.
 I left the library and descended the spiral staircase, making 
my way to the rear entrance of the palace. Tadark held the 
doors open for me and I stepped out into the waning sunlight. 
As I looked down the row of unlit torches, I saw not far from 
where I stood Halias resting against the wall in a posture that 
brought London to mind.
 “Where is Mira?” I asked, for he normally would have been 
walking with her.
 “She is by that fountain,” he said, smiling in greeting and 
pointing down the path in front of me.
 I turned to approach the fountain he had indicated, leaving 
Tadark in his company and, as I did so, saw that Miranna was 
not alone.
 Her back was to me, but over her shoulder, I could see Stel-
dor’s arrogant but incredibly handsome face. He was almost 
six inches taller than my sister, and based on his expression, 
took note of me before she had any idea that I was present. He 
was quite openly f lirting with her just as he had done during 
our picnic; on that day, he had been attempting to settle the 
score with me for refusing his advances. Now, as his dark eyes 
burned into mine over my sister’s back, a sneer curved his lips, 
and he did something even I would never have believed him 
capable of doing. Wrapping an arm around Miranna’s waist 
and placing his other hand upon her upper back, he pulled her 
to him and gave her a long and lingering kiss on the lips.
 I was too thunderstruck to react as Steldor stepped back from 
her. She swayed on her feet, overcome by his romantic gesture, 
but he moved around her without further consideration.
 “Princess,” he murmured, swaggering past me, his tone in 
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that single word revealing how infuriatingly satisfied he was 
with himself.
 Miranna turned in confusion as he sauntered away, not 
understanding his abrupt change in attitude, and I knew the 
moment she saw me, for her eyes widened in distress. She 
could no doubt sense my cold fury, though it was directed at 
Steldor and not at her. I walked toward her without speaking 
and with no design to be vindictive, but the darting of her 
eyes and her backward step told me she believed otherwise.
 “Alera,” she squeaked, her hands f lying to her face. “When 
did you…?”
 “I saw the kiss,” I said simply, saving her from having to 
stutter out the rest of her question. I was not angry with her—
there was little she could have done to prevent Steldor’s action. 
She was also, like most of the girls in the kingdom, infatuated 
with him, and to have her first kiss come from someone over 
whom she swooned had probably been thrilling. But now she 
was on the verge of tears.
 “I’m sorry! So sorry! It was childish of me to be f lirting 
with him. I’m sure I gave him the wrong impression. Steldor 
is yours— I had no right to kiss him, and you have every right 
to be upset with me.”
 My sister seemed oblivious to Steldor’s true motivation for 
kissing her.
 “It’s all right, Mira.” I tried to cut her off before she could 
continue with her unnecessary apologies. “Steldor is not mine, 
nor have I ever desired that he be mine. He can kiss whomever 
he wants, as can you. You have no reason to feel guilty.”
 She shook her head. “I feel so dreadful, Alera. Is there 
anything I can do to make it up to you?”
 “Once again, I am not upset with you,” I told her sincerely. 
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“But…” I trailed off, determining how best to say what I had 
in mind. “There is something you can do.”
 “What? I’ll do anything. Just find it in your heart to forgive 
me.”
 “Mira, I forgive you,” I said, then announced, “I need 
breeches.”
 “Breeches?” she repeated, baff led enough to momentarily 
forget her guilt over the incident with Steldor. “Whatever 
for?”
 “Narian is going to teach me basic self-defense,” I said, 
deciding that honesty was the best course of action. “He said 
he’d only do so if I wore breeches. That’s where I need your 
help.”
 “He’s teaching you…to defend yourself ? But isn’t that what 
our bodyguards are for?”
 I almost chuckled at how similar my sister’s observation 
was to what I had told Narian on our first visit to Koranis’s 
estate.
 “Do you want to help me or not?” I asked, knowing that 
delving into the details of my request’s origin was not relevant 
to her decision, and would only delay her answer.
 “Of course I’ll help,” she said right away, just as I had known 
she would.
 “Good.”
 I glanced toward our bodyguards to check that they had 
not moved within earshot, then pulled her down to sit beside 
me on one of the garden benches.
 “Now, the issue is how to obtain them. We could try the 
laundry, but I doubt any of the guards’ or servants’ trousers 
would fit me, and I know Father’s wouldn’t.”
 “Perhaps we could take Tadark’s,” Miranna suggested. “I 
think his breeches would come closest to fitting you.”
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 “But how would we remove them?” I blurted, the heat rising 
in my face as I realized how scandalously I had spoken.
 Miranna stared at me for a moment, joining me in my deep 
blush. Then we were both seized with the giggles, and any 
vestiges of tension dissipated.
 “I think, sister,” Miranna gasped, “that it would be wisest 
just to purchase a pair.”
 “Yes, that would be a better method. But how will we do 
it? No one will think it’s proper to sell trousers to a princess, 
and I don’t think we could fool Halias and Tadark about our 
activities for long.”
 Miranna twisted a curly lock of hair as she ruminated over 
my question, then she smiled.
 “We’ll commission someone to buy them for us!”
 “Like whom?”
 “I don’t know—but there are plenty of young boys in the 
marketplace who would be more than willing to earn some 
extra money by making a purchase for us. Market day is only 
three days away—how is that for perfect planning?”
 I nodded, impressed by the simplicity and yet brilliance of 
my sister’s idea, and a bit embarrassed that I had been unable 
to come up with it myself.

 The following days crept past. Miranna was exceedingly 
attentive toward me, despite my constant declarations that I 
was not angry with her, and together we created a plan to 
acquire a pair of breeches without raising anyone’s suspicions 
about what we were doing. By the time market day arrived, 
we were ready to put our strategy into action. As usual, we 
dressed like villagers so that we would not stand out amongst 
the crowd, and left the palace before midday. Our bodyguards 
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were again out of uniform and walking unobtrusively behind 
us, thanks to Halias, who was restraining Tadark.
 Miranna, having an uncanny ability to spot young men 
across great distances, was scanning the crowd for the boy 
who would play the most important part in our scheme—the 
buyer of the breeches. We needed someone to whom we could 
talk without our bodyguards becoming suspicious. Unfortu-
nately, we did not generally socialize with those outside of 
our immediate circle of upper-class young men and women. 
Two princesses chatting with a market boy might seem rather 
odd.
 Strolling beside me, Miranna let out a gasp, then grabbed 
my lower arm to bring me to a standstill.
 “What is it?” I inquired, thinking she had located our 
quarry.
 “Look,” she said, indicating where I should glance with a 
jerk of her head. “It’s Steldor and his friends.”
 I peered in the direction of her nod, and my gaze came to 
rest upon Steldor, who was the tallest and most handsome of 
the group and had a particular quality that called all eyes to 
him. As I took in his three friends, I realized that Barid and 
Devant were standing on either side of a cringing young man 
who wore the gold tunic of the City Guard. Steldor and Galen 
were particularly imposing figures, clad as they were in the 
black leather military jerkins that marked their rank as field 
commanders, and the young guard was struggling to present 
a brave front. Steldor, wearing a nasty grin, stood in front of 
his prey, jabbing him in the shoulder in a way that told me 
whatever was coming out of his mouth was less than kind. 
After a moment, the four friends burst out laughing and Galen 
clapped Steldor on the shoulder as if congratulating him on 
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a well-spoken insult, while the guard’s face turned red with 
resentment and humiliation.
 Taking Miranna’s hand, I moved us out of the f low of 
shoppers, and we watched in morbid fascination from twenty 
feet away as Galen lightly pushed Steldor aside and stepped 
forward to drape an arm around the young man’s shoulders 
in insincere amicability. He said something that elicited a few 
chortles from his cronies, going so far as to pat the guard’s 
f laming cheek in mockery. After that, he began to point at 
the dagger hanging from the young man’s belt, criticizing it 
in some way, then had the nerve to unsheathe it, disarming 
him and adding to his embarrassment.
 The guard at once tried to snatch back his knife, but Galen 
tossed it to Steldor, who caught it and f lipped it around once 
in his hand. Jerking free of Galen, the young man made an 
ineffectual lunge in another attempt to reclaim his weapon. 
Steldor held it away, laughing at his victim’s plight.
 It was then that the captain’s son became aware of Miranna 
and me, as well as of Halias, who had begun to walk pur-
posefully toward the group of friends. Without a word, Stel-
dor extended the dagger to the City Guard, his sadistic grin 
gradually becoming the smug expression with which I was 
all too familiar. The guard hastily reclaimed and sheathed his 
weapon, glancing distrustfully between the two field com-
manders. Steldor then signaled to his three friends, and the 
four of them began to walk away from the young man they 
had shamed. As they did so, Steldor turned to me and bowed, 
a sardonic gesture that indicated I should be applauding the 
show.
 “Oh, he is unbelievable!” I exclaimed, about to begin a 
potentially lengthy rant.

9780373210343_TS.indd   2399780373210343_TS.indd   239 2/4/11   9:31:08 AM2/4/11   9:31:08 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver240

 “Yes, he is,” Miranna cut in. “But I think I see the exact 
person we need.”
 She pointed in the direction of the four friends whom I had 
just gone from disliking to despising, and I saw Temerson dart 
around them. He seemed particularly jittery, as if he expected 
to be their next target, but the tension left his body as the 
group passed him by.
 Miranna f luffed her hair, then clasped my hand and pulled 
me forward. I cast Halias a grateful smile as we brushed past 
him, and he tilted his head in acknowledgment.
 Temerson’s back was toward us as we approached, and he 
jumped when Miranna tapped him on the shoulder.
 “P-Princess,” he stuttered, then seeing me, added, “ce—es. 
What are you doing here?”
 Miranna smiled at his f lustered reaction.
 “We’re shopping.”
 His face reddened at the absurdity of his question.
 “Well, yes—of course, what—what else would you be 
doing? I only meant, that, well, why are you here, talk—
talking to me?” he stammered, tripping over his tongue as he 
tried to clarify himself.
 “Because we’re friends, aren’t we?” Miranna answered, her 
tone so sweet and gentle that I had to look away lest I laugh.
 Temerson’s brown eyes widened and his eyebrows shot 
upward, indicating both his delight and astonishment at her 
suggestion.
 “I, uh, I, um, er, I mean…all right.”
 I could tell Miranna was now also trying not to laugh, as 
she did not want to embarrass our potential ally.
 “I’m glad that’s straightened out,” she said. “I’m afraid 
we don’t have much time to talk, but could I ask you for a 
favor?”
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 Temerson’s head bobbed up and down vigorously.
 “Yes, anything!” he said, at last delivering a straight 
sentence.
 Miranna placed her hand upon his arm and leaned forward 
to whisper to him, just in case there was a chance Halias or 
Tadark might overhear. As she finished, he stepped back from 
her, cocking his head to the side.
 “Really?”
 “Really.”
 While Miranna’s request was a bit unorthodox, I was posi-
tive Temerson would undertake it, if for no other reason than 
the gratitude he felt toward us for never disclosing the true 
cause of her injury at the picnic.
 “If that’s what you want,” he said in confusion.
 “Yes, thank you. We would appreciate it if you didn’t tell 
anyone about this,” Mira stressed, slipping a small pouch of 
money into his hand. “The breeches are for a friend of ours, 
who is about your height, but very slight in build. We have 
to go, but if you’d bring them to the palace later today or 
tomorrow—”
 “To the p-p-palace? Me? By myself ?” Temerson was 
alarmed.
 “You’ll be fine,” Miranna assured him. “Ask to see me—I’ll 
tell the guards I’m expecting you.”
 Temerson nodded tentatively as he murmured, “I can do 
it.” Though whether he was speaking to us or himself was 
unclear.

 However fretful he had been about completing his task, 
Temerson managed it in the end. Less than two hours later 
as I sat upon the sofa in my parlor, Tadark in an armchair 
across from me and a chessboard on a small table between us, 
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Miranna rushed through the door without knocking. She held 
a brown parcel in her hands and was beaming. Halias entered 
a step behind her, plainly perplexed by her mood.
 I scrambled to my feet, ignoring Tadark’s miserable moan 
of defeat as he realized my last move had made me the victor 
in the game he had been reluctant to play in the first place, 
and Miranna and I entered my bedroom. We perched upon 
my bed, and she untied the cords that crossed over each other 
to encircle the package from both directions. As she hastily 
tore the wrapping away, our eyes fell on a long-stemmed pink 
rose lying atop the package’s contents. Mira’s cheeks took on 
the hue of the rose’s petals as she carefully lifted it toward her 
face, breathing in its fragrance.
 “I guess ‘all right’ wasn’t enough of an indicator that he 
wants to be your friend,” I said, knowing how much Temer-
son’s simple gesture would mean to my sister. It was sweet and 
romantic, and Miranna would be gushing about it to Semari 
for weeks.
 I reached into the package and lifted out the remaining 
item—the breeches. They were made of lightweight wool, 
dark brown in color, and felt rough and coarse in my hands. I 
got to my feet and held them up to my waist; they fell almost 
to my ankles.
 “The length is workable,” Miranna observed. “But we may 
have to pull in the waist somehow.” She smiled widely at me. 
“Well, do you want to try them on?”
 I nodded eagerly, and Miranna assisted by unlacing the back 
of my dress. When next Narian saw me, he would have no 
excuse to disregard me, however lamentably he might view 
my kingdom’s culture.
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“HERE, SEE? I HAVE THEM,” I SAID, LIFTING UP MY 
breeches for Narian’s inspection. “Now you have no basis upon 
which to object to teaching me self-defense.”
 “I can object as long as you’re not wearing them,” he stated 
dryly.
 My cheeks heated and I hoped he could not see my 
embarrassment.
 “I’ll need to change.”
 I glanced around and the heat in my cheeks deepened. We 
were standing in a clearing in the woods that we had reached 
by virtue of a fifteen-minute hike on another narrow path. 
We had left Miranna and Semari at the river, Halias having 
distracted the two of them so that we could make our depar-
ture. While I would have preferred a shorter walk, we had to 
be far enough from the Recorah so that neither of our sisters 
nor Halias might stumble upon us. The worst part of our site 
was that there was no place for me to change with the excep-
tion of the woods surrounding us.
 Tadark, who stood not three feet from my side, absurdly 
close in light of the admonition I had given him on our last 
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visit, had begun to glare at me and Narian, already not liking 
the way this afternoon was going. I was not enamored of 
the situation myself. My discomfort increased at the thought 
that without my sister or my personal maid, I would have to 
ask either Tadark or Narian to unlace the back of my gown. 
Opting for the lesser of the two evils, I directed my request 
to Narian. At his nod, I turned around and he gathered my 
long brown hair together, draping it over my left shoulder.
 “You should put your hair up or braid it in the future,” he 
said as he loosened my laces. “Or better yet, cut it.”
 I glanced at him, unable to determine if he was serious, 
then walked toward the woods in as dignified a fashion as I 
could muster.
 “I insist that both of you turn your backs!” I called over 
my shoulder.
 I dodged behind some trees, and after glancing toward 
the clearing to make sure Narian and Tadark had obeyed my 
wishes, removed my dress. I pulled the breeches on as fast 
as I could, not wanting to have an encounter with someone 
while only half-clad. Having brought no shirt to wear with 
the trousers, I tucked in my chemise. While this was some-
what bulky, it had the benefit of taking up some of the extra 
space in the overly large garment. Despite this, the breeches 
would have fallen to my ankles had it not been for Miranna’s 
inspired thinking in giving me some of her hair ribbons to 
tightly cinch the waist.
 Regardless of the ease with which I could move while 
wearing men’s clothing, I found the breeches to be extremely 
uncomfortable. The rough fabric against my legs made me 
desperate to shed them in favor of my usual garb; further, 
the thought of emerging in such an outfit in front of my 
bodyguard and a young man I barely knew was distressing. 
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The absence of a heavy skirt covering my legs made me feel 
exposed.
 Knowing I was too far committed to change my mind and 
retain any dignity, I walked back into the clearing and over 
to face Narian and Tadark, who were standing side by side. 
Tadark shifted self-consciously, not wanting to look at me, yet 
unable to look elsewhere because of the utter ludicrousness of 
my appearance. Narian did not seem bothered in the least; it 
was probably stranger to him to see a woman in the garments 
we wore on a daily basis than it was to see me clothed as I 
now was.
 Narian stepped forward and to my right so that he stood 
between Tadark and me, and I could see the distrustful eyes 
of my bodyguard over his shoulder. Gripping my right elbow, 
Narian pulled me across the front of his body so my back was 
to his chest. I stiffened at his proximity, for although he was 
only an inch taller than me, I was conscious of his lean and 
muscular build, and my own vulnerability.
 “No need to be so tense,” he said, near enough to whisper 
in my ear. I could feel his breath as it passed over my cheek, 
and a shiver swept through me.
 He pulled my forearms up so they were in front of my chest, 
and I balled my fists, recognizing the fighting position he had 
assumed when he’d been forced to defend himself against 
Steldor.
 “Plant your feet shoulder-width apart,” he instructed, his 
voice brisk. “Move your left foot forward, just a little.”
 He turned my body away from him, then moved back 
almost on top of Tadark to examine my posture, and I released 
the breath I hadn’t known I’d been holding.
 “This is the basic fighting stance. Hold your left arm up 
a little higher, and relax your muscles. The stiffer you are, 
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the slower you’ll move. Now, the first thing you must learn 
is to always be aware of your surroundings. When you enter 
a room, you must take note of all who are present, and you 
must register every exit through which you could make an 
escape. The opportune moment for an enemy is the moment 
you let your guard down.”
 Without warning, he twisted to seize Tadark, and with 
great force, pulled my bodyguard toward him so that the Elite 
Guard was thrust across his hip and thrown to the ground. 
With a grunt of pain, Tadark landed on his back at my feet, 
head toward Narian, his usually well-kept, sandy-brown hair 
in disarray.
 “Any questions?” Narian asked, without extending a hand 
to help Tadark to his feet, as if my bodyguard were a prop to 
be used for demonstrations.
 Tadark sat up and glared at Narian, face ablaze with furious 
embarrassment. I was astounded at the young man’s audacity, 
and couldn’t help but conclude that he had been letting my 
guard know who was really in control. In any case, I had to 
concede that he had emphatically made his point.
 Narian strode toward a large tree at the edge of the clearing. 
He stepped behind it and reappeared a moment later with a 
sheathed half-sword in his hand that was similar to the long 
knives London had carried, only more elaborately styled.
 Tadark was on his feet by the time Narian returned, ready 
to charge full speed at him, a battle cry upon his lips. He 
resisted, recognizing that the young man was not posing a 
threat, for which I was thankful, more for Tadark’s sake than 
anyone else’s. But however grateful I was for my guard’s self-
restraint, I was troubled by the fact that, for the second time, 
Narian had acquired a weapon.
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 “Where did you get that?” I asked, seeing how firmly 
Tadark was clutching the hilt of his sword.
 “I borrowed it,” Narian said, unsheathing the weapon and 
holding it out to me.
 “From whom?” I persisted, grasping the sword rather clum-
sily as I had never before held one.
 “Koranis.”
 “And does Koranis know that you borrowed his sword?”
 Narian cocked his head and cast his eyes upward, as if pic-
turing what his father might be doing at that exact moment.
 “He may by now. So I suggest we not waste our time.” 
There was no remorse in his voice as he stepped around me 
to adjust the position of the sword in my hand.
 Now that I was gripping the weapon correctly, he began to 
teach me some basic movements. I groaned in frustration as 
I struggled to follow his directions, for I made mistake after 
mistake. After a time, he permitted me to take a break, and I 
rested, perspiration dampening my forehead despite the cool-
ness of the mid-September day.
 “Why is this so easy for you?” I asked, then blushed at my 
own idiocy. A typical Hytanican boy of Narian’s age would 
have had sufficient military training to instruct me, if so in-
clined, in the same things Narian was endeavoring to teach.
 Narian, unlike me, didn’t think my inquiry irrelevant. “I’ve 
been taught to handle a variety of weapons.”
 “I suppose your training has been similar to that of our 
boys,” I said, thinking out loud. I waited for him to confirm 
my statement, then realized he would have little knowledge 
of the way we schooled our young men.
 “Hytanican boys enter the Military Academy at fourteen, so 
you would be in your third year had you grown up here.”
 He gave me an odd look, as though uncertain as to my 
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interest, then seemed to perceive my curiosity as simply 
that—curiosity.
 “By the time I was fourteen, I’d already been in training 
for eight years.”
 I gave no response, hoping that none was necessary, as I 
was unable to formulate one. If he were telling the truth, he 
would have begun his training at age six. Six years old. I could 
not imagine what fighting skills one could teach a six-year-
old, and the only clear thought I processed was that his answer 
explained why Cokyrians made such fearsome warriors.
 “You were sent to military school when you were six?” I 
finally ventured. Our Military Academy housed its students 
during the training year, and I tried to imagine being separated 
from my family at such an age.
 “Not exactly.”
 “Were you taught by your father then?”
 I mentioned the only alternative a Hytanican boy would 
have had for learning such skills.
 Narian gave a short and mirthless laugh. “Father is not a 
fitting name for the one who trained me.”
 His words were vague, and I could tell he did not wish to 
discuss this further. Declaring my break at an end, he pro-
ceeded to demonstrate several defensive moves, and by the 
time my sister and I returned to the palace that evening, my 
arms were too sore to lift a cup of tea.

 It was a week later when Miranna and I climbed into the 
buggy to begin another journey to Koranis’s estate. As we 
traversed the countryside, I could see villagers hard at work 
in the fields, bringing in the crops. I myself did little to assist 
with the preparations for winter, but all the same, their activi-
ties were a sign of the approaching faire and tournament that 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2489780373210343_TS.indd   248 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



249

celebrated the end of the harvest—an event that was a source 
of excitement for me as well as everybody else.
 As we arrived at Koranis’s home, I knew by the way Ta-
dark’s jaw locked that he remained adamantly opposed to the 
idea of Narian instructing me in self-defense. I, on the other 
hand, was looking forward to Narian’s teaching, and had been 
practicing the movements he had shown me with the half-
sword using the only tools available to me—a hairbrush and 
a fireplace poker. I again had my breeches with me, having 
debated wearing the trousers underneath my regular clothing, 
but ultimately deciding I did not want their roughness against 
my legs as we traveled. To simplify changing, however, I was 
wearing a basic skirt and blouse, and my hair hung down my 
back in a long plait so it would not draw Narian’s criticism.
 After greeting Koranis and Alantonya, my sister and I, ac-
companied by Semari, Narian and our bodyguards, went off 
to enjoy the day. The weather was continuing to cool, and 
Alantonya had suggested that instead of visiting the river, we 
pick berries down at the forest’s edge. We took several willow 
baskets to fill as the fruit would be plentiful at this time of 
year.
 To save ourselves having to haul the filled baskets back to 
the house, we concluded it would be wise to make use of the 
buggy. Halias handled the reins, to spare our poor driver the 
boredom of watching while we picked the fruit, and I sat in 
front with him. Miranna and Semari were in the seat behind 
with the baskets at their feet, and Tadark rode his own mount. 
Narian received permission to ride Halias’s sorrel gelding and 
was thus saved the effort of saddling one of his father’s horses, 
and with that the six of us were on our way.
 The berry bushes were not far from the beginning of the 
path through the woods that we followed to reach the river, 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2499780373210343_TS.indd   249 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver250

perhaps less than a quarter mile. The leaves on the trees and 
bushes were now transforming their colors, painting Koranis’s 
estate in gorgeous tones of deep gold, orange and russet. I had 
not thought the Baron’s land could be any more beautiful, but 
the mixed palette of the forest was breathtaking.
 Upon reaching our destination, Halias tied the horses to 
the trunk of a tree and helped me down from the buggy, 
but before he could extend the same courtesy to Miranna 
or Semari, they had jumped to the ground, each carrying a 
basket, and had run toward the tree line.
 I glanced under the backseat of the buggy where I had 
hidden the package containing my breeches prior to leaving 
the city. As Narian had not attempted to speak with me, I did 
not know if he was in the mood to give instruction this day. 
Thinking he perhaps was not, I picked up a basket, intending 
to join the younger girls, but froze as I saw Halias approach 
the young man where he had dismounted.
 “I am to check you for weapons,” he informed Narian. 
“Captain of the Guard’s orders.”
 Without objection, Narian rolled up his left shirtsleeve, and 
extracted a dagger from a sheath strapped to the inside of his 
forearm.
 “You will find no others,” he said as he handed it to 
Halias.
 Halias gazed steadily into his eyes for a moment, then tucked 
the blade into a saddlebag and went to monitor the younger 
girls. Narian then approached me, and I fought the urge to 
ask if the weapon he had just surrendered to Halias had been 
“borrowed” from Koranis.
 “Retrieve your package from under the seat and tell your 
guard to bring his horse,” he murmured in my ear as he 
brushed past.
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 I nodded, marveling at how observant he was, then re-
trieved the package and tucked it into my basket.
 “Take your horse with you,” I said to Tadark, who was 
standing nearby.
 At the inquisitive lift in his eyebrows, I shrugged, indicating 
I knew no more about the request for the horse than did he. 
He scowled, surmising that this had been Narian’s idea, then 
trudged over to his mount to untie it, startling the animal in 
the process.
 Narian was standing a few yards from where Miranna and 
Semari were picking berries. Halias was between him and 
the girls, with his back to me. As I moseyed toward our sis-
ters, not wanting to draw notice, Narian disappeared into the 
woods. I peered into the trees to see where he had gone and 
discerned a narrow trail that widened as it reached farther into 
the forest. With one final f leeting look at the people to my 
right, I entered the woods and began to follow the path. A 
few moments later, Tadark approached from the left, leading 
his horse, having ducked into the trees some distance away 
from the others so as not to attract attention. Ahead, down 
the trail, I could see Narian waiting for me.
 “Where are we going?” I asked as I approached.
 “To the clearing,” he replied, his tone revealing that he 
viewed my question as superf luous. “You’ll need to wear those 
breeches again.”
 He turned and hiked on. Beginning to feel the weight of 
my skirt as we climbed a small slope, I called to him, panting 
from exertion.
 “Perhaps I should change now. It would make all this walk-
ing easier.”
 He stopped and turned to face me, silently consenting. I 
moved into the cover of the trees and pulled on the breeches, 
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emerging this time without a moment of indecision. After I 
had placed my skirt into the basket and surrendered both to 
Tadark, I began to follow Narian once more.
 When we reached the clearing, Narian walked behind the 
same tree from whence he had previously obtained the half-
sword, but when he emerged this time, he held a long, coiled 
rope. He gave the rope to me and went to Tadark’s horse.
 “We’re not going to be fighting today, if that’s what you 
wish to ask,” Narian volunteered, guessing my thoughts and 
managing with his simple statement to fill me with dread.
 “Then what are we doing?” I queried as he stripped the 
saddle and pad from the horse’s back.
 Tadark’s body went rigid and his eyebrows dove toward 
his nose in a scowl, which Narian ignored. After putting the 
saddle on the ground, Narian grabbed the reins, pulling them 
from my bodyguard’s grasp, and led the horse toward me.
 “Surely women in Cokyri don’t ride horses,” I hedged, 
hoping I was wrong about his intentions.
 “The woman who raised me is one of the best riders in the 
empire,” he told me, and I noted that this was only the second 
time he had referred to someone who had been present during 
his childhood. I was too absorbed in my own predicament, 
however, to give his statement further consideration.
 “You don’t expect me to get on that creature, do you?” I 
sputtered, ready to refuse with all my strength of will.
 “Do you expect me to continue teaching you?” he coun-
tered, taking the rope from my hand and attaching it to the 
horse’s bridle.
 I frowned, not liking where this was heading.
 “I…do.”
 “Then I suggest you get on the horse.” There was the slight-
est trace of humor in his voice.
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 He tied the reins together and slipped them over the ani-
mal’s neck, laying them upon its withers. The horse was a 
dark bay with a black mane and tail, and although it stood 
calmly enough, I was certain there was an evil gleam in its 
large brown eyes. It snorted and pawed the ground as if to 
substantiate my belief.
 “I don’t like horses,” I said, though I sensed there was noth-
ing I could do to deter him.
 I gazed at Narian pleadingly, but he simply stood beside the 
bay, patting its neck, his steely eyes commanding me. With 
a deep breath, I acquiesced and stepped up to the beast, then 
waited for Narian to lift me onto its back.
 He did no such thing. He simply bent his knee toward me 
while holding the reins under the horse’s chin, offering his 
leg as a step so that I could mount by myself. As much as I 
wanted to, my pride would not let me back down, even though 
it seemed to me that the animal had grown incredibly large 
in the last few seconds. If Narian thought I could mount this 
beast by myself, then I would not prove him wrong. I put my 
left foot on his leg and hoisted myself upward, balancing a 
moment before proceeding.
 “Take hold of the mane,” he instructed, and I did as I 
was told, wrapping my fingers into my mount’s coarse hair. 
Surprisingly, I managed to jump up on the first try, though 
I landed on my stomach across the horse’s back. I fought to 
avoid sliding downward, employing my full strength so that 
I was finally able to swing my right leg over the beast and sit 
upright.
 I beamed at my accomplishment, even though Tadark, who 
was standing at the edge of the clearing near the saddle, gazed 
askance at me. I ignored him, looking instead at Narian, who 
was shaking his head in mild amusement.
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 He began to lead the horse and before I knew it, had ex-
tended the rope so that the bay was walking briskly around 
him in large circles.
 “Sit up straight, but don’t stiffen,” Narian said to me, his 
voice light and calming. “You can let go of the mane. I prom-
ise you won’t fall.”
 I relinquished the mane, to which I had been clinging quite 
tightly, and rested my hands on my thighs. I began to think 
myself silly for having been so fearful of riding, feeling more 
secure now that I had mounted on my own and was sitting 
on the back of the moving animal without having suffered 
injury.
 “Now let your legs stretch down,” Narian directed, falling 
silent when I obeyed.
 As I relaxed, my hips moved with the horse’s gait, and I 
began to feel as if riding was an improvement over walking. 
Although I hated to admit it, I was enjoying myself, and 
couldn’t keep from smiling.
 “You’re doing well,” Narian said to me. “You may yet 
become a rider.”
 “What else do I need to know?”
 “Hold on to the mane again, and I’ll show you,” he said, 
and my anxiety reemerged.
 I latched onto the horse’s thick locks, but before I could 
question Narian’s instruction, he urged my mount into a slow 
trot with a soft cluck of his tongue.
 Instinctively, I leaned forward into the animal’s neck, cling-
ing to its f lowing black mane, certain I would fall. As I f lopped 
about like a fish trapped on shore, I wanted nothing more than 
for my riding lesson to end.
 “Sit up,” Narian called. “You have to sit up straight and 
move with the horse, just like before.”
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 “But that’s impossible!” I cried, my voice breaking every 
time one of my mount’s hooves connected with the ground.
 “It’s not impossible. You simply have to try. Now use your 
hands to push yourself upright.”
 His words might have been reassuring had I still been paying 
attention, but I was too petrified to comprehend, afraid I 
would crash to the ground. My pride and my determination 
not to disappoint Narian had deserted me, and now surviving 
was the only thing upon which I concentrated.
 “Alera, you’re not listening to me,” he said, and I was be-
ginning to think he found me entertaining.
 “I can’t!”
 Narian brought the horse to a halt and came toward me, 
casually coiling the rope around his hand. I sat up as he ap-
proached. Maybe he’s given up on me, I thought, silently begging 
him to help me dismount.
 He untied the end of the rope from the bit and tossed it to 
the side.
 “Move forward,” he said.
 “What?”
 “Move toward the neck,” he repeated, speaking slowly as 
if he thought my awkward riding had jostled my brain.
 I slid forward, disappointed that the lesson was not coming 
to an end. Before I could venture a guess as to what he was 
planning, he had grabbed the mane and swung onto the horse’s 
back, landing behind me. Placing a hand on my waist, he 
pressured me to shift toward him so I would be correctly 
positioned on the animal’s back.
 He reached around me and took the reins in both hands, 
clucking so that the bay moved back into a trot. I was tense 
now for more than one reason—the gait was no more com-

9780373210343_TS.indd   2559780373210343_TS.indd   255 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver256

fortable the second time around, plus Narian was sitting so 
close to me that I was forced to rest against him.
 If I was feeling f lustered before, however, what he did next 
put me into shock. He dropped the reins, which were still tied 
together so they would not fall to the ground, and placed his 
hands upon my hips.
 “You are too stiff,” he said, his tone calming. “Just sink 
into the horse’s gait, and let your body move with it.”
 With his hands he began to guide my hips into following 
the rhythm of the horse’s legs, and warmth spread from his 
palms throughout my entire body.
 The trot now felt much smoother and was easier to ride, and 
I once again had to work to suppress a smile of accomplish-
ment. We rode in circles just as I had while Narian had been 
on the ground, the horse responding to the pressure he applied 
to its sides with his legs. He turned our mount around to trot 
in the other direction, the quickness of the animal’s motion 
startling me, but with his hands resting steadily on my hips, 
I was not frightened.
 “This isn’t so tricky after all,” I announced, proud of my 
new abilities.
 “I’m glad you feel that way because we have one last lesson 
today.”
 I didn’t know whether to be pleased or apprehensive. “And 
what lesson is that?”
 He gave a short laugh, and then released my hips to wrap 
his right arm around my waist. Without warning, he pulled 
me sharply to the left so that we toppled off the horse, and I 
shrieked in alarm as the ground came up to meet us.
 Narian twisted so that I landed mostly on top of him, my 
cry stuck in my throat due to the jolt of the impact. I was 
too dazed to react for a moment, then scrambled to my feet, 
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horrified, as I realized that my position on top of him was 
hardly proper.
 “What sort of lesson was that?” I demanded.
 I could scarcely believe that after he had promised me I 
wouldn’t fall, he had made me do so. I was too f labbergasted 
to be angry, though the latter emotion would likely emerge 
soon enough.
 Narian had propped himself up on his elbow and, to my 
astonishment, he began to laugh. His face was alight and he 
looked like a different person altogether, his cheeks f lushed 
with happiness, his blue eyes bright and unguarded. My anger 
and incredulity were shut out for an instant as I saw a genuine 
smile grace his features for the first time since I had known 
him.
 “You’re…laughing,” I said, strangely not offended by the 
fact that he was laughing at me. Instead, I was touched. He had 
always hidden his feelings and I felt privileged that I was the 
one around whom he felt he could drop his cold pretenses.
 The smile faded as he came to his feet. He regarded me 
almost fondly for a moment before his countenance became 
shielded, as if his sudden display of emotion had been a 
mistake.
 “Now that you know you can handle a fall,” he said, “you’ll 
be less worried about it in the future.”
 My attention was drawn by Tadark’s outraged stomping as 
he advanced on Narian, stopping directly in front of him, his 
left hand resting on the hilt of his sword.
 “Get away from the Princess!” he barked, though the dis-
tance I had created between myself and Narian when I had 
leapt up was several feet, and no attempt had been made to 
close that gap.
 Narian’s face did not change, except that his eyebrows went 
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up in amusement, as Tadark, posturing like a child in the 
throes of a temper tantrum, began to berate him.
 “This is so vastly improper I can barely stand it. Women 
in breeches, women on horseback. And a princess, no less! I 
don’t know what you were thinking—she could have been 
injured. She could have died! Your behavior is reprehensible.” 
Rounding on me, he added, “Both of you! I don’t care what 
you say, Princess, and I no longer care whether I lose my post 
over this or not—no more of these lessons. You could have 
been hurt! Not to mention how horribly unbecoming it is for 
a lady of the royal family to be…to be…”
 He gestured violently with his hand to indicate my appear-
ance, his face red, jaw clenched and eyes bulging, unable to 
find the correct descriptive words.
 “And you,” he said, pointing an accusatory finger at Narian, 
“were sitting much too close to her!”
 Tadark marched over to his not-so-lively steed, which was 
contentedly munching grass, and snatched its reins. He led 
it over to where I had mounted, and tossed on the saddle, 
fastening it with a vengeance.
 “We’re going back,” he pronounced, leaving no room for 
argument.
 I shot Narian a rueful look, hoping Tadark had not of-
fended him, but he showed no reaction, following after my 
antagonistic bodyguard and his horse. I knew that I should be 
outraged by Narian’s conduct, but instead I resented Tadark 
for interrupting us and ending the lesson.
 We stopped halfway back so that I could change clothes, 
then continued on our way. We reached the edge of the forest 
just as Miranna and Semari, bored with berry picking, were 
beginning to look for us.
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 “Oh, there you are,” Miranna said, her eyes f litting from 
me to Narian suggestively. “Where were you?”
 “We went for a walk,” I explained smoothly.
 “With Tadark’s horse?”
 I shrugged toward my guard as if to say that he was the 
reason the horse had accompanied us.
 We sat in the shade to eat some of the delicious raspberries 
and blackberries that Miranna and Semari had picked, then 
the younger girls scrambled into the buggy and we packed 
the baskets around their feet. I winced as I climbed up to sit 
next to Halias on the hard wooden seat. Horseback riding, or 
perhaps falling, had made me quite sore.
 “Is anything wrong, Princess?” Halias asked at my sharp 
intake of breath.
 “No, I’m fine. Picking berries was just more strenuous than 
I expected it would be.”
 The dubious glance he gave me was a reminder that he was 
well aware of my failure to participate in the activity.
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WE STAYED A SHORT WHILE AT KORANIS’S HOME 
before beginning what, for me, was an unpleasant trip back 
to the palace, as the jostling inherent in the buggy ride did 
nothing for my aches. Miranna looked at me several times, but 
did not dare press me for information given the proximity of 
our bodyguards and with a Palace Guard as our driver. Upon 
our arrival, I retreated, exhausted, to my rooms, instruct-
ing Sahdienne to prepare my bath. I was taking a soothing 
soak in the water when there was a knock on the door to my 
quarters.
 I would have sent my maid to answer, but I had dismissed 
her after she had readied my bath, and Tadark was off duty 
as I had no plans to go anywhere else this day. I waited, 
hoping my would-be visitor would leave, but the knock was 
repeated with more insistence. I slipped on my nightgown to 
pad through the parlor and open the door myself, certain of 
whom I would find on the other side.
 Miranna sprang across the threshold, seized my hand and 
dragged me into my bedroom, settling herself upon the bed. 
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I lowered myself to sit beside her, my muscles stiff and sore, 
knowing what she wished to discuss.
 “So tell me what you were really doing today.”
 “You probably wouldn’t believe me if I did,” I replied with 
a quiet laugh.
 “Try me.”
 “All right, I was given my first horseback riding lesson.”
 Miranna gasped, wide-eyed. “Well, that’s unexpected.”
 “It was for me as well.”
 She smiled slyly. “Well, is Lord Narian a good teacher?”
 My cheeks pinked as I recalled the pleasure I had felt when 
Narian had been sitting behind me on the horse’s back.
 “Can I assume then that you’ve been enjoying your  lessons?” 
she teased, reading me with ease.
 Hoping to save myself from further embarrassment, I said 
lightly, “They’re quite unlike anything I’ve experienced 
before.”
 “Sounds to me like Steldor may have acquired some 
competition.”
 Miranna’s smile faded, for she knew Steldor was not a good 
topic to broach around me, but she could not take back the 
words.
 “With or without competition, Steldor has no chance of 
winning my affections,” I declared, my detestation for the 
young man gaining control of my tongue.
 “Have you spoken to him since…we were together in the 
garden?”
 “No, nor do I have any desire to speak with him. I’d prefer 
he keep his distance.”
 If possible, Miranna’s face fell even further, her eyes drop-
ping to the cream-colored spread atop my bed. I understood 
then that she viewed herself as at least partly responsible for 
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my negative feelings toward Steldor, perhaps thinking she had 
come between us. I regretted having entered into the subject, 
not only for my sake, but for hers as well.
 “My objections to Steldor originated long before the inci-
dent in the garden. You are not responsible for the way I feel 
about him,” I reminded her.
 She raised her head and I patted her hand, which was 
enough to reawaken her playful mood.
 “And do you have objections to Narian?” she cajoled.
 I mentally revisited my rationale for why Narian could not 
be counted among my suitors—he was too young, although 
in truth the youthfulness of his face was belied by the lack of 
childishness in his manner. I could not fathom what kind of 
upbringing would compel someone to act so much older than 
his years. And then there was the fact that we had learned next 
to nothing about his past. I had a difficult time placing my 
trust in someone about whom so little was known.
 But today I had seen a different side of Narian. I had 
glimpsed within him someone to whom I could relate, perhaps 
someone I could befriend. But just as quickly as that part of 
him had emerged, it had vanished. I sighed as I tried to figure 
out how best to express my thoughts.
 “I don’t know how to feel when I’m around him. I’ve spent 
quite some time with him now, and yet he won’t let me see 
who he really is. He is always so serious, so aloof and distant. 
Today was the first time he truly relaxed, and it was only for 
a f leeting moment.”
 “What happened today?” Miranna queried, and I realized 
I had not shared any details of the day’s visit.
 “I fell off the horse,” I said, knowing there was no way to 
make that particular event sound more dignified. “And he 
laughed.”
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 For some reason, I did not want to tell Miranna that Narian 
had been on the horse with me and had pulled me from its 
back.
 “You weren’t hurt, were you?”
 “No, just my pride. But in that moment, Narian seemed so 
open— I had never seen him like that before. I couldn’t help 
but feel something for him.”
 “Feel what?”
 “I don’t know,” I said, the truth gnawing at my insides. “It’s 
all so confusing.”
 My sister’s sly tone returned. “Do you find any other young 
man likewise confusing?”
 “No, he’s very unique.”
 She smiled sweetly.
 “What?” I demanded, irked by the way that smile suggested 
she knew more than I did.
 “I’ve never heard you talk about anyone this way before.” 
She giggled, and I could not contradict her. “You may as well 
accept it, Alera—you have another suitor.”
 Before I could respond, Miranna hopped off the bed to bid 
me a cheerful good-night, then pranced from the room. A 
moment later, I heard her exit my quarters, leaving me alone 
with my tangled thoughts.

 The following morning when Tadark came on duty, he 
brought with him a message that we were to report to the 
Captain of the Guard’s office. I knew that Cannan would 
expect to hear about my visits with Narian, and as we walked 
the corridors, I tried to decide what details I could relate. I was 
unwilling to divulge most of what I had told Miranna, for the 
information was either too personal or too objectionable.
 We arrived at Cannan’s office much sooner than I would 
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have liked. The last time I had been in this office I had felt 
as though I were under interrogation, and I was not looking 
forward to another round of questions. All such worries f lew 
from me, however, when I saw Destari standing in Cannan’s 
office near his desk. As Destari had not been involved in any 
of my visits, I did not think the captain could be planning to 
discuss Narian.
 Cannan bade me to sit in the same chair I had occupied 
during our previous meeting, and I felt a twinge of unease. 
Tadark did not follow me all the way into the room, but 
faltered by the door as if he were not permitted to cross the 
threshold.
 “You are dismissed, Lieutenant,” the captain said, and 
Tadark departed.
 As my brows knit together, Cannan turned his attention 
to me.
 “Destari is replacing Tadark as your personal bodyguard. I 
assume this will be a satisfactory arrangement?”
 I nodded, but could not stif le my curiosity. “Why is Tadark 
being replaced?”
 I had known that problems would result if the lieutenant 
carried out his threat to put a stop to my “lessons,” but had 
never seriously believed he might be dismissed from his post 
due to my activities.
 “He asked to be reassigned. He informed me that personal 
conf licts had arisen that were compromising his ability to 
protect you.”
 A sinking feeling pushed me farther into the seat of the 
hard chair, and my pulse hammered in my temples. Tadark 
had spoken to his captain. How much did Cannan know? Was 
he aware of the things Narian had been teaching me? And if 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2649780373210343_TS.indd   264 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



265

I withheld that information, would I be caught lying to the 
Captain of the Guard?
 I swallowed but said nothing, hoping neither Cannan nor 
Destari would notice how overwrought I had become. Thank-
fully, the captain did not leave me waiting for long.
 “You’ve been to Koranis’s estate several times over the last 
few weeks,” he said in his businesslike manner. “What can 
you tell me?”
 I stalled before replying for as long as I dared, knowing I 
was risking a rebuke, then said, “Narian doesn’t say much, 
especially about Cokyri. I’ve learned very little.”
 “I asked you what you have learned, not how much you 
have learned. I will judge the importance of the information 
myself.”
 I did not think he was angry—he just did not allow anyone 
to evade him. I was going to have to tell him something.
 “Narian talked a little about his military background,” I 
reported, nervously entwining my fingers. “He told me he 
began training when he was six.”
 The captain said nothing. I had expected some reaction 
from him, but his expression told me he knew there was more 
information to be garnered. I squirmed inside, as his com-
manding power, coupled with his dark hair and eyes, made 
him tremendously intimidating.
 “I don’t know the nature of his training,” I continued, 
hoping to satisfy Cannan without revealing too much. “But he 
gave the impression that he was not sent to a school, at least not 
at that age. He spoke of one teacher, but the man was not his 
Cokyrian father. He also made reference to a woman having 
raised him, but he did not call her mother.” As I relayed this 
information, something else came to mind. “In fact, he has 
never mentioned a mother, a father or a family in Cokyri.”
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 Cannan nodded. When I did not speak further, he stood 
to dismiss me.
 “Very well, then. You will no longer meet with Narian as 
you have been these past weeks, although more conventional 
visits are, of course, permitted.”
 I froze, staggered. There was no denying that Tadark had 
told his captain everything. My reaction was not only due to 
Tadark’s tattling, however. It was, to a much greater extent, 
due to Cannan’s lack of disapproval. The fact that he had not 
thought it necessary to specifically address my unorthodox 
excursions gave me hope that he had also considered it un-
necessary for my father to be informed of them. He simply 
intended to make the point that nothing escaped his knowl-
edge, and in that he had succeeded.
 “Thank you,” I said as I rose to my feet, knowing Cannan 
would catch my true meaning.

 Later that afternoon, Miranna sought me out in a state 
of excitement. She rushed into the tearoom on the main 
f loor where I was sitting by the bay window, warming my 
hands on my cup and watching the rain fall in the expansive 
West Courtyard, my pensive mood complemented by the 
weather.
 “We’ve received an invitation to Semari’s birthday celebra-
tion! And it’s just two weeks away,” Miranna announced, 
waving a scroll of parchment beneath my nose.
 My expression mirrored her enthusiasm, but for an entirely 
different reason. I had been more disappointed than I cared 
to admit that my meetings with Narian had ended. Though 
I knew an occasional visit would be permitted, Cannan had 
deprived me of the only available justification to see the young 
man that would not draw questions from my father. Not to 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2669780373210343_TS.indd   266 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



267

mention I would now have to deal with Destari’s much more 
assertive presence. I knew that I would be permitted no lati-
tude while he was my bodyguard, whether or not he had been 
informed of my recent activities. This celebration, as I saw it, 
would provide me with a chance to see Narian in a different 
but completely legitimate context, one that would arouse no 
one’s suspicion.
 I took the invitation from Miranna and unrolled it, glancing 
over the details. The event was to be held on October twelfth, 
with activities and games such as tag, footraces and apple bob-
bing in the afternoon, followed by an evening of feasting and 
dancing. As Semari was reaching the age of fifteen, I knew 
this would be an elaborate affair. At fifteen, young women 
in Hytanica came of courting age, although marriage before 
the age of eighteen was discouraged.
 Miranna gleefully snatched the invitation from my hand as 
soon as I had finished, and skipped out the door.
 “I simply can’t wait!” she called as she disappeared from 
sight.

 The two weeks until Semari’s party f lew by, as preparations 
for the Harvest Festival generated a maelstrom of activities 
throughout Hytanica. It was exhilarating to roam the city and 
observe the changes as merchants and businessmen positioned 
themselves to earn a sizable profit off the large number of 
visitors that were certain to attend.
 The site for the faire was the grassy area that was the loca-
tion for market day. Here, additional tents for vendors had 
been set up and small stages were being erected at intervals 
among the tents for use by performers. The shop fronts in the 
Market District were being cleaned, and I noted several freshly 
painted signboards identifying some of the establishments. The 
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taverns, inns and public bathhouses in the Business District 
were also being readied for a large inf lux of guests.
 The land just west of the faire sloped down to the f lat mili-
tary training field that would be the locus of the tournament. 
The field was south of the sprawling Military Complex that 
lay to the west of the palace. Both the Military Academy and 
the military base that made up the complex used the field for 
maneuvers, although it was being marked out at this time to 
serve the needs of the upcoming competitions.
 When the day of Semari’s birthday was upon us, Miranna 
and I traveled in luxury in an enclosed carriage to Koranis’s 
estate as part of a large contingent from the palace. My par-
ents led our caravan in their private coach, as they thought 
it probable they would return to the palace at an earlier time 
than their daughters, and a third carriage bore the King’s and 
Queen’s personal assistants. A dozen Elite Guards, including 
Destari and Halias, rode alongside our caravan on horseback, 
while twenty-some Palace Guards brought up the rear. As 
my parents were not interested in the games mentioned in 
the invitation, we left the palace so that we would reach our 
destination in the late afternoon, just before the feasting was 
to begin.
 The weather had become noticeably cooler and the days 
noticeably shorter, which encouraged the leaves to fall from 
the trees and put additional spring into the horses’ trots. Given 
these seasonal changes, the carriages had been stocked with 
fur throws and lanterns for use during the journey home.
 As soon as we arrived, grooms came to take charge of our 
horses, and servants escorted us to the grounds behind the 
house, where a large, multicolored, open-sided tent in which 
the feast would be served had been erected, and a planked f loor 
had been laid for dancing. As we ambled toward the tent, I 
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could see that long rows of tables had been arranged inside, 
with one raised table at the far side, perpendicular to the rest, at 
which the royal family and the hosts would sit. The high table 
was draped in royal-blue cloth, and several of the kingdom’s 
royal-blue-and-gold f lags f luttered behind. Cooks were busy 
setting out dishes laden with food on a table draped in white 
linen at the near end that would be used for serving. While 
some guests were milling about the area, most had strolled 
down the gentle slope to watch or participate in the variety 
of games taking place at the forest’s edge.
 Koranis, resplendent in all his finery, and Alantonya, a more 
understated match, came to greet us. I glanced around as my 
parents talked with their hosts, but I could not find Narian. I 
did not dare ask Koranis and Alantonya his whereabouts, lest 
the inquiry be considered rude in light of the fact that this 
occasion was in Semari’s honor. Such an inquiry might also 
have piqued my father’s interest.
 Miranna and I walked the grounds, ostensibly in search 
of her best friend, although I continued to sweep the crowd 
for her older brother. As it turned out, Semari located us and 
came bounding our way with a large and inviting grin upon 
her face.
 “I’m so glad you could come!” she exclaimed, clutching 
Miranna’s hands. Before my sister could return her greeting, 
Semari had begun to drag her down the hill toward the place 
where another round of horseshoe toss was beginning. “You’ll 
never guess who’s here!”
 I looked toward the group of boys and girls surrounding the 
area designated for the game and saw among them the young 
man with reddish-brown hair whom my sister had come to 
favor. Clinging to his arm was a boy about half his size and 
age, presumably his brother.

9780373210343_TS.indd   2699780373210343_TS.indd   269 2/4/11   9:31:09 AM2/4/11   9:31:09 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver270

 Semari and Miranna joined the group, Miranna smoothing 
the skirt of her dark green gown in anticipation of talking with 
Temerson. She attempted unsuccessfully to capture the curly 
strands of hair that fell across her cheeks, which had escaped 
the ribbon that gathered her locks at the nape of her neck.
 Although I knew Narian did not necessarily appreciate the 
way Hytanican women adorned themselves, I, too, had taken 
special care with my appearance this evening. I was attired in 
a f lared deep blue velvet gown with a square-necked white 
satin stomacher. The shoulders were puffed and slashed, and 
the sleeves were tightly laced from elbow to wrist, extending 
over the back of my hands to a point. My dark hair had been 
swept up off my shoulders and was encircled by a delicate tiara 
consisting of two parallel silver bands set with alternating sap-
phires and diamonds.
 I had not gone with Semari and Miranna, as I knew their 
chatter would center on the male species, a subject I did not 
want to discuss. Looking back toward the house, I saw that 
Cannan and Faramay had arrived and were approaching my 
parents, having elected to forgo the games just as we had. I 
had already determined that the man I reviled was not on the 
grounds, and his absence from his parents’ side gave me reason 
to believe he had chosen not to attend.
 Most of the guests had gathered at the bottom of the hill, 
and I went to join them, my parents and their friends following 
soon after. I did not spend much time greeting those around 
me, for I wanted to find Narian. As I scanned the area, I saw 
Cannan break away from my father and mother and, leaving 
Faramay behind, begin to walk in my direction. Confused as 
to what he could want with me, I glanced over my shoulder 
and realized he had made eye contact with Destari, who stood 
about ten feet away.
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 Destari did not move as his captain arrived. Judging from 
their serious demeanor and hushed tones, the issue about which 
they spoke was of some importance. Even though they were 
not far from me, the incessant prattle of the people in the area 
made it difficult to distinguish a single word, regardless of 
how hard I strained my ears.
 Their conversation complete, Destari and Cannan walked 
toward the edge of the forest. While I had not expected my 
bodyguard to stay at my side all evening, given the vast number 
of guards who had accompanied my parents and were now 
scattered about the estate, the reason for his departure seemed 
official and therefore worth knowing. My curiosity burning, 
I determined to find out where Cannan was going and what 
was so important that he needed to have Destari accompany 
him.
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I FOLLOWED DESTARI AND CANNAN TOWARD
the tree line as furtively as I could, weaving my way through 
the guests. Though they walked purposefully, I was unsure 
of their destination until I noticed Narian, dressed once more 
in dark colors, leaning against the trunk of a large maple 
tree. Narian had an uncanny ability to hide in plain sight and 
thus pass undetected by almost everyone, including me, but 
apparently not by the Captain of the Guard. The sixteen-
year-old was indifferently observing the celebratory activities, 
but shifted his gaze to Destari and Cannan the moment they 
began to approach him, as though he had been monitoring 
their movements.
 I could see no harm in what Narian was doing and did not 
understand why Cannan would want to meet with him. I 
found myself worried for the young man’s sake, but he moved 
away from the forest’s edge and toward the two soldiers, no 
sign of misgiving in his stride. This time, as I inched closer so 
that I was on the fringe of the crowd, I was able to overhear 
their discussion.
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 “I have been informed that you have quite a talent for 
acquiring weapons,” Cannan stated. “I hear you are never 
without one. So, tell me, are you now armed?”
 “I am,” Narian replied without hesitation.
 The captain inclined his head in appreciation of receiving 
an answer as straightforward as his query, then his eyes f licked 
toward Narian’s hip, where he would have held a sword or 
dagger, finally moving down to check his boots.
 “I see no weapons,” the captain pronounced, with a mea-
sure of disbelief that sprang from the fact that his own men 
had disarmed Narian when he had been taken prisoner. Still, 
it could not be denied that the young man had managed to 
acquire a weapon on at least three occasions.
 “I have them,” Narian repeated.
 “Is there a problem, gentlemen?” interrupted a self-
 important voice I recognized as belonging to Koranis. The 
Baron was panting lightly, his thinning blond hair dampened 
with perspiration, as he hurried over to the two men confront-
ing Narian.
 “Are you aware that your son has been impermissibly ob-
taining weapons?” Cannan asked, without taking his eyes off 
the boy standing before him.
 “Surely you overstate the situation,” Koranis blustered. “As 
you well know, he took a dagger off my person several weeks 
ago and was duly punished. There have been no other such 
instances.”
 Cannan gave a small shake of his head and Koranis rounded 
on his son.
 “What weapons are these? Where have you been getting 
them?”
 Narian shrugged, unruff led. “Some are my own. Others 
are yours.”
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 Koranis’s affronted frown deepened and he looked from 
Destari to Cannan as if trying to assess their reactions.
 “That’s impossible,” he sputtered, evidently concluding 
that he needed to defend himself. “I keep all my weapons in 
a locked trunk in my bedroom.”
 “Perhaps you need better locks,” Narian responded with 
not-so-subtle disrespect.
 “This is absurd!” Koranis’s face turned a shade close to 
maroon. I guessed he was insulted by the fact that Cannan 
and Destari did not doubt the young man.
 Narian ignored the Baron, presumably deeming his father 
no longer worthy of his time, and addressed Cannan, his tone 
disdainful.
 “You can hardly expect the rabbit to keep up with the 
fox.”
 Koranis let out a breath, too appalled by his son’s audacity to 
formulate a response. Fortunately for everyone involved, the 
Baron did not see Cannan’s nod toward Narian that indicated 
he understood his point.
 “We will be requiring a location away from your guests,” 
the captain informed Koranis. “Narian was about to show us 
the weapons he carries.”
 Narian’s eyebrows lifted, as if he were trying to recall when 
he had so agreed, but he did not protest.
 The Baron huffed a few times, unaccustomed to taking 
orders while on his own property and irked that Cannan had 
not referred to his son as Kyenn. But he chose not to make 
his complaints known.
 “We can go around to the front of the house,” he indicated 
with some measure of grace, and began to lead the way.
 Cannan, Destari and Narian followed, while I trailed a fair 
distance behind, praying I would not be discovered. The four 
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men reached the top of the hill and I allowed a few minutes 
to pass before pursuing them, knowing that once I left behind 
the bantering guests, my movements would be easier to detect. 
When I felt relatively safe, I sidled up to the side of the house 
and peered around the corner to look into the front yard.
 “Any weapons you may have in the home are of inter-
est to me as well,” the captain was saying. “Go and retrieve 
them.”
 Narian stood a few feet in front of the others, facing them. 
“None of my own weapons are in the house. I could, however, 
retrieve Koranis’s for you.”
 “That won’t be necessary,” Cannan said, ignoring once 
more the disrespect for his father in the young man’s voice. 
“Well?” he prompted.
 “It would be best to demonstrate my weaponry,” Narian 
stated. “I need a target.”
 Cannan motioned to an oak tree thirty or so feet from 
where I was hiding. As the group of men moved toward it, I 
jerked back to avoid being seen, but to my mortification, did 
not move fast enough.
 “Princess, you may as well come out,” Destari called, and 
my heart began to pound as I anticipated how irate Cannan 
would be with me.
 I stepped out, knowing there was no use in pretending 
that my presence by the house had been a coincidence, and 
approached the men, my eyes on the Captain of the Guard, 
trying to gauge his reaction. To my relief, he turned away 
without a word, and it occurred to me that he saw no point 
in issuing an order for me to leave, as he could not ensure I 
would obey without assigning Destari as my escort.
 I stood beside my bodyguard, the house to our backs and the 
tree on the right, roughly twenty feet away. Narian watched 
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Cannan for an indication he should commence the demon-
stration, displaying no particular reaction to my arrival. At 
the captain’s nod, he reached into the pouch hanging from his 
belt and secured a small handful of powder, which he threw 
to the ground before us.
 The f lash was blinding. My hands f lew to my face as I 
stumbled backward, and I would have fallen had Destari not 
seized me and pulled me into the protection of his arms. As 
I squinted through my fingers at the thick swirling smoke, I 
began to feel dizzy. The scent of the substance threatened to 
choke me, though it did not taste or smell exactly like smoke. 
It was sweeter, and with every breath, my eyes grew more 
unfocused.
 The haze finally began to clear, but my mind remained 
clouded for a few moments longer. When I could think coher-
ently again, I saw Koranis shaking his head back and forth and 
Cannan scanning the area, for Narian had taken advantage 
of our disoriented state to slip from view. Then we heard 
a resounding thunk, and our heads snapped toward the tree 
where a knife now protruded at eye level.
 Destari loosened his hold on me and we all turned to look 
at Narian.
 “If you want to examine the dagger, I have another,” Narian 
commented, arresting Cannan in midstride on his walk toward 
the tree. The young man then knelt down and extracted a 
second knife from one of his boot heels. Cannan, having 
reversed direction, held out a hand, and Narian extended the 
grip of the weapon to him. I watched tensely as the captain 
checked the blade, which was relatively narrow and only about 
six inches in length but designed with jagged tines along its 
edge to tear f lesh to shreds. Narian walked to the tree and 
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jerked the other dagger out, slipping it into his boot heel as 
he waited for Cannan’s reaction.
 “So the thicker soles on your boots allow for a hidden sheath 
for the dagger.”
 Choosing to let his actions speak for him, Narian took 
the second knife from Cannan and returned it to its hiding 
place.
 “And this powder—let me see it,” the captain com manded.
 Narian untied the pouch from his belt and passed it to him 
without objection. Cannan opened it and removed a small 
amount of powder, rubbing it cautiously between his fingers. 
The substance sparked, but there was not enough of it in his 
hand to create the same effect we had just witnessed.
 “Is every soldier in Cokyri equipped with similar weap-
onry?” Cannan inquired, a lift in his eyebrow the only indica-
tion that Hytanica’s military was not familiar with weapons 
such as these.
 “Not everyone.”
 The captain waited for Narian to elaborate, but when he did 
not, handed the pouch to Destari for further examination.
 “Other than the weapons we took from you when you were 
arrested and that are in my possession, have we now seen your 
arms in their entirety?”
 “No,” Narian replied shamelessly.
 For the first time, the Captain of the Guard looked as if he 
had lost his patience. Narian was not being forthcoming, and 
I knew from personal experience that when Cannan asked 
something of a person, he expected him to comply and to do 
so without delay.
 “Then show us whatever else you have,” he ordered, his 
jaw rigid.
 Narian held Cannan’s eyes for a moment, then reached 
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toward his belt, lightly brushing the dark stitching with which 
it was adorned. He pinched the end of one of the stitches be-
tween his thumb and forefinger and withdrew a sharp, slender 
dart. I held my breath, terrified of that tiny needle.
 “Poisoned darts,” he explained, holding the barb up for all 
to see. “If I removed this wax from the tip and pierced your 
f lesh, you would be dead within minutes.”
 A look f lashed between Cannan and Destari, and I heard 
Koranis murmur, “God save us.”
 “And is there an antidote?” Cannan asked, holding out his 
hand to take the dart.
 Narian shook his head. “The poison affects the body too 
swiftly for an antidote to be effective.”
 “And you wear these next to your own skin?”
 “Cokyrian warriors are willing to live dangerously 
and, if necessary, to die as a result,” he confirmed without 
emotion.
 “I will keep these items for now,” Cannan said, passing the 
dart to Destari. “I would like our alchemists to examine the 
substances.”
 The Elite Guard wrapped the dart in Narian’s soft leather 
pouch before tucking both into the shaft of his boot. The cap-
tain turned on his heel to stride toward the rear of the house, 
Koranis a pace behind. Stopping abruptly, Cannan once more 
faced Narian.
 “You will report to my office at the palace in two days. Our 
military would be well served by learning as much as we can 
from you about Cokyrian weaponry and fighting techniques. 
I will return all of your weapons to you at that time, including 
those taken upon your arrest.”
 Cannan turned to Koranis in response to the Baron’s sharp 
intake of breath.
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 “Your son has had the opportunity to kill a number of my 
guards and your family several times over, not to mention 
certain members of the royal family. As he has shown no 
inclination to harm anyone, I believe he can be trusted.”
 Koranis, his face drained of color and his blue eyes wide 
with alarm, unwisely attempted to challenge the Captain of 
the Guard’s decision.
 “That is easy for you to say, as he does not live in your 
house! I want him off my property, tonight!”
 Cannan glared at Koranis, and I could see a rage building 
within him that was out of proportion to the stated demand. 
He stepped toward the Baron, who recoiled until he collided 
with the side wall of the house. Moving in front of the cow-
ering man, Cannan leaned toward him, supporting himself 
with one hand upon the wall.
 “You are pathetic, an empty imitation of a father,” he spat, 
glowering down at Koranis with loathing in his voice. “It is 
extraordinary that Narian is alive, a miracle that he somehow 
returned to Hytanica. There is no justice in the fact that, of all 
the grieving fathers in the kingdom whose sons were stolen by 
the Cokyrians, it is yours who found a way home. You, who 
would thrust aside this blessing for which the rest of us would 
kill. You fail to appreciate the gift you have been given.”
 Koranis cringed and tried to slide sideways away from the 
captain, but Cannan grabbed him by his dress coat, almost 
lifting him off the ground.
 “The sight of you sickens me,” he seethed, the controlled 
quality of his deep voice making him all the more terrify-
ing. “I would give anything for it to have been my son who 
returned. I would have embraced him regardless of how he 
had been raised or by whom.”
 With that, Cannan released the quaking man and stepped 
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back from him, although his deadly glare did not abate. It 
was a testament to the level of fear that gripped Koranis at the 
thought of Narian’s continued residence within his home that 
he spoke again.
 “I have a wife and four younger children to protect,” he 
blubbered. “I cannot run the risk that you may be wrong.”
 When the only discernible reaction Cannan showed to 
Koranis’s statement was a crease in his brow, the Baron 
straightened. “Take him with you, enroll him in the Military 
Academy, do whatever you think best. Just keep him away 
from me and my family.”
 Despite his attempt to regain his poise, Koranis was clearly 
pleading. I inched closer to Destari as concern for the Baron 
welled within me. I thought it possible from Cannan’s threat-
ening posture that he might do the man harm. I glanced sky-
ward in prayerful thanks when the captain, shaking his head 
in disgust, took another step away, seeming to recognize that 
he needed to keep Koranis out of his reach.
 Gesturing toward Narian, Cannan admonished, “Like it or 
not, you have an obligation to the boy. If you won’t let him 
live here, then I will move him into your city residence.”
 He paused, and when he continued, there was a hint of 
resignation in his words.
 “I know what it is like to have a son who is headstrong, 
who, like yours, has taken my weapons and horses without 
permission and who has cost me innumerable sleepless nights. 
Still, I would not relinquish a single moment of time with 
him.”
 Although he did not make a move toward the Baron, I 
could once again hear anger rising in Cannan. “You, on the 
other hand, have not even tried to reach out to your son. I 
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feel no compassion for you, and have but one regret—that I 
ever entrusted him to your custody.”
 Cannan looked almost yearningly at Narian for a long 
moment, and I thought I saw a f licker of the same emotion 
in the young man’s eyes.
 “You act as though Narian is a disappointment when it is, 
in fact, he who has been cheated. Narian deserves a better 
father than you.”
 Cannan turned and strode down the hill. Without wait-
ing to see what I would do, Destari took hold of my arm 
above the elbow and pulled me alongside him as he followed 
the captain, leaving Koranis alone to face his son. If not for 
Destari, I would have remained rooted in place, reeling from 
shock. I struggled to comprehend what I could only interpret 
as Cannan revealing that he had lost a son to the Cokyrians.
 I regained my voice as Destari and I joined the guests who 
had gathered at the top of the hill and were entering the tent 
for the feast.
 “Did Cannan have a second son?”
 Destari drew me aside, unhappy with my question, and I 
didn’t know if I would receive a lecture or an answer.
 “Yes. Like a number of others in Hytanica, the captain had 
an infant son who was abducted and killed by the Cokyrians, 
and whose body was among those returned for burial by our 
enemy. Now, let the matter rest.” Well acquainted with my 
persistence when my interest was roused, he added, “Don’t 
ever raise such a question around Baroness Faramay. She never 
fully recovered from the ordeal.”
 I nodded, but continued to cling to my bodyguard’s side 
a moment longer, quietly absorbing this information. How 
different would Steldor’s life have been if his brother had sur-
vived? I couldn’t imagine my life without Miranna. A wave 
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of sympathy crashed over me for Cannan, Faramay and even 
for Steldor, although he probably had few memories of his 
younger sibling.
 As I thought of the Captain of the Guard’s face while he 
had harangued Koranis, I understood the reason Cannan had, 
from the beginning, treated Narian well, and so differently, 
from our other prisoners. Was this also why he had so readily 
taken Galen, a fatherless boy, into his heart?
 And what of Narian? Was he, at the age of sixteen, already a 
Cokyrian warrior? His words had seemed to suggest as much. 
I shivered as I thought of the weapons I now knew he had 
carried concealed on his person the entire time he had been 
here in Hytanica. I remembered the first time I had met him 
and recalled that even then he had been wearing his boots 
and belt—the only articles of his clothing that Cannan had let 
him retain. I once again felt as if I did not know him at all. 
The only certainty that resonated in my mind was that there 
were more things in the world of which to be afraid than I 
had imagined.
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MY APPETITE HAD DIMINISHED ALMOST TO THE 
point of nonexistence, but I joined the line of people at the 
serving table and allowed my plate to be filled, for it would 
have been impolite to refuse the elaborate feast. As I exited 
the serving line, my eyes fell upon Steldor and Galen, and my 
f lickering hope that they would not attend was extinguished. 
They were standing at the end of one of the long dining tables, 
their plates of food forgotten in front of them on the wooden 
tabletop. Galen, wearing a white shirt and black trousers, 
was f lipping a dagger between his right hand and his left in 
a manner that I had come to associate with Steldor. Steldor 
stood by his friend with one booted foot upon the table’s 
bench, resting his elbow upon his knee.
 He was wearing a black leather jerkin with split sleeves that 
showed the white shirt he wore beneath, and black breeches. 
Given my new curiosity about weapons, I took in the silver 
sword at his side. The grip of the weapon was wrapped in black 
leather overlaid with silver wire, and its pommel was set with 
rubies, which might have given it a sophisticated look were 
it not for the winged and barbed guard that gave notice of its 
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power. His dark apparel suited his dark features and gave him 
a mysterious and brooding look. In spite of my jaded feelings 
toward him and my subdued mood, he took my breath away. 
Just then he glanced at me only to avert his eyes. Although I 
liked to think myself too indifferent toward him to care, his 
reaction surprised me, and I was pleased to discover that I held 
some sway over him.
 I held my head high and chose a path through the tent 
toward the front table at which my family would dine. My 
parents were already seated and were being attended by ser-
vants. My route was calculated to take me between the tables 
that were farthest from Steldor and Galen, so I would not have 
to risk a conversation with either of them. As I proceeded, 
however, I saw my strategy spoiled.
 Galen moved away from Steldor and began to walk toward 
me, coming down the same aisle that I had entered, but from 
the opposite direction, so I would have no way of avoiding him 
without making it blatant that such was my desire. I did not 
know Galen well, but I was not likely to hold in high regard 
any friend of Steldor’s. As he approached, he absently played 
with the hilt of his sword, then bowed respectfully, his wavy 
ash-brown hair shifting f luidly with his movement.
 “Princess Alera, may I guide you to your table?”
 I was not inclined to trust him, knowing there had to be 
a purpose behind his sudden attentiveness. But I consented, 
permitting him to take the plate from my hands and carry it 
for me. It was a short walk to the high table, so whatever he 
intended to say or do, he would have to accomplish it with a 
measure of haste.
 “How are you finding the evening?” Galen asked genially.
 “I am glad for the respite from my usual duties.” Unable 
to resist putting forth the insinuation that I was content to 
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maintain my distance from Steldor, I continued, “I have found 
the festivities to be quite entertaining and the companionship 
thus far to be quite pleasant.”
 Galen caught my implication, and his tone became more 
serious as we arrived at the table to stand only a few feet from 
where my father was seated.
 “I’m afraid Lord Steldor has found it quite the opposite, 
My Lady, for he cannot enjoy himself until he knows he is 
forgiven.”
 I could hardly believe what I was hearing. Had Steldor 
actually been too cowardly to approach me to apologize? Or 
was such an act of contrition beneath him? Or perhaps he 
suspected I would refuse to listen to him, but would not as 
readily brush Galen aside. Regardless of Steldor’s motives, I 
knew I was being manipulated, and scowled in annoyance.
 Galen handed my plate to a servant, then reached into a 
pouch that hung from the belt at his waist to remove a stun-
ning silver pendant necklace. He laid it across the back of his 
hand to show how the silver of the pendant swirled around 
to cradle at its center a teardrop-shaped sapphire. The neck-
lace was beautiful, expensive and a perfect companion to my 
gown. I marveled at how my erstwhile suitor had managed 
this feat. Perhaps he had purchased several necklaces with 
different gemstones so he would have one that matched any 
gown I might have worn. Or perhaps he had an informant. 
Knowing how infatuated the majority of the female popula-
tion was with him, I had no doubt that my maid could have 
been charmed into revealing my planned attire.
 “Steldor wishes me to give you this as a token of his affec-
tion and as an indication of his longing to mend his relation-
ship with you.” Galen proffered the necklace in such a way 
that anyone watching would certainly see its splendor. “He 
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would be honored if you would wear it tonight, but if you 
choose otherwise, he will accept your decision with grace and 
humility.”
 I understood the real alternatives that Galen was presenting 
to me. Wear the necklace, and Steldor would assume all was 
forgiven; refuse, and he would leave me alone for the rest of the 
evening. Making my choice, I gazed at Steldor for a moment, 
trying to first tell him that I intended to decline before in-
forming his friend of the same, but I vacillated, temporarily 
at a loss for words. Steldor had not moved and was atypically 
alone. One hand was resting on the table beside him, and he 
was drumming his fingers upon it. His expression was not 
haughty, nor was his stance. Rather, he looked more vulner-
able than I had ever seen him in my life, as if he were actually 
troubling himself over the nature of the conversation Galen 
was having with me, and an unexpected sense of compassion 
swept through me. Steldor did have some fine qualities, a fact 
that escaped me on most occasions, for I had a difficult time 
seeing past his intolerable conceit. But now, as that aspect of 
his personality was subdued, I almost wanted to make peace 
with him. We might make a good couple, after all, I told myself, as 
I pictured us together. If there were some way to contain his ego.
 As I returned my attention to Galen, my father winked 
at me, and I came to understand how clever and cunning 
the two friends could be. They had expertly executed their 
scheme. It would have been just as simple for Galen to give 
me the necklace before we’d reached the table, or to do it at 
a later time in the evening, but instead he had waited to be 
in the presence of my father, who I knew had heard the es-
sence of our exchange. If I now refused Steldor’s gift, I would 
not only be disappointing Steldor; I would be disappointing 
the King.
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 I bit my lower lip, resentment burning in my stomach, then 
assented, turning my back to Galen so that he could fasten the 
pendant around my neck. I glanced once more toward Steldor, 
whose attention was now upon me, and saw his face brighten 
as I accepted the gift. To my dismay, I also witnessed a return 
of his typical air of condescension.
 “Thank you, My Lady,” Galen said, and I scoffed internally 
that he was even expressing gratitude on behalf of his friend. 
“Steldor will greatly appreciate your gesture.” Then he strode 
off to return to his own table.
 I did not track either of the young field commanders further, 
but took my seat to my mother’s left. My father was beaming 
at me as my mother turned to me to admire my necklace.
 “He does have exceptionally good taste,” she commented 
in her lilting, singsong manner, “and not just in jewelry.”
 I nodded, picking at the meat and vegetables on my plate. A 
short time later, I saw an ashen-faced Koranis coming toward 
our table, but I did not see Narian. What had happened be-
tween father and son after they had been left together in the 
front yard? It looked as though Narian, at least, would not 
partake of the feast. In truth, I was no longer certain that I 
wanted to see him, for his display of weapons had been har-
rowing. I reviewed the past couple of hours in my mind, 
feeling as if the entire evening was spinning out of control.
 I excused myself from the table after eating a few more 
bites and strolled out of the tent to where the musicians were 
setting up to play. Casting about for Miranna and Semari, I 
spotted them sitting on a bench along the edge of the dance 
f loor. Judging from their rosy cheeks, they were gossiping 
about something. The nature of their chitchat became clear 
as I saw them look longingly toward a group of young men 
lounging in the shadows, a group that included Temerson. His 
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brother had remained with him, although the boy was now 
accompanied by Zayle, Semari’s younger brother, and from 
the jostling going on between them, it appeared a friendship 
had been born.
 Dusk was now upon us, and torches were being lit that 
would, with or without the moon’s assistance, bathe the dance 
f loor in a romantic glow. As the musicians started to play, sev-
eral couples moved onto the wooden planking and began to 
step in time with the music. I stayed on the sidelines as I had 
at the event in Narian’s honor, content to admire the graceful 
movements of the couples. I saw my mother glide into the 
midst of the dancers, escorted by my boisterous father, and 
wondered whether Temerson would find the courage to ask 
Miranna to dance, or whether she would have to take the 
initiative herself. My reverie was interrupted by an altogether 
too familiar, and definitely unwelcome, voice.
 “Would you grant me the honor of a dance, Alera?”
 Steldor had stepped into place beside me, and with a slight 
bow, was now offering me his hand.
 I did not extend mine in return, but stared fixedly at the 
scene before me.
 “Hardly,” I said snippily.
 As I was determined not to look at him, I had to imagine 
his reaction to my rather indecorous rejection, and tried to 
envision his face clouded by frustration. Galen had apologized 
for him, after all, and I had presumably forgiven him. So why 
was my mood so cold?
 “You would accept my generous gift, yet deny me a simple 
dance?” he asked.
 To that I had no answer. The necklace was magnificent 
and extravagant, and having taken it, I could not with a clear 
conscience refuse to dance with him. He seemed to read my 
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thoughts, which in truth he had planted, and took my hand 
without another word.
 He was an excellent dancer. He moved with such ease and 
grace that it was difficult for me to match him. Perhaps we 
could have more effortlessly moved as one had I been at all 
content in his arms.
 Though at first we danced as would acquaintances, Steldor 
soon realized that many eyes were upon us and decided to 
publicly confirm our courtship. He drew me close, and I went 
rigid. He continued to dance as elegantly as before, but my 
movements became increasingly ungainly.
 “I’ve learned that you’ve made several visits here of late,” 
Steldor remarked, and I thought I detected an undertone of 
jealousy, no doubt stemming from his conjecture that I had 
been coming to see Narian. He did not know, of course, that 
his own father had commissioned me to spend so much time 
with Koranis’s elder son.
 “Tell me,” he continued as he maneuvered us around the 
dance f loor, “do you tire of playing nursemaid?”
 “Only when I’m with you,” I retorted, indignation f laring 
at his jibe toward Narian.
 He cocked his head at me, in neither anger nor amusement, 
but in some new emotion I could best interpret as consterna-
tion. The song ended, and I turned to leave, pleased that I 
had delivered the final blow, but he slipped his arm around 
my waist.
 “Not so fast. We need to establish some sort of truce.”
 The musicians began another piece, and once more Steldor 
and I danced, the elegance of his movement increasingly hin-
dered by my resistance to the pressure his hand was exerting 
upon my back.
 Without further ado, Steldor lamented, “I don’t understand 
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you. You seem to be set wholeheartedly against me, and I don’t 
even know what I did to garner such resentment.”
 I could hardly believe what I was hearing.
 “You kissed my sister!”
 “Before that!” he exclaimed, as if the point I had raised were 
irrelevant. He dropped his volume, conscious of the couples 
surrounding us. “Since the day we met, you’ve exhibited noth-
ing but contempt toward me. What could I have done so long 
ago to offend you?”
 I distinctly remembered my first impression of Steldor, as 
my opinion of him had not changed much over the years. I had 
been ten at the time, and he thirteen, and yet he had already 
possessed the ego of a young peacock.
 “It’s nothing you did,” I hissed, dying to unleash my anger 
as I had in the garden in the aftermath of the palace celebra-
tion in Narian’s honor. “It’s simply…who you are!”
 “What does that mean?” Steldor demanded, completely 
baff led, and I was sure no one had ever dared to tell him there 
was something wrong with his character.
 “It’s your attitude,” I admonished, the loathing he had in-
spired within me on numerous occasions quickly surfacing. 
“The way you walk, the way you talk…even the way you 
breathe.”
 He raised a sardonic eyebrow as if telling me I could do 
better by way of explanation.
 “Honestly, Alera, the way I breathe?”
 “Even now, you’re unbelievably condescending!” Though 
I was growing passionate in my speech, I managed to regu-
late my volume. “You treat everyone as if they are beneath 
you—Miranna, the guard in the market, Temerson, Narian, 
me! You can’t even deign to apologize for yourself, so forgive 
me if I’m a little disagreeable.”
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 I tried to pull away, but he held me in place, fuming. I felt 
trapped, and the deadly glare he fixed upon me was most 
unsettling. As my discomfort grew, so did my resolve to with-
draw from the dance f loor, and I remained stiff and unwilling 
in his arms as he continued to try to dance with me.
 “Damn it, Alera, you won’t even let me lead!” he snapped, 
his voice low but heavy with rancor.
 He gestured with a hand from my body to his, indicating 
the distance I insisted on maintaining between us.
 “This dance exemplifies our entire relationship! You are 
more than ‘a little disagreeable,’ Alera. You can’t conceive that 
anything I do has merit, is good, is right, has potential. At least 
my so-called arrogance is backed up by my actions—I can 
do the things of which I claim to be capable, so that I do not 
boast, but rather state fact. You, on the other hand, oppose me 
without thought or reason! Better to be justifiably arrogant 
than irrationally contrary. If it were not the case that we must 
marry in order for me to assume the throne, as is your father’s 
desire, I would not suffer your company, and I don’t think 
many men would.”
 The second song ended, but Steldor did not release my hand. 
With an affectation of pleasure upon his face, he led me away 
from the other couples.
 “Now, won’t you join me at the refreshment table?” he said 
with forced pleasantness in his voice as well.
 Stung by his criticism and unable to refuse his offer lest I 
prove his point, I let him guide me to the table, for once not 
fighting the arm he slid around my waist. I waited for him to 
bring me a glass of wine, hating that he was at least partially 
correct about my behavior toward him and racking my brain 
for a way to escape the circumstances in which I wallowed. As 
Steldor returned to my side, I noticed Miranna approaching 
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him from behind, and gratitude swept through me when she 
tapped him on the shoulder.
 “Lord Steldor, would you care to dance?” she asked, her 
tone a touch too sweet.
 He glanced between us in annoyance, no doubt aware that 
Miranna’s objective was to rescue me, and I feared he would 
turn her down.
 “By all means, feel free to dance with Mira. It will, after 
all, give you another basis on which to compare the two of 
us,” I goaded. “Let’s see, you have f lirted with us both and 
kissed us both. I would assume dancing with us both would 
be of interest as well.”
 His eyes darkened, then he gulped down his wine and thrust 
the empty goblet into my hands.
 “A gentleman will always satisfy a lady’s desires, even should 
it enable him to make such comparisons,” he responded before 
shifting his attention to Miranna. “I am honored by your 
request,” he said to her, bowing and offering his arm.
 While I was relieved to see him walk away, I was dumb-
founded by his gall, as he had intimated that both my sister 
and I sought his attentions. Seized by a desperate desire to 
leave the gathering, I located Destari and instructed him to 
inform the grooms that they should prepare one of the three 
royal carriages for departure. I then thanked Koranis and Al-
antonya for their hospitality, noting as I did so that the Baron 
had recovered his self-important air. Finally, I sought out my 
parents to let them know I was returning to the palace. My 
father, in particular, looked disappointed, but ultimately he 
did not object. Shortly thereafter, and due in no small part to 
Miranna’s continued insistence that Steldor dance with her, I 
was settled into a coach and on my way home, Destari riding 
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his horse alongside the carriage while several additional guards 
followed behind.
 We had not traveled far when I became aware of the sound 
of an approaching horse, traveling at a leisurely canter. Destari 
motioned for my carriage driver to halt and rode out to meet 
whomever had intercepted us. As only an occasional muff led 
snatch of conversation reached my ears, I was not able to 
identify the speakers, and I began to worry that Steldor had 
pursued me. My disquiet was allayed a few moments later with 
the return of my bodyguard.
 “Lord Narian is here and requests to see you, Princess.”
 I nodded, puzzled but not displeased, and Destari assisted me 
to step down from the carriage. I walked toward Narian, who 
had alighted from his impressive dappled gray steed to stand 
fifteen feet away, his eyes continually scanning the guards who 
were with me.
 Although I knew I should be wary of him after what I had 
witnessed only a few hours ago, my reaction was in fact quite 
different. I was feeling a very pleasant, light and tingly sensa-
tion at being in his presence.
 “Shall we walk?” Narian invited, still holding his horse’s 
reins and seemingly unwilling to speak in front of my 
guards.
 “Yes,” I murmured, then I turned to Destari. “Will you 
bring me one of those lanterns?”
 I motioned to the oil lamps hanging from the front of the 
carriage, and he retrieved the one nearest him.
 “We’ll return in a short while,” I promised as he handed it 
to me, indicating I did not want him to trail us.
 He did not object, and I could only assume that he was 
acquiescing due to the amount of trust Cannan had shown in 
Narian by allowing him to retain possession of his weapons.
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 “I presume our meetings, and your lessons, are at an end,” 
Narian said when we were out of earshot of the others.
 “My permission has been withdrawn,” I said, unable to 
hide my disappointment, but realizing my tone was a match 
to his.
 With a sharp laugh he halted, and his horse shifted restlessly. 
“I forgot—you need permission for everything.”
 I turned toward him, unsure how to respond and unable 
to read his mood. I held up the lantern so I could see his face, 
but his expression was inscrutable.
 “I know you are not familiar with the types of weapons I 
carry,” he continued, sounding for once ill at ease about the 
topic he was broaching. “I asked you once if you were afraid 
of Steldor—perhaps I should ask if you are afraid of me.”
 It did not take me long to answer. “Reason says I should 
be, but I am not.”
 “I would never hurt you, Alera.”
 His mesmerizing blue eyes held me, then he looked away, 
as if he’d said something improper.
 “Unless you count pulling me off a horse,” I jested.
 I caught a f licker of amusement in Narian’s eyes and his 
horse snorted as if on cue. He gave it a pat on the neck before 
indicating with his hand that we should resume our aimless 
stroll.
 “And how are things between you and your father?” I 
inquired hesitantly after we had walked a few additional 
paces.
 “Koranis fears his own son,” Narian said contemptuously. 
“As you heard, he wants the Captain of the Guard to enroll 
me in the Military Academy. Until then, I am to move into his 
manor house in the city. I am to leave with the captain tonight. 
Koranis even chose to oversee my packing, not trusting that 
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I will take only those things that are my own.” He glanced 
sideways at me, his countenance less guarded. “Of course, this 
means I will be living closer to the palace.”
 I did not reply, uncertain of his meaning, although my heart 
quickened at his intimation. I hoped he would elaborate, but 
he did not, instead changing the subject.
 “You didn’t appear to enjoy Steldor’s company tonight.”
 I gave little thought to how he had seen me with Steldor, 
let alone discerned my feelings, as I was growing quite ac-
customed to his keen observations.
 “I don’t ever enjoy Steldor’s company,” I said with a laugh.
 “Then why do you endure him?” Narian responded to the 
lightness of my comment with confusion and frustration.
 “I really have no choice,” I said, confident he would ac-
knowledge the difficulty of my circumstances.
 “You always have a choice.”
 His words were blunt and devoid of sympathy, and I stared 
at him as we returned to the vicinity of the carriage, without 
an inkling of what to make of this encounter.
 “I’m sure Steldor has noticed my absence by now,” I said, 
“so I had better continue to the palace before he pursues 
me.”
 “He may find that rather difficult, as I borrowed his 
horse.”
 “Borrowed?” I shook my head in disbelief as he mounted 
the powerful animal.
 “Good night, Princess,” Narian said with a smirk, before 
galloping into the darkness in the direction of Koranis’s 
estate.
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“SO TELL ME, DID TEMERSON EVER WORK UP THE 
courage to ask you to dance?”
 This was the first time my sister and I had visited since 
Semari’s birthday celebration five days earlier, and we were 
sitting in my parlor, I upon the sofa, and she in an adjacent 
armchair.
 “No.” Miranna giggled. “But Perdic, his eight-year-old 
brother, did.”
 I laughed along with her, picturing Temerson’s face as his 
own brother asked a princess to dance, when Temerson could 
hardly put together a full sentence around her.
 Miranna and I were spending the afternoon together, em-
broidering the handkerchiefs we were to give out before the 
tournament. The mid-October sky was gray and overcast, and 
the logs smoldering in the fireplace were necessary to chase 
the chill from the air.
 It was tradition that each princess who was of courting age 
would choose an escort for the tournament and the dinner 
the evening before by delivering a personally embroidered 
handkerchief to the favored young man. While Miranna and 
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I were given leave to stitch whatever design we fancied on the 
cloth, I had, since the first time I’d been escorted at the age 
of fifteen, simply sewn my name into the corner. Miranna’s 
design would be more elaborate and creative, but then em-
broidery was more to her liking than it was to mine; more 
to her liking as well was the man who would be receiving 
her kerchief. I knew full well mine was to be sent to Steldor, 
despite my confused feelings.
 “I danced a couple of times with Perdic,” Miranna contin-
ued, her eyes bright as she thought back to the party. “He’s 
a very sweet boy, though he’s much braver than his brother. 
Zayle, who spent most of the evening with Perdic, also re-
quested a dance, which made Semari laugh. Eventually I asked 
Temerson!”
 “And, of course, he blushed and agreed,” I teased.
 Our conversation ended as my parlor door swung wide and 
my father bounded across the threshold.
 “Ah, both of my daughters, I see. Excellent! Not interrupt-
ing anything, I hope?” he asked, bustling into our midst.
 “Not at all,” I said, returning his smile. “Join us, Father.”
 The King took in our activity as he sat beside me on the 
sofa and grinned from ear to ear.
 “Ah, the handkerchiefs. And who will be so lucky as to 
receive yours, Miranna? The same boy from last year, perhaps? 
He was quite charming, if recollection serves.”
 He winked, and Miranna’s cheeks grew warm.
 “No,” she said, realizing that Father’s thoughts had trav-
eled to potential suitors for her, though she would not be of 
marriageable age until she turned eighteen. “I was planning 
on sending mine to Lord Temerson.”
 “Isn’t he the boy I chose to accompany you on the picnic?” 
He chuckled in a self-satisfied way at her nod. “Excellent. 

9780373210343_TS.indd   2979780373210343_TS.indd   297 2/4/11   9:31:10 AM2/4/11   9:31:10 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver298

Comes from a fine family. I really do have a knack for these 
things!”
 He turned to me, patting my hand.
 “You will be interested to know that Steldor is going to 
take part in a fighting exhibition at the tournament. Cannan 
has arranged a mock battle between his son and Lord Kyenn 
to show the people some Cokyrian fighting techniques.”
 “Why Steldor?” I blurted, apprehensive on Narian’s behalf.
 My father interpreted my words in a way that I had not 
intended.
 “You will only be deprived of your escort’s company for 
a short time. What grounds are there to deny such an op-
portunity to the best fighter in Hytanica, especially when he 
volunteers for the good of the event?”
 I looked at him blankly, and he glanced at Miranna as if 
begging her to help him allay my anxiety. He was clearly 
under the impression that the reason for my concern was that 
I couldn’t bear to be apart from Steldor.
 When Miranna shrugged but otherwise remained mute, 
my father spoke again, his spirits dampened by my reaction.
 “Well then, there’s another item to discuss. I noted that 
things went quite well between you and Steldor at Semari’s 
birthday. That was an extraordinary gift he extended, and I 
was happy to see you accept it. Your mother and I were also 
quite heartened to see the two of you dance.”
 My father’s brown eyes sparkled as his zest for his subject 
increased.
 “I think the time has come to make it known to the king-
dom that you and Steldor are to be wed. I’ve talked with the 
priest about a betrothal ceremony, and I have arranged for it 
to take place within the next few days so that the engagement 
can be made known at the tournament.”
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 My lips parted in shock. I could not believe that he thought 
I was on good enough terms with Steldor to be betrothed. 
Steldor would embrace the idea, but I could hardly stand to 
consider it, as evidenced by my urge to bolt from the room.
 “I can’t.” I faltered, hoping I sounded less distraught than 
I felt.
 My father frowned. “Whatever do you mean, Alera?”
 “I mean…that I can’t. I can’t pledge myself to Steldor. I…
am not convinced he is the man I should marry.”
 A strained silence fell in the room, the only sound an oc-
casional hiss from the fireplace.
 “Why not?” my father demanded.
 I searched for a way to express my feelings, for I knew the 
simple fact that I abhorred Steldor would not disqualify him 
as a candidate. While I knew I was risking my father’s anger 
and jeopardizing his opinion of me, all I could think to do 
was to tell him something I had confided only to my sister.
 “I feel…an attraction…to someone else.”
 “You are attracted to someone else?” he repeated, playing 
with his ring in agitation. “Who is this person?”
 “I do not wish to say. But the fact that I am drawn to some-
one else would suggest that Steldor is not the ideal match for 
me.”
 I prayed I did not sound disrespectful. Nonetheless, my 
father did not take this revelation well.
 “This is preposterous, Alera. If you will not tell me who this 
young man is, then I must assume he is someone of whom I 
would not approve, in which case, you would not be permitted 
to marry him. Unless this other man possesses the qualities 
necessary to be my successor, whether you are attracted to 
him or not is irrelevant. You must marry a king.”
 “I implore you, Father. Just give me a little more time.”
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 He looked at me critically for a moment, then relented with 
a heavy sigh.
 “Granted. But I expect you to use the time wisely. We are 
six months from your birthday and the day when you will be 
wed, and a decision must be reached regarding your husband. 
In fairness to Steldor, it is deceitful of you to receive such a 
splendid gift as that necklace with a divided heart.”
 My father stood to leave, then faced me one last time, his 
stern visage making him seem older, and I became cognizant 
of the extent to which his dark brown hair had been replaced 
by gray. At that moment, I realized why his sights were so 
firmly set on my birthday. “Alera, notwithstanding this other 
person, you are to bestow upon Steldor the honor of acting 
as your escort for the tournament and the dinner preceding 
it.”
 My father’s steps were noticeably less buoyant when he at 
last exited the room. As his footfalls faded, frantic thoughts 
f lashed in my head, but strangely, the one that plagued me 
most was the fighting exhibition my father had mentioned. 
Why had Steldor volunteered? His opinion of Narian was no 
secret to me, and I doubted it was to the captain. Cannan must 
have deemed his son trustworthy, but I could not conceive 
that Steldor’s motivations in participating in this simulated 
fight were innocent.
 I glanced at Miranna, who was twisting her coppery-blond 
hair, and knew that she was having similar thoughts.
 “Now men really are fighting over you,” she said.

 Criers and heralds who had been sent forth several weeks 
ago to publicize the approach of the weeklong Harvest Festival 
began to return over the next few days, and vendors from sur-
rounding kingdoms arrived to unpack and set up their displays. 
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Everyone intending to offer merchandise for sale was required 
to check in with the keeper of the faire to pay a fee and be 
assigned a location from which to operate. Inns began to fill 
and business at the taverns boomed as excitement reached a 
fever pitch.
 The morning of the first day of the faire dawned crisp and 
clear. Miranna and I worked our way through the gathering 
crowd to the grassy area where market day was normally held. 
Tents spread from here toward the Military Complex and the 
palace to the north. A smiling Halias and a grim Destari ac-
companied us, but this time they remained in uniform and 
stayed at our sides, as there was a much increased potential for 
jostling and thievery amidst such a teeming crowd.
 As we wandered among the tents, a happy uproar bom-
barded our ears, as laughing, shouting and bargaining blended 
into a cacophony of sound. Above the hubbub, we would oc-
casionally catch an unusual accent or a foreign tongue, or the 
melodic tones of minstrels and musicians. I cocked my head at 
one point, believing that I had heard a Cokyrian accent. Was 
Narian nearby? I thought it possible, for he had been living in 
the city since the night of Semari’s birthday celebration, but 
I did not catch a glimpse of him.
 The sights of the faire were as overwhelming as the din. 
There was an astounding variety of merchandise for sale: 
wool, cotton, silk and linen cloth were available in myriad 
colors, some interwoven with strands of gold or silver. Hemp 
for nets, ropes and bowstrings; furs and skins; and embossed 
leather were also in abundant supply. Spice vendors busily 
measured out unusual seasonings such as cinnamon, pepper, 
cardamom, turmeric and mustard seed for their eager buyers, 
and purveyors of rare oils and perfumes did the same. As we 
moved with the f low of people, we saw jewelry, swords and 
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daggers, magnificent tapestries, handcrafted candlesticks and 
chests, hand-carved ivory and ebony figurines, valuable books, 
exotic clothing and rare carpets, all of which were available 
for purchase.
 The inevitable scuff le, as well as a brawl or two, would 
occasionally break out in the pathways between the tents, to 
be quickly subdued by City Guards who were trolling the 
grounds in large numbers. It was important to the success of 
the faire that the merchandise was protected from theft and 
damage and the safety of sellers and buyers alike ensured.
 Perhaps our favorite aspect of the faire was the entertain-
ment, with the large selection of tempting treats for the palate a 
close second. We laughed at the antics of tumblers and jugglers, 
and gaped in awe at magicians who could swallow swords and 
fire. The smells of stews, meat pies and other prepared foods 
whetted our appetites, while unusual sweets, uncommon f la-
vors of cheese and sumptuous tastes, like chocolate, fed our 
souls.
 We returned to the palace that evening quite fatigued, but 
exuberant, our senses battered by the sights, sounds and smells 
of the day. We were determined, however, to venture forth 
again, and our next few days followed the pattern of the first, 
as it took a good deal of time to fully appreciate the festivities. 
We would wake in the morning ready to meet the challenge 
of the day, and fall into our beds utterly exhausted in the 
evening.
 As the week went on, more visitors arrived. The inns were 
now overf lowing, and some city residents made extra money 
by renting out rooms in their homes, while the King per-
mitted travelers to pitch tents on the open ground near the 
palace or outside the city walls. Most of these new arrivals 
were coming to participate in the tournament that was held 
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on the last day of the Harvest Festival. Young men, lured by 
the generous prize money and other rewards the King posted 
for the winners, came from far and wide to participate in the 
contests that would challenge their skills and, in many cases, 
their bravery.
 On the day before the tournament, Miranna and I did not 
attend the faire, as I was needed to oversee the final prepara-
tions that were underway in the palace for the pretournament 
dinner. My mother had once again placed the event in my 
hands, which I understood to be a high honor, for it implied 
my skills were adequate in this regard. My primary tasks had 
been planning the menu and the evening’s merriment.
 The dinner would be held in the King’s Dining Hall on 
the second f loor, with approximately four hundred guests in 
attendance. The guests were those men who had paid their 
entry fee to participate in the tournament and their ladies. 
The King’s Dining Hall could seat at least a thousand people, 
with ten oak tables running the length of the room. Three 
dozen candlelit chandeliers provided lighting, as did numer-
ous oil lamps hung by chains from the walls. At the far end 
of the hall, a high table was set perpendicular to the rest for 
the royal family and our escorts. Decorations were minimal, 
as this dinner was less formal than most hosted by the King. 
Spirits tended to run high, wine f lowed freely, bragging was 
boisterous and entertainment was plentiful.
 On the evening of the feast, Miranna and I awaited the 
arrival of our escorts in the second-f loor lesson room, which 
doubled as a parlor, with Destari and Halias outside in the 
corridor. I was wearing a gown of burgundy velvet that laced 
across the bodice, then fell into a wide circle skirt, the rich-
ness of the color complementing my loose dark brown tresses. 
Miranna’s gown of deep blue velvet captured the color of 
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her eyes and was styled with a fitted waist and gently f laring 
skirt.
 It wasn’t long before Steldor, self-assured and resplendent 
in a black doublet with gold stitching, and Temerson, scared 
and uncomfortable in an ivory doublet, arrived. Tradition 
dictated that the men honored by the handkerchiefs display 
them in some way, and Steldor had tied the one he had re-
ceived from me around the hilt of his sword. This tradition 
did not denote a romance between us to the public eye, but 
it was significant nonetheless. In our patriarchal society, the 
custom of the handkerchiefs allowed women to lay claim to 
men for once, rather than the other way around. Whether or 
not I wanted Steldor was another matter, and I pondered the 
notion of some far-off man I might have happily claimed, a 
strong, fierce, but respectful man. I felt moments away from 
conjuring a face to match my daydream, but instead I was 
distracted by Temerson. He carried no sword, and I could not 
at first discern how he was displaying Miranna’s handkerchief, 
but then saw it tied about his left wrist.
 Steldor took the lead, kissing my hand as he always did. 
Dispensing with small talk, he extended his arm to me.
 “May I have the honor?”
 I nodded, uncertain what to expect from him as we had 
not parted on the best of terms two weeks previously. We left 
the room to walk down the corridor to the dining hall, fol-
lowed by Miranna and Temerson, and our bodyguards. As we 
proceeded, I ruminated over Steldor’s atypical behavior—he 
had neither f lippantly complimented me nor tried to engage 
me in conversation.
 My thoughts f lew apart when the door to the hall opened 
and the raucous sounds of the guests hit my ears. We walked 
down the center of the room toward the high table, the noise 
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subsiding as heads were lowered in respect. Wine and ale were 
being served, but the feast would not begin until the King and 
Queen arrived. Steldor, at his charming best, held my chair 
out for me as I took my seat, then poured and offered me a 
glass of deep red wine.
 A trumpet blast from the far end of the hall told me that 
my parents were about to enter, preceded as always by Lanek. 
I laughed softly as I realized even the palace herald could not 
have been heard above this group of revelers, and he had thus 
been forced to resort to trumpets.
 “All rise for King Adrik and his queen, the Lady Elissia,” 
Lanek shouted.
 The room fell silent as those gathered in the hall stood for 
the entrance of the King and Queen. My father greeted his 
guests as he proceeded, while my mother walked serenely at 
his side. A dozen Elite Guards followed in pairs, moving to 
stand in a row behind the high table with Halias and Destari, 
their royal-blue uniforms adding vibrant color to the rich, 
cherry-paneled wall. Cannan, Kade and a number of Kade’s 
Palace Guards prowled the perimeter of the room, watching 
for signs of trouble. Stepping onto the platform that held the 
high table, my father positioned himself behind his chair to 
open the festivities.
 “Let the feast begin!” he proclaimed, holding high a goblet 
of ale.
 A shout went up from the revelers as servants began to bring 
platters of food to the tables.
 The feast went on for hours, stretching through several 
courses. My father had spared no expense, and legs of mutton 
and veal, chicken, venison, pork and beef weighed down the 
platters amid an array of breads and vegetables. Sugar wafers, 
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oranges, apples, pears and cheeses were served as dessert. Wine 
and ale were consumed by the barrel.
 As the meal came to an end, the merriment began. Tumblers 
and acrobats worked their way up and down the aisles, while 
jugglers and jesters performed at the front of the room, be-
tween our table and the others, to be later replaced by  singers 
and musicians.
 Throughout it all, Steldor played the part of the solicitous 
suitor, filling my wineglass, plying me with sweets, pointing 
out clever tricks and antics and identifying some of the men 
who would be the best competitors on the morrow. He did 
not brag or boast, something I would not have thought pos-
sible, but took pleasure in the available entertainment and in 
bantering with the guests. Whether due to the wine or his 
change in approach, I found myself enjoying the evening, and 
perhaps even his companionship.
 Just when it seemed one too many barrels of drink had 
been opened, as some participants were threatening to start 
the competitions in the dining hall, my father stood. Trumpets 
again sounded to call attention to him.
 “My good lords, depart and get some rest, for the sun 
shall soon rouse you, and the tournament games will begin,” 
he announced, indicating that the feast had come to its 
conclusion.
 With that, he and my mother left the hall, followed by 
Steldor and me, then Miranna and Temerson, with the Elite 
Guards last. Behind us, I could hear the riotous sounds of our 
departing guests.
 As soon as we were within the lesson room, Temerson 
bowed and took his leave. I turned to Steldor, hoping he 
would do the same.
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 “We must also rise early, so I will bid you good-night,” I 
said, rather abruptly.
 “Surely you can keep me company a moment longer.” His 
smooth voice and dark eyes contained a touch of amusement, 
and for the first time since the evening had begun, I grew 
anxious.
 “We should not be together without a chaperone,” I argued, 
twining my fingers.
 “I only desire a few minutes, and your bodyguard is outside 
in the corridor.”
 I glanced at my sister, hoping for some assistance, but all she 
gave me was a reassuring smile. With a f lip of her bouncy hair, 
she stepped out of the room, leaving me alone with Steldor. 
He studied me for a moment, then reached out to still my 
nervous hands, laughing when I jumped at his touch.
 “Are you really that terrified of being alone with me?”
 When I did not answer, he lightly continued, “It appears 
you have given some thought to our conversation at Baron 
Koranis’s estate. I’m sure you will agree that our time together 
is more pleasurable when you do not continually resist me.”
 I stared at him, his ability to put all blame on me for the 
problems between us robbing me of speech. As I struggled to 
formulate a response, he reached out to stroke my long, sleek 
hair.
 “May I kiss you good-night?” he asked, once again catch-
ing me by surprise, and I knew my face gave full notice of my 
jumbled feelings.
 “Just one kiss, I promise,” he teased. “I won’t expect any-
thing more.”
 It came to me then that he thought I was reluctant to be 
alone with him due to my lack of experience with men. While 
that was part of the reason, it seemed to have escaped him that 
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I did not like him or trust him. I decided not to correct his 
misconception. After all, he was at least taking a courteous 
approach.
 I nodded my head and he placed one hand on each side of 
my face in a gentle caress, his pleasing scent washing over me. 
His lips joined with mine, soft and sensual, and I felt myself 
relaxing into him against my will.
 “Sleep well, Princess,” he said, removing his hands and 
stepping away from me. “I will return to escort you to the 
tournament field in the morning.”
 He bowed deeply and departed, leaving me off balance, as 
I had not anticipated such tenderness from him, and unsettled 
by the knowledge that I had enjoyed both his kiss and his 
touch.
 “Good night, Destari,” I murmured, stepping into the cor-
ridor where he awaited me.
 As I drifted toward my quarters, the foreign notion that I 
had just had a pleasant time with Steldor broke over me, and I 
reluctantly admitted to myself that he could, in fact, be good 
company. Unfortunately, I had no idea how to ensure that the 
Steldor with whom I had just spent the evening would be the 
Steldor I would wed if my father had his way.
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ON THE MORNING OF OCTOBER TWENTY-NINTH, 
the royal family rode in two carriages to the tournament 
site west of the faire. The King and Queen traveled in one 
carriage, and Miranna and I, with our escorts, occupied the 
other. Our bodyguards and numerous other Elite Guards ac-
companied the carriages on horseback.
 The weather was sunny but cold and breezy, and fur throws 
had been provided for our use both as we traveled to the event 
and within the royal box. While the spectators would most 
likely feel the chill as the day wore on, such weather was well 
suited for the competitions, as it would exhilarate the partici-
pants and spur them on to greater feats.
 The viewing box that had been constructed for the royal 
family and our guests sat on top of the hill that sloped down 
to the military training field where the events would be held. 
The box was entered from the rear and had walls with large, 
open windows and a roof to provide shelter from the elements. 
The exterior was draped with royal-blue-and-gold silks, and 
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tapestries hung on the inside provided insulation against 
the cold.
 The royal box would be full, as it would hold not only 
my family, our escorts and our bodyguards, but visiting roy-
alty from two of our neighboring kingdoms, Sarterad and 
Gourhan. Emotana’s sovereigns had sent regrets and would 
not be in attendance. We were on good terms with all of these 
kingdoms, despite their reluctance to aid us in the Cokyrian 
War; the warriors of the east were feared, and none of our 
friendly neighbors had dared take the risk of crossing Cokyri 
to defend Hytanica. Temerson’s parents, Lieutenant Garreck 
and Lady Tanda, would also be our guests, as would Koranis 
and Alantonya, serving to ratchet up the tension in the box, 
although my father seemed oblivious to the strained relation-
ship between the captain and the Baron. Even though Cannan 
would be on duty, his wife, Faramay, would join us as well, 
for she would otherwise have lacked an escort.
 It would be clear to anyone who had seen Faramay that she 
was Steldor’s mother; it was equally clear why Steldor was so 
good-looking. Baroness Faramay was, without dispute, the 
most beautiful woman I had ever seen. Her chocolate-brown 
hair fell around her lovely oval face in thick curls that moved 
when she turned her head, sweeping gracefully across her 
shoulders and back, drawing attention to her whether she 
sought it or not. She had blue eyes that were large and strik-
ing, and though she was almost forty, her fair skin was smooth 
and glowing. While Cannan was himself an attractive man, 
his wife was an arresting beauty, and Steldor had been blessed 
with many of her features. The only similarities between father 
and son were their chiseled jawlines, the deep brown of their 
eyes and hair, and their powerful physiques.
 By the time we entered the royal box, competitors were 
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already on the field preparing for the contests; lords and ladies 
in colorful raiment of lush velvet and embroidered silk had 
begun to fill the viewing stand constructed for them on the 
north side of the field, and the citizenry were gathering on the 
grassy hillsides. I knew the audience would grow throughout 
the day, drawn first by the archery, knife-throwing and axe-
throwing competitions, then by the more daring and perilous 
horse races, culminating in the dangerous fighting events: 
first hand-to-hand and then with swords and other weapons. 
The noise level would also increase, as the crowd would extol 
its favorite competitors and be equally vocal in its jeering of 
those it abhorred, the abundance of wine and ale tending to 
inspire avid crowd participation.
 The field itself had been marked out to meet the needs of 
the tournament. An oval track had been established and was 
roped on both sides of its twenty-five-foot width, ready for 
the horse races. On the near inside edge of the oval, slightly 
to the left of the royal box, a large stage had been erected 
for the one-on-one combat competitions. To the north of 
the stage, targets were set for the archery tournament and 
would later be replaced by targets for the knife-throwing 
and axe-throwing events. To the rear of these areas but still 
within the oval, several large tents had been pitched for use 
by the participants as they readied themselves for the games. 
Billowing silk banners indicated which tents had been as-
signed to each kingdom: royal-blue-and-gold for Hytanica, 
black-and-silver for Sarterad, Gourhan’s crimson-and-white, 
and Emotana’s black-and-forest-green. Water for drinking 
and washing had been provided, and doctors were on hand 
to treat the injured.
 The start of the tournament was heralded by trumpets 
and drums, and my father stood to open the event with the 
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traditional speech, deepening the pitch of his voice so that it 
boomed across the hillside.
 “Honored guests, valiant competitors and loyal citizens of 
Hytanica, I bid thee welcome to this auspicious tournament. 
Competitors, I exalt thee to be brave and daring, yet honor-
able and true, and I pray you will be safe from injury. To those 
in attendance, I encourage thee to rejoice with the winners, 
commiserate with the losers, but above all, to loudly cheer.”
 My father paused, then pronounced, “Let the tournament 
begin!”
 The archers, displaying the silks of their respective king-
doms, approached the competition area as the cry of, “Let the 
tournament begin!” was repeated across the hillside. They 
eyed their targets and made final adjustments to their bows 
while waiting for the contest to commence.
 I located Lanek, who would be announcing the events, on 
the field. It would be his responsibility to provide commentary 
throughout the day, and he would no doubt be hoarse by the 
time evening fell. As the archery began, Lanek called out the 
distances to the targets, the marks of the archer’s arrows, and 
the names of those who would be advancing. With each suc-
ceeding round, targets would be moved farther away to pro-
vide an ever-increasing challenge to the competitors’ skills.
 Steldor’s mood had not changed much from the previous 
evening, and he continued to use his inexhaustible charisma 
to enchant the King and Queen, as well as the other royals 
in attendance. If anything, he was even more charming and 
witty than he had been at the pretournament dinner. While 
his ability to ingratiate himself with my parents taxed my 
patience, his mood otherwise suited me perfectly.
 From archery, the tournament proceeded to knife throw-
ing, followed by axe throwing, with Lanek continuing to 
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announce distances to targets and accuracy of throws. After a 
break for lunch, the horse racing began, and by the time the 
first winner crossed the finish line, the hillside was packed 
with vocal spectators. The horse racing involved much jostling 
among the competitors, which sometimes resulted in fallen 
riders and downed mounts. While there were some injuries, 
all of the toppled riders were able to limp off the track amid 
shouts from the crowd, most without assistance.
 Friendly repartee filled the royal box throughout the day’s 
contests, but Koranis was careful to maintain his distance from 
the Captain of the Guard. Of course, Cannan’s reaction to 
Koranis’s presence was far more difficult to ascertain.
 When the fights with weapons began, conversation among 
those in the royal box fell off, although the crowd on the hill-
side voiced their opinions as vociferously as ever. Competitors 
would fight one-on-one in several different modes during 
this part of the tournament. First would be wrestling, then 
hand-to-hand combat, followed by combat with swords and 
other weapons. Although weapons used in the fighting events 
were blunted in an attempt to prevent harm to participants, 
injuries were frequent but rarely fatal.
 The men involved in the fourth to last battle, one Hytani-
can and one clad in the black-and-silver of the Kingdom of 
Sarterad, were called forth by Lanek, and they climbed the 
few steps on either side of the stage, drawing their swords. 
Steldor had been concentrating on the fights and was startled 
when Cannan put a hand upon his shoulder and motioned to 
the exit. Steldor stood, then made a point of offering words 
of consolation to me before departing.
 “I’m afraid that I must leave you now, as the time to fight 
the Cokyrian draws nigh.” He bowed and kissed my hand, but 
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did not release it, knowing full well he had irked me by the 
manner in which he had referred to Narian.
 “Don’t worry, I won’t be gone long,” he added. “I know 
you will miss me terribly, but perhaps Miranna will be able 
to cheer you.”
 He let go of my hand, bowed to all the royals and gave his 
mother a dutiful kiss on the cheek before leaving to prepare 
for the exhibition.
 After he had departed, talk resumed, centering mostly upon 
the fight that would take place between Steldor and Narian. 
The Cokyrians were the most feared warriors in the Recorah 
River Valley, and the exhibition offered a rare chance for the 
public to gauge their skills. Though it was known by everyone 
in the royal box that the f low of the fight had been plotted 
from first thrust to final parry, no one except Cannan had 
witnessed it, and excitement permeated the air. Adding to the 
sense of danger was the knowledge that, unlike the weapons 
wielded in the competitions, Steldor’s and Narian’s would not 
be blunted. Cannan had wanted to preserve the authenticity 
of the weaponry, allowing Steldor and Narian to use their 
personal armaments, and was willing to trust the skills of 
the young men involved to prevent injury. I too felt on edge 
about the upcoming event, though my feeling was not one of 
anticipation, but of trepidation.
 Destari’s whisper jarred me from my thoughts. “Excuse 
yourself and come with me.”
 I looked at him in confusion, but his serious expression 
discouraged me from raising any questions. I stood, depositing 
the throw that I had been draping over my legs on the chair, 
and approached my father, placing a hand on his shoulder to 
draw his attention.
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 “I feel I must move about for a few moments but I will 
return shortly.”
 He nodded and returned to watching the sword fight taking 
place on the stage below. As I moved toward Destari, Tem-
erson’s mother, Lady Tanda, laid a hand on my bodyguard’s 
arm.
 “How is London?” she inquired.
 “He is fine,” Destari replied with a hint of what presented 
itself as disapproval. “He has survived far worse than this.”
 After glancing at me to ensure I was complying with his 
directive, Destari slipped out the door. He waited for me 
outside and extended his hand in assistance as I hurried down 
the steps.
 “Follow me,” he said as soon as my feet were on the ground. 
Before I could inquire about his strange behavior, he began 
to walk briskly in the direction of the faire grounds.
 I trailed after him, almost jogging to keep pace. He led me 
through the maze of vendors, paths teeming with people, to 
a gold-and-maroon tent on the outskirts of the faire near the 
Market District. The front f laps of the tent were spread open 
around a long table covered in old and expensive-looking 
artifacts. I frowned, drawing my cloak securely about me, 
thinking it unlikely that Destari had brought me here to see 
ancient relics but unable to decipher his true purpose.
 Behind the table sat a deathly thin, middle-aged man with 
scruffy hair and bulbous black eyes. He bobbed his long, 
crooked nose up and down to motion us into the tent, and I 
nervously followed Destari, then waited as he pulled aside one 
of two hanging tapestries that served as dividers between the 
front and rear sections of the tent.
 “Destari, what—” I began, but swallowed my words as my 
eyes swept the shadowy back section, lit only by a small, open 
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f lap in the cloth ceiling. Crates that had contained the vendor’s 
merchandise were stacked in the corner, and leaning against 
them with his arms crossed over his chest was someone I had 
not seen in many months.
 “London!” I exclaimed.
 Only the dust particles wafting through the air in the stream 
of light from the ceiling f lap separated us, and I would have 
run to him had not my good sense surfaced. London was not 
a physically demonstrative person and would not appreciate 
my show of affection under the best of circumstances, which 
these were not.
 I stepped forward, aware that he and I had not spoken since 
the day of Narian’s capture, at which time nothing had been 
resolved between us. While I was elated to see him, he prob-
ably did not feel the same pleasure to be with me.
 “Princess Alera,” he said in greeting. “Glad you could fit 
me into your busy schedule.”
 His familiar sarcasm served to remind me of how sorely I 
had missed him. I stopped a few feet away while I scrambled 
for an appropriate response, and Destari stepped through the 
tapestries to stand behind me.
 “You look well,” I finally faltered.
 “As do you, Princess.”
 I averted my gaze, disheartened by his continued formality, 
and stared for a moment at my shoes. Regaining my compo-
sure, I tried again, with more sincerity than I had managed 
before.
 “Truly, how are you?”
 “Just fine. I always land on my feet.” He smirked as he 
chided, “I hear you’ve managed to dispose of yet another 
bodyguard.”
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 I could feel the heat rising in my cheeks, but London did 
not seem to notice.
 “I am sorry for causing you pain,” I said, searching his 
indigo eyes. “Isn’t there some way we can put this behind 
us?”
 “Whatever suits the Princess,” he responded, and I was 
relieved to hear a tease in his voice. After a glance at Destari, 
who had moved up beside me, he more seriously added, “This 
wasn’t intended to be a social gathering anyway.”
 An awkward hush transpired, during which London ran 
a finger along the dusty edge of one of the wooden crates. 
Finally, he broke the silence.
 “Destari tells me you’ve become friendly with Koranis’s 
son.”
 I should have known Destari would be keeping London 
informed of my activities—after sixteen years of monitoring 
my every movement, it would be difficult for old habits to 
die—but I suspected London had pieced together more infor-
mation about my visits with Narian than even my bodyguard 
knew. Not wanting to say the wrong thing, I shrugged.
 “And what is your opinion of him?” London persisted, 
equally unrevealing of his purpose in pursuing this topic.
 I knew there was no point in trying to deceive him. “He 
fascinates me, and I enjoy his company.”
 “You ought to be wary of him,” London replied.
 “Why?” I bristled. “Because he was raised in Cokyri?”
 “No. Because he is not who he appears to be.”
 “I could say the same about you.”
 London cocked a cautionary eyebrow at me, and I regretted 
my words, once again lapsing into silence.
 After a moment, he asked, “Have you found no reason to 
distrust him?”
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 For some unknown and unwarranted reason, I was piqued 
by the way he spoke of Narian.
 “I confess that I do not know as much about him as I 
would like, but based on what I do know, I have no cause for 
concern.”
 London shook his head and gave me a disparaging smile. 
“You see and yet somehow you are blind.”
 He ran a hand through his untidy silver hair before pro-
ceeding, his manner grave.
 “At the end of the war, the Cokyrians stole from us forty-
nine infants and killed forty-eight, keeping and raising only 
Narian. Have you not wondered why? How many children 
do you know who begin their military training at the age of 
six? And how many have a private teacher?”
 London stared piercingly at me, but I knew he was not 
expecting an answer.
 “This boy somehow managed to bypass Halias and Tadark 
without making a sound, moving stealthily enough to escape 
the notice of two Elite Guards—well, one and a half.” De-
spite the seriousness of his lecture, he could not resist a jab at 
Tadark. “How many sixteen-year-olds have that ability?”
 He pushed away from the crates, manner more fervent, 
words hanging, as did his breath, in the chilly air.
 “He manages to acquire weapons at will against our best 
efforts to ensure that he remains unarmed—as you may or 
may not know, the knife Narian used to cut your dress was 
taken directly from Koranis’s person, apparently before he 
discovered the ease with which his son could break into the 
locked weapons trunk in his bedroom.”
 London let these facts sink into my besieged brain, then 
continued, “You were witness to the weaponry the  Cokyrian 
carries—he is armed beyond reason, not only with the weapons 
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of a soldier, but the weapons of an assassin. As you learned 
at the celebration held in his honor, and I discovered the day 
I arrested him, he has no fear of injury or mindfulness of 
danger.”
 He glanced at Destari for confirmation. “After a century of 
war with the Cokyrians, we know what to expect, and this is 
not it.”
 A somber silence pervaded the tent. I was certain Destari 
had heard some of this before, but taken together it made quite 
an impression. My cheeks burned even as my body shivered, 
and I snuggled deeper into my cloak. I knew he was correct 
in that there was something about Narian that did not ring 
true, but I could not comprehend what he was trying to tell 
me, nor could I believe that Narian meant harm to anyone in 
Hytanica.
 “If Cokyrians are known for their stealth, how is Narian 
any different?” I asked, snatching at threads in my desperation 
to escape the truth.
 Destari, who still stood at my side, exhaled in exasperation. 
“You trust those you barely know, yet have no faith in those 
who would lay down their lives for you!” he said, his heavy 
brows drawing close to shroud his black eyes. He moved to 
stand next to London, and it felt as though they were uniting 
against me.
 “I don’t need to hear this,” I declared. “I’m old enough to 
make my own judgments.”
 London scoffed. “Your own judgments, yes. Wise judg-
ments, hardly.”
 Unable to stand for more, I turned and stalked toward the 
tapestry behind me, wanting to rip it to shreds rather than to 
simply pull it open, but London’s next words stopped me in 
my tracks.
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 “You won’t stay long enough to hear the news from Cokyri?”
 I peered over my shoulder at him, uneasy. “What do you 
mean?”
 Destari, who now stood between London and me, likewise 
stared at him.
 “I have just returned from a journey into the eastern moun-
tains. I discovered some remarkable things.”
 “You’ve been in Cokyri?” Destari’s angry outburst caught 
me by surprise, for I had never so much as witnessed a dis-
agreement between the two men. “Have you learned nothing 
over the years?”
 “Alera, have you heard tell of the bleeding moon?” London 
continued, ignoring his friend and showing no sign of remorse 
or regret.
 I shook my head, unable to articulate a response. London 
had gone willingly to Cokyri? After spending ten harrowing 
months there as a prisoner, he had returned to the enemy’s 
land of his own accord? The idea was unfathomable to me, 
but I did not have long to dwell upon it.
 “After I captured Narian and his identity was discovered, 
I became suspicious,” London went on, his posture relaxed, 
although his voice was taut. “Destari kept me apprised of 
 Narian’s activities, and I began to ask myself the same ques-
tions I posed to you just moments ago. I canvassed Hytanica’s 
records for information on the year of Narian’s birth, as much 
of that time was lost to me.”
 I realized he was making a rare allusion to his time as a 
prisoner in Cokyri.
 “I read descriptions in scroll after scroll of a ‘bleeding moon’ 
that hung in the sky for months, but I could not discern its 
significance.
 “In frustration I traveled to Cokyri and accessed what 
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records I could, just as I had in Hytanica. After several days, I 
came across a single document, written centuries ago, that gave 
an account of an ancient legend, the Legend of the Bleeding 
Moon.”
 London straightened to his full height and planted his feet, 
no longer relaxed in his stance, for prophecies and legends were 
not taken lightly in Hytanica, especially since the founding of 
our kingdom rested upon one.
 “The account held that the Kingdom of Hytanica was built 
on sacred ground, and that because of this, she would forever 
be protected from her enemies. We all know Cokyri should 
have been able to conquer Hytanica during the war, and the 
legend confirms our own lore of why they could not do so. 
But the legend further held that Hytanica can be defeated by 
one of her sons who bears the mark of the bleeding moon.”
 His eyes f licked between Destari and me, assessing our 
reactions.
 “Sixteen years ago, Narian was born a son of Hytanica 
under a nighttime sky that was ruled by what our own scrolls 
describe as a bleeding moon, and I’m sure you know of the 
strange birthmark upon his neck.”
 My heart lurched in my chest. “But what does this mean?” 
I asked, almost terrified to hear the answer, suspecting that 
my face looked as grim as Destari’s.
 “It means that nothing Narian says can be ignored. It means 
that whatever Narian’s intentions are in Hytanica, he has a 
destiny to fulfill in Cokyri. It means he is the weapon that 
can bring Hytanica to ruin.”
 I reeled as though I had been physically battered by London’s 
words. Nothing made sense, and yet everything made sense. 
As I tried to steady myself, one clear thought emerged.
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 “But even if everything you have said about Narian’s past 
is true, he must have a choice!”
 I glanced frantically between London and Destari, hearing 
Narian’s own voice echoing in my head. “You always have a 
choice,” he had said on the night of Semari’s party.
 “He can turn from that destiny, can’t he?” I repeated, feel-
ing as though I were suffocating in the stale atmosphere of the 
tent.
 “Perhaps.” London took a deep breath before continuing. 
“The Cokyrians are desperate to ensure Narian’s return. They 
are determined to reclaim him, no matter the cost. At the time 
the High Priestess was captured in the palace garden, Narian 
had already been missing for ten days.”
 “But why would the High Priestess look for him her-
self ?”
 “She was not looking for Narian in the garden.” London 
hesitated, as though he did not think it wise to reveal more. 
Apparently concluding he had no option but to tell us, he of-
fered an explanation that was just as obscure as his preceding 
revelation.
 “She came to the palace to find me. She wanted my as-
sistance in locating Narian. I am indebted to her for my life, 
though it is in a way you would not understand.”
 Destari cleared his throat, which did little to rid his voice of 
tension. “Shouldn’t this information be brought to the captain 
and the King?”
 “The information comes from me, so they cannot trust 
it,” London said bitterly. “The time for them to know will 
present itself, but meanwhile, we must keep a watchful eye 
on Narian.”
 “And of what do you think he is capable?” Destari pressed.
 “His current capability is not what keeps me up at night. 
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No matter what plans the Cokyrians have for him, he is only 
sixteen, not fully grown or trained. He has also been treated 
most kindly here in Hytanica, so I do not believe he poses 
an immediate threat to anyone. My concern lies in what he 
may become should he return to Cokyri, whether he goes 
voluntarily or is taken by force. If he returns, Hytanica’s fate 
may be sealed. We must do all we can to ensure he does not 
end up back among the enemy.” London fixed his gaze upon 
me. “You would do well to stay away from him, Alera.”
 I nodded, swaying on my feet. Taking note of my condition, 
Destari stepped forward to grip my upper arm, steadying me, 
as London addressed him.
 “It’s time you return Alera to the royal box. Her continued 
absence may draw questions.”
 I made no attempt to move, my mind now as numb as my 
body, and Destari finally nudged me toward the tapestries 
with his hand. As I began to pass through them, I stopped 
and turned halfway around to face London.
 “When will I see you again?” I asked, saddened by the 
knowledge that he could not accompany us.
 “I don’t know. I’m not exactly welcome at the palace,” he 
replied, but something in the depths of his eyes told me he 
felt as I did.
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royal box, sorrow at my separation from London now mixed 
in with the rest of my jumbled emotions. Destari’s hand on 
my upper arm guided me until we came within sight of the 
guards posted around the entrance; then I moved in front of 
him to climb the steps. I tried to act normally as I returned 
to my seat next to Miranna, picking up the fur throw I had 
left on the chair and draping it over my lap.
 My sister’s eyes opened wide as she turned to me.
 “Are you all right, Alera? You’re as pale as a ghost!”
 “I’m fine,” I assured her, but she reached out to tuck the 
throw around my legs, concerned that I was ill. When I said 
nothing further, she went back to talking with Temerson, and 
I took several deep breaths to calm my nerves.
 I wanted to embrace the excuses and rationales I had created 
in my head for every unknown that surrounded Narian, but 
none of them could withstand scrutiny. London’s information 
had completed the puzzle that Narian represented, but not in 
a way I wanted to believe.
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 Realizing that I had been staring at a crack in the wooden 
f loor, I lifted my head to find Cannan observing me. I man-
aged an artificial smile and forced myself to look out across 
the tournament field. Just as I did, a young man dressed in 
crimson-and-white tumbled off the stage, having been dealt 
a nasty blow by his opponent, and the King and Queen of 
Gourhan moaned in defeat. The crowd on the hillside erupted 
into cheers and applause, apparently favoring the victor, who 
wore the colors of Emotana.
 “Who won?” Miranna asked, breaking from her conver-
sation with Temerson to survey the goings-on. “Oh, I was 
supporting him!”
 I was certain Miranna hadn’t the faintest familiarity with 
either of the competitors and had selected this one to cheer for 
because he was more handsome than the other. Whatever her 
reasons, she was now applauding enthusiastically. As Emotana’s 
royalty was not in attendance, she soon realized she was ap-
plauding alone, and her enthusiasm waned.
 Lanek announced the victor’s name for all to hear, and the 
fighter on the stage gave a deep bow. When the crowd had 
quieted, the man hobbled off the stage, having been wounded 
during this battle or a previous one, while his opponent was 
carried away to the physician’s tent some distance down the 
field.
 The trumpets blared again, drawing attention to Lanek, 
who had climbed onto the stage in order to be more visible 
to the crowd. Steldor and Narian mounted the steps on either 
side of the platform. Both men wore dark trousers, white shirts 
and tall leather boots, and each had slipped his arms into a 
leather breastplate that provided minimal protection for the 
chest. Heavier armor would have inhibited their movements, 
and the exhibition, as a feigned fight, posed little risk of injury. 
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Each fighter held a long sword in his right hand—Steldor’s was 
his custom-made blade that had a grip wrapped in wire and a 
ruby set into its pommel; Narian’s sword had a grip that was 
likewise wrapped with wire, but was otherwise plain, with a 
narrower and less unwieldy blade—and daggers hung at their 
sides.
 I scrutinized Narian, but could detect no unease in his 
carriage, and I wished he would be warier of his opponent. 
Though I doubted Steldor would intentionally harm the 
younger man under these circumstances, I could not quell the 
warning sounding in my head. Narian was noticeably smaller 
than Steldor and I still did not trust Steldor’s motivations.
 “And now, for the climax of this year’s tournament, the 
much-heralded fighting exhibition between Lord Steldor, son 
of Cannan, the Captain of the Guard, and Lord Narian, son 
of the Baron Koranis,” Lanek bellowed.
 Koranis stiffened at the manner of Narian’s introduction, 
although he said nothing. Did he object to the use of the name 
Narian rather than Kyenn? Or did he simply no longer desire 
to claim him as a son?
 “Lord Steldor will be using his Hytanican weaponry,” Lanek 
continued, “and Lord Narian will be using the weapons of 
Cokyri.”
 Excited muttering rippled through the crowd at the mention 
of the empire where Narian had been raised, to be quickly 
replaced by the usual banter on the hillside and in the stands. 
His role fulfilled, Lanek marched down the steps to make way 
for the fighters.
 Steldor and Narian nodded to each other from their respec-
tive sides of the stage, then advanced, readying their swords. 
They crossed blades as they met in the center, then began some 
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simple combat maneuvers, increasing their speed as they fell 
into a rhythm.
 My tension eased as I viewed the routine fighting upon 
the stage, content for it to remain as it was, though the crowd 
shifted restlessly, craving something more. After a time, Steldor 
pulled back from Narian and tossed aside his sword in response 
to the crowd’s discontent. Narian also took a step back but 
made no move to change his weapon.
 Steldor drew his double daggers from the sheaths at his 
hips and f lipped them, catching the handles so that the blades 
extended from the backs of his fists. Lowering his hands, he 
advanced on his opponent. Without stopping or breaking eye 
contact, he raised the weapons, crossing them in front of him 
and thrusting them toward Narian’s chest. Narian reacted 
faster than I would have thought possible, dropping his sword 
to catch Steldor’s wrists so the blades came to rest threateningly 
above his shoulders. Steldor leaned in to Narian to mutter 
something, then pushed him backward off his feet, and my 
apprehension spiraled upward.
 Steldor retreated two steps and waited with his hands at his 
sides, shifting his weight from foot to foot. I glanced around 
the royal box to gauge the feelings of the others, but saw only 
that everyone was focused intently upon the stage.
 Gathering his feet beneath him, Narian rose, eyes boring 
into Steldor. He drew his own double daggers, which fit 
around his knuckles so that the blades arched over his hands, 
then moved forward. Positioning himself so that he could 
strike with his left leg, he planted a solid kick against Steldor’s 
chest. Steldor stumbled back a few paces and gave Narian a 
nod as though satisfied with his response.
 The crowd’s attention was now riveted on the stage where 
the fighters had begun circling each other, Steldor exhibiting 
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a cocky and menacing swagger, while Narian crouched lower, 
catlike in his movement. I gnawed on my lower lip, though it 
was conceivable that this change in style had also been planned 
in order to play well to the crowd.
 As the young men completed their circle, Narian’s inside 
shoulder dipped slightly, and Steldor seized the opportunity. 
He f lipped the dagger in his right hand over again and closed 
the distance between them to strike Narian in the temple 
with the butt of the knife. As he did, Narian dropped low 
and turned his head with the blow to avoid its full impact, 
then spun to his right, slashing Steldor above the knee with 
his blade. Bleeding from the gash in his leg, Steldor backed off 
and Narian rose to his feet, blood trickling from his temple.
 The crowd had fallen silent, no longer sure if what they 
were seeing was a demonstration.
 “I daresay these two are getting a little carried away,” my 
father said with an unconcerned chuckle.
 I could not understand his cheerfulness. Steldor’s first blow 
had not been restrained, and Narian had meant to draw blood. 
I glanced over at Cannan, who was standing and glaring at 
the stage, jaw clenched, his arms crossed upon his chest. Fara-
may, expression anxious, was also eyeing Cannan, aware that 
something was wrong.
 I returned my attention to the fight, now sitting on the 
edge of my seat, gripping the arms of my chair as I began to 
pray soundlessly for Narian’s safety. Steldor had been the victor 
in every fighting competition he had entered since coming 
of age at eighteen and was renowned as the best fighter in 
the Recorah River Valley. It was not a matter of who would 
emerge triumphant at the end of this battle—the only uncer-
tainty was how badly Narian would be beaten.
 Tiring of their game of cat and mouse, the young men 
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ran at each other. As they came together, Steldor stabbed at 
Narian with his right blade, but Narian def lected it, then 
likewise redirected Steldor’s left-handed follow-up thrust. 
After pushing both of Steldor’s daggers away, Narian circled 
his right arm down and in, slashing vertically up the center 
of his opponent’s breastplate and nearly cleaving it in two. 
Steldor drew his arms into his chest, and Narian immediately 
brought his left arm across Steldor’s body, hooking him by the 
shoulder with the barbed edge of his blade and jerking him 
around. As he spun, Steldor extended his right hand, slicing 
Narian across the shoulder.
 Faramay gasped as the two came apart and spatters of blood 
f lew from their weapons. Both of the fighters now had dark 
stains forming on their white shirts.
 Looking down the row of people, I saw Koranis and Alan-
tonya sitting side by side, Alantonya looking mortified,  Koranis 
vindicated. My father was frowning at the stage, twisting his 
ring, finally disturbed by what he was seeing, while the faces 
of the visiting royals registered equal parts confusion and con-
cern. Beside me, Miranna’s fingers were pressed against her 
cheeks, ready to creep up and hide her eyes, and Temerson had 
tentatively put a hand on her back to reassure her. My mother, 
Faramay, and Temerson’s parents wore appalled expressions. 
Only Cannan’s stance and demeanor had not changed in the 
least.
 As Steldor regained his balance, he turned his left blade 
over, so that both of his knives extended from the tops of 
his hands, and thrust toward Narian, driving the daggers 
underneath the younger man’s arms. Pressuring the base of 
his fists into the center of Narian’s back between his shoulder 
blades, Steldor forced him downward until his arms f lared 
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out, then brought his right knee up to connect violently 
with Narian’s chin.
 Steldor shoved Narian one final time toward the ground 
before he pulled away. Narian caught himself with his blades, 
managing to stay on his feet, but his head hung forward, heavy 
bangs hiding his pain. Smugly, Steldor took a step back and 
glowered down at him.
 “Stay down, Narian,” I heard Cannan mutter. “Don’t get 
up.”
 The disoriented young man took a few deep breaths, then 
abruptly slid his legs forward between Steldor’s and kicked 
outward, forcing his adversary to splay his legs shoulder-width 
apart. He then sprang to his feet, and with Steldor now at 
his eye level, slashed both of Steldor’s shoulder straps. With a 
thud, the already damaged breastplate fell to the stage f loor. 
Thundering footsteps on the stairs of the royal box told me 
that Cannan had decided it was time to put an end to this 
fight.
 Steldor drew his leg in and shifted his weight onto his 
left foot, then spun around to plant a solid side kick against 
 Narian’s chest with his right leg, once again knocking the 
younger man off his feet. Absorbing the fall, Narian rolled 
onto his upper back and sprang forward to land in a crouched 
position. Steldor faced Narian, settling his weight, right dagger 
held up, left held low, awaiting his opponent’s next move. His 
smugness had died away to be replaced by intense concentra-
tion on the battle at hand.
 I could see Cannan pushing his way through the masses, 
his progress slowed by the excited spectators. Narian caught 
the disruption in the crowd as well and thrust his daggers to 
the side. At first, I thought he was going to concede the fight 
to Steldor before the captain could intervene, but he instead 
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ran at his opponent. He pulled Steldor’s arms away from his 
body, and with surprising agility, used Steldor’s thigh as a step, 
pushing himself off the ground to plant his right heel forcefully 
against his adversary’s chin. Steldor’s head whipped back and 
he fell hard, the stage shuddering with the impact, his blades 
f lying away from him, as Narian f lipped over to land on his 
feet.
 Faramay’s hands had gone to her mouth in horror, and 
mutters filled the box at this strange new development. The 
air felt thick, making it difficult to breathe, and I prayed that 
Cannan would soon intercede.
 For a moment, Steldor did not move, stunned to be the one 
f lat on his back, then his muscles tensed as a fierce rage ignited 
within him. Raising his arms, he slammed his clenched fists 
against the f loor of the stage and rose to his feet.
 Striding toward Narian, Steldor brought his right arm down 
and back and launched a deadly uppercut at Narian’s jaw. 
Narian grasped Steldor’s arm and pushed upward to avoid the 
blow. Wrapping his right leg around Steldor’s, he knocked 
his opponent’s feet out from under him, using the momen-
tum of the punch to send his adversary slamming against 
the ground for the second time. Pinning Steldor’s right arm, 
Narian pressed his knee into Steldor’s chest, rendering his foe 
helpless against his final move. As Cannan broke through the 
last line of people and rushed toward the stage, Narian drew 
back his fist and threw a punch toward Steldor’s windpipe that 
would have taken Steldor’s life had he not pulled it at the last 
second.
 Narian slowly retracted his hand and came to his feet. 
His eyes met the captain’s, and his expression was so unfeel-
ing it gave me chills. Glancing around, he seemed to recall 
that he had been involved in an exhibition, and he gazed at 
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his defeated opponent, who was struggling onto his elbows, 
before extending a hand to help him to his feet. Steldor glared 
at Narian before grudgingly accepting his assistance. As he 
struggled to stand, the first applause reached my ears. The 
sound grew louder until the entire crowd was cheering.
 Steldor and Narian gave subdued bows before exiting the 
stage in opposite directions, doing their best to mask the extent 
of their injuries. Steldor, limping slightly, walked away with 
nothing but a f leeting glance at his father, who directed his 
gaze at the royal box as if making a decision, then followed 
after him. For the first time in memory, the Captain of the 
Guard looked pale and shaken.
 A moan captured my attention, and I looked to Faramay, 
who was on her feet, hanging on to the edge of the viewing 
window with pallid hands. As my mother turned to offer as-
sistance, Faramay swooned, her legs crumpling beneath her. 
Tanda and Alantonya went to her aid, fanning her face, and 
my mother dispatched a guard to fetch some water.
 With Faramay providing an unexpected diversion, I rushed 
from the box without a word to anyone, my head spinning. 
What had I just witnessed? Steldor, the best fighter the Reco-
rah River Valley had ever seen, defeated by a sixteen-year-
old?
 Narian’s unusual weapons had frightened me, but that was 
nothing compared to the raw emotions that now clawed at 
me. I was frustrated and furious at myself for my naiveté—I 
had trusted Narian and had been at his mercy many times. 
Now, when I thought of the peril in which I had unwittingly 
put myself, I was almost traumatized enough to join Faramay 
on the f loor.
 I hastened down the slope through the milling crowd, my 
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cloak billowing behind me, frustration building every time 
my progress was impeded.
 “Alera!” Destari called, coming after me.
 I did not slow down, but he nonetheless overtook me.
 “Where are you going?” he growled, stepping in front of me 
and putting a hand on my shoulder to force me to a stop.
 “I need to see him,” I said, trying in vain to move past my 
bodyguard.
 “Lord Narian?” His voice was tinged with disbelief.
 “Yes!”
 Deeming it futile to argue with me, he took me by the arm 
and forged a path through the spectators, who gave way to the 
large and powerful man much more quickly than they would 
have to me, and we crossed the short span of field to where 
the participants had prepared for the competitions.
 As we wove our way through the tents, we saw healers 
tending to wounded fighters, but did not see Narian or Stel-
dor among them. Destari intercepted one of the doctors to 
determine Narian’s whereabouts, and we were directed to a 
medical tent. Destari ducked his head and stepped inside to 
announce my arrival.
 As I entered, Narian was sitting on a wooden bench, his 
blond hair sweat-dampened and his shirt tugged down off his 
shoulder so that his wound could be cleansed, stitched and 
bandaged by the physician. He rose to his feet when he saw 
us, pushing the doctor’s hand away and returning the sleeve 
to its rightful place.
 The physician bowed to me on his way out, and I directed 
Destari to likewise leave us.
 “If you need me, I’ll be right outside,” he muttered, eyes 
narrowed in distrust as he exited the tent.
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 I was now alone with Narian and we stared at each other 
until I found my voice.
 “Who are you?” I demanded.
 Narian did not reply but watched me like a hawk watches its 
prey. My frustration mounted, and I became more insistent.
 “Are you the one of whom the legend speaks? Are you here 
to destroy Hytanica?”
 Though he was adept at hiding his emotions, I could tell 
that my knowledge had startled him. Still, he gave me a 
straightforward response.
 “I did not come here for that reason, though it is the legend 
that led me here.”
 I rolled my eyes. “Then pray tell why you are here, if not 
to fulfill your destiny!”
 There was true conviction behind Narian’s words when next 
he spoke, my hostility having spurred him to explanation.
 “I did not know of the legend or that Hytanican blood runs 
through my veins until six months ago, when I learned of 
both through a discussion that was not intended for my ears. 
I came here only to discover my heritage and perhaps find my 
family, but that is all. I did not come here to harm anyone.”
 My racing heart began to calm as I listened to him, and a 
wave of compassion swept over me for the young man who 
in age was my equal but who in all else was years beyond.
 “Is it your plan to return to Cokyri?” I asked, my anger 
dissipating, replaced by a strong sense of foreboding.
 “No,” he said, shaking his head. “There is something that 
holds me here, something unconnected to my resentment 
toward the people who raised me and lied to me.” His eyes 
captured my own, the longing within them achingly clear, 
then he finished. “But, Alera, if ever I do find myself back in 
Cokyri, the Overlord will be difficult to refuse.”
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 A tremor shook my body as I grasped the reality of Narian’s 
situation and to whom he would have to answer.
 “The Overlord?” I murmured.
 Narian stared over my shoulder for a moment, as if gather-
ing his thoughts.
 “The Overlord was and is my teacher. He is the one who 
trained me, as well as the one I serve.”
 Nausea broke over me, and it took most of my strength to 
stay on my feet. London’s description of the Overlord sprang 
unbidden to mind— He is a fierce warlord, evil and terrifying. 
They say he has the power to wield black magic…. That he can kill 
you or worse with a wave of his hand—and I thought of London’s 
condition after having escaped the tyrant’s clutches. Narian 
had faced the Overlord almost every day since he was six, 
learning his methods and skills, and no doubt, his prejudices 
and beliefs.
 “I did not choose this to be my fate,” Narian went on, his 
countenance softening, the horror upon my face apparently 
causing him distress. “You need not fear me, Alera.”
 There was a trace of hopelessness in the short laugh that 
preceded my next words.
 “Needn’t I? Perhaps now you mean me no harm, but should 
Cokyri reclaim you, what then?”
 His face shut down, his rare show of emotion disguised and 
contained. In exasperation, I turned to leave, but he caught 
my upper arm. Before I could react, his other hand was upon 
my waist, pulling me toward him, and his vivid blue eyes 
captured mine of deep brown. As my heart raced, his lips met 
mine, lightly at first, then more insistently, and I succumbed 
to his embrace. I melted against him, my hands upon his 
back, all reason abandoning me. After several moments, our 
lips parted, and he brief ly leaned his forehead against mine. 
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Then he stepped back, his hands on my hips to create a little 
distance between us.
 “I will never hurt you,” he swore.
 As my good sense returned, I stumbled away from him, 
then turned and f led the tent.
 Destari looked at me suspiciously in light of my hasty exit, 
but he said nothing, choosing to lead me back to the royal 
box where the awarding of the prizes had begun. Normally 
it would have been my responsibility to assist the King in this 
ceremony, but my sister had been called upon in my absence. I 
approached the box, worried that Father would be angry with 
me for shirking my duty, but he gave me a knowing look, 
thinking I had gone to check on Steldor. I climbed the stairs 
and took up position beside Miranna, who eyed me curiously 
but was too occupied to say anything. As Lanek announced the 
names and deeds of the winners, I joined in extending con-
gratulations, the King awarding bags of gold while Miranna 
and I bestowed elaborate figurines. Ebony falcons went to the 
winners in archery (including Galen, who was renowned for 
his skill with the bow), knife throwing and axe throwing; 
gilded horses to those who had triumphed in the races; and 
goblets made of gold to the victors in the combat events.
 After the tournament had closed, I returned to the palace 
with my family. Sensing my frame of mind, Miranna withheld 
her questions, for which I was thankful. I begged off from 
the small dinner my father always hosted for the tournament 
winners, claiming fatigue, and retired to my quarters, unable 
to feign a festive mood.
 I prepared for bed and sought sleep, but my mind was 
plagued with terrible thoughts about Narian and the Legend 
of the Bleeding Moon. Narian had been raised by the Overlord 
to destroy my homeland and all that I held dear. He claimed 
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that he did not intend to harm Hytanica, but what choice 
did he have? Just as it was my destiny as Crown Princess to 
become Queen, so was it his destiny to fulfill the legend.
 But as I struggled to sort through all I had learned, I placed 
two fingers against my lips, recalling the pressure of his kiss. 
I had felt such contentment in his arms. How could someone 
with such a horrifying fate evoke such tender feelings from 
me? How could I desire the company of a person who was 
doomed to become my enemy?
 With no answers to these questions, I longed to escape into 
oblivion, but sleep came slowly and provided no rest when 
finally it arrived.
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THE GUARDS PULLED OPEN THE DOORS THAT 
led into the antechamber and Steldor emerged from between 
them, magnificent in his long-sleeved, black leather military 
jerkin, his distinctive long sword sheathed at his left side, 
a dagger on his right. With a practiced pace, eyes straight 
ahead, he began the long walk up the center of the Hall of 
Kings toward the royal family, the only sounds his footsteps 
against the stone of the f loor and the crackle of the burning 
logs in the fireplaces on the eastern and western walls. My 
parents sat upon their thrones, my father’s personal guards in 
their usual formation, while Miranna and I sat to the left of 
our mother with Halias and Destari beside us, every person 
watching Steldor’s advance.
 Three days had passed since the tournament, giving him 
time to recover sufficiently from the injuries he had acquired 
during the so-called exhibition. The only remaining sign of 
the fight was some faint bruising along his jawline. Cannan, 
who stood beside my father’s throne, had requested this audi-
ence with the royal family at his son’s behest, though I, at least, 
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suspected that Steldor had not been informed of the meeting 
until after it had been arranged. The purpose of the audience 
had not been divulged, but it took no scholar to ascertain it.
 As Steldor arrived before the dais, he fell to one knee, 
bowing his head before the King.
 “Rise,” my father said, his aspect for once stern as he con-
fronted the captain’s son.
 “Have I permission to speak, Your Majesty?” Steldor asked 
as he stood.
 “Granted.”
 “I humbly come before you to ask forgiveness for my behav-
ior of late, particularly at the tournament during the fighting 
exhibition.” Steldor’s voice was rich and strong, and his dark 
eyes were fixed upon my father. “I acted rashly, Sire, and al-
lowed my temper and my competitive nature to overpower 
my reason. I deserve the disgrace I have brought upon myself, 
but the disgrace I have brought upon you and your family is 
inexcusable.”
 Letting his admission resound for a moment, Steldor 
switched his attention to me.
 “I also ask pardon from Princess Alera, as I was unable to 
fulfill my duties as her escort following the incident.”
 His apology did not move me, and I let my scorn show 
upon my face. He had obviously concluded that as long as his 
father was forcing him to apologize to the entire royal family, 
he should do so eloquently, and at that he was succeeding. I 
could already feel my father’s resolve breaking, and I knew 
Steldor would have been forgiven even if those had been his 
final words.
 After a theatrical pause, the contrite soldier continued, once 
more addressing the King.
 “I would also like to express regret on my father’s behalf 
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for administering unnecessarily to me when he should have 
returned at once to His Majesty’s side.” One eyebrow arched 
in irreverence as his eyes f licked to Cannan. “While duty to 
a son is important, duty to a king is supreme.”
 Cannan looked disgruntled, but not surprised, as if this jibe 
had been expected.
 As he finished, Steldor dropped again to one knee. “In deep 
remorse, and as an act of contrition, I offer my resignation as 
a field commander of Hytanica to my king.”
 He hung his head, the very image of penitence, and I won-
dered how many times he had rehearsed this highly effective 
performance. Steldor had made an offer my father would never 
accept, but which portrayed him as the most repentant man 
who had ever lived. I could scarcely believe his audacity, much 
less my father’s gullibility, as the King stood to speak.
 “That’s quite unnecessary, young man. Your apology is 
received without reservation.”
 “Thank you, Sire,” Steldor replied, his tone solemn and a 
touch too respectful as he lifted his head.
 My father extended his hand so that Steldor could rise and 
kiss the royal ring. With one final, graceful bow, Steldor piv-
oted and walked with the same steady cadence away from us 
and out the antechamber doors.

 One week later, at mid-afternoon, my mother, Miranna and 
I were having tea in the small refreshment room on the main 
f loor. We sat at a quaint table in the room’s center, bathed by 
the rays of sunlight entering through the bay window, and 
enjoying the West Courtyard in all its late-fall splendor.
 Our conversation covered a wide variety of topics, from 
the latest and most unusual raiment we had observed upon the 
backs of the nobility attending the tournament, to old friends 
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and acquaintances my mother had encountered at the faire. 
Thankfully, Steldor had not been mentioned, nor had my 
distracted state of mind. I tried to participate in the chitchat 
between my mother and my sister, but had difficulty concen-
trating, as had been the case ever since the exhibition.
 I had not seen nor contacted Narian since we had kissed 
on that day, and I wondered if he was as confused as I. My 
response to his kiss had made my feelings for him quite clear to 
me, but I could not understand why or how these feelings had 
evolved. And I had departed immediately from him—without 
a word. What if I had given him the opposite impression, that 
I did not return his affections?
 My thoughts were interrupted by a knock on the tearoom 
door, and Destari granted entrance to Orsiett, the Elite Guard 
who had been Miranna’s secondary bodyguard during the 
search for the traitor and who was now working as an aide to 
Cannan.
 “Destari,” Orsiett said. “I need a word with you.”
 Destari exchanged a concerned look with Halias before 
stepping into the hallway and closing the door behind him. 
Halias shrugged in reply to our inquisitive stares, then scowled 
at one of the Palace Guards who accompanied my mother 
everywhere, as he was inching toward the door in an attempt 
to overhear the discussion taking place on the other side. The 
guard was forced to pull away to avoid a collision with the 
door as Destari reentered the room.
 “Halias, we are to escort the princesses and the Queen to 
their quarters without delay.”
 “For what reason?” Halias asked as he stepped to Miranna’s 
side.
 “A Cokyrian has come to the palace to speak with the 
King.”
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 “What?” my mother whispered, reaching to touch her hon-
eyed hair, her blue eyes uneasy. She moved closer to Miranna, 
placing a trembling hand upon my sister’s shoulder.
 “We do not yet know why she is here,” Destari continued. 
“She arrived under a white f lag. The three of you are to return 
to your quarters until the purpose of her visit has become 
manifest.”
 Halias did not speak, but stared straight ahead, the clenching 
of his jaw made apparent by the fact that his hair was pulled 
back in its customary style. We left the room surrounded by 
guards, Miranna worriedly watching her bodyguard, then 
glancing to me for the reassurance she craved. I had none to 
give. I could hear nothing but the thrum of blood in my ears. 
Everything I knew about the Cokyrians suggested that they 
acted, they attacked, they slaughtered without warning. Why 
had they decided to come and talk? My thoughts f lew to 
Narian. Had they come, as London had predicted they would, 
to reclaim him? And if that were the case, would we be able 
to keep him safe?
 Miranna and I were allowed to stay together in my rooms, 
but my mother was taken to her own quarters for security’s 
sake. If the Cokyrians did intend to use some form of trickery 
to harm the royal family, separating us would make it more 
difficult for them.
 Upon the passing of a little more than two painstaking 
hours, Orsiett returned and informed us that we were to report 
to my father’s study. Accompanied by our bodyguards, we 
proceeded down the spiral staircase and into the King’s Draw-
ing Room, Orsiett breaking off to head down the corridor 
to our right. From the drawing room, we entered the Hall of 
Kings, and crossed its expanse to reach the study through the 
door to the east of the thrones.
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 My mother was already seated upon the sofa, and my father’s 
form filled the armchair beside her. He was bent toward her, 
one of her hands in his, serious expressions on both of their 
faces. As we entered, he motioned for us to sit, and Miranna 
chose the other side of the sofa, while I sat in an armchair 
opposite him. Destari and Halias remained standing, hands 
clasped behind their backs.
 “I’ve already informed your mother of this,” my father said 
to my sister and me, his manner uncharacteristically subdued. 
“The Cokyrian messenger came with a request. Tomorrow at 
midmorning, you must all report to the Throne Room wear-
ing your finest attire. The High Priestess of Cokyri desires 
an audience with the royal family, and I have granted her 
petition.”
 I heard Miranna’s intake of breath, as did my father.
 “There is no need to be afraid,” he said. “The Cokyrians 
come under a f lag of truce, and there will be no shortage of 
guards in the Throne Room tomorrow.”
 “Do you think…are they here about Narian?” I stam-
mered.
 “If they are, Lord Nar—Kyenn will be safe. Cannan is 
sending for him as we speak. He will be brought to the palace 
and will stay in one of the guest rooms for as long as it takes 
to learn the Cokyrians’ intentions and assess the situation.”
 I nodded, outwardly composed but inwardly in turmoil. 
Then I fixated on a small detail and dared to correct my 
father.
 “He chooses to be called Narian.”
 My father stared at me for a moment, as if trying to figure 
out why this was important to me, then returned to the matter 
at hand.
 “You will stay in your quarters until it is time to come to 
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the Hall of Kings tomorrow.” Turning to Destari and Halias, 
he added, “You will remain on duty through the night, as an 
extra precaution.”
 Our bodyguards nodded and bowed, and we departed, leav-
ing my father and mother alone in the study.
 Destari and I retreated to my quarters, and I sat in the parlor, 
dazed, as he loitered by the door.
 “The King is right, Alera,” he said in an attempt to reassure 
me. “You will be in no danger.”
 “And Narian?” I asked, wringing my hands.
 “The captain will keep him secure. As for what the future 
may bring, I cannot say.”

 Palace Guards lined the Throne Room, looking eerily 
identical in their royal-blue-and-gold tunics, with swords at 
their hips and long spears in their hands. My parents, robed 
and crowned, sat stiff ly upon their thrones. Miranna and I 
occupied the chairs to our mother’s left, attired in brocade 
gowns with gold-and-pearl tiaras topping our softly falling 
tresses. Despite the glowing embers in the twin fireplaces, 
the room was chilled, and I buried my hands in the golden 
fox fur throw upon my lap. The twelve Elite Guards who 
protected my father formed two arcs, one on either side of 
the royal family, while Destari stood directly behind my chair 
and Halias stood behind Miranna’s. Cannan, as always, was to 
the right of my father, while Kade, the sergeant at arms, was 
next to my mother.
 Just like the Palace Guards who lined the walls, every Elite 
Guard wore his uniform and stood with weapons at hand. The 
official weaponry of the Elite Guards consisted of a formidable 
long sword, a short sword that strapped across the back, and 
a double-edged dagger that hung from the belt.
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 My father rose, looking majestic in his royal-blue robes, as 
the antechamber doors were pulled open. The Palace Guards 
gripped their spears, and the tension in the deafeningly quiet 
room increased. Then the contingent from Cokyri walked 
forward, led by the woman who had at one time been our 
prisoner, their measured footfalls resounding in the stillness 
of the room.
 The High Priestess’s striking green eyes perused my father’s 
face as she, accompanied by six guards who stood two on 
either side of her and two behind, neared the thrones. She was 
clad in a black tunic and leggings, a sword sheathed at her side. 
Red stitching accented the front of the tunic as well as the 
black cape that was attached at the shoulders. A ring adorned 
her right hand and the silver pendant that I knew concealed a 
dagger hung around her neck, but she wore no crown upon 
her head.
 Her guards, all women, were likewise dressed in black, 
but their shirts buttoned asymmetrically off to the side, just 
like the coat Narian had worn at the palace celebration in his 
honor. All of their clothing was loose fitting, designed for 
ease of movement, and each carried a sword at her hip, a bow 
across her back and a dagger in the shaft of one of her tall 
black boots.
 The High Priestess halted fifteen feet from the dais, watch-
ing the King of her enemy country warily, her f laming chin-
length hair falling around her bronzed face. She extended no 
indication of respect or deference to my father—ruler did not 
bow to ruler—but waited in haughty silence.
 “State your business,” my father commanded as the tension 
in the room became almost intolerable, his words as frosty as 
the air.
 The High Priestess did not hesitate to speak, and when she 
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did, power seemed to pulse from her the like of which I had 
never before felt.
 “I have come to demand the return of a Cokyrian boy 
who is being held here in Hytanica. Do you know of whom 
I speak?”
 “I know of a boy who was abducted as an infant and raised 
in Cokyri but has now found his true home in Hytanica,” my 
father replied.
 The High Priestess did not appreciate the King’s disputa-
tious response.
 “You know we speak of the same boy,” she said, sounding 
controlled yet impatient.
 My father came back with a new tactic. “What reason does 
the High Priestess of Cokyri have to pursue the return of one 
runaway child?”
 “I would pursue the return of any Cokyrian held within 
Hytanica,” she answered.
 “We have not forced the boy to remain here,” my father 
rejoined, bridling at her insinuation. “He has stayed of his 
own volition.”
 “Then you would permit his return to Cokyri if that were 
his choice?”
 After a moment of thought, the King declared, “I would.”
 The High Priestess’s voice grew strong once more as she 
issued her second demand.
 “I insist that I be allowed to speak to Narian.”
 My father for the first time looked to Cannan, and the 
imposing Captain of the Guard stepped forward. I saw the 
High Priestess’s perceptive eyes f lick between Cannan and 
the King, as though assessing the balance of power between 
the two men.
 “We will send for him,” Cannan said, making the decision 
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the King had silently asked of him. His dark eyes were cold 
and hard, and I realized what a strain it was for those who had 
fought in the war to keep their words and actions civil.
 “My guards will escort you to the Meeting Hall while we 
await his arrival,” my father said, the need to be hospitable 
masking his abhorrence for the people before him. He then 
addressed the sergeant at arms. “Kade, arrange the necessary 
escort and notify the kitchens to bring refreshment to our 
visitors.”
 Kade quickly implemented my father’s orders, and Palace 
Guards walked in front of and behind the seven Cokyrians, 
more than doubling their numbers, as they were taken from 
the Hall of Kings, through the antechamber and on to the 
Meeting Hall. With the closing of the Throne Room doors, 
silence again reigned.
 The royal family moved into the King’s study while Cannan 
and an Elite Guard went to collect Narian from the guest 
room on the third f loor where he had spent the night. He 
had been told to keep to his room so that he could be sum-
moned if he were needed and, of perhaps greater import, so 
that the Cokyrians would not know of his presence within 
the palace.
 Destari, Halias and several of my father’s personal guards 
stood outside the door of the study after we had entered, the 
rest of the Palace Guards and Elite Guards milling about the 
Hall of Kings. This room too felt agonizingly cold to me, 
despite the fire snapping in the hearth, and I sank into an 
armchair as close to the blaze as I dared. Miranna and my 
mother sat together on the sofa, holding hands, while my father 
remained on his feet. Although it was only my family in the 
study, no one spoke. The hush was broken a few minutes later 
by a sharp rap on the door, and Cannan entered with Narian. 
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As had been the case with Steldor, Narian’s face showed bruis-
ing, but his was at the temple as well as along the jaw.
 Narian scanned the room, and I recollected the self-defense 
lesson in which he had told me to always be aware of my 
surroundings and to take note of every person present and of 
every exit. Was such conduct second nature to him? Did he 
ever relax his vigilance?
 “I’ve informed Narian of the High Priestess’s demands,” 
Cannan reported, closing the door.
 My father nodded, then addressed the young man standing 
respectfully before him.
 “Do you wish to speak to her?”
 Narian’s eyes were steely and he seemed to have detached 
himself from all emotion.
 “No, Your Majesty, I do not.”
 “Very well. And of her other demand—do you wish to 
return to Cokyri?”
 Narian’s expression did not change, nor did his tone.
 “No, I do not.”
 “Then it is here you shall stay,” my father decided, clearly 
under the impression that Narian’s detachment was an attempt 
to conceal the anxiety he was truly feeling. I doubted that 
Narian was afraid, but his actual emotions were indiscernible 
even to me.
 Cannan escorted Narian from the study, and my father gave 
word for the delegation from Cokyri to be brought before us 
once more. The King and Queen returned to their thrones, 
and Miranna and I likewise took our seats, with our guards 
behind us. Cannan emerged from his office, where he had 
taken Narian, and returned to my father’s side just as the ante-
chamber doors swung inward.
 The High Priestess and her guards entered as they had 
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before, though this time they were accompanied by Kade and 
the many Hytanican guards who had been with them in the 
Meeting Hall. As the Palace Guards resumed their positions 
on either side of the hall and Kade returned to stand beside my 
mother, the Cokyrians again approached the dais, the High 
Priestess halting before my father.
 “Narian will not be meeting with you,” the King an-
nounced. “Nor will he be returning to Cokyri.”
 Sparks danced in the High Priestess’s eyes, though the rest 
of her face remained composed.
 “Say what you will, Hytanican King, but Narian must be 
surrendered into my custody,” she retorted with a clear note 
of animosity. “You can either release him to us voluntarily, or 
we will take him by force. I advise you to consider carefully. 
I will know your answer in the morning.”
 She motioned to her six guards, and they departed in for-
mation, their footsteps and the High Priestess’s threat echoing 
in their wake.
 After the antechamber doors closed behind the Cokyrians, 
debate broke out among those assembled in the Throne Room, 
including the Palace Guards and Elite Guards, as a measure of 
fear seized everyone. What had she meant by we will take him 
by force? Did the Cokyrians plan to restart the war? Would 
protecting Narian put the entire kingdom at risk? And most 
pressing, how should the Hytanicans reply when the High 
Priestess returned in the morning?
 The debate grew strident as suggestions were torn apart 
and rejected. My father was conferring with both Kade and 
Cannan, who was the only person in the room who had re-
mained calm.
 I was more distraught than ever, and Miranna shot me a 
glance that told me she felt the same. Narian stepped out of 
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Cannan’s office to observe the commotion, leaning a shoul-
der against the wall, his countenance uncharacteristically 
troubled.
 “Quiet!” Cannan bellowed, and everyone was struck eerily 
dumb. “That’s better,” he grumbled, then he pinched the 
bridge of his nose and closed his eyes, deep in thought.
 A resolute voice disturbed the silence. “We should send for 
London, sir.”
 For a moment, everyone stared at Halias, who stood stead-
fast, his glistening blue eyes glued to Cannan’s face, then all 
attention shifted to the Captain of the Guard. Cannan glow-
ered at Halias for a long moment, making no effort to suppress 
the heat in his stare. Finally, he turned to Destari.
 “Do you know where London is?”
 “Yes, sir, I do.”
 “Find him and bring him here. Make sure he understands 
the situation.”
 Destari nodded, then strode from the room through the 
antechamber doors.
 The Throne Room again buzzed with conversation, and 
I tried several times to catch Narian’s eye. But whenever I 
glanced toward him, his attention was elsewhere, and I couldn’t 
help thinking this was deliberate on his part.
 After Destari’s departure, my father turned to my mother, 
Miranna and me.
 “You need not stay. It would be best if you retired to your 
quarters while we men discuss these developments.”
 My mother nodded, her face pale, and my father attempted 
to soothe her.
 “We have dealt with the Cokyrians before, and we will deal 
with this situation as well. There is no need to be afraid.”
 My mother stood, and she and Miranna left, accompanied 
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by several guards. Halias remained in the Throne Room, 
however. I made no move to follow them, and my father 
looked quizzically at me.
 “I would like to stay. I will not cause any disruption—I 
only want to know what decision is reached as to Narian.”
 He acquiesced, too distracted by the matter at hand to 
argue, and I sank deeper into my chair to make myself both 
warmer and less conspicuous. Cannan approached my father 
and they engaged in a muted exchange, at the end of which 
the captain beckoned to Narian, who was still observing ev-
eryone. Narian straightened and crossed the f loor, giving my 
father a deferential bow as he came to stand before the two 
men.
 Cannan examined the young man for several moments, 
but Narian looked directly back at him, showing no sign of 
unease. Finally, Cannan spoke.
 “The High Priestess would not personally pursue just any 
Cokyrian boy. It is time you told us the nature of your rela-
tionship to her.”
 My chest tightened at Cannan’s words, and I began to pick 
at the fox fur throw upon my lap. At my father’s glance, I 
forced my hands to lie motionless in my lap, as I did not want 
my habit to draw Cannan’s notice, lest he deduce that I knew 
something relevant to his inquiry. While I wasn’t sure how 
truthful Narian would be, I knew I would never be able to 
conceal anything from the captain if he turned to me for in-
formation. Narian said nothing, his expression inscrutable.
 “Perhaps you are but a runaway,” Cannan continued, his 
commanding eyes set on the sixteen-year-old’s face. When 
Narian still said naught, Cannan turned to the King. “If that 
is the case, Sire, I see no need to go to war simply to protect 
a miscreant child from a parent’s retribution.”
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 I did not know if Cannan were truly suggesting we return 
Narian to the High Priestess, but my stomach squirmed at the 
possibility. I glanced toward the antechamber doors, hoping 
this conversation would end before London and Destari ar-
rived, as they would certainly give their captain the informa-
tion he sought.
 “I cannot speak to the reason I was abducted as an infant,” 
Narian finally responded, sounding cowed, and I wondered 
if he were just playing to his audience.
 “As I have told you before, I did not know I was Hytanican 
until last summer. Then I journeyed here to learn of my heri-
tage. The High Priestess is insistent upon my return because 
I was raised, as are others, to serve her, and she does not like 
to lose things she values.” He paused, hanging his head, and 
his golden bangs fell forward to hide his expression. “I will 
not suffer, as you put it, a mere ‘parent’s retribution’ should I 
be placed in her custody.”
 After a brief moment, Narian lifted his tortured blue eyes 
to my father’s kindly brown ones, aware that the King was 
the weak link.
 “I feel no loyalties to Cokyri, Your Majesty. While I will, 
without argument, comply with any decision you make as to 
my future, I ask you to permit me to claim Hytanica as my 
home.”
 My father could not turn Narian away.
 “Cannan, my decision stands. We will provide him with the 
same protection I would provide to any of our children.”
 The captain looked one last time at Narian, measuring him 
with his eyes, and it seemed to me that he knew the young 
man was concealing something. He did not, however, pursue 
the subject.
 “You should return to my office,” the captain said.
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 “Thank you, sir,” Narian said to Cannan. Then he bowed 
again to my father. “Thank you, Your Majesty.”
 This time the relief I detected seemed genuine. He did as 
he had been told and retreated toward the captain’s office, al-
though he did not enter, but resumed his earlier stance against 
the wall.
 As we continued to wait for London and Destari to arrive, I 
ref lected upon the ambiguous nature of Narian’s explanation. 
While he had, strictly speaking, been truthful, his carefully 
chosen words could hold more than one meaning. I cannot 
speak to the reason I was abducted would be interpreted by my 
father as, I don’t know the reason, rather than, I know, but will 
not reveal it.
 It was but a half hour later that Destari and London entered. 
They strode up the center of the Hall of Kings together, the 
guards in the room falling silent as they followed the progress 
of the man most of them had come to call traitor. I knew 
there were some who believed otherwise, and counted Cannan 
among them, despite the fact that he had been involved in 
the decision to discharge my former bodyguard. If Cannan 
sincerely thought London a traitor, he would not have allowed 
him into the palace, save to throw him into the dungeon.
 London said nothing, but watched the captain, who found 
himself in a rather awkward position. After clenching and 
unclenching his jaw several times, Cannan posed the relevant 
question.
 “London, you know the Cokyrians better than anyone. 
What would you suggest we do?”
 “What valuable military advice could a commoner offer to 
the Captain of the Guard?” London parried, raising a mordant 
eyebrow.
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 Cannan stared murderously at his former guard for a 
moment, then cleared his throat.
 “With my authority as commander of Hytanica’s military, 
I reinstate you to your position in the King’s Elite Guard and 
to your former rank of deputy captain.”
 Somehow, impossibly, my horrible deed had been undone. 
Perhaps now London would find it within himself to forgive 
me. I was so elated that I struggled to keep myself from run-
ning to him. London, for his part, merely tilted his head toward 
Cannan to show his gratitude, no change in his bearing.
 The captain was unwilling to let London relish the moment 
for long.
 “Now, what action do you propose we take?”
 “This is really quite simple,” London replied, taking control. 
Turning to my father, he asked, “Do you intend to return the 
boy, Your Majesty?”
 “No,” my father replied. “He is Hytanican, and as such is 
granted the abiding protection of his kingdom.”
 “Then this is what we must do.” The tone of London’s 
voice indicated he would brook no contradiction. “Inform 
the Cokyrians that we have prevailed upon Narian to return, 
but that he needs time to bid farewell to his family. Tell them 
that we will bring him to the bridge in five days, at which 
time we will transfer him to their custody.
 “During these five days, Hytanica must prepare for what-
ever response will be forthcoming from Cokyri when they 
learn that Narian is not actually going to be turned over to 
them. Forces must be assembled to defend the city if indeed 
it comes to that.”
 “And of the meeting?” the King asked. “Are we to ignore 
it altogether?”
 “I will meet the Cokyrians at the appointed time and 

9780373210343_TS.indd   3549780373210343_TS.indd   354 2/4/11   9:31:12 AM2/4/11   9:31:12 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



355

location to try to forestall their retaliation.” London’s state-
ment earned a few dubious mutterings, but he did not pay 
attention. “I will inform the High Priestess that we claim 
Narian as Hytanican by birth and by choice, and that he will 
not be delivered into her custody.”
 Despite the grumbling among those assembled, Cannan 
and my father nodded their agreement to London’s proposed 
strategy. My father then dismissed all but his personal guards, 
and Cannan and London moved into the captain’s office to 
discuss the technicalities of the plan. As they passed Narian, I 
noticed that his cool blue eyes never for an instant left London’s 
face.
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ONCE THE HIGH PRIESTESS HAD CONSENTED TO 
meet at the bridge five days hence, the city throbbed with 
activity as it prepared for a potential siege, and Cannan sent 
patrols to the surrounding villages to instruct their inhabi-
tants to be ready to move inside our walls with little warning 
if such became necessary. Hunting parties braved the woods 
to our north, and the villagers slaughtered whatever animals 
they could sacrifice as part of a plan to stockpile food and other 
provisions. Hundreds of other supplies were gathered to guard 
against a potentially long and arduous winter. Weaponry was 
checked, repaired and counted, and the armories in the palace 
and at the Military Complex were replenished so that not a 
single soldier would fall short of the required arms.
 When the fifth day arrived, I awoke before dawn in order to 
see off London and the thirty soldiers who were to accompany 
him on their mission. Destari would be attending the meet-
ing as well; as the only soldier of rank other than London, it 
would be his task to assess how great and immediate a threat 
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the Cokyrians posed to Hytanica while London delivered the 
King’s message.
 In Destari’s absence, Tadark had been reassigned as my 
bodyguard. I had not spoken to the small-statured, baby-faced 
guard since he had betrayed me to Cannan by confessing the 
nature of my visits with Narian. He was, therefore, initially 
on edge around me, but I paid no heed, as I had far more 
pressing concerns. It did not take him long to conclude all was 
forgotten, if not forgiven, and he soon resumed his annoying 
habits.
 With Tadark aggravatingly close to me, I came down the 
Grand Staircase and went into the Central Courtyard, where 
London, Destari, Cannan and my father stood by the gates at 
the far end. Destari was in uniform, as was expected of anyone 
who acted as a representative of Hytanica, but London, ever 
the rebel, still wore his leather jerkin and weathered boots. On 
the other side of the open gates, the troops, in full uniform 
with plates of armor protecting their chests and backs, waited 
on horseback for the two Elite Guards to join them.
 As I approached, with Tadark just a few feet behind, the 
chilly morning air felt harsh and unfriendly, and I shivered 
despite my heavy cloak. Though this was supposed to be a 
simple meeting, no one thought the Cokyrians would receive 
Hytanica’s message with grace. It was probable that fewer 
soldiers would return than were departing.
 I stopped a few feet away from the men, knowing I would 
not be welcomed, at least by my father and Cannan, but want-
ing London and Destari to know that I wished them well. 
Although London had returned to duty within the palace, he 
had not yet come to see me, and I hoped things were resolved 
between us.
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 London glanced at me, then strode to my side before mount-
ing his horse.
 “You should not be here,” he said. “But then I’ve never 
known anyone who f louts as many rules as you do.”
 “I believe that can be attributed to your inf luence,” I re-
plied, relieved by his casual manner.
 “We will return without injury,” he promised. “But if not, 
know that what happened between us is in the past, and that 
you never left my heart.”
 I nodded, my eyes watery. He and Destari mounted their 
horses and rode out at the head of the troops. I watched until 
the somber aftermath became more frigid than the air, then 
sought the serenity of the chapel to say a prayer for the safety of 
our men before returning to my quarters to wait for news.
 Time passed slowly, and with each moment, my sense of 
doom grew. Our troops would have reached the bridge by 
now. How many Cokyrians would they have encountered? 
Had the message been delivered? How had the enemy re-
sponded? And, the most terrible question of all, were my two 
most trusted guards alive?
 As the day wore on, I would stand on my balcony to survey 
the city and what land I could see beyond its walls, check-
ing for movement. It was not until the weak November sun 
had begun its plummet toward the horizon that I saw riders 
approaching in the distance. I stared intently, knowing that 
London and Destari would lead, then left my quarters to 
stumble to the Grand Staircase, for I had seen only one horse 
heading our men.
 With a sick feeling in my stomach, I waited on the landing 
above the first f loor. I heard footsteps from below and saw 
Cannan and my father emerge from the antechamber followed 
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by several guards, obviously having been told that our men 
were returning.
 I stayed put, knowing that my father would not approve 
of my presence when the Elite Guards entered to make their 
report. I swallowed several times to clear the lump from my 
throat, and for once Tadark had the courtesy to give me some 
space by standing against the wall behind me.
 The paradoxical tranquillity was agonizing, and time slowed 
to a maddening crawl, although in fact it was only minutes 
before the doors were yanked open by the Palace Guards. As 
both London and Destari entered, taking rasping, exhausted 
breaths, I clutched the banister for support lest I collapse with 
relief.
 London seemed to be unharmed, albeit sweat-drenched 
and grimy, but as I examined Destari, I saw that his left shirt-
sleeve was soaked crimson. The wound, however it had been 
inf licted, had been bleeding profusely for quite some time. 
I was sickened by the sight of the blood, but made no sound 
nor effort not to see.
 “Report,” Cannan ordered.
 “The Cokyrians were not pleased by what I had to say, 
though to their credit they were unsurprised,” London said 
wryly, rubbing the back of his neck. “They attacked us as we 
were leaving. My horse took an arrow in the neck, and when 
Destari came back for me, he took one in the shoulder.”
 “The arrow grazed my arm,” Destari said, as worried eyes 
fell upon him. “It looks worse than it feels.”
 “You should have it examined straightaway,” my father 
insisted, gesturing toward the wound, more upset by the sight 
than I. “You have been bleeding quite heavily—perhaps the 
wound needs to be sewn.”
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 “There are many who fared worse, Your Majesty. I am in 
need of no one’s care at this moment.”
 “How many were injured?” Cannan probed, and I shrank 
from hearing the answer.
 “Twenty-four soldiers returned with us,” said London, after 
glancing at Destari and deciding it was he who would deliver 
the bad tidings. He sounded strangely distant as he spoke. “Of 
those, nine were taken to the infirmary at the military base. 
The six who were left behind are, presumably, dead.”
 I clenched my jaw so fiercely that my teeth began to ache. 
I wanted to weep as I thought of the families of the six slain 
soldiers and how they would soon learn that their husband, or 
their father, brother or son, was dead, killed during a simple 
and, based on the information that had been released, safe 
mission. Perhaps their wives were waiting dinner for them, 
not yet knowing that they lay lifeless on the shore of the river, 
stuck with Cokyrian arrows. I withheld my tears with dif-
ficulty as I pictured the dignified faces of the Cokyrians who 
had been inside the kingdom I called home less than a week 
ago, and saw not the regal figures I had judged them to be, 
but merciless killers.
 “Does the enemy have sufficient numbers to pose an im-
mediate threat?” Cannan was asking as I recovered from my 
shock.
 “No, sir, not a threat against the city,” Destari answered. 
“Nor did they pursue us. They also suffered injuries and, 
perhaps, casualties.”
 “Go to the infirmary and see who lives, and Destari, have 
your wound treated,” Cannan instructed, sounding drained 
as he experienced afresh the pain of war that had been absent 
for sixteen years. “I will send troops out to collect the bodies 
and to reinforce our protection of the bridge.”
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 London and Destari gave curt nods and the small group 
dispersed, the two guards exiting through the main doors, 
Cannan and my father heading in the direction of the captain’s 
office.

 In the aftermath of the debacle at the bridge, Cannan in-
creased the number of soldiers who patrolled Hytanica’s bor-
ders by day and by night, and sent scouts into the Niñeyre 
Mountains to monitor the activities of the Cokyrians. Al-
though our enemy had departed, no one expected this state 
of affairs to last, and our kingdom was on high alert for any 
sign of their return. But there were no incidents. Destari, who 
returned to his assignment as my bodyguard less than a week 
after he had been injured, said it was reminiscent of the end 
of the war, when the Cokyrians had abandoned their attack 
and vacated their encampments to remain unseen for sixteen 
years.
 As the days plodded on, the city was restive. A sensation 
of doom hung over it, yet each new day brought another 
reprieve. It was when we entered the month of December, 
with the passage of just over two weeks since the meeting at 
the bridge, that the atmosphere in the city and at the palace 
became noticeably less strained. The Christmas season was 
approaching, and in spite of the unsettled state of affairs with 
Cokyri, spirits were rising. Though Cannan had not reduced 
the number of troops on patrol, the Hytanican people began to 
believe that the Cokyrians did not intend to strike, and many 
thought it inconceivable that they would start a war over one 
boy.
 During this stressful but uneventful time, I saw little of 
Narian, though he continued to reside in our guest wing, 
and I had not yet spoken with him. I could only assume that 
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Cannan had forbidden him access to certain parts of the palace, 
probably harboring some concern about Narian’s relationship 
to the High Priestess. I did see more of London, however, 
as he was often with Destari, and I began to feel as though I 
once again had two bodyguards. I was not surprised, therefore, 
when I left my quarters late one afternoon to visit the library 
and found both men outside my parlor door.
 I made my way through the corridors, trailed by both 
guards, who were speaking to each other in hushed tones, 
but I was too happy to have London back to be irked by their 
manner, whether it was conscious on their part or not. Though 
it was not yet time for dinner, all the lanterns in the corridors 
had been lit, as the daylight hours had diminished now that 
winter was upon us. Despite the fact that fires smoldered in 
most of the fireplaces within the palace, the interior tempera-
ture was dropping, and I tugged a shawl more closely about 
my shoulders to ward off the chill.
 As we entered the library, my eyes fell on Narian, who was 
seated in one of the armchairs by the hearth, immersed in a 
book, light from the f lames casting f lickering shadows upon 
his face and adding a touch of red to his blond hair. He raised 
his head and came to his feet, looking almost hopeful, but his 
guarded façade emerged as he realized Destari and London 
were with me.
 “Princess Alera,” he said, giving me a courteous nod.
 Now that I had seen him free of his calculated aloofness 
on several occasions, I hated it when he employed the guise. 
Nevertheless, I understood the need to observe formalities 
whenever anyone else (especially the two guards with whom 
we were currently keeping company) was at hand.
 “Good evening, Lord Narian,” I said, so conscious of the 
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need to act naturally that every word and movement felt awk-
ward. “Does living in the palace agree with you?”
 “I am well accommodated, though I feel a bit con-
strained.”
 Confused as to the constraints to which he alluded, I asked, 
“Do you miss your family?”
 “No, I have not seen my family since before the tourna-
ment. I miss being outdoors. I miss the activity.”
 An idea came to me, something that might give me a chance 
to spend some less supervised time with him.
 “Perhaps, then, you would like to help us prepare the palace 
for Christmas. We will be hanging holly, mistletoe and ivy 
throughout the palace, and on the exterior—”
 “I don’t think that’s the sort of activity he is missing, Alera,” 
London interjected, leaning against the wall to the left of the 
window near the book-filled aisles. “I’m sure he’ll tell you if 
you ask him—he’s used to daily training and drill. You can 
lose your edge if you go too long without training.”
 Narian stared coolly at London, though a small crease in 
his brow had appeared. I closed my eyes, hoping London had 
finished. Of course, he had not.
 “I could continue your training,” he offered, though he 
watched Narian with predatory eyes. “After all, I am well 
acquainted with your instructor’s methods.”
 I took a quick, involuntary breath. Destari, who had moved 
to the window seat, looked shocked as well, his dark eye-
brows rising. Narian glanced at us, then returned his stare to 
London.
 “Oh, well,” London said, pulling a book from a nearby 
shelf and rif ling through its pages. “Just a thought.”
 Though everyone in the room was gawking at him, London 
remained nonchalant and I marveled at his composure. Never 
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before had he mentioned his ordeal in Cokyri, and now he had 
f lippantly implied that he not only had met the Overlord, but 
knew a great deal about his methods and how Narian had been 
trained. I was the only one in whom Narian had confided; I 
alone knew for certain that the Overlord had been his teacher. 
I should have anticipated, given what London had said to me 
prior to the exhibition, that he would put the pieces together, 
but that he would be bold enough to tell Narian how much 
he had surmised was unexpected.
 “So, about Christmas,” I said to Narian, my throat having 
gone so dry that my voice sounded hoarse. “Would you care 
to join us?”
 Narian appeared not to have heard me. His eyes were fixed 
on London’s hands as they turned the pages of his book.
 “That ring does not belong to you,” he declared.
 London held up his right hand, palm turned in, displaying 
the wide silver band on his forefinger, which was overlaid 
with the intricate design of a never-ending chain. I stared at 
it, the only jewelry that he ever wore, and that he was never 
without.
 “Oh, I think it does belong to me,” London disagreed, 
cocking an eyebrow in warning. “I more than paid for it 
sixteen years ago.”
 A thunderous silence hung in the room as Narian and 
London stared distrustfully at each other. Finally, the younger 
man tore his gaze away, and I repeated my question, hoping 
to dispel the tension that saturated the air.
 “If you want my assistance, then I will be happy to oblige,” 
Narian said.
 Though his reply was sincere, I could not hold his attention. 
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I had come to believe that nothing would ever penetrate 
 Narian’s defenses, but I was wrong, for London had clearly 
rattled him.

 “I need a gift for Ailith, then we will have purchased some-
thing for everyone,” Miranna said, stopping to peruse the 
jewelry displayed on the counter in one of the shops.
 She and I were visiting the Market District in search of 
inexpensive yet meaningful Christmas gifts for our personal 
maids and servants. Every year, we went shopping together 
for this purpose, though it was seen as improper for us to buy 
gifts for our bodyguards, who were forced to tolerate us far 
more extensively than were our maids. While I knew London, 
Destari and Halias relished working as they did, I would have 
liked to have been permitted to show our appreciation by 
giving them something for Christmas.
 Winter had now descended upon Hytanica. While it was 
rare for it to be cold enough in the river valley for the Recorah 
to freeze solid, the landscape was nonetheless drab and dismal. 
Especially in the month of January, skies were gray and cold 
rain would often fall. At higher elevations, the precipitation 
would descend as snow, capping the mountains to our north 
in white.
 Miranna left the shop and, weaving her way through the 
people on the street, made her way to a store where dress 
fabrics were sold. I continued to scan the display before me, 
although in truth my attention was captivated by the daggers 
at the end of the counter rather than by the jewelry. Ever 
since my self-defense lessons with Narian, I had developed a 
keener awareness of the weaponry carried by Destari and the 
other guards who worked in the palace. I knew little about the 
daggers this shop was selling, or any other form of weaponry, 
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except that simply taking note of them would be viewed as 
unladylike. I dragged my attention away from the knives and 
tried afresh to generate interest in the jewelry, vaguely cog-
nizant of the opening and closing of the shop door.
 As I passed my eyes over the merchandise, a strong arm 
took hold of me from behind, wrapping around my upper 
chest and pulling me against a well-muscled body. I clawed 
at the man’s forearm, desperate to free myself and frantic that 
Destari was not coming to my aid. My assailant released me 
with a chuckle, and I wheeled about to come face-to-face with 
Steldor.
 “What are you doing?” I demanded, cheeks af lame, temper 
rising. “Do you always pounce upon unsuspecting women 
from behind?”
 “Actually, I prefer to pounce from the front,” he said, 
dark eyes lazily scanning my figure. “Besides, I thought you 
were learning self-defense. It would seem you need a better 
teacher.”
 I glared at him, both in response to his criticism of Narian 
and the fact that he somehow had learned of the activities in 
which I had engaged during my visits to Baron Koranis’s estate. 
I could only assume that Tadark had been overly talkative.
 “My teacher is the best fighter in Hytanica,” I countered, 
hoping to strike a nerve.
 Steldor smirked, enjoying my reaction as though he had 
intentionally baited me.
 “You know your way with words, Princess, but just how 
proficient have you become with weapons?”
 I stared speechlessly at him. Was he suggesting that he 
evaluate my skill and the effectiveness of Narian’s teaching? 
And to what end?
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 “That is not your concern,” I said, beginning to move away 
from him to find Miranna at the shop across the street.
 “I don’t believe your father would view Narian as an ap-
propriate teacher,” Steldor commented, following behind me. 
“Perhaps it would be enlightening to put the question before 
him.”
 I turned back to him, distrustful of his motives. His smirk 
broadened as he recognized that he had gained the upper 
hand.
 “If you wish to continue to learn self-defense,” he said, 
reaching out to finger a strand of my hair, “you’ll find that I 
am your only option.”
 “Well, since you are the person against whom I most need 
to defend myself, I will decline your gracious offer,” I retorted. 
“If you’ll excuse me, I must finish my shopping before the day 
is out.”
 I brushed past him to step out of the shop, but to my dismay, 
he followed right behind, my anger seeming to have encour-
aged him.
 “As I am off duty, I shall accompany you,” he informed 
me, voice brimming with self-assurance and undisguised 
amusement.
 “That won’t be necessary.” I glowered at him in an attempt 
to burn a hole through his irritatingly perfect features.
 “Not necessary, indeed, but it will make for an interesting 
afternoon.”
 Turning my back to him, I made my way through the crowd 
toward my sister, doing my best to ignore the one person I 
would rather have seen run over by a buggy than at my side. 
But he fell into step with me, bent on ruining the rest of my 
day. As he continued to hold a one-way conversation beside 
me, I wondered what he might do if he had any inkling of my 
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thoughts: that were he, the great Lord Steldor, another man, 
I might have spent the afternoon smiling. Though he had a 
jealous nature, I doubted he had gone so far in his musings 
as to have considered that Narian posed a genuine threat to 
him.
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IN THE DAYS FOLLOWING THE ENCOUNTER IN
the market, I saw little of Steldor, and frustratingly less of 
Narian. While I glimpsed Narian at times within the palace, 
I was never able to speak openly with him. He seemed espe-
cially reluctant to say anything as long as London was with 
me, and his lack of candor was discouraging.
 We were in the Grand Entry Hall when Narian joined 
Miranna and me to decorate the palace. While I had pinned 
my hopes on this occasion, our conversation was f leeting at 
best. There were so many other people about that we could 
say nothing of consequence to one another. I returned to my 
quarters in despair that evening, then released Destari from 
his post as I intended to stay in my rooms until I retired for 
the night. Too dejected to sleep, I picked up a book from the 
table adjacent to the sofa. I sank into one of the armchairs 
near the hearth, seeking its warmth, and opened to the first 
page.
 A small noise from my bedroom, scarcely louder than the 
rattling of a shutter, caught my attention. As no other sounds 
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followed, I again concentrated on my book, reading until my 
eyelids drooped.
 Yawning, I stood and tossed the volume onto my chair, 
feeling pleasantly disoriented. As I moved into my bedroom, 
my eyes f litted to the window beside the balcony doors, and I 
caught a small movement. I halted, my drowsiness vanquished. 
The moon was full, shining through the glass and creating 
a path of light across the f loor, and at the edge of it, by the 
window, I could make out the silhouette of a man approach-
ing me, his silent footfalls terrifying.
 Before my paralyzed lungs could draw enough air to scream, 
the man spoke, his voice gentle and familiar.
 “Don’t be afraid, Alera. I just wanted to see you.”
 “Narian!” I exclaimed. “How did you get in here?”
 “I came in through the balcony doors.”
 I stared at him in amazement.
 “You can’t be serious…. How did you get past the guards 
in the courtyard?”
 “It wasn’t that difficult.” Gesturing to the balcony behind 
him, he added, “You may want to start barring those 
doors.”
 We locked eyes for a moment, both of us unsure what to 
say, then Narian moved forward. As he drew near, my pulse 
quickened, but not from fear. While I had been desirous of 
spending time alone with him, I was unprepared to handle 
the yearning that now burned within me.
 With his compelling blue eyes upon my face, Narian reached 
out a hand and cupped my chin, then bent down to gently 
caress my lips with his own. I did not resist, and he put his 
other hand upon the small of my back, drawing my body to 
him and pressing his mouth more ardently against mine. I 
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closed my eyes and raised my arms to his shoulders, my fingers 
playing with his thick golden hair as I returned his kiss.
 His lips broke from mine after a long moment and he 
brushed them across my forehead.
 “I was beginning to think I had imagined that,” he 
murmured.
 I nestled against his chest as he held me, his rich, earthy 
scent of leather and pine and cedar encircling me. Then reason 
returned and I grasped the impropriety of my circumstances. 
Here was a man, in my bedroom after dark, whose lips had 
been upon mine and in whose embrace I now stood, with 
no chaperone to be found. I forced myself to take a step back 
from him, and as I did so, Narian’s hands slipped down my 
arms and he entwined his fingers with mine.
 He did not ask for an explanation of why I had pulled away, 
likely recognizing the unseemliness of my position. Instead, 
he led me to the balcony doors, whereupon he turned to face 
me with a hint of a smile.
 “Shall we?”
 “What do you mean?” I asked, hesitant yet curious.
 “I can get you out of here.”
 Though my common sense told me to refuse, the thought 
of doing something daring and impulsive was overwhelmingly 
appealing, especially given the person in whose company I 
would be, and so I nodded.
 Narian retrieved a pack I had not noticed on the f loor by the 
window and opened it, then tossed me some black clothing.
 “Go put these on, and bring me one of your simpler dresses 
so you’ll have something to change into later.”
 I brought a plain linen gown to him, then moved into the 
bath chamber to don the clothing he had given me. During 
my self-defense lessons, I had become somewhat accustomed 
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to men’s trousers and did not find wearing them now to be 
strange, though I would no doubt have felt differently if asked 
to face anyone other than Narian.
 As I again approached the doors to the balcony, Narian 
pushed his dark cloak off his shoulders and removed the long-
sleeved black leather jerkin he wore, helping me into it for 
warmth. He then rearranged the cloak, covering his light hair 
with the hood so that he became nearly invisible against the 
night sky. No covering was necessary for my hair, as it was 
already a match to the darkness.
 Narian crouched down and opened one of the balcony 
doors, motioning for me to do the same, and we slipped out 
into the cold night air. He shut the door behind us and picked 
up the coiled rope that he had used to climb up to my room, 
tying a loop in its end.
 “Slide your foot in here,” he said, holding it open for me.
 I stood and inserted the toe of my shoe as instructed. He 
then tied the rope around my body, fastening the other end 
to the railing.
 “I’m going to lower you down,” he informed me, “but first, 
we must wait.”
 He pointed to the tower at the corner of the courtyard wall, 
and I saw that the guard who patrolled the planked walkway 
extending from the tower in two directions had just turned 
the corner and was walking toward us along the wall’s western 
side.
 Narian tugged me into the shadows cast by the palace, and 
we remained immobile until the sentry reversed direction and 
began to march south. When he reached the corner, he would 
pass through the tower and continue east down the length of 
the front courtyard wall.
 Easily hoisting me over the railing, Narian began to lower 
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me toward the ground. My hands shook and my heart thumped 
until my feet connected with the earth and I knew that I was 
safe. I melted into the stone wall as Narian had told me to 
do, feeling light-headed at the risk I was taking. He climbed 
down, removed the rope from my body and tugged it off to 
the side of the balcony, close to the palace, so it would be less 
visible.
 The sentry was now retracing his path and would soon pass 
through the tower and again turn north, so we stayed where 
we were. When the man had completed his tour and was once 
more moving away from us, Narian took my hand and led me 
across the courtyard to stand next to the wall. We then crept 
toward the ladder leading up to the tower, mere paces behind 
the guard moving above us on the walkway.
 After waiting for the guard to progress through the tower, 
Narian motioned for me to climb the ladder. I obeyed, 
somewhat fearful of ascending straight skyward for fifteen 
feet upon the rickety contraption, but Narian climbed right 
behind, hands on the wood on either side of me, providing 
reassurance.
 When we reached the tower, the frosty night breeze tousled 
my hair and turned the tips of my ears pink, and I shivered 
both from cold and excitement. Narian did not seem to notice 
the chill, however. Wasting no time, he pulled a second rope 
from his pack, fastening it around me as he had on the bal-
cony. Moving to the western side of the tower, away from the 
sentry, he lifted me over the top of the wall to carefully lower 
me to the ground. To my chagrin, the rope then landed at my 
feet. I could see nothing as I stared upward in confusion, but 
before my confusion could turn to fright, I heard the swish 
of a cloak and Narian dropped to the ground.
 “Can’t leave a rope hanging here,” he muttered.
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 I marveled at our actions—Narian assisting a princess dis-
guised in men’s garments to escape the palace in the dead of 
night, then leaping off walls to join her. I was also a little em-
barrassed by how effortlessly he had evaded the Palace Guards, 
both when he had come for me and when we had left.
 Narian again took my hand, this time to lead me down the 
slope into the apple orchard that lay between the palace and 
the Military Complex. We walked in silence until we came 
to the spot where Narian had tethered a horse.
 “Care for a midnight ride?” he asked, not really posing a 
question, for I knew he would not take no for an answer.
 I nodded as he untied the steed, and moved closer to the 
large sorrel animal. Thankfully, the horse was saddled, allow-
ing me to mount by the far easier method of a stirrup rather 
than through use of Narian’s knee.
 After I was situated, Narian handed me the reins and swung 
onto the horse’s back in the same way he had during my riding 
lesson. He set the horse off at an easy walk with a cluck of his 
tongue, and I surrendered the leathers to him as he wrapped 
his arms around my waist.
 We approached the darkened city without saying a word, 
though the silence between us was not uncomfortable. I was 
happy to be with him, and to be doing something adventur-
ous. The chill I had felt dissipated as we rode, partly from the 
warmth of the animal and partly from the warmth of Narian’s 
body against mine.
 The city was still as I had never before seen it, and in its 
tranquillity seemed almost like a different place. The streets 
were deserted except for the occasional guard on patrol who 
did not heed us. I reveled in my newfound freedom, at being 
out in the open with no need to hide that Narian and I were 
together, and with no bodyguards to separate us.
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 We meandered through the city without speaking, the 
horse’s hooves sometimes clacking against cobblestone, other 
times muff led on a dirt street, and the houses as well as their 
inhabitants lay in deep slumber. The moon and stars, ref lected 
by the rare dusting of snow upon the ground, were our pri-
mary sources of light, occasionally aided by a guard’s torch or 
candle glow from a window. In the almost complete silence, I 
became much more conscious of the sound of Narian’s breath-
ing and matched it with my own. While in truth I knew little 
about him, I felt at one with him as I had ever felt with anyone 
else; despite London’s concerns, I also felt safer.
 Time eluded me, but all too soon we had circled around 
to the Royal Stables just east of the palace, and I smiled when 
I realized from whence the horse had been obtained. Narian 
dismounted, then to my delight, as I was not used to his as-
sistance, told me to swing my right leg over the pommel of 
the saddle, and I slid into his arms to land beside him.
 None of the grooms was working this late at night, and I 
hovered by the door as Narian put the horse in a stall. The 
barn was dimly lit by the moonlight that shone through the 
windows, but though lanterns hung at intervals on the walls, 
we dared not light one, lest we draw notice.
 He came back to me after caring for our mount, and led me 
toward a stack of hay at the rear of the barn. We did not speak, 
but he motioned to me as he settled upon the hay, inviting me 
to sit beside him. I did so, and he draped his cloak around us 
both. Tired and warm, his arm around me, I rested my head 
upon his shoulder, inexpressibly content.
 He shifted after a moment to lean against the wall, and I 
could feel a change in his mood as well as his posture.
 “Tell me about London,” he murmured, after he had repo-
sitioned us both.
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 “What is it you wish to know?” I asked, perplexed by his 
interest.
 “How long has he been your bodyguard?”
 “For as long as I can remember. He took up the post when 
I was a little girl.”
 “Was he involved in the war?”
 “Yes, he was a scout at the beginning of his military career, 
then sometime during the war began leading troops into 
battle.” A now familiar pang of guilt hit me over how little 
I had bothered to find out about London over the years, as I 
could dredge up few specifics about his life.
 “Then how old is he?”
 “He is close in age to Destari and Halias, perhaps thirty-
nine or forty.”
 Narian made a sound of acknowledgment, but I could tell 
this was not the answer he had expected, for London looked 
much younger than his years.
 “How does he know so much about Cokyri?”
 “He was a prisoner for about ten months toward the end of 
the war,” I answered, and his body momentarily tensed.
 “Ten months?” he repeated, slowly and incredulously. “The 
enemy does not usually last ten days when the Overlord ex-
tends his hospitality.”
 “We don’t know much about what he endured during that 
time,” I said, my mood becoming subdued as an image of 
London suffering as a prisoner of Cokyri entered my mind.
 Narian was puzzled. “But how did London return to Hy-
tanica? How is it that he lived? The Overlord does not release 
prisoners of war.”
 “London escaped. After the Cokyrians took you from your 
home, there must have been great haste to withdraw from our 
lands, and he was perhaps less heavily guarded. I know nothing 
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else about it, except that he was quite ill when he returned to 
us. When he recovered, he was made a member of the Elite 
Guard in recognition of his bravery and of his service to the 
kingdom, and was assigned as my bodyguard.”
 Narian fell silent, satisfied for the moment with what he 
had learned. Then the reason for his interest hit me, and I sat 
up to stare at him.
 “Why were you so interested in London’s ring?”
 “It is Cokyrian,” he said, watching me closely. “One of a 
pair. Its twin sits on the hand of the High Priestess, while the 
one London wears belongs to the Overlord. It was thought 
lost in battle.”
 I stared at him in disbelief. Had London, while a prisoner, 
managed to steal the Overlord’s ring? Though that sounded 
impossible, it seemed more likely than his stumbling across it 
on a battlefield.
 As I absorbed this information, I realized how meager was 
my knowledge of the history of the animosity between Hy-
tanica and Cokyri.
 “Narian,” I said, dropping my gaze, aware that he was one 
of the few people who might be willing to discuss such a sub-
ject with me. “Do you know how the war began? I have heard 
much about the war itself, but never about its beginnings.”
 Narian laughed, probably aware himself that such an inquiry 
by a Hytanican woman would be viewed as improper, and 
I raised my head. His expression was so tender and open as 
he looked at me that I was certain I could see his soul in his 
eyes.
 “I can tell you what Cokyrians believe about the beginning 
of the war,” he responded, a hint of amusement still in his 
voice.
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 I gave an eager nod, nestling once more against his shoulder, 
ready to listen.
 “Over a century ago, the King of Hytanica sent his eldest 
son and heir as an ambassador to Cokyri to arrange for a 
trade treaty between the two countries. Hytanica intended 
to offer a variety of crops to Cokyri in exchange for some of 
the jewels and precious metals that we mined. Unfortunately, 
the ambassador’s provincial attitude that men are superior to 
women was not well received. When he was brought before 
the Empress of Cokyri, he insulted her by refusing to nego-
tiate with a woman. The Empress had him executed for his 
insolence, and when Hytanica learned of his death, the King 
was incensed and attacked Cokyri with all his strength. We 
retaliated in turn, and the fighting escalated from there.”
 “A hundred years of killing because one person insulted 
another?” I sat up straight, gaping at him. “Why was the 
ambassador’s action dealt with so ruthlessly?”
 Narian bristled at my accusatory tone.
 “The Empress of Cokyri was a proud and dignified woman. 
She commanded respect and obedience, and when it was not 
forthcoming, no pardon was extended. The King’s son should 
have learned our protocols before approaching our ruler. It 
was doubly insulting that he felt no need to do so, and his ar-
rogance was dealt with quickly and severely—with death.”
 “And has no one tried to negotiate a treaty since that time?” 
I pressed, both revolted and fascinated by the information 
Narian was sharing.
 “When the Empress died, her twin children, the Overlord 
and the High Priestess, came to power, inheriting her hatred 
of Hytanica. The Overlord will not entertain a treaty, as he 
is unwaveringly determined to conquer this land.”
 I could form no reply to this, so I picked at the hay, listening 

9780373210343_TS.indd   3789780373210343_TS.indd   378 2/4/11   9:31:13 AM2/4/11   9:31:13 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



379

to the horses snorting and shuff ling in their stalls. Then 
 Narian’s eyebrows lifted, and I knew he was about to pose a 
question of his own.
 “To where does the tunnel lead?” he inquired.
 I gawked at him. “How do you know about the tunnel?”
 “Actually, I didn’t know for certain it was a tunnel until 
just now. I discovered some time ago that the f loor in one of 
the unused stalls has greater give than the f loor in the rest of 
the stable, and supposed it might conceal an escape tunnel. 
You just confirmed my hunch.”
 I fought to maintain my poise, feeling a little insulted that 
he would use such a ruse to get information from me, but 
before I could respond, he repeated his question.
 “So where in the palace does the tunnel open?”
 My thoughts whirled, as I knew this was something I should 
not disclose. Very few people knew there were, in fact, two 
tunnels that led outside the palace for use by the royal family 
if circumstances warranted a hasty or secretive departure. On 
the other hand, since Narian had already learned of this tun-
nel’s existence, I had no doubt he would find the entry point 
within the palace. As I wrestled with this decision, I became 
cognizant that he was studying me.
 “Alera,” he appeased. “You don’t have to tell me anything 
if you feel you shouldn’t. Let’s just forget I asked.”
 He smiled reassuringly, then put his arm around me again 
and I settled against his chest. As my unease evaporated, some-
thing else about which I was curious came to mind.
 “I have never been in the mountains,” I murmured. “Tell 
me what it is like there.”
 Narian began to describe the raw beauty of the land in 
which he had lived, a faint longing behind his words. The 
steady cadence of his voice and the sweet smell of the hay were 
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comforting, and my eyelids fell like heavy drapes. Just before I 
drifted off to sleep, secure in his arms, a whisper escaped my 
lips.
 “The tunnel leads into the chapel.”

 “Alera. Alera, wake up.”
 Narian’s voice gradually penetrated my many layers of slum-
ber, and I peeled open my eyes. For a moment I was disori-
ented, but when I saw him gazing out one of the windows of 
the stable, the evening came rushing back, jolting me awake. 
We needed to reenter the palace.
 “You should change,” Narian instructed, tossing me the 
gown I had given him earlier to place into his pack. “We need 
to leave before the stable hands arrive for the day.”
 I nodded, glancing around for a place where I would not be 
seen. After finding nothing more fitting, I entered an empty 
stall and reemerged a few minutes later wearing my simple 
cream-colored frock. Narian had not moved, and I extended 
the black clothing to him as I went to his side, watching as 
he tucked the items into his pack.
 I could tell from the grayish light filtering through the 
window that the sun was just rising.
 “How are we going to get back into the palace?” I queried 
with a touch of panic.
 “We’ll walk through the front gates.”
 Unable to think of a better alternative, I nodded, hoping he 
knew what he was doing. He reached out to pluck a bit of hay 
from my hair and my cheeks grew hot with embarrassment.
 “I’m afraid I’m not very presentable,” I said.
 He smiled, then took my hand and drew me to him.
 “I prefer you in breeches,” he teased, lifting my chin to give 
me a light kiss. “But other than that you look just fine.”
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 I shivered, and he draped his cloak around my shoulders, 
donning the leather jerkin himself. He pulled open the stable 
door and we walked toward the courtyard gates, the frosty 
grass crunching beneath our feet.
 “Halt! State your purpose!”
 One of the Palace Guards on duty hailed us, but before 
I could answer, he recognized me, and his eyes widened in 
astonishment.
 “Princess Alera! What are you…? How did you…? Where 
did you…?”
 “Pleasant morning for a stroll, don’t you think?” Narian 
interrupted.
 “Yes, of course,” the sentry replied, eyes f licking back and 
forth between Narian and me. He pounded on the gate and 
told the guard on the other side to grant us entry.
 As the gates opened, I cast my eyes upward and saw the 
tower guards likewise staring at us in confusion. I looked down 
again so the soldiers would not see my grin.
 We walked up the white stone path through the Central 
Courtyard to the front doors of the palace, where we replayed 
the same scene. Finally gaining admittance, we stepped into 
the Grand Entry Hall, and I hoped it was early enough so that 
we would not stumble into any of the royal family’s personal 
guards, who would be far more willing to raise questions than 
the guards on night patrol in the corridors. We climbed the 
Grand Staircase, and after whispered good-byes, moved in 
separate directions, I toward my quarters, Narian toward the 
rear of the palace and the stairway that led to the third-f loor 
guest rooms.
 I felt giddy as I entered my parlor—from tiredness, from 
happiness and from how daring our actions had been. I re-
tired to my bedroom and slipped into bed, not intending to 
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fall asleep, but so that my personal maid and my bodyguards 
would not detect any change in my daily routine. As long 
as none of the sentries mentioned the hour of our arrival to 
Cannan, Kade or the King, we would go undiscovered, and 
I smiled to myself, cherishing the memory and wondering if 
Narian felt as content as did I.
 Narian paid one more visit to my balcony before Christmas, 
but instead of leaving the palace, we simply talked. It was 
when we were sitting quietly together in my parlor, warmed 
by each other’s company as well as the glowing embers in the 
fireplace, that he confided he had turned seventeen, although 
he was forced to confess that he was unsure of the exact day, 
only that it was in December. While his parents would know 
the date, Narian was estranged from his family, by Koranis’s 
decree. A terrible sadness clutched at me as I wished him a 
happy birthday, for I knew he no longer had a true family in 
either Hytanica or Cokyri. If he shared any of my feelings, he 
did not show it, but I thought his eyes as he prepared to leave 
were a little less bright than usual.
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IT WAS CHRISTMAS EVE AND THE LONGEST 
holi day of the year had just begun, for the merrymaking would 
continue until Twelfth Day on January sixth. The evening 
would commence with a sumptuous feast provided by the lords 
and ladies of the manor houses on the open land between the 
palace and the first buildings of the city. At midnight, most of 
the celebrants would attend mass at one of Hytanica’s churches 
and then resume their carousing until dawn, to disperse until 
Christmas Day mass in the afternoon. Following afternoon 
mass, the revelry would begin anew.
 Miranna and I had prevailed upon Narian to accompany us 
into the city that night, as he had never participated in holiday 
rituals of the type practiced in Hytanica. Our bodyguards, as 
always, accompanied us, as did London, who seemed set on 
keeping an eye on Narian.
 The darkened courtyard through which we walked was 
peaceful and starkly beautiful, for the trees were sugared with 
light snow and the white-tipped hedgerows sparkled in the 
moonlight. The scene as we passed through the gates into the 
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city was raucous. Huge bonfires burned and wild boar roasted 
on spits, to be served alongside stews, breads and puddings, 
washed down with ale and mead. Riotously celebrating vil-
lagers, peasants and city residents continually heaped wood 
upon the fires and jostled each other as they crowded around 
the serving tables with their own plates and mugs to receive 
food and drink.
 Every house and shop in the city was decorated with holly, 
ivy and mistletoe in the same fashion as the palace, and many 
of the celebrants likewise wore greenery in their hair. The 
exuberant crowd was not to be confined, and spilled over into 
the streets of the Market District and down the thoroughfare 
as they played games, sang carols and danced. City Guards 
were out in force to ensure spirits didn’t run so high as to 
cause damage or injury.
 Halias and Destari wore royal-blue cloaks bearing the King’s 
crest over their uniforms, and served as bookends to the three 
of us. London, in his leather jerkin layered over a thickly 
quilted white shirt, brought up the rear. Miranna and I were 
well bundled in furs, while Narian wore the dark cloak that 
he had of late been sharing with me.
 Miranna and I were smiling and relaxed, intent on so-
cializing and sampling the available entertainment, but our 
bodyguards were tense. They tried to clear some space around 
us, but it was impossible to avoid the occasional bump or 
jostle. As for Narian, he was more closed off than usual with 
me, although I supposed it was due to the company we were 
keeping, making it difficult to know what he was feeling.
 Forgoing the feast for the moment, we watched jugglers 
and other performers who wended their way through the 
masses. Much to our bodyguards’ consternation, many of 
the entertainers would approach us, bent on eliciting a laugh 
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from Hytanica’s princesses. While we welcomed most of this 
activity, I was apprehensive about the mummers who would 
occasionally come near. Ever since my girlhood, I had been 
frightened by their masked faces and discomfited by their 
silence as they performed plays in pantomime. I did not like 
the fact that there were no clues as to the identities of the 
people behind the masks. Miranna, on the other hand, would 
clap enthusiastically to show appreciation for their efforts, 
and Narian, who seemed fascinated by the mummers as well, 
would scrutinize their visages and movements. I lightheart-
edly asked him if it were possible to mime with a Cokyrian 
accent, and was rewarded with a small smile.
 Even as I teased Narian, another group of mummers ap-
proached us, their movements f luid in contrast to the constant 
and erratic bustle of the crowd. Though the others had made 
me uneasy, these caused me to glance in Destari’s direction, 
for their masks were dark and grotesque. One mask was black 
with lines of red streaming from its eyes like tears, its mouth 
twisted into a cry of misery. Another’s was gray and hideous 
like the face of a sickly old man. The third and final mummer 
wore a blank, white mask that revealed only his staring black 
eyes. This third mummer stepped in front of me and began 
to wave his hands before my face as if casting a spell, and I 
stepped back in fright. I was greatly relieved when Destari 
came forward to deal with the man.
 “Move away from the princesses,” he ordered. “You’ll have 
to find someone else to amuse.”
 Destari guided me away from the performer, and I glanced 
over my shoulder to see that the mummer had now focused his 
attention on Narian. Still feeling on edge, I walked onward 
until a strangled cry from behind brought me to an abrupt 
stop. London, his eyes glazing over, stumbled forward to 

9780373210343_TS.indd   3859780373210343_TS.indd   385 2/4/11   9:31:13 AM2/4/11   9:31:13 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver386

clutch at Destari’s shoulder. Destari pivoted and caught him 
as he went down to his knees, and my eyes darted around for 
Narian. I froze as I saw several men dragging him away into 
the crowd, one pressing a rag over his nose and mouth.
 “Guards!” Destari shouted, easing his friend to the ground. 
Halias reacted immediately, drawing Miranna to him and 
likewise shouting for the City Guards. As fear pounded like 
a drum inside my chest, I turned my attention to London.
 With Destari crouching next to him, London reached across 
his chest to his left shoulder and, with a jerk, extracted a small 
dart. I gaped at the tiny barb displayed in his palm, identical to 
those concealed in Narian’s belt—the ones soaked with enough 
poison to end a human life so rapidly that no antidote would 
be effective. The awful truth dawned on Destari as well, and 
his thick eyebrows drew together in alarm as London struggled 
to pull himself upright.
 “Cokyri…have Narian,” London gasped, then his eyes 
rolled back in his head and he lost consciousness, collapsing 
against his fellow Elite Guard. I sank to the ground beside 
him, tears streaming down my cheeks, panicked by his shal-
low, ragged breathing.
 As Halias took charge of the dozen guards who had sur-
rounded us, Destari forced himself to focus on his obligations 
as a soldier rather than his commitment as a friend. With 
tremendous strength of will, he tore his gaze from London.
 “I must return to the palace and sound the signal to close 
the gates to the city,” he told Halias, the tremor in his voice 
bespeaking the cost to him of this decision.
 Halias nodded, his face drawn taut. “Go. The City Guards 
can help me get the princesses and London back to the 
palace.”
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 Destari removed his arm from beneath London, then stood 
and strode into the crowd.
 “You two,” Halias commanded as Destari disappeared from 
view, pointing to a pair of brawny guards. “You will carry 
London. The rest of you will surround the princesses, and you 
will not let anyone approach them.”
 Halias dropped to one knee where I sat upon the cold 
ground. When I did not acknowledge him, he reached out 
to grip my arm above the elbow and guided me to my feet. 
I dragged my eyes away from London’s limp form to gaze 
uncomprehendingly at him.
 “We must return to the palace, Alera.”
 With Halias on my left and Miranna on my right, her arm 
entwined in mine, we began to walk back to our home, City 
Guards behind us, before us and at our sides. The guards bear-
ing London followed. Before we had gone more than three or 
four paces, a horn sounded and I knew it was the signal to the 
keepers of the city gates to shut them down. My mind f lew to 
Narian and I prayed that the city had been sealed in time to 
prevent his removal from Hytanica. But the cold fear that rose 
within me at the thought of Narian was nothing compared 
to the ache in every fiber of my being for London. I tried to 
still my mind, not wanting to consider that he could be dead 
before we reached the palace.
 The noise and activity around us that only moments ago 
had seemed merry and inviting was now dark and threatening. 
I was tense, on alert, convinced that every person I glimpsed 
through the barricade formed by the bodies of the City Guards 
was a potential enemy.
 After minutes that felt like lifetimes, we reached the court-
yard gates and hurried inside. Our pace increased as we trod 
the pathway, and we soon walked through the front doors 
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into the palace. As we entered, Destari, Kade and a noticeably 
careworn Cannan were deep in conversation, but all pairs of 
eyes swung to us.
 “Alera, Miranna, are you unharmed?” Cannan asked, step-
ping toward us.
 We nodded and he shifted his gaze to London, whose arms 
were around the shoulders of the two City Guards, head loll-
ing forward.
 “Follow Kade to the King’s Drawing Room,” he said to 
the soldiers. “I’ve already summoned the doctor.”
 As a servant stepped forward to take the furs Miranna and 
I were wearing, the captain spoke to Halias and Destari.
 “I have sent troops out to canvass the city, and I have others 
in my command who can coordinate that effort. You will stay 
with the princesses…and with your friend.”
 Cannan was atypically solicitous and I understood from his 
words that he knew London’s death was imminent.
 Kade had already led the guards carrying London down the 
corridor toward the King’s Drawing Room, and the rest of us 
trailed somberly behind. We entered the room to find Royal 
Physician Bhadran examining London as he lay upon the sofa. 
As Destari stepped forward to engage in an exchange with the 
gray-haired doctor, Kade departed with the City Guards.
 Clearing his throat, our long-standing physician turned to 
me, his wizened face fraught with worry.
 “His pulse is barely detectable and his breathing is shallow. 
I’m sorry, but I am not familiar with this Cokyrian poison and 
know of nothing to counteract its effects. I could try blood-
letting, on the chance we could remove some of the poison 
from his body, but he is already so close to death that I believe 
it would be pointless.”
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 “Don’t,” I said, set on sparing London what discomfort I 
could.
 “How much time does he have?” Destari asked, voice husky 
with the struggle to control his emotions.
 “Not long,” replied Bhadran. “The best you can do for him 
is to try to keep him comfortable.” At my stricken expression, 
he finished, “I will take my leave, so as not to intrude upon 
your grief.” With a bow, he exited the room.
 Halias moved a leather armchair near London for my use 
and I sat down, feeling so weak I would surely have fainted 
had I kept to my feet. Looking anguished and helpless, the 
Elite Guards remained standing, one on each end of the sofa, 
as Miranna came and hugged me.
 “I will stay, in case you need me,” she whispered before 
sitting in an armchair along the side of the room near the 
gaming tables that the men used for cards, dice and chess.
 As I gazed at London, the memory of the afternoon when 
Narian had first showed us his unusual weaponry surfaced, 
and an idea burst into my head.
 “Destari,” I exclaimed. “Cannan sent one of the darts to 
the alchemists. Perhaps they have been able to prepare an 
antidote!”
 Destari shook his head sadly. “I already checked with the 
captain. Our alchemists have had no success in breaking down 
the poison so that counteragents can be identified. I’m sorry, 
Alera.”
 I nodded, my last hope extinguished, and lapsed into si-
lence. After a few moments, I reached out a hand and touched 
London’s forehead, brushing his silver bangs away from his 
eyes.
 “He is so cold,” I said to no one in particular, for despite 
the fire crackling in the hearth, his skin felt like ice.
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 Destari and Halias removed their cloaks and spread them 
over him, their movements so tender that tears rolled down 
my cheeks anew. As sobs racked my body, I heard a door open, 
and looked up to see my father enter.
 “Were either of my daughters endangered?” he asked the 
guards as he came to me, and I stood to let him enfold me in 
his arms.
 “No,” Destari replied. “But the Cokyrians have Narian.”
 I broke from my father’s embrace and sank once more into 
my chair.
 “London will suffer a soldier’s death,” the King said, resting 
a hand upon my shoulder. “That is the way he would have 
wanted it. Be at peace with that.” Turning to Destari and 
Halias, he added, “I must go and talk with Cannan. Let me 
know as soon as there is a change.” Patting my shoulder one 
last time, he withdrew, leaving us to our deathwatch.
 As the evening gave way to the early hours of morning, 
London continued to cling stubbornly to life. Destari and 
Halias now sat upon the f loor, backs against the wall, the strain 
evident upon their countenances, while Miranna dozed in 
an armchair. I studied London’s face in the dim lantern light, 
marveling at the strength within him. How could he fight so 
ferociously against such impossible odds? I held his right hand 
in my own, wanting him to know someone was with him, 
that he did not wage his battle alone.
 Gradually my head became heavy with fatigue, and I held 
it in my hands as I struggled to ward off sleep. Just as I was 
about to lose the fight, a slight moan jarred me fully awake 
and I saw London move the hand I had been clasping.
 “Destari!” I exclaimed. “London is stirring!”
 Destari sprang to his feet and came to my side just as the 
deputy captain’s eyelids f lickered.
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 “London,” I said urgently, placing my hand upon his. 
“London, can you hear me?”
 His eyelids f lickered again, but he couldn’t yet draw them 
apart.
 “Can it be? Should we summon Bhadran?” There was 
disbelief in Destari’s weary voice as he tried to come to terms 
with what we were seeing.
 The door swung shut and I knew that Halias had left, to 
return in a matter of minutes with the Royal Physician. I stood 
and moved from London’s side to enable Bhadran to examine 
the Elite Guard.
 “He has improved,” the aging doctor said, perplexed. “I 
have no explanation, and it is too soon to be assured of a re-
covery, but he is regaining strength.”
 Destari shot a quizzical, and for the first time optimistic, 
look at me.
 “Perhaps his thick clothing absorbed most of the poison 
before the dart pierced his arm,” he ventured. Turning to the 
doctor, he pressed, “Is it possible that not enough of the poison 
entered his body to take his life?”
 “Some poisons are so powerful that even the smallest dose 
will kill. With others, a small amount will make you ill, while 
a larger dose will result in death.” Then Bhadran added a 
cautionary note. “However, a significant dose of almost any 
poison will cause damage to the body, so should he survive, 
he may never be the same.”
 “Thank you,” I choked as Halias ushered the baff led physi-
cian from the room.
 I did not care at that moment in what state London returned 
to us, simply praying that he would do so.
 Miranna moved to stand behind my chair, having been 
awakened by the commotion, and rested her hands upon my 
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shoulders. Halias rejoined us, and we four kept vigil around 
the Elite Guard, whose color was definitely improving and 
whose breathing was more regular. Hope and fresh energy 
f lowed through my veins as I talked to him, murmuring his 
name. Within a half hour, the indigo eyes that I knew so well 
opened and London peered steadily at me, then tried to sit up. 
Destari put a hand on his shoulder.
 “Not so fast. You’ve been out for several hours.”
 London collapsed back onto the sofa, then spoke with great 
effort, sounding as though his throat were swollen.
 “Why are you all sitting around?”
 I beamed at him, although my eyes glistened once more 
with tears, and I glanced around to see exuberant expressions 
throughout the room.
 “We thought we had lost you,” I said, then with no con-
cern for propriety, I grasped his hand and held it against my 
cheek.
 He made no attempt to withdraw from my show of affec-
tion, and a smile played upon his features. Always the soldier, 
he reminded us in the next moment of the seriousness of the 
situation.
 “Has Narian been found?”
 “Not yet,” Destari answered. “Do you feel up to talking to 
the captain? He will want a full report.”
 London nodded, and both Destari and Halias left the room, 
Destari to find Cannan, Halias to fetch drink to soothe Lon-
don’s dry throat. Halias returned first, bringing ale, and by 
the time Cannan and Destari came striding through the door-
way, London was swallowing and talking with greater ease. 
Cannan, his brow furrowed, strode to his wounded man to see 
the miracle with his own eyes, and the tension left his stance as 
he confirmed that his Elite Guard was, indeed, recovering.
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 “Good to have you back. What can you tell me about the 
incident?” the captain asked.
 “Three or four men approached Narian, and as I inter-
vened, one of them jabbed me in the shoulder with what 
must have been a poisoned dart.” London paused, his forehead 
creased in thought. “It is possible that the mummers were also 
Cokyrian, or at least were working for the enemy to create a 
diversion.”
 He struggled to sit up, finally settling for propping him-
self on his elbows, then began to pummel Destari with 
questions.
 “Were the gates shut down? Did you get a good look at the 
Cokyrians? Has anyone seen the boy?”
 “I promptly raised the alarm and we’re scouring the city,” 
Destari relayed. “I’m confident the Cokyrians could not have 
moved fast enough to escape before the gates closed.”
 “I have deployed search parties throughout the countryside 
just in case,” Cannan added. “But so far, neither Narian nor 
his abductors have been found.”
 London again tried to push himself upright, and Destari 
shot him a disapproving look.
 “I’m fine,” he muttered. “Saddle a horse for me so I can 
join the hunt.”
 “London, we can get along without you for a little while,” 
Destari said in exasperation. “You need to regain your 
strength.”
 “I’m strong enough. And I’ll go on foot if you won’t send 
for a horse.”
 Reading the determination on London’s face, Destari re-
lented with a scowl. “Then I will saddle two horses and ac-
company you. I’d hate to have you fall with no one to catch 
you.”
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 Their eyes locked for a moment, and I understood the depth 
of their friendship and how much they depended upon each 
other. After receiving his captain’s nod of approval, Destari 
departed.
 “I will send Tadark to be your bodyguard in Destari’s 
absence,” Cannan informed me. “And I will update the 
King.”
 After one last assessment of the deputy captain, he turned 
on his heel to exit as well.
 By the time Destari returned, London was sitting up, eating 
the bread and soup that Cannan had requested be brought to 
him.
 “The horses are prepared,” Destari announced, monitoring 
London’s movements.
 London set the food aside and stood, swaying at first but 
then gaining his balance.
 “I’m strong enough,” he said, reading the same question on 
all of our faces. “Now, let’s go.”
 The two men strode from the room, although London’s 
pace was less brisk than usual, leaving me dumbfounded at his 
improvement in the last hour. If I had not been with him, I 
would not have believed he had just come back from the brink 
of death. I recalled the evening when my mother had told me 
of the bizarre illness from which London had suffered upon 
his return from Cokyri sixteen years previously. The doctors 
at that time had likewise predicted his death, and it struck me 
that the Elite Guard had an odd knack for making physicians 
look ignorant.
 Tadark bustled in, and he and Halias escorted Miranna 
and me to our respective quarters. I entered my parlor and 
collapsed on the sofa, too tired to prepare for bed, and began 
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to doze. My maid covered me with furs as I fell into a much 
deeper, and thankfully dreamless, sleep.

 The next few days passed at an agonizing pace, for Narian 
had not been located. Destari had returned to duty as my body-
guard, but London remained dedicated to the search, know-
ing better than anyone the threat posed by Narian’s return to 
Cokyri. My feelings alternated between panic and despair. 
Panic, as London’s dire warnings about the legend rattled 
around and around in my head; and despair, as I thought of 
the precariousness of Narian’s position were he to be brought 
back to Cokyri. I was certain the Overlord would harm him 
if he failed to cooperate with the plan to destroy Hytanica. 
London, however, remained steadfast in his conviction that 
Narian was still within the city, and so I dared hope he would 
yet be located.
 Late in the afternoon on the third day following Narian’s 
abduction, London entered my parlor as Destari was stoking 
the fire.
 “I need to discuss something with you,” he said to his 
fellow deputy captain, and Destari stood to follow him into 
the corridor.
 “If this is about Narian, then I too want to hear what you 
have to say,” I objected, not about to be left in the dark.
 London considered me for a moment, finally acquiescing 
with a shrug.
 “I think the Cokyrians will try to take Narian over the 
wall,” he said to Destari. “They have no doubt come to rec-
ognize the futility of passing through the gates, as we are 
searching wagons and buggies leaving the city and checking 
everyone’s identity. And to continue hiding within the city is 
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risky. Cannan has patrols out night and day, and the citizens 
have been alerted to report anything out of the ordinary.”
 “You could be right,” Destari replied, brooding. “Although 
it would be a struggle to get an uncooperative or unconscious 
prisoner over the wall. Even so, they might have a stronger 
chance of success with that method than with passing through 
the gate.” He pondered what London had said, then asked, 
“And what do you propose we do about it?”
 “The Cokyrians are surely monitoring our patrol patterns as 
we speak, trying to decide where to make the attempt. Scaling 
the east wall would be the best choice, as they can obtain cover 
along the forest’s edge and proceed directly toward Cokyri. If 
we coordinate the placement of the guards who patrol along 
the turrets, I believe we can dictate where they will try their 
escape. A gap of ten to fifteen minutes in our sentries is all 
that would be needed to provide them with enough time to 
scale the wall. We can keep vigil on the other side and ensnare 
them should they take the bait.”
 “It might work,” agreed Destari, a gleam in his coal-black 
eyes. “Have you discussed this with the captain?”
 “No, but I will do so now. If we don’t act soon, I fear the 
enemy will make its own opportunity.” He rubbed his left 
shoulder where he had been pierced by the dart, and I under-
stood there were more lives at stake than just Narian’s.
 “I will come again when I have Cannan’s answer, but you 
should start to think through the details. You know as well 
as I what he will say.”
 Destari returned to tending the fire once London had 
exited, though he was now restless. An hour later, London 
returned with Tadark in tow and I knew his strategy had met 
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with Cannan’s approval. After stationing Tadark outside my 
door, the two deputy captains departed, leaving me to the 
unending task of waiting.
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IT WAS TWO MORNINGS HENCE WHEN I WAS 
awakened by a loud pounding on my bedroom door.
 “Alera, they have him!” Tadark sounded thrilled, and it 
was clear that he was pleased to be the one announcing the 
news.
 “Who has whom?” I called blearily.
 “London and Destari—they captured the Cokyrians last 
night! And they have Lord Narian!”
 “Is he all right?” I asked, now completely alert. “Are London 
and Destari all right?”
 “London and Destari are tired, but unhurt,” Tadark re-
sponded, as if he personally had been involved in the mission. 
“And Lord Narian has been taken to his quarters. I know the 
Royal Physician has been called, but I think only as a precau-
tion. I didn’t hear of any injuries.”
 “Thank you,” I replied, my voice taking on some of the 
same exhilarated quality. “I will be out shortly and will want 
to visit Narian.” I intended to see for myself that he had suf-
fered no harm.
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 Sahdienne entered my bedroom and assisted me as I dressed. 
Forgoing breakfast, I left my quarters, heading toward the 
third-f loor guest room that Narian had been occupying, with 
Tadark following behind. Reaching Narian’s door, which was 
across the hall from the one in which he had been held pris-
oner, I rapped upon the wood, waiting to enter until London 
responded. Both he and Destari were in the room, but neither 
looked surprised to see me as I crossed to Narian’s bedside. 
He lay upon the double bed in his shirt and trousers, covered 
with a woolen blanket, his boots on the f loor and his jerkin 
and cloak tossed across the footboard. His face was gaunter 
than I remembered, but he otherwise looked as though he 
slumbered peacefully. I wanted to reach out and touch his 
face, but knew such a gesture would betray the true nature of 
my feelings toward him.
 “He’s been drugged, but the doctor says he’ll sleep it off,” 
London explained as he moved to stand beside me. “He is too 
important to Cokyri for them to cause him injury.” He paused, 
then dryly asserted, “I would feel sorry for any Cokyrian who 
let harm befall Narian.”
 “Tell me about the rescue,” I urged, highly interested now 
that I knew Narian was safe.
 “It went as expected. We ambushed the Cokyrians as they 
came over the wall, and have three prisoners in our dungeon 
as a result.” London frowned, then continued, “One other 
escaped, however, and that means the High Priestess and 
the Overlord may already know that this attempt to recover 
Narian failed.” He glanced at Destari, who was standing at the 
foot of the bed. “I worry as to what their reaction will be.”
 As the two men talked, the door opened and Cannan en-
tered, crossing to his deputy captains.
 “How is he?” he asked, gazing down at Narian, and London 
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repeated the information he had shared with me. Drawing the 
Elite Guards a few feet away, Cannan inquired, “What do you 
think will be the enemy’s next move?”
 “I think they will retaliate swiftly and viciously,” London 
said with a note of bitterness. “We need to bring those who live 
outside the city within the protection of its walls at once.”
 The captain stood deep in thought for a moment and then 
left the room without another word, London and Destari a step 
behind. “Let us know the moment Narian wakes,” London 
said to Tadark, who had been hanging in the background, as 
he brushed past.
 Alone now with Tadark and Narian, I directed my body-
guard to draw a chair near the bed for me. I sat down for the 
second time in a week to wait for one of the men I loved to 
rouse.
 Hunger finally got the best of me, and I sent Tadark for 
bread and soup. Although Narian had not stirred, his breathing 
was strong and steady, and I finally felt safe in showing my 
affection for him. His face was tipped to the side, away from 
me, and I whisked a few stray strands of golden hair from his 
forehead, longing to see his deep blue eyes. As I examined 
his serene expression, I was seized with curiosity about the 
“mark of the bleeding moon,” to which London had referred. 
I slid out of my chair onto my knees so I could get a better 
line of sight, then brushed his hair back from his ear and off 
his neck. I gasped as my eyes found the birthmark. While it 
was not large, it was ghastly, for it was indeed in the shape of 
a jaggedly cut crescent moon, with an irregular line of red 
that looked very much like blood extending from the bottom 
point. It was as though someone had ripped through a full 
moon with a sawtooth dagger, causing even such a heavenly 
body to bleed. I pulled the hair back about his neck, for some 
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reason wanting to hide the evidence that he was the one des-
tined to fulfill the legend.
 Old fears having resurfaced, I stood and wandered about the 
room, taking in its sparse furnishings. His bed was against the 
far wall, to the side of a frosty window that opened over the 
garden, once beautiful but now bleak and barren with winter. 
There were a couple of padded armchairs in front of the fire-
place in which logs snapped and smoldered, and a small table 
piled with books. Narian’s scabbard and sword were slung on 
one of the posts at the head of the bed, and his daggers lay on 
a bench near the hearth.
 I sifted through the books on the table, marveling at the 
eclectic mix. There was a volume on Hytanica’s history, an-
other on the use of herbs in medicine and two on weaponry. 
There was also a philosophy text, a volume on falconry and, 
to my delight, a book of poetry. I took up the book of poems 
and returned to my chair to skim through its pages until 
Tadark returned with a tray of food. I ate ravenously, but as I 
lay aside my tableware to pick up the volume again, he cleared 
his throat, drawing my attention.
 “We could play chess,” he ventured. “I saw a game board 
on the bookshelf.”
 As Narian was sound asleep, I agreed, wanting to alleviate 
my restlessness. Tadark moved the small table and another chair 
near mine, then set up the game. An hour later, as we were 
immersed in battle, I was startled by Narian’s raspy voice.
 “Who is winning?”
 “Narian!” I turned to him with an unrestrained smile. 
“How are you feeling?”
 He put a hand to his head and shut his eyes.
 “My head is aching and I am thirsty, but other than that, 
I’m well.”
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 “I’ll fetch food and drink,” Tadark said to me, coming to 
his feet. “And I’ll let the captain and the others know he is 
awake.”
 As soon as Tadark left, Narian’s brow wrinkled in confu-
sion. “How did I come to be here?” he asked.
 “Cannan will explain everything when he arrives,” I re-
plied, my spirits soaring.
 “How long was I gone?”
 “Five days.”
 He nodded, then winced, as if the movement had once 
more created pain within his head.
 “Just rest,” I counseled and he lay motionless with his eyes 
shut.
 As I watched him, I suddenly felt awkward, for I longed to 
embrace him, but knew that such a show of affection would 
be inappropriate as we were alone and he was in bed. Much 
to my chagrin, I found myself hoping Tadark would return.
 Narian continued to lie still and I wondered if he had fallen 
back asleep. Before he made any further attempt to speak, the 
door to his room swung open and Cannan entered, followed 
by London, Destari and Tadark, who was bearing bread, stew 
and dark ale. Narian opened his eyes and shifted as if to sit 
upright, then froze as he took in the men approaching him. 
Without any preliminaries, he addressed London.
 “I saw you stabbed with a poisoned dart! How is it that you 
live?”
 “You sound disappointed,” London replied as the group 
came to stand at Narian’s bedside.
 Impulsively I answered the question, knowing of the tension 
that existed between the men and not wanting their conversa-
tion to become heated.
 “We think most of the poison was caught on London’s 
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jerkin, and that not enough entered his body to kill him, 
although he was incapacitated for several hours and gave us 
quite a scare.” I drew a deep breath, aware that I was starting 
to babble, but unable to stop. “London and Destari are the 
ones responsible for your safe return. They—”
 “This is the military’s business,” Cannan said to me sternly, 
damming the stream of words tumbling from my mouth.
 He turned to Narian. “Now, what do you remember?”
 Narian swung his legs over the side of the bed, clutching 
again at his head. He accepted the food and drink from Tadark, 
taking a long swig of ale before he began to speak.
 “As you know, I was taken by force at the Christmas Eve 
celebration. I passed out shortly after I saw London stabbed, 
then lost track of time. My captors were using a draught in 
my drink to knock me out, and I tried not to consume much 
of it, but they could drug me in other ways if necessary. I was 
alert enough, though, to know we were frequently changing 
locations, usually during the night.”
 He took a few bites of stew and another long swill of ale 
before continuing his story.
 “My captors were four in number, two men and two 
women. I caught snatches of their conversation, and knew 
they were having trouble getting me out of the city. I also 
learned they had known of my whereabouts since the tourna-
ment, but that the High Priestess wanted to give me a chance 
to willingly return to them.”
 His brow wrinkled as he tried to remember more, then he 
exhaled in frustration.
 “That’s all I remember. Now I would like to know how I 
ended up here.”
 “We set a trap, and when the Cokyrians tried to take you 
over the wall, London and Destari and others under their 
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command rescued you,” Cannan told him. “We now have 
three of your captors in our custody. One other escaped and 
is no doubt back in Cokyri.”
 Narian paused with a piece of stew-soaked bread halfway 
to his mouth.
 “The villagers are in danger,” he warned. “Cokyri will not 
hesitate to strike now that this attempt to take me peacefully 
has failed.”
 “London thought the same,” Cannan replied. “But won’t 
some attempt be made to secure the release of the prisoners? 
An attack could lead to their execution.”
 “They failed in their mission and expect that their lives are 
lost,” Narian stated.
 Cannan pondered this information before continuing. “In 
anticipation of an assault, I have begun to move those who are 
ready into the city. Temporary housing is being prepared in 
the churches and meeting halls. Shelters will be constructed 
as well to handle the large inf lux.”
 “They have to be brought into the city before nightfall, 
whether ready or not,” London declared.
 Cannan glared at him, but did not respond, as his orders 
were inviolable regardless of London’s opinion, something I 
was certain had been asserted once or twice already.
 “I assume you had the prisoners change their clothing. 
Did you confiscate all personal items? Boots, belts, jewelry?” 
 Narian’s questions ended the silent battle between London 
and his captain and once again drew Cannan’s attention.
 “Those were my orders, but I will check that they were 
fully executed. I have also posted a twenty-four-hour guard 
outside your door as a precautionary measure, and will assign 
a bodyguard to you when you are well enough to move about 
the palace.”
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 Narian nodded, but said nothing further.
 “You should eat and rest now. The King will visit later 
today.” Settling his gaze upon me, Cannan finished, “Destari 
will return to service as your bodyguard. You should depart 
and give Narian some time to recuperate.”
 He motioned to Tadark and a still-riled London to accom-
pany him, and the three men left together.
 As Cannan had given me no choice, I murmured a farewell 
to Narian and returned with Destari to my quarters. I entered 
my bedroom and crossed to open the balcony doors, stepping 
out into the crisp winter air. My eyes took in the activity that 
was underway outside our courtyard walls in preparation for 
sheltering Hytanica’s entire population. Beyond the city’s gates, 
villagers were crowding the roads, traveling toward safety in 
a steady stream. Shivering, I went back into my room, closing 
the doors behind me.

 My father came to see me in the late afternoon.
 “I am on my way to visit Narian and thought perhaps you 
would like to accompany me,” he said, giving me a kiss on 
the cheek in greeting.
 “Yes, I would,” I replied, a tad too eagerly, and a shadow 
fell upon his face.
 “I have come to know that there are…signs of affection…
between the two of you,” he said, then waited for confir-
mation.
 This was not a topic I had expected him to broach, and I 
was sure my expression was confirmation enough.
 “I am assuming this affection is based on friendship alone. 
He is too young…and inexperienced…to be seriously con-
sidered as a suitor for you.”
 His words were chosen carefully, but I knew there were 
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unexpressed reservations about Narian hidden within them. 
I nodded, not trusting my voice and at a total loss as to how 
to change his opinion of the young man.
 “Very well, then,” he said, extending his arm to me, and I 
knew he viewed the matter as resolved. “Shall we?”
 As we left the room, he dismissed Destari, giving him leave 
to attend to other tasks.
 My father and I visited with Narian for half an hour, al-
though I said very little, not trusting in my ability to con-
ceal the nature of my feelings for Narian. The King, on the 
other hand, was in high spirits, in spite of the threat from 
Cokyri that still loomed over our heads, most likely due to 
the victories that both London’s recovery and Narian’s return 
represented.
 As my father prepared to depart, he invited me to take tea 
with him, a subtle reminder that he did not see it as proper 
for me to stay in Narian’s room without a chaperone. We 
descended the spiral staircase together and turned to walk 
toward the front of the palace. Our pleasant stroll through the 
first-f loor corridors was disturbed, however, by the slam of a 
door and raised, angry voices. The sounds drew our attention 
to the Grand Entry, where London and Cannan stood glaring 
at each other, having just exited the captain’s office.
 “If you don’t get everyone into the city tonight, you will 
find yourself gathering corpses in the morning!” London’s 
stance was tense and his fists were clenched at his sides.
 My father disentangled his arm from mine. Indicating with 
his hand that I was not to follow, he bustled down the hall 
toward the quarreling pair.
 “My patrols have reported no sign of the Cokyri,” Cannan 
said, glowering down at London. He took an additional step 
toward his vexatious Elite Guard so that naught but a foot was 
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between them. “And you will not challenge my authority in 
this way.”
 “Then in what way shall I challenge it?” London responded.
 “You will show me proper respect and address me as ‘sir’ 
or ‘captain,’ or you will find yourself confined to quarters.”
 It was clear that Cannan’s patience with London’s disregard 
for chain of command, as well as his propensity to issue orders 
to his commanding officer, was growing thin.
 “Then I will catch up on my reading until the next time 
you need me to deal with a crisis. But when that time comes, 
you may find me unwilling to—”
 London did not finish his sentence, as he had become aware 
of my father’s presence. Tossing his captain one final defiant 
glare, he turned and stalked through the front doors and out 
into the Central Courtyard.
 My father and Cannan spoke then, but they were too far 
away for me to overhear their conversation. As the captain 
glanced in my direction, I shifted self-consciously, wondering 
if I should continue to wait. I did not have long to ponder the 
matter, however, for my father returned to my side.
 “Forgive me, my dear, but I will have to cancel our tea. 
More pressing affairs, I am afraid.”
 “That’s all right,” I assured him, noticing that Cannan had 
remained in the Grand Entry, waiting for the King.
 “Would you like me to request an escort for you?”
 “Thank you, Father, but there is no need, as I plan to return 
to my quarters.”
 I f lashed my father a pleasant smile and took his arm to walk 
down the corridor toward the Grand Staircase. As I left my 
father’s side and walked past Cannan, his troubled expression 
made me uneasy, and fear began to mushroom inside me at 
the thought of London’s dark prediction.
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* * *
 Early the next morning, I was sipping tea at a table in front 
of the bay window in the first-f loor tearoom, passing the 
time, for the drizzle falling on the shriveled foliage outside 
was limiting my options for the day. I planned to visit Narian 
in the afternoon and had invited Miranna to join me, both for 
the company she would provide and as a chaperone. Although 
Destari would have been satisfactory in the latter capacity, I 
intended to leave him in the corridor, for I knew Narian would 
not speak freely in his presence.
 As I drank, my mind revisited the argument I had witnessed 
between Cannan and London. I was entertaining the idea that 
I should ask Destari, who stood near the fireplace, about the 
incident, when London strode into the room.
 “No one has entered the city this morning, no patrols have 
reported to Cannan, no villagers have sought sanctuary—no 
one. I do not believe anyone survived the night.”
 Destari inclined his head in my direction, silently asking 
whether they should talk in front of me. London merely 
nodded, too distracted to take much notice.
 “Do you know how many were brought into the city yes-
terday?” Destari inquired.
 “Perhaps two thousand, but hundreds were left at risk. I 
intend to ride out to the countryside to judge the conditions 
for myself.” An undertone of anger had entered London’s 
voice.
 “I will ride with you,” Destari said automatically.
 “No. I suspect it will be dangerous, and there is no need 
to put both of our lives in jeopardy.”
 My heart leapt to my throat, but I kept my silence.
 “I will see you upon my return.”
 As London left, fear again enveloped me, and I sought 
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refuge in my bedroom. Every ten to fifteen minutes, I braved 
the damp chill of the balcony to watch for movement on the 
other side of the city’s walls, but the landscape was oddly static, 
no signs even of smoke coming from the distant homes.
 Stepping out onto my balcony for the dozenth time, I spied 
a rider approaching at a gallop. I rushed from my rooms, star-
tling Destari in the process.
 “London is coming!”
 He caught me by the arm as I turned away to head toward 
the landing of the Grand Staircase.
 “I’m not sure this is your business,” he said, and I rounded 
on him.
 “Everyone in Hytanica, including me, has the right to know 
what is happening. It is not just the lives of soldiers that are at 
stake.”
 He released me, frustrated by his inability to deny my as-
sertion, and we hastened down the corridor.
 “Cannan!” London bellowed as he entered the palace. 
Pointing to one of the guards stationed by the door, he said, 
“Find Cannan for me. Now!”
 “I am right here.” I heard Cannan’s dangerously calm voice 
and saw him emerge from his office through the guardroom 
as I halted on the landing, mesmerized by the confrontation 
taking place below.
 “Are you aware no one has entered the city this morning?” 
London raged, stalking toward his commanding officer. “Well, 
I can supply you with the reason! They’re dead, all dead! Sol-
diers, villagers, men, women and children, even animals, all 
slaughtered sometime during the night. And the riverbanks 
are crawling with the enemy.” Cannan’s dark eyes locked upon 
London’s indigo ones as the Elite Guard finished, “I would 
consider that to be a sign of the Cokyri.”
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 “We will not discuss this here,” Cannan said in a mighty 
struggle to control his temper. “You will come with me to 
report to the King.”
 “I will take men out to collect the bodies for proper burial 
while there is still time to do so. You can inform the King of 
how well your strategy is working.”
 London turned his back on his captain, but Cannan reached 
out and grabbed the collar of his leather jerkin, pulling him 
roughly around.
 “You will come with me,” he declared. He signaled to the 
guards by the door, who took a step forward, and his meaning 
became clear.
 London said nothing, but his hands slowly came to rest on 
the hilts of his long knives. It was then that Destari rushed 
down the stairs, intent on ending the altercation before some-
one got hurt.
 “London, what our captain requests makes sense,” Destari 
asserted, moving to his friend’s side and putting a hand on his 
shoulder. Then Destari spoke to Cannan. “Sir, I would like 
to take a detail of men to recover the bodies of the fallen for 
burial.”
 A long and agonizing moment passed as London and Cannan 
continued to glare at each other.
 “Permission granted,” Cannan finally said.
 Breaking eye contact with the captain, London shifted his 
gaze to Destari, and some of the tension left his frame as he 
deliberately acquiesced to his friend rather than to Cannan. He 
then marched passed his captain, heading into the antechamber 
that led to the Throne Room. Waving off his guards, Cannan 
followed.
 Destari returned to my side and pried my hands from the 
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railing; it was only then that I realized how fiercely I had 
been gripping it.
 “Let me take you back to your quarters,” he prompted, 
placing a hand on my arm to direct me down the corridor. 
I did not object, too horrified at the news to care where we 
were going.
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IT WAS A FEW HOURS LATER THAT MIRANNA 
joined me on the walk to Narian’s quarters. Although Halias 
was with her, I was, for once, without a bodyguard, as Destari 
had left to oversee the recovery of the bodies of the slaugh-
tered Hytanicans.
 “Is something wrong?” my sister asked, noticing my mood.
 “The people who were in the villages last night were mur-
dered,” I explained, a fresh wave of anger breaking over me. 
“Cokyri took its revenge on the defenseless. They slaughtered 
not just soldiers, but men, women and children as well.”
 “I did not know,” Miranna murmured.
 “How can they act so savagely?” I demanded, my anger 
escalating. “How can they look into a child’s eyes and show 
no mercy? They are no better than animals—they are worse. 
Even animals don’t kill indiscriminately!”
 Miranna examined me worriedly, as she had never before 
heard such venom in my voice.
 By the time we reached Narian’s room, I was almost shaking 
with the effort to suppress my rage. As my eyes fell upon him, 
the knowledge that he had been raised among the Cokyrians, 
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the people who had committed these unthinkable atrocities, 
was uppermost in my mind and I unleashed my wrath upon 
him.
 “Do you know what your countrymen did last night?” I 
lashed out. “Our people have been massacred—our men, our 
women, our innocent children! And all because we thwarted 
their effort to take you!”
 Narian’s face clouded over, and he slid off the edge of the 
bed, a book falling from his lap to the f loor with a thump and 
a rustle of pages.
 “They are not my countrymen,” he bitterly corrected. “And 
both London and I advised the Captain of the Guard of their 
likely actions.” He let his words hang in the air, then finished, 
“This is war, Alera, and war is neither fair nor pretty.”
 Another pause ensued, during which he looked straight 
into my eyes until I could no longer meet his gaze.
 “If it is your desire that I leave Hytanica, tell me, and I 
will,” he added, his voice resolute.
 A range of emotions churned within me until my anger 
broke, leaving me weak and trembling.
 “I’m sorry,” I murmured. “I do not wish for you to leave.”
 He searched my face, looking for the truth, then said, 
“Come sit. Both of you.”
 Miranna and I took up chairs near him and he returned to 
his cross-legged position upon the bed, but our conversation 
was stilted, and the mood in the room remained bleak.
 “Maybe we should go,” I finally said, after a long and awk-
ward silence.
 “I will be up and around the palace tomorrow,” Narian 
offered, his eyes upon me. “Perhaps we will meet under less 
strained circumstances.”
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 “Perhaps,” I said, and I departed with my sister, Halias fall-
ing into step behind us.
 “You cannot blame Narian for what the Cokyrians did last 
night,” Miranna said. “Although,” she continued, furrowing 
her brow, “I don’t understand why they are so insistent upon 
his return.”
 She stopped and faced Halias, the fingers of her left hand 
entwined in her strawberry-blond hair.
 “Do you know of a reason for the Cokyrians to be so ob-
sessed with recovering Narian?”
 “I do not.” Halias shrugged, his answer no doubt honest.
 “I’m not sure that is our concern,” I interjected, trying to 
quash my sister’s inquisitiveness.
 I saw Halias raise his eyebrows, and I knew he was thinking 
that I was not one to leave well enough alone. I decided it was 
time to move on, and took Miranna’s hand to lead her to her 
quarters. As we reached the door to her parlor, she tugged me 
inside, leaving Halias standing in the corridor.
 “What is going on between you and Narian?” she queried, 
without any preliminaries.
 “What do you mean?” I answered guardedly, though I 
knew my reddening cheeks would give me away.
 “Come now, Sister,” she coaxed, pulling me down to sit 
next to her on the deep blue velvet sofa. “I know you too 
well not to recognize the signs.” She grew yet more seri-
ous as she continued, “You were much too nervous while 
he was missing, much too eager to see him upon his return, 
and your outburst just now was a bit extreme. So, it’s time to 
confess.”
 My thoughts were scrambled—I knew I could trust her, yet 
did not want to tell her some of the secrets Narian and I shared. 
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I felt as though the clandestine time I had spent with him 
would be spoiled if anyone else knew about our meetings.
 “I have come to enjoy his company.”
 “Have you kissed?” she audaciously asked.
 I once again knew that my rising color would give me 
away.
 “Ye-e-es,” I drew the word out as though that would pre-
vent her from pursuing the matter.
 “More than once?”
 “Yes,” I said, slightly irritated that she was clinging to the 
topic. As she waited, a knowing smile upon her lips, I con-
tinued, “He is very warm and considerate, and he treats me 
differently from the way Steldor or any of the other young 
men I know treat me.”
 “‘Differently’ in what way?”
 “With more respect. He listens to me, giving me his full 
and undivided attention, and he values my knowledge and 
advice.”
 “Well, that would be a bit different from Steldor,” she ad-
mitted with a laugh. “So are you going to talk to Father? After 
all, he has given Steldor alone permission to court you—he 
would be very unhappy to find that someone else is secretly 
doing the same.”
 “I would, but just yesterday, Father made his opinion of 
Narian known.”
 At her puzzled glance, I elaborated.
 “Father came to my quarters so that I might accompany 
him on a visit to Narian. He said that he has come to know 
of signs of affection between Narian and me, but that he as-
sumes they are signs of friendship. He said that he would not 
view Narian as an appropriate suitor.” I sighed heavily before 
continuing. “Even I admit that Narian does not meet any of 
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Father’s criteria. He is too young, owns nothing but the shirt 
on his back and has a questionable military background.”
 As was her habit, Miranna played with a strand of hair while 
she considered how to reply.
 “I know you don’t want to hear this, but if that is the way 
Father feels, then you should perhaps limit your contact with 
Narian. Otherwise, you may be setting yourself up for heart-
ache.” Her manner was gentle, but her aspect was unusually 
serious.
 “You are right, of course. But I’m not sure I’ll be able to 
keep my distance.”
 “Then at least stop kissing him!” she admonished. “Just 
try to keep your relationship one of simple friendship. That 
shouldn’t be asking too much, as I doubt you have many op-
portunities to be alone with him.”
 I couldn’t help but smile, knowing how wrong she was. I 
quickly changed the subject before she could begin to quiz 
me about the where and when of the times Narian and I had 
kissed.
 “So tell me about the romance you seem to have under way 
with Temerson.”
 It was finally my sister’s turn to blush, and despite the 
undercurrent of tension recent events had created, we spent 
the next half hour pleasantly discussing the young man in her 
life.
 I left Miranna’s quarters shortly thereafter, longing to take 
advantage of my lack of a bodyguard and the freedom it pro-
vided with a brief stroll outside, but the rain had continued 
to drizzle down Miranna’s windows while we had conversed. 
Nonetheless, I did not want to return to my rooms, so I chose 
to visit the main f loor’s eastern wing, perhaps to find my 
mother in her drawing room. As I came down the hall, I heard 
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the creak of the chapel door ahead. Thinking the Queen had 
gone to pray (and recognizing that I might benefit as well 
from a consultation with our Lord), I went to the heavy doors 
and laid my hand upon one, an instant away from pushing 
it open. I stopped cold when I heard not my mother within, 
but London’s troubled voice. After glancing back down the 
deserted hall, I leaned my ear to the crack.
 “For the moment, Narian wants to remain in Hytanica, 
but we must contend with the possibility that he will return 
to Cokyri once he accepts that he cannot be with Alera.”
 “I take it you do not trust him.” It was Destari who 
responded.
 “No, I don’t. I think he stays only because of his interest in 
her. He really has no other ties to Hytanica. He is alienated 
from his family and has turned down Cannan’s offer to enroll 
in the Military Academy.”
 “And if he tries to leave, what do we do?”
 “If he tries to return to Cokyri…” London trailed off, and 
I strained to hear more, daring to open the door an inch so I 
could peer at the two guards through the gap. An ominous 
silence hung until London continued, “We must be prepared 
to take drastic measures. Even the most drastic of all. We must 
be prepared to end his life, if necessary, to preclude his return. 
Would you be willing to do that, knowing that we could be 
accused of murder? Knowing that we could be hanged for our 
actions?”
 “My duty is to protect Hytanica, and I will do so even if it 
means I forfeit my life,” Destari avowed without hesitation.
 “Good. But let’s pray it does not come to that.”
 The two men clasped arms before going their separate ways, 
and I dashed into the Music Room, where I sank to the f loor, 
horror-struck at what I had overheard. Not wanting Destari 
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to search for me, but knowing that he would soon learn that 
I was out and about the palace, I willed my racing blood to 
slow and attempted to regain some semblance of composure. 
After several gulps of air, I slipped into the corridor, driving 
my fingernails into my palms in the hope that physical pain 
would hold my anger and despair in check. As I reached the 
second f loor, feeling as though my world were awry, I saw 
Destari coming toward me.
 “Alera,” he said pleasantly, “I just came to find you.” As 
he took in my ashen complexion, a peculiar look crossed his 
face. “Is something wrong?”
 “No, I’m fine. My mother just wanted to talk to me for a 
minute.”
 I ground out the necessary lie without stopping, continuing 
past him with my eyes focused straight ahead. Although he 
fell into step with me, I chose to ignore him until we reached 
my quarters.
 “I won’t be in further need of you tonight.” I turned toward 
him, my voice brittle. Before he could respond, I entered my 
parlor, slamming the door in his bewildered face.
 I sought the sanctuary of my bedroom, tears stinging my 
eyes. Too disturbed to sit, I paced around and around the 
room, frenetic energy coursing through me as I railed against 
Destari and London in my head. Once my rage subsided, fear 
for Narian clutched at me, and my breathing became fast and 
shallow. Certain that my rib cage was attempting to crush 
my lungs, I sank onto my bed, feeling dizzy and trying to 
control the panic that threatened to immobilize me. Then 
anger again blazed white-hot, scorching my insides, as a sense 
of betrayal stole over me at how callously London and Destari 
had conceived of their plan. I stood and resumed my pacing, 
my temples throbbing.
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 For the first time in my life I wanted to throw and break 
something, but what I really wanted to break was not an 
object, but the prejudice that kept London from seeing Narian 
as he really was. As my anger turned to despair, I sat again 
on my bed, twining my fingers, the emotional battle within 
tearing me apart. Just when I thought I could endure no more, 
my torment poured itself out in a rain of tears, and I fell sob-
bing against my pillow.

 I slept fitfully that night and my efforts in the morning to 
control my emotions were fruitless, as I obsessed over what I 
had heard the men discussing in the library. I sent for London, 
and by the time he entered my parlor, I was pacing, my feet 
almost burning a path in the rug that lay in front of the sofa. 
Before he could open his mouth, I attacked him.
 “I was in the East Wing last night and heard every word you 
said to Destari. How can you possibly suggest taking Narian’s 
life?”
 My hands were shaking and I tottered on the edge of hys-
terics as I advanced on him.
 “Sit down and calm down, Alera,” he said, instinctively 
taking control.
 I shook my head, then continued, my whole body atremble.
 “He is innocent in all of this! He did not choose his destiny 
any more than I chose to be Crown Princess. Our situations 
are but accidents of birth!” I was almost screeching as my emo-
tions stretched taut my vocal cords. “Narian will not return 
to Cokyri. You do not know him as I do, and are grievously 
misjudging him. He is our friend and wants only the best for 
me and for Hytanica.”
 “Perhaps you are right,” London said, alarmed at my ex-
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cited state. “Now, come and sit down, and we can talk about 
this.”
 I took a shuddering breath, somewhat calmer in the after-
math of my outburst, and permitted him to lead me to the 
sofa. I sat, not feeling the least bit friendly toward him, and 
watched with narrowed eyes as he settled beside me.
 “Destari and I were discussing an option of last resort if 
we need to prevent Narian’s return to Cokyri. If I am wrong 
about him, then neither you nor he has anything to fear.”
 My hysteria subsided as London spoke, but my hurt did not. 
We sat in silence as he continued to let my dark emotions drain 
away. After a long moment, he made his position known.
 “You must understand, Alera, that I am a soldier of Hy-
tanica and a member of the King’s Elite Guard. I have sworn 
an oath to protect the King and the people of this kingdom, 
and I will take whatever action is necessary to do so.”
 I gaped at him, feeling as though I no longer knew him.
 “We have nothing more to discuss,” I said coldly, dismissing 
him.
 London shook his head in frustration, then stood and strode 
from the room.

 As news of Cokyri’s brutal assault spread, the holiday cele-
brations came to an end. The victims of the slaughter had been 
buried in several mass graves, and panic now permeated the 
overcrowded city. Panic turned to terror once it became clear 
over the following few weeks that Cokyri’s strategy would 
be to contain us and starve us into submission, as no one, not 
even Hytanica’s soldiers, could leave the city and safely return. 
Men who were sent to Gourhan, Emotana and Sarterad in 
search of aid were restored to us as corpses. The dreary, and 
often rainy, view from my balcony now included Cokyrian 
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soldiers moving about our lands, and at night I could see the 
fires from their encampments.
 In an attempt to make the city’s provisions last as long as 
possible, the King had ordered an inventory of food supplies 
and had instituted rationing. Cannan, for his part, frequently 
met with his troop commanders, belaboring strategies to retake 
the land between the city and the Recorah River. We would 
be in desperate need of supplies come spring…if we could last 
that long.
 Security at the palace had, of course, been tightened, and 
the social activities that would normally have been held at 
this time of year, including my mother’s holiday party for the 
young nobles, had been cancelled.
 During this tense time, Narian resumed his late-night visits, 
eluding his guards by climbing out his window and across the 
roof to drop down onto my balcony. At first, he would stay but 
a brief time, as it gave us a chance to talk freely. As the weeks 
passed, he stayed for longer periods, and we would often sit 
together in front of the fireplace in my parlor, watching the 
f lames dance while the cold January rain drummed against 
the windows.
 There was now a persistent voice in my head telling me 
to put an end to these secret meetings, but I could not bring 
myself to do so, for I enjoyed Narian’s company more than 
anyone else’s. I also could not deny my feelings and end my 
physical relationship with him. My resolve melted every time 
I looked into his eyes. I chose to live purely in the present, 
refusing to acknowledge the passage of time and its unrelent-
ing march toward my eighteenth birthday.
 On a clear night at the end of the month, Narian helped me 
escape the palace just as he had once before. He again secured 
a horse for our use, and we rode for a time on the military 
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training field, Narian familiarizing me with the common 
gaits employed by a horse—walk, trot and canter. Then we 
sat peacefully on the hill that sloped down to the field, gazing 
at brightly burning stars rather than at smoldering fireplace 
embers.
 While sneaking me out of the palace had not posed a prob-
lem for him, returning me to my quarters did represent a 
challenge. Given the increased security at the palace, we could 
not expect to pass unquestioned through the front gates as 
morning approached. Narian, of course, had already given 
this problem due consideration and had fashioned a harness 
of sorts, which he used to assist me to scale the courtyard wall 
and climb up to my balcony.
 After we returned to my bedroom, Narian waited while I 
changed out of the black clothing he had again brought for me. 
Upon reentering my room from the bath chamber, I brought 
the garments to him, as I dared not keep them lest my maid 
discover them and the resulting gossip reach the ears of my 
mother, my guards, Kade, Cannan or the King.
 “I should go,” Narian said, placing the items in his pack. 
“The sun will be up soon and then it will be impossible for 
me to climb unseen over the roof.”
 I nodded, sinking into his arms. We kissed, and as he ran 
his hands through my tangled hair and down my back, draw-
ing me against him, a thrill swept through my body. It was 
becoming more difficult to part from him on these nights, and 
I knew he felt the same. He remained a gentleman, however, 
and took a step back, opening the balcony doors to depart. I 
stepped outside with him and he gave me one last kiss before 
bending down to pick up the harness and rope.
 “My things,” he said, bewildered. “They’re not here.”
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 I, too, scanned the balcony f loor, but the items were gone.
 “Looking for these?” said a man from the shadows
behind us.
 I jumped and whirled about to see London leaning against 
the palace wall, Narian’s harness and rope in his hand. My 
heart dropped to my feet, for I knew we were now in serious 
trouble.
 “Inside, both of you,” London commanded, and we com-
plied, neither of us daring to speak, for there was really noth-
ing to be said that would excuse our actions.
 London followed, closing the balcony doors, then he 
brought his eyes to bear upon me.
 “Tomorrow we will board shut these doors, as they seem 
to be letting in too much cold night air. I wouldn’t want you 
catching a chill.”
 “London, I know what this must look like—”
 “Don’t,” he said, cutting off my meager attempt to explain.
 Then he spoke to Narian through gritted teeth. “You will 
come with me. And we will leave the proper way, through 
the parlor door.” With a scowl, he again addressed me, and I 
cringed in the face of his rage. “You, Alera, will stay here. I 
will discuss your behavior with you later.”
 He opened my bedroom door and pushed Narian through 
it, slamming it shut behind him. I lingered by the threshold 
to listen, as I knew Narian had taken offense at London’s han-
dling, and I was certain he would be unreceptive to London’s 
reprimand. It was but a minute before I heard a scuff ling sound 
and a thump as someone’s back slammed against a wall.
 “You will keep away from Alera or you will deal with me,” 
London growled.
 “Do you really think I would find you to be a worthy op-
ponent?” Narian’s voice was low but steady.
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 “You will find me to be much more dangerous than anyone 
else you have met in Hytanica.”
 There was silence, and I imagined London and Narian 
staring at each other, each sizing up his adversary.
 “Now, we will proceed out the door, and you will return 
directly to your quarters, and I had better not catch further 
sight of you today.”
 I heard the two of them step into the corridor, leaving me 
alone in the unsympathetic darkness.

 London waited until late afternoon to discuss my early-
morning excursion with me. I suspected he had purposefully 
left me to stew over my actions all day as a sort of punishment. 
He entered my quarters with a carpenter, whom he directed 
to my bedroom with instructions to board shut the balcony 
doors. As the man undertook the task, London rested his back 
against the wall that separated the parlor and the bedroom, 
arms crossed, eyeing me critically. I sat on the edge of the 
sofa, head pounding in rhythm with the carpenter’s hammer, 
wishing this would all soon be over.
 After the craftsman had gone, a most uncomfortable silence 
reigned, until London, still leaning against the wall, opened 
the subject.
 “Explain yourself to me, if you can.”
 “I don’t believe I have to do so,” I said, attempting to stand 
up to him.
 “Then perhaps I should take you to your father,” he re-
sponded, and my bravado def lated.
 “London, say what you will to me, but I beg you not to tell 
my father.”
 He cocked an eyebrow derisively and I felt compelled to 
continue.
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 “I have no excuses,” I said. “I simply wanted to spend 
time with Narian alone, and…these late-night meetings…
just developed.”
 Even as I spoke, I knew my words sounded ludicrous.
 “I don’t understand you,” London snarled, shaking his head. 
“Both Destari and I have warned you to stay away from him 
and yet you do not heed us. You place your faith where it has 
not been earned. You ignore your upbringing and demonstrate 
no sense of propriety or respect for tradition. You recklessly 
endanger your life without thought for those who care about 
you. In short, you act like a child, and at seventeen that can 
no longer be tolerated.”
 London’s disapproval cut me, and I examined my fingers 
as I twined them in my lap, unable to bring myself to look at 
him. Pushing away from the wall, he came to stand in front 
of me.
 “Look at me, Alera.”
 I raised my eyes, which brimmed with tears, to his face, 
cheeks burning with shame.
 “Are you in love with him?” he asked, voice more sympa-
thetic.
 “Yes,” I replied, tears now tumbling freely.
 He dropped to one knee before me, indigo eyes dark with 
concern.
 “We cannot control our hearts, but we must control our 
minds and bodies. You cannot marry him, Alera. It is best that 
you keep away from him, so that these feelings will gradually 
lessen.”
 “You don’t understand,” I choked, feeling as if the air were 
being sucked from my lungs. “I must seek my father’s permis-
sion to marry Narian. My happiness lies with him.”
 “Do not bring this to your father, for no good can come 
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of his knowing. Now listen carefully. Hytanica cannot have 
a king with divided loyalties. We have fought far too long 
and sacrificed too much in our effort to prevent Cokyri from 
conquering our people. We cannot let them conquer us insidi-
ously, through the domination of our ruler.”
 “It is not your opinion that counts,” I retorted, wiping away 
my tears, not wanting to concede that he was right.
 London stood, running a hand through his untidy hair.
 “Then your father will need to have all the facts to make 
such a decision. I once said that the time would present itself 
when your father should know about the Legend of the Bleed-
ing Moon and Narian’s destiny. It would appear that time has 
come.”
 “My father will not care about Narian’s past. My father will 
judge him on who he is now, and who he can become in the 
future.”
 While I wanted to believe my own words, I did not need 
London to contradict them, for no one was as paranoid as my 
father about the dangers posed by Cokyri. I felt as though I 
were drowning, only this time London was not throwing me 
a rope.
 “None of us can completely escape our pasts,” he said.
 “Then perhaps I will give up my claim to the throne so 
that I may be with Narian,” I dared to put forth.
 “Your father still would not permit the marriage.”
 I stared at London, tears again welling in my eyes as some 
part of me knew he spoke the truth. I watched in misery 
as he moved toward the door, then intercepted him with a 
question.
 “How did you know?”
 He frowned, as if deciding whether I deserved to be told, 
but then gave a candid reply.
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 “I’ve been noticing for some time that you and he seem 
exhausted on the same days, and any fool could see from the 
way you look at each other that you are more than acquain-
tances. I started monitoring Narian’s movements and last week 
discovered his remarkable talent for climbing over the roof. 
Then I simply waited for him to pay you another visit.”
 As I listened, I had a new appreciation for London’s shrewd-
ness and abilities, and understood better than ever what would 
make him dangerous if he were an opponent.
 “If his actions hadn’t been so inappropriate, I would have 
been impressed,” he concluded.
 I held back my despair until after London’s departure, then 
curled up on the sofa and cried in earnest.
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I DID NOT SEE NARIAN AT ALL THE NEXT WEEK, 
as London and Destari had determined to keep us apart and 
had even taken to guarding my door at night. But our forced 
separation only made me more aware that, in many ways, the 
young man held my life in his hands.
 I had begun to marshal arguments in Narian’s favor: He 
was young, yes, but mature beyond his years; he was estranged 
from his family, but Koranis would certainly provide him 
with an inheritance were he to marry the Crown Princess; 
he may not have attended Hytanica’s military school, but he 
had extensive military training. But the one objection I could 
not counter was the only one that mattered, that his loyalties 
might be divided. Although my heart did not want to admit 
it, reason told me that London’s assessment of the situation 
was correct, for it would be foolish, and entirely unnecessary, 
to risk a union between me and Narian when the son of the 
Captain of the Guard was prepared to assume the throne. Even 
London, who probably disliked Steldor as much as I, would 
see Steldor crowned before he would put Narian in a position 
of power.
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 Just when it looked as though things could not get worse, 
Steldor came back into my life. My father called me to his 
study to inform me that our family would be dining on the 
morrow with Cannan’s family in honor of Steldor’s twenty-
first birthday. While I was thankful that I would not be spend-
ing the evening on my own with Cannan’s son, I dreaded 
the occasion nonetheless. I had not seen him since he had 
interrupted my shopping trip prior to Christmas, for the siege 
by Cokyri had been keeping all military commanders ex-
tremely busy, and that encounter hardly constituted a warm 
memory.
 “As it is Steldor’s birthday, a small gift would be appropri-
ate,” the King was saying.
 “Yes, Father,” I said ref lexively.
 “I intend to discuss betrothal arrangements with Cannan, 
as I know of no other suitable candidate to be your husband. 
This decision can no longer be delayed, for your birthday is 
but three months away.”
 My entire body tensed, causing my temples to pound. While 
it had become clear to me that joy lay with Narian and heart-
ache with Steldor, I felt ill-equipped to persuade my father of 
this, for the simple fact remained that my feelings would have 
no inf luence on his judgment as to whom I should marry.
 “I have invited Temerson as well, as a companion for 
Miranna. And, of course, Galen will be in attendance.”
 “Yes, Father,” I repeated, curtseying as I prepared to leave. 
But the King was not through with me.
 “I desire your happiness, as does your mother,” he said 
unconvincingly. “But you must desire it as well, and within 
the strictures of your position. Our hearts are not always 
wise, Alera, and cannot be relied upon in making certain 
decisions.”
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 I nodded, wondering if he had perhaps read my thoughts, 
and left his study without further response, afraid my voice 
would betray my feelings.

 I arose early the next morning to make a hasty trip into 
the Market District, glad that February’s sunshine was at last 
chasing away January’s chilling rain. I had already decided 
what “small” gift would be appropriate for Steldor. As he 
had bestowed the exquisite and expensive sapphire pendant 
on me, I felt the need to match the lavishness of his gesture. 
When I came to the shop I had in mind, I surprised Destari 
by soliciting his advice on the purchase. Although he was 
uneasy about the nature of the item I was set on procuring, 
he assisted me in my selection and we returned to the palace 
within an hour.
 That evening, Miranna entered my quarters, already 
dressed for dinner, to wait for me to finish my preparations. 
As  Sahdienne brushed my hair, my sister f lounced about my 
bedroom, more animated than usual, and I smiled broadly at 
her.
 “Are you perhaps a little nervous about Temerson joining 
us for dinner?” I asked.
 “Is it obvious?” she replied, sounding mortified.
 “I’m afraid so. But don’t fret about it. I’m sure he will be 
equally f lustered.”
 “It’s just that we have never joined Mother and Father for 
such an occasion before.”
 “I know. But he will pass the test.”
 “He will, won’t he,” she agreed, and the color high in her 
cheeks gave away her affection for the young man.
 Miranna was radiant in a deep green velvet gown over a 
cream brocade dress. She had chosen not to put her hair up, 
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and it fell about her shoulders, adorned with a gold tiara set 
with emeralds. My gown was of white silk, with a bodice and 
tightly fitting sleeves of deep blue. Sahdienne had just placed 
the silver, double-banded sapphire-and-diamond tiara that I 
had worn for Semari’s birthday celebration around my upswept 
dark brown hair, and the silver-and-sapphire pendant that I 
had received from Steldor encircled my neck.
 Once I was dressed for the evening and had dismissed my 
maid, Miranna and I chatted in my parlor until a Palace Guard 
arrived to inform us that our escorts had been shown to the 
small dining room on the first f loor. Destari and Halias ac-
companied us down the stairs, then departed, off duty for the 
night, since Cannan, Steldor and Galen together were more 
than capable of protecting the royal family.
 Miranna touched my arm and we stopped in the corridor 
outside the dining room while she moistened her lips and 
pinched her cheeks. I smiled as she began to fuss with the 
placement of her tiara.
 “Your beauty already exceeds mine. There is no need to 
increase the disparity,” I teased.
 She giggled and stepped sprightly into the room just a pace 
ahead of me.
 Steldor stood to the right of the dining table, one hand rest-
ing on a high-backed chair, the very portrait of elegance and 
charm as he casually swirled the wine in the glass he held in 
his other hand. Temerson, looking refined in a gold doublet, 
stood silently next to him, his brown eyes occasionally darting 
to Steldor as though he were afraid to be in his company.
 The near end of the oblong table was covered in white linen 
and had been set for ten with opulent golden plates and glass 
goblets. My father’s place was at the head of the table, with my 
mother on his left and Cannan on his right. I would sit on my 
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mother’s left, with Steldor beside me, then would come Galen 
and whomever he had invited to accompany him. Faramay 
would sit next to her husband, with Miranna and Temerson 
likewise seated on the right side of the table.
 Steldor, magnificent in a black silk doublet embroidered in 
gold, set his goblet of wine down on the table before he came 
to greet me. He inclined his head to kiss my hand, and I could 
tell that he was pleased to see the sapphire pendant resting just 
below the hollow of my throat.
 I took his proffered arm and permitted him to lead me 
toward the refreshment table. Miranna hung back, looking 
expectantly at Temerson, who stumbled across the room to 
her side. They remained just inside the door, talking quietly, 
and I supposed that the young man needed to warm up to her 
before braving the rest of us.
 As Steldor poured me a glass of wine, Cannan and Faramay 
arrived. Steldor’s parents cordially greeted Miranna and Tem-
erson, but then Faramay caught sight of her son and crossed 
to us, Cannan a step behind. After giving me a curtsey, she 
adjusted the lacing on Steldor’s shirt, her face radiant with joy. 
Cannan, inclining his head slightly, moved to my side.
 Steldor indicated his dislike for his mother’s pandering with 
a roll of his eyes. I raised a hand to my mouth to hide my 
amusement, and as I did so, chanced a glance at Cannan, who 
appeared disgruntled by his wife’s overly solicitous behavior 
toward their son.
 As mother and son stood together, I was again struck by 
the strong resemblance between them—her oval face, high 
cheekbones, straight and narrow nose and perfect smile were 
mirrored in Steldor. We continued making small talk, and 
it was but a short time later that Galen arrived with a young 
woman by the name of Tiersia. She was petite and feminine, 
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but would have been rather plain were it not for her clear green 
eyes and long, bronzed-brown hair. As she was two years my 
senior and rather reserved, I had never before spoken with 
her.
 “Ah, Galen! Late as always, I see,” Steldor said as he took 
note of his friend’s entry into the room.
 “I’m never late,” Galen returned. “You should know by 
now that the party doesn’t begin until I’m here.”
 A mischievous glint f lickered in Steldor’s eyes as Galen 
guided Tiersia into our midst.
 “And who is this lovely young lady who has somehow been 
prevailed upon to accompany you?” he inquired.
 “Relax, I’ll get to the introductions in a moment.” Like 
Steldor, Galen was in excellent spirits. Turning to me, he 
bowed and kissed my hand. “Princess Alera, may I present 
Lady Tiersia, the eldest daughter of Baron Rapheth and his 
wife, Baroness Kalena.”
 I nodded as she curtseyed, and Galen then addressed Cannan 
and Faramay.
 “Lady Tiersia, I would like you to meet Baron Cannan, 
Captain of the Guard, and his wife, Baroness Faramay.” Galen’s 
manner remained formal, and he bowed his head in respect.
 “It is a pleasure to meet you,” Cannan responded, but I saw 
Tiersia glance apprehensively at him, and I knew his mere 
presence was once again having an intimidating effect.
 “And this, of course, is their son, Lord Steldor, whom I 
sometimes claim as my best friend,” Galen finished with a 
f lourish.
 Steldor inclined his head to Tiersia and clapped an arm 
around Galen’s shoulders.
 “Let’s get you some wine,” he said, drawing Galen to the 
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small table that held goblets and several different types of 
drink.
 As the younger men served themselves, Cannan took the 
opportunity to lead Faramay across the room toward the well-
stoked fire, and Tiersia moved to my side.
 “How long have you known Galen?” I inquired, attempting 
to ease her nervousness.
 “We met at a small holiday gathering, and he has called 
upon me twice since then.”
 She was soft-spoken and genteel, and I couldn’t help think-
ing that Galen was doing well for himself.
 The two friends returned, extending to us fresh glasses of 
wine. After taking a sip from his own goblet, which he had 
retrieved, Steldor addressed Tiersia, continuing in his earlier 
vein.
 “So tell me, what type of bribe was used to entice such an 
enchanting woman into accompanying Galen tonight?”
 Tiersia did not answer, but cast her eyes toward her escort 
as her cheeks turned deep pink, uncertain how to react to 
Steldor. Draping his left arm around her waist, Galen nobly 
intercepted his friend’s remark.
 “You may have had to resort to a bribe or two to persuade 
young women to accompany you, but I’ve never had to use 
such measures.”
 “No, no, your memory is f lawed, Galen. It was they who 
bribed me.”
 “And how long was it before they demanded a return of 
their money?” Galen was grinning widely, enjoying the ex-
change of jibes.
 Again addressing Tiersia, Steldor continued, “I should warn 
you about Galen. His charm wears thin about…well, about 
now, after which he becomes quite a bore.” Motioning to the 

9780373210343_TS.indd   4349780373210343_TS.indd   434 2/4/11   9:31:15 AM2/4/11   9:31:15 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



435

refreshment table, he added, a devilish glint in his eye, “So, 
feel free to partake of the wine throughout the evening, and 
when you are in need of…more stimulating companionship, 
come find me. I’m always willing to lend a hand to a desperate 
young lady.”
 Lifting his eyebrows, Galen gave Steldor a small shake of 
his head to let him know he was overstepping his bounds with 
Tiersia.
 “I feel the need to remind you that Princess Alera is your 
companion this evening, while Tiersia is mine. Do try to 
remember that.”
 “I never forgot.” Steldor smirked, then he slapped Galen 
on the back and pulled him a few feet away, saying, “Excuse 
us, ladies, as we have matters of the kingdom to discuss.”
 Tiersia and I now stood together in confused silence. She 
did not know what to make of the best friends, and I was both 
annoyed and amused by Steldor’s scandalously f lirtatious style. 
Thankfully, the King and Queen were announced by Lanek 
at that moment, thus saving Tiersia and me from awkward 
conversation about our escorts.
 My parents greeted Cannan and Faramay, who were now 
standing by the fireplace on the near side of the room. Stel-
dor and Galen came to reclaim Tiersia and me, and we ap-
proached our elders so that Galen could once again make 
introductions.
 After a few minutes of polite conversation, the King and 
Queen moved to the table to seat themselves for dinner, and 
the rest of us followed.
 The dinner would be served in several courses, although 
they would be less extravagant than usual, due to the rationing 
instituted throughout the city. Soup would come first, fol-
lowed by bread and thick stew, then legs of beef and mutton. 
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The final course would consist of pastries and fruits. The 
feast would last well over an hour, as formal dinners tended 
to proceed slowly, and often seemed like a dance, with certain 
movements deemed appropriate and missteps duly noted by 
the older generation.
 Despite the perceived pressure to display impeccable man-
ners, the meal progressed pleasantly enough. Steldor was, natu-
rally, on his best behavior in the presence of my parents and 
his, and paid just the right amount of attention to me while 
simultaneously charming the rest of the room. I, on the other 
hand, was aloof and somewhat distant, knowing that my input 
was not needed in order to carry the conversation, and prefer-
ring to simply observe Steldor at his best.
 The feast concluded and my parents invited everyone to join 
them in the adjacent tearoom, where more intimate seating 
had been arranged. Steldor extended his hand to assist me to 
my feet as my father moved toward us, a broad smile upon his 
face.
 “I would like to steal your young man for a few mo-
ments. I have some affairs to discuss with him. You can get 
along without him for a short time, can you not?” he asked, 
chuckling.
 I nodded, and my father put his arm around Steldor’s shoul-
ders and drew him companionably away from me and into the 
tearoom. I began to follow, walking with Galen and Tiersia, 
when I noticed Cannan standing by the doorway between the 
two rooms, his eyes upon me.
 “Princess Alera, may I have a word?” he said as I ap-
proached.
 Without waiting for an answer, he ushered me toward the 
dining room’s bay window. It was clear he wanted no one to 
overhear us.
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 The candlelit chandeliers that had created a soft glow over 
the table where we had dined did not reach this part of the 
room. The moonlight filtering through the window kept the 
darkness somewhat at bay, but created shifting shadows on the 
f loor. Cannan gazed out the window into the West Courtyard 
as I waited for him to speak.
 “I was once much like my son,” he began, then turned to 
me, his face looking more lined than usual, deliberately choos-
ing his words. “But war forged my temper into conviction, my 
ego into self-confidence and my stubbornness into fortitude. 
Steldor has yet to face such trials, but when he does, he will 
change as well.”
 He paused, and his voice was heavy when next he spoke.
 “I know that you are not in love with him, but I am con-
vinced that he loves you, although I doubt his pride would 
let him admit it. This gives you some ability to inf luence him 
and to change him as well.”
 He turned his back to the window, his face now lost in 
darkness, but I knew not how to respond. I was unsettled by 
his frankness, as well as his assessment of my feelings. The 
silence between us lengthened, and I searched for something 
to say, but then he continued, his next statements even more 
astounding.
 “Although I believe in time that you would be able to open 
your heart to Steldor, I do not wish to force you into mar-
riage. I will not give my permission for a betrothal until you 
indicate to me that such is your desire.”
 Gratitude broke over me in waves at the unexpected re-
prieve he was extending, immediately tempered by worry as 
to my father’s reaction.
 “But my father…”
 “Need not know my reasons. I can delay this decision 
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without telling him that we have spoken.” Anticipating my 
next concern, he continued, “I can also handle my son.”
 I nodded, almost inexpressibly grateful. “It may be Steldor’s 
birthday,” I finally managed to say, “but you have just given 
me a rare gift. Thank you for your kindness. I will carefully 
weigh your advice.”
 “We had better rejoin the others,” he replied, somewhat 
gruff ly. His change in manner did not dampen my joy, but 
merely confirmed he did not often reveal this sensitive side 
of his nature.
 The moment we walked into the tearoom, Steldor looked 
our way, a small furrow appearing in his brow as he contem-
plated his father. He was standing with Galen and Tiersia, 
his conference with the King having come to an end, and I 
knew from the blush in her cheeks that he and Galen must 
have again been tossing jibes at each other. As Cannan moved 
away from my side, Steldor took his place, but I was prepared 
for his arrival.
 “I have something for you,” I told him, tugging at his arm 
with a beguiling smile. “Come with me.”
 The tactic worked, for my rare show of affection drove all 
thought of asking about my conversation with his father from 
his mind. I slipped my right hand into his left and led him into 
the corridor and down the hall to the King’s Drawing Room, 
noticing as I did so that there was a slight ridge running across 
his palm.
 As we crossed the threshold, I retrieved the package I had 
set upon the massive oak sideboard that stood on the other 
side of the room, feeling a sudden chill, for no heat emanated 
from the barren stone fireplace. Steldor waited in the middle 
of the room until I returned to extend to him the narrow, 
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tightly wrapped gift. When he reached for it, I took his left 
hand in mine, turning it over to examine it.
 “I cut myself when I was a child,” he explained.
 “Badly, by the looks of it,” I remarked, inspecting the pale 
skin of the scar that crossed from the base of his first finger to 
the heel of his palm. “It would appear that f lipping daggers is 
a dangerous pastime.”
 I met his eyes as I relinquished my hold on him, expecting 
some reaction. He smirked before turning his attention to the 
gift he held in his right hand. He studied the oddly shaped 
package, then quickly removed the wrapping. He glanced 
between the leather sheath lying in his hands and me, and 
slowly extracted a dagger with a black leather grip and a ruby 
set into the pommel.
 “I didn’t know you paid so much attention to my weap-
onry,” he remarked with admiration and approval.
 He drew his sword from its scabbard and compared the two 
blades, then f lipped the dagger over in his hand as if checking 
its weight and balance.
 “It is a magnificent gift, if a bit excessive,” he said, his 
 expression quizzical. “I can’t help but wonder what led you 
to make such a purchase.”
 “I simply wanted to match the level of your gift to me,” I 
explained with a satisfied smile. “I judge we are now even.”
 “I see,” he said with a hint of mirth that was irritating. “And 
is there any other way in which you would like to even the 
score?” He shifted position so that he stood between me and 
the exit. “As you have managed to get me alone, I am quite 
at your mercy.”
 “We should return to the others,” I stammered, f lustered 
by his manner. “My father will be displeased to find we left 
without a chaperone.”
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 “No one will begrudge us a little time alone—especially 
not the King. He is quite interested in moving our relationship 
along.”
 His eyes perused my form as he returned his sword to its 
scabbard, tucking the dagger into his belt, and the blush that 
burned in my cheeks seemed to spread throughout my entire 
body.
 “As you are in a rather generous mood, and as it is my 
birthday, there is one other thing I would ask of you.”
 “And what might that be?” I queried, eyeing him with 
suspicion, certain he was goading me.
 He smirked, then said, “Come closer and I’ll show you what 
will please me.”
 I scrutinized him for a moment, trying to discern his inten-
tions, then straightened my shoulders and stepped forward so 
that I stood in front of him. His eyes f licked across my face, 
and the back of my neck prickled, then he reached out with 
both hands and lightly ran his fingers over my cheekbones. 
My breath caught in my throat, but before I could react, he 
pulled the pins from my hair so that it tumbled down upon 
my shoulders.
 “I like it better this way,” he said, letting a few strands drape 
over the palm of his hand. Then he grinned and stepped back 
from me, motioning toward the door with his arm.
 “I believe, dear Princess, that you expressed a desire to 
rejoin the others.”
 I nodded, too appalled to speak. I knew everyone would 
conclude from the change in my hairstyle that we had not 
just been conversing. Once more my cheeks f lamed, this time 
from humiliation and anger, but as I could see no way out of 
my predicament, I moved to slip past him. Just when I was 
about to make my escape, he caught my arm.
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 “And exactly what was my father discussing with you?” 
His voice was a mixture of curiosity and suspicion.
 “The weather,” I snapped. “He thinks we will have a good 
crop year.”
 To my relief, Steldor laughed, releasing my arm.
 “Somehow I don’t see my father discussing farming with 
the Crown Princess. But you can have your little secret, for 
now.”
 I hurried back to the tearoom, Steldor’s footfalls telling me 
that he was trailing. I waited just inside the room for him to 
join me and noted that our parents were comfortably seated 
on the chairs and sofa clustered near the bay window, sipping 
glasses of spicy mulled wine, with Galen and Tiersia standing 
nearby. Temerson and Miranna were seated at a small table 
away from the others, their foreheads almost touching as they 
conversed, his cinnamon-brown hair a darker version of her 
strawberry-blond tresses. I was glad to see that he had at least 
gotten over his shyness with her.
 As Steldor stopped beside me, Faramay waved to him.
 “Steldor, darling! Come to your mother! I didn’t know 
where you were and was beginning to fret.”
 I could feel Steldor stiffen. With a forced smile upon his 
face, he strode toward her. I followed a step behind, confused 
as to the reason for his mother’s exclamation. While Faramay 
was, at times, overly enamored with her son, I could scarcely 
imagine his absence would cause her distress.
 “There’s no need to be upset, Mother,” Steldor placated as 
he went to her. “I only stepped into the corridor with Alera 
for a moment.”
 “You should have said something to me,” Faramay pouted. 
“You know how I worry.”
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 “Well, I’m fine. I went with Alera as she had a gift she 
wished to give me.”
 Having reassured his mother, Steldor glanced, frowning, 
at his father.
 “She thought you had left without saying good-night,” 
Cannan explained. “As you obviously wouldn’t do that, some 
horrible fate must have befallen you.” I thought I detected a 
rare note of sarcasm in the captain’s words.
 Moving away from Faramay, Steldor extended his new 
dagger to his father.
 “You’ll appreciate this,” he stated with evident pride.
 As Cannan took the splendid blade, my father caught my 
eye, and I knew from his puzzled expression that he was trying 
to determine how the dagger qualified as a small gift. I smiled 
at him, knowing he would forgive my extravagance in light 
of how well the evening was proceeding, then blushed as he 
winked at me. I could only conclude from his manner that he 
was delighted that Steldor and I had stolen a few unaccom-
panied minutes, and that he viewed my disheveled hair as an 
encouraging sign.
 After the dagger had been passed among our parents and 
praised, Steldor handed it to Galen, who began to f lip it in his 
hand, and the thought that the two friends were actually one 
and the same person f litted through my brain. With a slight 
motion of his head, Steldor indicated to Galen that he wished 
to move away from the older adults, but he turned dutifully 
to Faramay before we took our leave.
 “We’re going across the room to join Princess Miranna and 
Lord Temerson. You can keep an eye on us if you wish to do 
so.”
 Steldor’s eyes f licked toward me as the four of us joined 
my sister and her escort, and I could tell he was embarrassed 
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by his mother’s behavior. At my inquisitive glance, he gave a 
small shake of his head.
 “Don’t ask.”
 Galen handed the dagger to Temerson, and as he and 
Miranna admired it, Steldor spoke moodily to me.
 “I’m going to get another glass of wine. Would you like 
one as well?”
 “No, thank you,” I replied, for though I’d sipped the drinks 
he’d already brought me that evening, I still had not developed 
a taste for the liquid.
 “I’ll bring back two glasses anyway, and be happy to drink 
them both,” he quipped, with a touch of dark humor.
 A short time later, my father rose to say good-night, signal-
ing that the evening had come to an end. We all left the tea-
room together, then Galen and Tiersia bowed and parted from 
the group to walk toward the front entry of the palace where 
Dameran, the older of Tiersia’s two brothers, waited to escort 
her home. Before Faramay and Cannan departed, Steldor made 
a point of saying good-night to his mother, resurrecting my 
question as to why she had become so upset when she had not 
known his whereabouts. Steldor then accompanied me to the 
spiral staircase, with Temerson escorting Miranna, the four 
of us following behind my parents. Miranna bid farewell to 
Temerson at the bottom of the stairs, but Steldor forestalled 
my attempt to do the same.
 “I haven’t properly expressed my gratitude for the birthday 
gift,” he mused.
 I looked pleadingly at Miranna, who grinned before she 
sashayed up the steps. Temerson adoringly watched her go, 
and then exited as well.
 As soon as we were alone, Steldor reached out a hand to 
caress my cheek, and I watched him warily.
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 “It seems every kiss with you is a first kiss,” he chided, “as 
too much time passes in between.”
 When I remained mute, he stepped closer to me, playing 
with a strand of my hair.
 “Thank you for the generous gift, Princess.”
 Resting his hand on the back of my neck, he inclined his 
head and gave me a teasing and sensual kiss. As his intoxicat-
ing scent f looded my senses, my lips responded to his, and he 
placed his other hand on the small of my back, pressing his 
mouth more firmly against mine. Catching myself, I pulled 
back from him, and he released me.
 “I am willing to take things slowly, Alera,” he said, brown 
eyes smoldering. He ran a finger along my jawline. “I have a 
feeling you will be well worth the wait.”
 With a deep bow, he departed, and I traced my fingers over 
my traitorous lips, unable to comprehend how I could enjoy 
a kiss from someone I so greatly disliked.
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OVER THE NEXT COUPLE OF DAYS, I FRETTED 
over the conversation I planned to have with my father. I could 
no longer pretend that the King might be prevailed upon to 
embrace Narian as his successor when the primary objection 
to him was his trustworthiness. I also worried, given Lon-
don’s opinions, that my father would be unlikely to approve 
of Narian as a husband for me under any circumstances. I 
was well aware that the simple fact I was in love with Narian 
would not be enough to sway the King. But I had to try, as 
my happiness was now inextricably tied to the young man.
 To add to my frustration, London and Destari had proven 
adept at keeping Narian away from me. I missed his company 
more than I would have thought possible and worried about 
what London might have told him as the reason he could not 
see me. I tried to stay busy, but while I could keep my hands 
occupied with embroidery, gardening and the harp, my mind 
and heart refused to be distracted. Then a simple solution came 
to me: I could have a servant deliver a note to Narian on my 
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behalf. While I couldn’t count on London or Destari to aid 
me, they could not prevent me from writing to him.
 I was sitting in an armchair near the warm hearth, compos-
ing my note, when London exploded through my parlor door 
unannounced.
 “Where is Narian?” he demanded.
 “What?” I asked. “How would I know where Narian is?”
 “If you know where he is, you must tell me.”
 “London, as you well know, I have not seen him in almost 
two weeks.”
 He spun on his heel, intending to depart.
 “What is it you want of him?” I called, rising in pursuit. 
The insistent quality of my voice averted his exit, and he 
turned around slowly, as though he did not want to explain 
his reasons to me.
 “Cannan desires to speak with him.” Seeing the question in 
my eyes, he added, “The captain sent Elite Guards to retrieve 
him, but the boy could not be located within the palace.”
 “He may just have gone into the city. He is not a prisoner, 
you know.”
 “I checked his room. He wouldn’t take all his possessions 
simply to spend an afternoon in the city.”
 London’s quiet words seemed to echo like thunder. As I 
absorbed their meaning, I grew more and more alarmed.
 “He wouldn’t just leave!” I said, the color draining from 
my face.
 London stepped toward me. Placing a hand on my arm, he 
guided me back to my chair. As I sank into it, a harrowing 
thought hit me, and I glared at him.
 “Did you tell Cannan about the legend?”
 “Yes, but that cannot be the cause of his departure, as he 
could not have known of our meeting.”
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 “But how did Cannan react?” I persisted.
 “Not well. Cannan has little patience for those who deceive 
him.”
 “But why did Cannan send his guards? Why didn’t he just 
go and talk to him?”
 “I told you, Cannan is angry. He takes Narian’s conduct 
personally and wanted to impress upon him the seriousness 
of the situation, as well as the seriousness with which Cannan 
will approach his transgressions.”
 I sat, still as death, trying to understand why, how, Narian 
would suddenly leave.
 “Alera, I must go. Cannan has sealed the city, and I may 
yet be able to find Narian.”
 “You won’t hurt him, will you, London?” I whispered.
 “Not unless I have to,” he replied, but his words were con-
tradicted by the steely edge in his voice. Then he left, and I 
shivered, for there had been no warmth or indecision in his 
eyes.
 When Narian’s bodyguard was discovered that evening 
bound and gagged in one of the third-f loor guestrooms, it 
was clear that Narian had indeed f led. After no trace of him 
was found in the city over the next few days, Cannan called 
off the search, certain he had gone over the wall within an 
hour of his departure from the palace.
 In the aftermath of his disappearance, I struggled to accept 
that I did not know him as well as I had believed. I began to 
reassess my own actions and feared that I had misinterpreted 
his feelings for me. The painful thought that London had been 
right about him kept recurring. I racked my brain for some 
other explanation, not wanting to believe that he had left 
because he did not think we could be together. I didn’t want 
to consider that he had no love for Hytanica, no feelings for 
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anyone other than me and no desire for my friendship, even 
if it could not be something more.
 The only other possibility of which I could conceive was that 
he had somehow learned of the discussion between London 
and Cannan and had left because he judged himself to be in 
danger. I knew, perhaps better than anyone, that Narian had 
an uncanny way of acquiring information, and that he would 
not stay and fight if retreat seemed the wiser course of action. I 
also knew that it would have occurred to him, just as it had to 
London, that much danger to Hytanica would be eliminated 
by his death.
 Although Narian was gone, the Cokyrians had not aban-
doned the siege. I was baff led by this until London pointed 
out that it meant Narian had not returned to the land where 
he had been raised, for the enemy’s purpose was to force us 
to relinquish him. While I prayed for the conf lict to end, this 
gave me hope, for if Narian had not returned to the enemy, 
then he certainly felt some loyalty toward Hytanica. London 
too saw this as a good omen, believing that the young man 
was hiding in the mountains. It remained entirely possible that 
Narian would trust us enough to return, despite the conse-
quences he might face.

 As we entered the month of March and the weather warmed 
beneath the spring sun, there was a definite change in mood 
about the palace. The tension brought on by the siege of the 
city was now tinged with excitement, and the gossip around 
the palace was that we were preparing to attack the Cokyrians 
and push them back across the wide expanse of the Recorah 
River. The river now ran fast and wild, fed by rain and snow-
melt in the mountains, and if we could force the enemy to 
the other side and then hold them at our boundary, we could 
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reclaim our lands. The city’s supplies were dwindling, and it 
would soon be imperative that we hunt and gather food and 
that we be able to plant crops.
 Despite this altered atmosphere, I could not seem to find 
any solace from my grief over Narian’s departure. There was 
an ache at the core of my being that could not be banished 
regardless of how I filled my day.
 We launched our attack on a dark evening in early March, 
with London and two dozen other scouts moving out first and 
on foot. As Destari was not one of the soldiers on the mission, 
I asked him what task this small group was to undertake and 
was shaken when he told me that our men carried bags of 
powdered poison. Their assignment was to add it to the food 
and drink of the Cokyrian soldiers at their various encamp-
ments. When I asked Destari why London was involved, he 
reminded me that London had begun his military career as a 
scout, and it was London and Cannan who had devised the 
scheme.
 Several hours later, six torches f lamed in the dark night, 
and numerous Hytanican troops, some on horseback, some on 
foot, moved out to try to rout the enemy. Destari was again 
my source of information on the course of the attack.
 “The torches are a good sign. They are not only signals, but 
mark the locations of the primary Cokyrian encampments, so 
we can target them in the dark.” His black eyes were cold and 
unfeeling as he continued, “Those who survive the poisoning 
should be dealt with swiftly by our soldiers. It is time we clear 
the enemy from our lands.”
 I could understand his feelings, in light of the losses we had 
suffered at the hands of the Cokyrians, but the level of hatred 
in his voice was disturbing.
 “You may as well retire for the night,” he advised, then 
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added, his tone no longer laced with menace, “We aren’t likely 
to hear anything until morning.”
 “I will, but you must wake me as soon as you receive 
news.”
 “Agreed.”

 The sun was well overhead before our soldiers returned the 
next day. I was having a bite to eat in the tearoom, intent on 
avoiding any and all social encounters while I awaited news. 
Destari had accompanied me and stood just outside in the 
corridor.
 Hearing loud and jubilant voices from the front of the 
palace, I abandoned my meal, and Destari and I rushed toward 
the Grand Entry Hall to learn the news. Several Cokyrians, 
hands bound behind their backs, were kneeling on the mosaic 
stone f loor, surrounded by Hytanican soldiers who were all 
speaking at the same time. Cannan emerged from his office 
through the guardroom, and silence fell. Eyeing the captives, 
he ordered that they be taken to the dungeon.
 “Kade will see to their interrogation. Unlike our other 
Cokyrian prisoners, perhaps one of them will value his or her 
skin enough to talk.”
 With a jolt I grasped that our other enemy prisoners had 
probably died, unable to withstand our interrogation tech-
niques. As I glanced at those being jerked to their feet, I 
realized some of them were women, and I shuddered, unable 
to imagine the agony about to be inf licted on them. I knew 
I would not possess the strength or bravery required to face 
such an ordeal.
 As Cannan’s directive was carried out, London arrived, 
looking ragged, and I wondered what he and his men had 
suffered in the night.
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 “Report,” Cannan said.
 “The poison worked most effectively, and one third of the 
Cokyrian soldiers died or fell ill as a result. There was much 
confusion among the rest, as they tried to determine what 
had felled their comrades. Despite these disadvantages, they 
rallied to put up a ferocious fight. Eventually, we drove them 
toward the river. Some managed to cross the bridge, but most 
plunged into the Recorah. It was impossible to tell in the 
dark how many drowned and how many made it across to 
the other bank.” London sounded exhilarated that the mis-
sion had been successful. “Our wounded have been brought 
to the infirmary, and I have stationed the rest of our troops 
along the river. They are tired, however, and reinforcements 
should be sent.”
 “I will see to it at once,” Cannan answered matter-of-factly. 
When next he spoke, however, it was with an uncharacter-
istic touch of anxiety, and I realized that Steldor and Galen 
must have been leading some of the troops. “And how many 
died?”
 “We did suffer casualties, but I cannot give a count at this 
time.”
 “I will send a detail to retrieve the bodies.” His voice had 
hardened. “Anything else?”
 “There is also the issue of what to do with the Cokyrian 
dead.”
 “We should stack and burn the corpses,” Cannan replied 
without a trace of sympathy.
 “I think we would be well served to bring the bodies to the 
bridge and let Cokyri retrieve its dead. Last night, we showed 
our strength—today, we can show our compassion.” London 
spoke eloquently and persuasively.
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 Cannan considered his request for a moment. “Very 
well.”
 “I would like to see to the undertaking,” London continued, 
and Cannan again agreed.
 London turned to leave, then looked back at his captain.
 “I saw Steldor directing troops at the river’s edge this morn-
ing. I did not see Galen, but I have heard that he is also 
well.”
 Gratitude f lickered in Cannan’s eyes, then he dismissed the 
rest of the soldiers who stood before him and retreated to his 
office. I knew he would soon inform my father of the details 
of our military maneuver.

 Now that the Cokyrians had been driven across the river, 
the mood in the palace and the city improved dramatically. 
The fighting was far from over, but our troops were managing 
to hold the enemy at the Recorah’s far bank, assisted by the 
swollen river itself. As our supplies, even with rationing, were 
quickly being depleted, many of the men from the villages 
returned to the fields to plant crops, taking their weapons with 
them and working the soil closest to the city. Others hunted 
in the forest, replenishing meat stores with venison and wild 
boar. We needed to take advantage of the favorable conditions, 
for the Cokyrians would pose a much greater threat once the 
Recorah began to ebb with the advent of summer.
 Given our recent military assault and the f lurry of activity 
in the aftermath of our victory, my father had not yet revis-
ited the pressing matter of my birthday. As the middle of the 
month neared, the matter could no longer be ignored, and I 
was summoned late one afternoon to an audience with the 
King.
 I entered the Hall of Kings, aware of my father’s eyes upon 
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me as I walked across the wide expanse of f loor to where he 
sat upon his throne. The hall was quiet except for my footfalls, 
and it was strange to have no one else in attendance. My father 
had directed that Destari, and all of the guards on duty in the 
Throne Room, wait in the antechamber or the guardroom, 
wanting his words to fall on no ears but my own.
 I curtseyed as I came to stand in front of the dais, and waited 
for him to speak.
 “Alera, I am growing old and weary, and after almost thirty 
years, am ready to make way for a new king. I have seen 
enough of war, and have no heart to fight another.”
 His countenance was troubled as he scrutinized me, his left 
hand twisting the ring he wore on his right.
 “I never should have ruled at all, but when my older brother 
died on the battlefield, I shouldered my responsibility as next 
in line to the throne. There were many things I had thought to 
do with my life, but duty came first. Perhaps this is my failing 
as a parent, but I am not convinced that you understand the 
demands of duty, or the responsibility that comes with being 
my heir.” He sighed, his heart obviously heavy. “It pains me 
to have to take this approach with you, but as you cannot seem 
to settle the question of a marriage partner, I will settle it for 
you.”
 There was disappointment in his usually kind eyes and I 
could sense that a horrible fate was about to befall me.
 “It is my decree that Lord Steldor succeed me as Hytanica’s 
king. A wedding will be held on the afternoon of your next 
birthday, and it is up to you whether you will be the bride or 
a lady-in-waiting.”
 I stared at him, unable to discern his meaning.
 “You can choose to marry Steldor and be crowned alongside 
him as his queen. But if you cannot see your way to accepting 
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him as your husband, then you will forfeit your claim to the 
throne in favor of your sister. Miranna is prepared to carry 
out her obligations as Princess of Hytanica and has agreed to 
marry Steldor should that be your decision.”
 I felt as though he were speaking in a foreign tongue and 
I stood frozen, unable to formulate a response to his ulti-
matum.
 “May I talk to Miranna?” I asked, finally regaining my 
voice.
 “No. She has made her decision. You do not need to talk 
to her to make yours.” His voice was firm and devoid of 
compassion. “As your birthday is but seven weeks away, you 
will give me your answer by this time tomorrow. You have 
already had abundant time to ruminate over this decision, and 
I no longer have the patience to wait for you to bring forward 
a young man of your own choosing.”
 “But Father, can’t you give both Steldor and me more 
time?” I pleaded, hoping he would show the same compas-
sion toward me that I had often seen him extend to others. 
“He is young yet to be a king, and no law says I must marry 
on my birthday.”
 While it was traditional for a female heir to marry on her 
eighteenth birthday, my father was the King and as such was 
not bound by tradition. In fact, he would be breaking tradition 
by crowning Steldor at such a young age, for Hytanica’s kings 
were not usually crowned until their mid to late twenties. “I 
am your father and the King. You will not question my judg-
ments,” he said irritably, coming to his feet. “You have until 
this time tomorrow to make your decision.”
 Although I knew I was being dismissed, I could not force 
my body to move, my mind still struggling for the magic 
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words that would persuade him without risk of offending or 
angering him.
 “Alera, you may go now,” he said, breaking the spell that 
immobilized me.
 I looked wretchedly at him, then turned and hastened from 
his presence, tears running down my cheeks. Destari watched 
me as I rushed through the antechamber, but he did not speak 
or try to stop me. Instead, he followed me as I turned down 
the corridor toward the spiral staircase. With the palace walls 
seeming to close in on me, I wrenched open the doors into 
the garden to run down the pathway, seeking escape from my 
father, his decree, my thoughts and my raging feelings. I was 
thankful Destari did not pursue me, and I collapsed upon a 
bench, burying my face in my hands.
 Time trickled by, and in my misery, it took me a consider-
able while to realize that someone had approached and was 
standing a few feet from where I sat. As I raised my head, my 
eyes fell upon London. I glanced gratefully down the path 
toward Destari, who I knew must have sent for him.
 “London, help me,” I sobbed, and he came to sit next to 
me, taking me into his arms.
 I lay my head upon his shoulder, my tears soaking into the 
leather of his jerkin. After a long time, my crying subsided, 
and I rested against him, gaining some measure of comfort 
from the presence of his strong arm around my waist.
 “Do you want to tell me what this is about?” he asked at 
last, his tone so gentle my tears would have restarted had I 
had any left.
 “My father has decreed that I either marry Steldor on my 
birthday or forfeit the throne to Miranna, who will acquiesce 
to such a union. We are apparently interchangeable daughters,” 
I explained bitterly.
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 London said nothing, choosing simply to listen to me.
 “He demands my answer before sundown tomorrow, al-
though in truth he could give me years for all the difference it 
would make. I know of no person but Steldor whom he would 
be willing to accept as King—his list of criteria is designed so 
that only the captain’s son is a match.”
 My indignation f lared, and I sat upright, brushing the 
tearstains off my cheeks with my hands.
 “How can my father think so little of me? How can he 
ignore my feelings when it is I who will have to live with 
Steldor for the rest of my life? And what of Miranna? There 
is already a young man in whom she has an interest and with 
whom I believe she could find happiness.”
 With no answers to these questions, I sank into a stony 
silence. As my initial shock and hurt subsided, I began to 
shiver, for I had left the palace with no shawl or cloak, and 
the temperature was falling with the setting of the sun.
 “I had better return you to your quarters,” London ob-
served, “before you become chilled to the bone.”
 He assisted me to my feet and guided me back to the door, 
keeping me close to his side.
 “Have some hot soup sent to her parlor,” he muttered to 
Destari as we crossed the threshold. “She is quite cold.”
 A half hour later I was eating vegetable soup, staring va-
cantly at London, who had stoked the fire and was stirring 
the embers into a blaze. As he became aware of my eyes upon 
him, he stood and came to me where I sat upon the sofa.
 “I’m going to leave you now, but Destari will remain out-
side your door for a few more hours, and your maid will be 
here soon to assist you in preparing for bed.”
 I nodded, not having the strength to form words.
 “I will have Sahdienne bring something from the doctor 
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to help you sleep,” he continued, brushing my cheek with 
his fingers. “I will see you in the morning. Maybe the world 
won’t look so bleak in the light of a new day.”
 He turned from me, but I stammered, “Where are you 
going? Can’t you stay a little longer?”
 “I have a pressing matter to address.” He sighed, then con-
fessed in response to my distraught expression, “I’m going to 
have a talk with your father.”
 Grateful tears pooled in my eyes, and he gave me a f leeting 
smile as he left the room.

 London was wrong. The world did not look any brighter the 
next morning, despite the hope I now nursed that he had been 
able to affect my father’s decree. But as the hours slipped by 
without my former bodyguard’s return, my hope diminished, 
and the choice my father had put before me began to whirl 
dizzyingly through my mind. If only there were someone else 
I could marry, someone with whom I felt comfortable…but 
also someone to whom my father could not object. I reviewed 
every potential candidate, but still could not find a suitable 
alternative to Steldor. I was sitting upon my sofa, bemoaning 
my circumstances, when London strode through the door, 
Destari having granted him entrance.
 I eagerly met his eyes, but at the shake of his head, knew 
my father had been unyielding. He sat beside me and relayed 
the disappointing account of their conversation.
 “The King is unwilling to give you additional time in 
which to make your decision, for he has a great desire to step 
down from the throne. This is especially so given the loom-
ing Cokyrian threat. He feels father and son would be best 
equipped to orchestrate our battle strategy, if it comes to that. 
He also feels, like most men, that a father should not trust to 
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a daughter’s judgment on a decision as important as the selec-
tion of her husband. You well know it is his right to arrange 
your marriage, and he regards your resistance to Steldor as 
unreasonable. From his point of view, Steldor has the makings 
of both a great king and a fine husband.”
 He paused, watching me as tears filled my eyes. “He thinks 
he is being generous, as he has enabled you to walk away from 
the match by forfeiting the throne if you truly cannot give 
yourself to Steldor.”
 “Help me to see what I should do,” I implored in a small 
voice, almost too miserable to make a sound.
 “I’m afraid this is one decision you alone can make.”
 I dropped my gaze, examining my hands as I wrestled with 
the choice that had been put before me, then raised my head 
with a jerk as a fresh idea surfaced.
 “London!” I exclaimed, feeling a bit awkward, although I 
knew I had hit upon the ideal solution.
 “What?” he said, perplexed by my change in attitude.
 “Would you consider…I mean, what if we…” My cheeks 
blazed as the words tumbled from my mouth. “My father 
would see you as having the experience and qualities neces-
sary for a king. I’m sure he would give his permission for us 
to wed.”
 London looked shocked, then amused. “Are you proposing 
to me?”
 “Yes, I suppose I am,” I replied, almost delirious with relief. 
I could not believe it had taken so long for this idea to surface. 
“Don’t you see, this is perfect! We care for each other, and 
you have a strong military background, and I know my father 
trusts your judgment, as he and Cannan already rely upon your 
advice. And you are a natural leader. The troops are willing 
to follow your orders as much as Cannan’s.”
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 He looked into my eyes, then spoke, slowly but decisively.
 “I am honored, Alera, but I cannot marry you. I do care 
deeply for you, and I would give my life to protect you, but 
my feelings are not those of a husband toward a wife. And I 
cannot be King. I do not aspire to govern, and am too inde-
pendent to be comfortable in such a role. I am truly sorry.”
 I was not ready to give up, for I was certain that London 
would make a far better king and husband than would 
Steldor.
 Giving him a furtive glance, I said, only half in jest, “As 
Crown Princess of Hytanica and future Queen, I could order 
you to marry me.”
 His posture stiffened as if he now expected the worst.
 “If you order me to marry you, I will comply, but I ask you 
not to do so.”
 As much as I wanted to escape matrimony with Steldor, I 
could not force London into marriage against his will. I would 
be causing him the same pain my father was causing me.
 “Very well,” I said despondently.
 London studied me for a long moment.
 “I want you to be happy, but I am content with my life as it 
is,” he said. “If you cannot see your way to marrying Steldor, 
then perhaps forfeiting the throne would be the right thing 
to do.”
 I bit my lower lip as I tried to come to a decision, twisting 
my hands in agitation.
 “I cannot let my sister marry Steldor, irrespective of my 
circumstances. That would be unfair to her, as Steldor is in 
love with me.”
 “Don’t you think his feelings for you would subside over 
time?”
 “I don’t know. After all, we would both be living in the 
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palace and would continually come in contact with each 
other. I fear he would become bitter and resentful, and I 
don’t have faith that he would treat Mira well. She has such 
a sensitive nature that she could never withstand his anger or 
indifference.”
 “But there’s more to it than that, isn’t there?” London 
observed, astute as always. “I suspect that you, who could 
never be discouraged from involvement in issues affecting the 
kingdom, would have a difficult time walking away from the 
throne.”
 I nodded a little sheepishly, for London understood me 
better than anyone else.
 “Unlike me, Mira pays no attention to such matters. And 
even if she did, I doubt she would have the ability to inf luence 
Steldor’s decision making. On the other hand, I can at least 
get him to listen to my opinions, although he may not act in 
accordance with them.”
 I rubbed my hands together, for like the rest of me, they 
had grown cold.
 “Being the heir is my burden, and I cannot sacrifice Mira’s 
happiness to preserve my own. All of which means I am the 
one who must marry.”
 “It would appear that I previously misjudged you. You are 
quite grown-up after all.” There was no hint of sarcasm in 
London’s tone; rather, there was a touch of admiration.
 I accepted his compliment with a nod, for it was too diffi-
cult to force a smile. While the decision I had come to was the 
right one, that did not make it any less difficult or painful.
 “Thank you for attempting to intervene on my behalf. But 
I would like to be alone now. I have only a few hours before 
I must meet with Father.”
 After London’s departure, I nibbled at the lunch that had 
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been brought to my parlor. As the hours passed, and my de-
spair deepened, I left my quarters to visit the garden, having 
always found its atmosphere soothing. I strolled among the 
wide variety of plants, noting the buds on the trees and the 
first tulips of the spring, until I recollected I had some other 
unfinished business. With a tiny surge of energy, I walked 
toward my bodyguard, who stood by the back entrance into 
the palace.
 “Destari, send someone to inform Cannan that I would like 
to see him.”
 My request surprised him, but he nonetheless stepped into 
the palace to send a guard to find the captain. I turned away 
and began to pace along the garden path, eventually sitting 
upon one of the stone benches to await Cannan’s arrival. 
In no time at all, he entered the grounds, and I rose as he 
approached.
 “Princess Alera, I have been told you asked to speak with 
me,” he said, coming to a halt.
 Forgoing the usual niceties, I came right to the point.
 “Do you know of my father’s ultimatum?”
 “Yes, your father and I have discussed his decision. I am 
truly sorry it has come to this.”
 “You said you would withhold your permission for Steldor 
to marry me if I were not ready to wed. Would you likewise 
withhold permission with respect to Miranna?”
 I held my breath as I awaited his answer, for my last hope 
rested on his response. If Cannan would refuse permission 
for my sister as well as for me to marry Steldor, my father 
would have no choice but to give me additional time to find 
a husband.
 The captain examined me for a moment, and I could tell 
he understood where my thoughts had taken me. Despite the 
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sympathy underlying his words, his response was not what I 
wanted to hear.
 “No, as she is agreeable to the marriage. You must under-
stand, both your father and I believe Steldor has the qualities 
necessary to be King. I made that offer to you so that you 
might find someone who not only would be a good king, but 
to whom you could give your love. I didn’t make it because I 
wanted to prevent my son from taking the throne.”
 I glanced away from Cannan toward the late afternoon sun, 
knowing my time had run out. He stood patiently by my side 
while I came to the only decision my heart would permit.
 “Then I am ready to wed,” I declared, my desire to protect 
Miranna’s happiness outweighing my desire to avoid mar-
riage to Steldor. “Will you inform my father of my decision? 
I cannot bear the sight of him at the moment.”
 “As you wish,” he said, not at all perturbed by the resent-
ment I had expressed toward the King.
 He bowed, but spoke one last time before departing. “I can 
appreciate the complexity of this decision, but I believe you 
have made a wise choice. Your love for your sister and your 
devotion to duty are quite apparent. You have my utmost 
respect.”
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THE BETROTHAL CEREMONY WAS HELD THE 
following afternoon in the Royal Chapel. My father saw the 
necessity of moving with haste, due to the requirement that 
banns be published on three consecutive Sundays preceding 
the wedding day. The banns announced our betrothal, and 
asked for anyone who knew of a reason we should not be wed 
to come forward and confess it.
 Our parents and Miranna were the only witnesses to the 
event. I wore the white gown that had been made for my 
seventeenth birthday, while Steldor wore his black military 
uniform. He and I had not talked ahead of time, and I felt 
more awkward than ever before in my life as I stood beside 
him in front of the gray-haired priest.
 The ceremony itself was short, consisting of vows of inten-
tion and an exchange of rings. We joined our right hands, 
then the priest, in an insufferably nasal tone, asked Steldor, 
“Do you promise that you will take this woman to wife if the 
Holy Church consents?”
 “Yes, I will,” Steldor answered.
 The priest then directed the same question to me. “Do you 
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promise that you will take this man as your husband if the 
Holy Church consents?”
 “Yes, I will,” I stated woodenly, my heart hammering 
against my rib cage.
 “Let this be a symbol of your pledge,” the clergyman in-
toned, pressing a ring into the palm of Steldor’s left hand.
 Steldor removed his hand from mine and slid the golden 
band onto the third finger of my right hand. The priest re-
peated the ritual with me, and I rather clumsily slipped a 
golden band on the third finger of Steldor’s right hand.
 After blessing us, the priest’s final words were, “You may 
now seal your promises with a kiss.”
 Steldor stepped toward me, and, placing a hand under my 
chin, pressed his lips against mine.
 Our parents stepped forward to congratulate us, then Cannan 
and my father proceeded in the direction of the Throne Room 
to discuss the marriage contract, and my mother, Miranna and 
Faramay retreated to the Queen’s Drawing Room to begin 
planning the wedding. As the priest moved into the prayer 
room, I was left alone with Steldor, who tossed me an impu-
dent smile before sweeping me to him. He kissed me once 
more, only this time with greater insistence, and I found his 
passion almost frightening.
 “A betrothal kiss should be a foretaste of things to come, 
don’t you think?” he murmured as our lips parted, and there 
was hunger in his dark eyes.
 I pushed against his chest, but his powerful arms held me 
firmly in place.
 “Make no mistake, Alera. You are the daughter I have always 
favored as my wife.”
 He released me, but before I could respond, he took my 
hand and led me down the corridor to the Grand Entry.
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 “I shall call on you tonight for dinner,” he said. “A be-
trothed couple needs to spend time together, to get to know 
one another better before they are legally wed.”
 He turned and left the palace, presumably headed for the 
Military Complex, and I wondered if he would be requiring 
me to dine with him from now on. Lamenting my loss of 
freedom, I climbed the Grand Staircase, fighting the impulse 
to disappear into the mountains as Narian had done.

 I need not have worried about the amount of time I would 
be spending with Steldor during the six weeks that remained 
until our wedding. As the Cokyrians had maintained their en-
campments on the other side of the Recorah River, watching 
and waiting, Cannan countered with full troop deployments, 
which meant that Steldor and the other field commanders 
were deployed as well. On those few occasions when Steldor 
returned to the military base and seized the opportunity to 
dine with me, our meals were chaperoned by either his par-
ents or mine, for the Church had strict rules governing the 
activities of betrothed couples.
 My days also became busy. Even in times of peril such as 
those in which we lived, a royal wedding was an affair worthy 
of grand celebration, and our people needed a sign of hope. 
Invitations were inscribed and sent to all of the Hytanican 
nobility, the banns were prepared and published, a menu was 
established for the wedding feast, the entire palace was under-
going a thorough cleaning and the Royal Ballroom and King’s 
Dining Hall were being arranged and decorated. Unfortu-
nately, given the Cokyrian threat, royalty from neighboring 
kingdoms would not be invited, as would normally have been 
protocol. Even had the invitations been sent, I believed fear 
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of provoking Cokyri onto their own kingdoms would have 
prevented attendance by Gourhan, Emotana and Sarterad.
 As my mother was in charge of the wedding preparations, 
the primary decision that fell to me was the design of my wed-
ding gown. I called on my sister and mother for consultation, 
since they had more interest in fashion than did I. My sister 
and I had not talked since before my father had presented his 
ultimatum, and I wanted to know how she had come to agree 
to marry Steldor if I refused the union.
 We met the seamstresses in the Queen’s Drawing Room, 
where bolts of fabric were displayed across the sofa and chairs. 
My head spun with the myriad possibilities, both in style and 
fabric, with which I was being presented. After a couple of 
hours, I looked pleadingly at my mother.
 “Can’t we just keep it simple?”
 She smiled at me and held out a beautiful piece of cream 
silk against which she had laid a sheer fabric in deep gold.
 “This would be lovely, and the colors are rich, but 
simple.”
 I nodded in agreement, glad that at least one decision had 
been made.
 By the time the sun was setting, I felt like a pincushion. 
Fabric had been draped yon and hither across my body, but 
we had at last agreed on the basic design of my gown. We 
had also made choices of the fabric and style that would adorn 
Miranna.
 It was getting late, at least by my mother’s standards, so she 
dismissed the seamstresses and retired to her quarters. My sister 
and I were now alone for the first time all day and a painful 
hush pervaded the room.
 “I am not angry, Mira,” I said, gesturing to the sofa. “Stay 
with me another minute.”
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 Miranna looked at the door as if hoping to escape, then 
came to sit beside me, but she would not meet my eyes.
 “Just tell me,” I prompted, taking her hands in mine. “How 
did Father prevail upon you to be my second for marrying 
Steldor?”
 Receiving no reply, I tried another approach.
 “I was under the impression that you fancied a different 
young man, one by the name of Temerson.”
 I was gratified to see a small smile play at the corners of her 
mouth, only to disappear as regret crept onto her face.
 “I’m not like you, Alera,” she said, raising her head to 
meet my gaze. “I can’t stand up to Father the way you can, 
and I have no strong opinions on most subjects. And I don’t 
feel the same as you about Steldor. I know he is not always 
a gentleman, but that is part of his charm. And I agree with 
Father that he would be a good king.” She again cast her eyes 
away from me. “As Father was insistent upon seeing Steldor 
take the throne, I thought this might give you an alternative 
if you really could not conceive of being his wife. I’m sorry 
if I made your circumstances worse.”
 “You made the decision you thought was best, which is all 
any of us can do. I don’t want this to come between us. Be-
sides, you may recall that I offered him to you at my birthday 
celebration last year—I can hardly blame you for taking me 
at my word.”
 “You did, didn’t you?” she said, a smile at last brightening 
her face.
 “Now, tell me about Temerson. I believe he would have 
been sorely disappointed if you had been the one to marry 
Steldor.”
 “Yes, that was the one drawback to Father’s plan,” Miranna 
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returned with a pretty blush, letting go of her nervousness 
and guilt.
 We laughed together, and continued talking comfortably 
for quite some time before retiring for the night.
 After several more fittings, my wedding gown was fin-
ished, and the other preparations for the wedding were nearing 
completion as well. The final task that fell to me was the one I 
dreaded most. I was asked to choose a guest room on the third 
f loor that would serve as my bridal chamber, although my 
mother would be the one to make it ready. After the wedding, 
as the coronation approached, my parents would vacate the 
King’s and Queen’s quarters so that Steldor and I could move 
into them, and rooms on the third f loor would be renovated 
to suit their needs. My former quarters would remain vacant, 
in anticipation of an heir. As I did not really care which room 
was prepared for our wedding night, the only criterion I used 
in making my choice was that it be as far away as possible from 
the room in which Narian had lived.

 On the last day of April, but ten short days before my birth-
day and the day of my wedding, my mother hosted another 
afternoon tea party at the palace for the young noblewomen 
in my age group. Unlike the other gatherings she hosted of 
this nature, my mother intended this one to be purely a social 
event rather than an opportunity to evaluate our manners, 
movement and posture, which essentially meant there would 
be more than ample time for gossip.
 Miranna, Mother and I were met with a high level of chatter 
as we entered the first-f loor dining room, the noise ref lect-
ing the upbeat mood of the young women in attendance. As 
we began to greet our guests, the banter ceased and I felt as 
though all eyes were now riveted on me, confirming that I had 
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moments before been the prime topic of discussion. Indeed, 
my nosiest friends soon clustered around me, curious about 
the plans for my wedding, as I would be the first among us 
to marry. After garnering as many details as I was willing 
to disclose, their conversation degenerated into a review of 
Steldor’s charms, and I realized anew that I was the only girl 
in the group who did not aspire to be his wife. Deciding that 
my infatuated friends could explore this subject without me, 
I glanced around for my mother, intending to join her. I was 
about to move in her direction when Reveina’s voice stopped 
me cold.
 “If it were me, I would be most excited about the wedding 
night,” she was saying, her brown eyes misty. “Lord Steldor 
once kissed me, and his very touch made me weak in the 
knees, and now Alera will have him all to herself.”
 Heads bobbed, as the other girls enthusiastically agreed.
 “And he no doubt has experience with other women,” 
Reveina continued, brushing back her dark hair. “I have been 
told that is desirable in a husband, as he will know how to 
make things comfortable for his bride.”
 Several of the girls giggled and blushed at her brazen remark, 
but I said nothing. It had not even crossed my mind prior to 
this moment that Steldor might have had intimate relations 
with other women, and this information substantially increased 
my anxiety.
 “And what has become of Lord Narian?” Kalem, gener-
ally the romantic among us, asked. “He is quite handsome as 
well, and after what happened at the tournament last fall, I 
was hoping to meet him.”
 The other girls joined in assent.
 “The skill he showed during the exhibition was astound-
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ing!” announced blond-haired Noralee, her eyes wide, ref lect-
ing her customary level of shock.
 “Handsome, strong…and mysterious. Definitely a good 
second choice!” agreed Kalem. Then she looked sullenly at 
me, her light gray eyes shielded by her dark lashes. “Rumor has 
it that he showed quite an interest in you for a while. Really, 
Alera, you cannot have both of the most intriguing men in the 
kingdom!”
 “If he had not left, and you had been permitted to choose 
between them, who would you have favored?” queried 
Reveina.
 Everyone fell silent as they awaited my answer. I scrambled 
for a response, feeling self-conscious and ambushed. I was 
thankfully saved from further embarrassment by Miranna, 
who joined the circle and spoke up on my behalf.
 “Narian is the brother of my best friend, so naturally Alera 
and I have become acquainted with him, but that’s all there 
is to it.”
 Glancing appreciatively at my sister, I added, “And he de-
parted because he missed the mountains and wanted to spend 
some time there.”
 Before the other girls could press the matter further, 
Miranna ended the conversation.
 “Come, Sister. Mother is preparing to take her seat and 
wishes us to join her.” She took my hand and led me away, 
saying cheerily to our friends, “You should also find your 
places. This is probably your last chance to practice your man-
ners before the wedding.”
 I walked by Miranna’s side, my mood subdued. My friends’ 
comments had brought all of my fears to the forefront. Where 
was Narian? Why had he left? And what would Steldor expect 
from his bride? I knew, even if Steldor did not, that I no longer 

9780373210343_TS.indd   4709780373210343_TS.indd   470 2/4/11   9:31:16 AM2/4/11   9:31:16 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



471

had a heart to give, for Narian had taken it with him. I sat in 
silence through the serving of the tea, planning to depart as 
soon as I reasonably could, for the agony of Narian’s disappear-
ance had resurfaced. The emptiness inside was like physical 
pain, and I wanted to run from it, but there was no escape 
other than in sleep. I felt as though I lived in a netherworld, 
where I could neither reclaim the past nor embrace the future, 
but was condemned to struggle through each day.

 It rained the night before my wedding, which my mother 
told me was a good omen as it washed away past hurts and 
insults and permitted a fresh beginning. The morning of the 
wedding did indeed dawn fresh and clear, with the promise 
of a warm afternoon.
 My mother sent a special wedding breakfast to my quarters, 
but I only picked at the food, too nauseous to eat. I next bathed 
in scented water and permitted Sahdienne to brush out my 
long hair.
 Miranna, as my attendant, helped me into my wedding 
attire in the early afternoon. My gown was made of the fabric 
my mother had selected, cream silk with a sheer overlay of gold 
falling from just below the bustline. The rounded neckline 
led to ruched sleeves, and the bodice was overstitched in gold 
thread. A sheer gold cape swept the f loor and was attached 
at my shoulders so that it elegantly draped to reveal the gold 
lacing that ran all the way up the gown’s back. Upon my head 
I wore a simple gold band with three jewels set evenly across 
its front: sapphire for purity, emerald for hope and red jasper 
for love. My hair was swept up and over the back of the band 
into a loose bun and tied with gold ribbon. A simple gold 
cross adorned my neck. I would carry in my left hand a small 
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bouquet of f lowers interspersed with herbs that were believed 
to bring good fortune.
 The wedding was to take place in the Royal Ballroom, fol-
lowed by a feast in the King’s Dining Hall, then a return to 
the ballroom for dancing and socializing. My parents would 
escort me to the ceremony, and as the time for the service grew 
nigh, I waited for them in my quarters with ever-increasing 
dread.
 The music of minstrels, as well as the sounds of laughter 
and the clapping of hands, told me that Steldor was arriving. 
I could see the Central Courtyard through my open balcony 
doors and watched as he rode through the gates on his mag-
nificent gray stallion, a footman treading off to one side. This 
was the only time I had ever seen a horse permitted within 
the palace grounds, and my perception that nothing was as it 
should be grew even stronger.
 Steldor rode half the distance down the path that lay be-
tween the f lowering lilac hedges, then dismounted, handing 
his reins to the footman and turning to wave at the crowd that 
had followed him through the city streets. The people would 
continue to gather in anticipation of the ceremony, and after 
our vows had been exchanged, the head of each family would 
be permitted to enter the courtyard to receive two gold coins 
symbolizing our union.
 Glancing again toward the gates, I saw Cannan and Faramay 
step out of a carriage and begin to walk slowly up the white 
stone pathway. Other relatives and guests also arrived, parading 
in their wedding finery toward the open front doors of the 
palace. Unlike me, who lacked uncles, aunts and cousins, my 
father’s only brother having died in the war and my mother’s 
entire family likewise having perished, Steldor had a large 
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extended family, with nine uncles and aunts, and seventeen 
cousins.
 I stepped away from the balcony, so panicky I could scarcely 
breathe. Miranna crossed to me and held out a small glass of 
wine.
 “Mother thought this might help calm you.”
 I took a sip and handed it back to her.
 “Would you like to sit for a moment?” she asked. I shook 
my head and closed my eyes, willing my breathing to slow.
 “You look stunning,” she continued, attempting to sound 
reassuring.
 “You are breathtaking as well,” I replied, opening my eyes 
to examine her.
 There was a knock on the door and my mother glided into 
my bedroom, wearing a royal-blue gown stitched with gold. 
Her beautiful blond hair was coiffed and topped with the of-
ficial crown of the Queen, a circlet set with diamonds and 
adorned by a single cross in front that displayed five jewels, 
one each of sapphire, emerald, ruby and amethyst, with a 
diamond in the center.
 “I wanted to check on you, Alera, before your father joins 
us.” She gave me an airy embrace, then her serene blue eyes 
assessed me. “All brides are nervous on their wedding day, but 
you are marrying an exceptional young man, and everything 
will go smoothly.”
 “I’m fine, Mother,” I assured her, although I did not feel 
fine at all. I felt like the condemned facing the gallows. But 
even had I confided my feelings to my mother, she would not 
have understood; her own marriage had been arranged, and 
she always carried out her duties without complaint. I would 
only disappoint her by voicing my upset.
 “The guests have arrived, as has the groom, and all is 
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now ready. Is there anything you need before the ceremony 
begins?”
 “No, I’m fine,” I repeated, but the cracking of my voice 
argued otherwise.
 “Then let us move into the parlor to await your father.”
 It wasn’t long before a rap on the door told me the King 
had arrived, and he entered, attired in his royal-blue robes, the 
crown of the sovereign with its four bejeweled crosses upon 
his gray-f lecked hair. He beamed with joy as he crossed to 
me and kissed my cheek.
 “You are a vision, my dear. Are you ready to meet your 
groom?”
 I nodded, cynically thinking it would be more apt to say I 
was going to meet my doom, and we left my parlor to walk 
down the corridor toward the ballroom. When we arrived, 
we stopped just outside the doorway, and my mother stood 
to my left, my father to my right, their arms entwined in 
mine. A carpet of gold stretched before us, creating a path to 
the altar on the far side of the room. We would walk halfway 
into the ballroom along the near wall, then turn left, Miranna 
following behind as my attendant.
 “Shall we?” asked my father, and I took a deep breath.
 We moved forward at a measured pace, then turned and 
stopped, and I wasn’t certain I had the strength to make the 
long walk from where we now stood to the canopy and altar. 
The wedding guests who overf lowed the benches to my left 
and right did nothing to calm me.
 Steldor stood about halfway down the aisle, facing me, 
looking handsome in an embossed black leather jacket with 
extended shoulders, the sleeves and peplum of which were 
in deep green velvet. He wore his tall black boots over black 
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breeches, and his ruby-studded sword hung at his left hip, the 
dagger I had given him for his birthday at his right.
 Faramay, stunning in a shimmering light green gown, stood 
to Steldor’s left, while Cannan, clad in a dress coat of deep 
green velvet with gold embroidery, stood to his right. De-
spite my frame of mind, it came to me that this was the first 
time I had seen the captain in anything other than military 
garb. Galen, his wavy ash-brown hair freshly trimmed, stood 
just behind the three of them, wearing a well-cut black dress 
coat.
 As trumpets sounded, our wedding guests rose to their 
feet, and my parents and I walked forward until my father and 
Faramay stood side by side. The aged priest advanced from 
his position in front of the altar to meet us so he could ask 
the necessary questions to establish that Steldor and I could 
lawfully be joined in matrimony.
 “Do you know of any impediment why you may not be 
lawfully joined?” the priest said, the nasal quality of his voice 
somehow befitting my nausea.
 “No,” Steldor and I murmured.
 “Are you of legal age to marry?”
 “Yes,” we both replied.
 “Whose blessings accompany you?”
 Our parents together answered, “The blessings of their 
entire families.”
 At this point, Faramay took a step back and moved to Can-
nan’s right. My father removed my arm from his and rested 
my hand upon Steldor’s, then withdrew to stand beside my 
mother.
 “Have the banns been published?” droned the priest.
 “Yes, on three consecutive Sundays,” Steldor answered.
 The priest then asked the final, and perhaps most important, 
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question. “Do you come of your own free will and accord to 
be joined in marriage?”
 I glanced at Steldor, who had tensed almost imperceptibly.
 “Yes, I come of my own free will,” I stated. Steldor repeated 
the same, and I felt him relax, as though he had expected a 
different answer from me.
 The priest then arduously approached the altar. Steldor and 
I came next, followed by our parents, with Miranna and Galen 
bringing up the rear. As we reached the front, my parents 
moved to the left to sit in the thrones provided for them, 
while Cannan and Faramay went right to sit in large padded 
armchairs. Miranna came to stand next to me, and I handed 
her my bouquet, while Galen took his place beside Steldor.
 The priest joined my right hand with my betrothed’s, 
and we turned to face one another as the exchange of vows 
began.
 “Do you take this woman as your wife?” the priest in-
quired.
 “I receive you as mine, so that you become my wife and 
I your husband,” Steldor said, gazing into my eyes. “And I 
commit to you the fidelity of my body, and I will keep you 
in health and sickness, nor for better or worse will I change 
toward you until the end.” His voice was strong, for he suf-
fered from no indecision.
 The priest then addressed me. “Do you take this man as 
your husband?”
 I looked down and took a deep breath, my heart pounding 
so loudly in my ears that I wasn’t certain I’d be able to hear 
my own voice. Then I forced myself to meet Steldor’s eyes.
 “I receive you as mine, so that you become my husband 
and I your wife,” I said with a slight quaver. “And I commit 
to you the fidelity of my body, and I will keep you in health 
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and sickness, nor for better or worse will I change toward you 
until the end.”
 A smile f litted across Steldor’s face as I finished, and we 
turned toward the priest, who took the marriage ring from 
Galen. After blessing it, he handed it to Steldor.
 Removing his right hand from mine, Steldor raised my 
left, palm downward, and partially slid the ring first on my 
thumb, then on my index finger, my middle finger, and my 
third finger, where it finally came to rest. With each place-
ment of the ring, he made a pledge.
 “With this ring I thee wed, this gold I thee give, with my 
body I thee worship, and with all my worldly goods I thee 
endow.”
 We turned to kneel on the padded step before the priest 
and shared our first communion as husband and wife. After 
placing a veil over us to signify our union, the priest blessed 
us, and we rose to our feet. Steldor removed the veil, then 
turned to me and untied the ribbon that held my hair in its 
bun, letting my dark tresses cascade down my back to signify 
his dominion over me. His fingers skimmed my shoulders and 
he pulled me into his embrace, kissing me deeply.
 A cheer went up from our guests, and Steldor and I walked 
briskly back down the aisle, into the corridor, and over to the 
King’s Dining Hall, where we began to receive congratulations 
from our friends and family. I was glad to have the ceremony 
behind me, but fear clutched at my heart, for I had no idea 
what marriage to Steldor held in store.
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AFTER THE KING AND QUEEN MOVED TO THE 
high table that was set for our newly united families, Steldor 
and I followed, and the rest of the assembled guests found 
seating as well. We waited for a blessing from the priest, and 
then the meal began. The wedding feast was served in several 
courses, beginning with soup, bread f lavored with ale, and 
an assortment of cheeses, to be followed by tortes filled with 
spicy veal and dates. Next came stuffed roast suckling pig, 
smoked fish, mutton and all manner of roast birds, served with 
stewed cabbage. Fruit custard in a pie followed, along with 
spicy mulled wine. Rose-scented water was provided to the 
guests so that they could cleanse their hands between courses, 
and all was washed down with wine and ale. Throughout the 
meal, musicians performed, joined by acrobats, jugglers and 
singers as the tables were cleared.
 At the conclusion of the feast, Steldor stood and guided me 
to my feet. He took my hand and led me toward a round table 
that held a platter upon which our guests had been stacking 
the small cakes they had brought as gifts. With more than six 
hundred guests in attendance, the stack of cakes had grown 
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several feet high. Tradition called for us to try to kiss over 
the top of the stack without toppling the cakes in order to be 
granted luck and prosperity.
 Steldor removed my gown’s cape from the clips at my shoul-
ders as he evaluated the task. He had an advantage as he stood 
four inches taller than me, but even he could not possibly lean 
over the cakes. We looked quizzically at each other, and then 
he called for benches. As Galen steadied Steldor’s bench and 
Miranna, assisted by Temerson, steadied mine, we stepped 
onto the seats and eyed each other over the tops of the cakes. 
Steldor rubbed his hands together, then held them out to me, 
and I reached out to join mine with his. Supporting each other, 
we leaned forward, trying to keep a bend in our waists so as 
not to nudge the stack of pastries. Our heads came together 
and our lips brief ly touched as laughter and cheering erupted 
around us, but we recognized at about the same time that I 
was not strong enough to push myself away and back into a 
standing position. With a nod of his head to his right, Steldor 
indicated to me the direction in which he wanted us to fall. 
Pushing off each other’s hands, we swayed to the right, Steldor 
pulling me to the side as he jumped off his bench. Somehow, 
he managed to catch me before I hit the f loor, and although 
the stack swayed precariously, it stayed upright. I laughed along 
with our jubilant guests, enjoying myself for the first time all 
day. As Steldor set me back upon my feet, a grin brightened 
his features and he drew me into a firm embrace.
 “Well done!” he exclaimed, his eyes alight, and I found 
myself returning his smile.
 Again taking me by the hand, Steldor led me through the 
crowd so that we could return to the ballroom for dancing 
and additional entertainment. By this time, the benches had 
been repositioned along the perimeter of the room, the altar 

9780373210343_TS.indd   4799780373210343_TS.indd   479 2/4/11   9:31:16 AM2/4/11   9:31:16 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



Cayla Kluver480

and other items related to the wedding ceremony had been 
removed, and refreshment tables had been set against the near 
wall.
 As Steldor led me onto the dance f loor, he reminded me 
of our last attempt at dancing.
 “Remember, I’m the one who is supposed to lead.”
 I tried to relax in his arms, for I knew he was an excellent 
dancer, and as I did so, our movements became smooth and 
lithe. After a few turns around the f loor, he gazed down at 
me, an amorous glow in the depths of his eyes.
 “I trust this is a sign of submission in other ways, as well,” 
he murmured, and I was instantly wary of his meaning.
 After a second dance, I felt the need for a break, and Steldor 
left my side to retrieve glasses of wine. London chose to confer 
with me in my husband’s absence, approaching me with a 
melancholy smile.
 “I hope you will find happiness,” he wished me. “I will miss 
your company, for my duties will no longer place me within 
the palace.”
 This had not occurred to me, and I found it quite upset-
ting.
 “But we will remain friends, won’t we?”
 “Of course,” he vowed, but his voice lacked conviction. “I 
thought you might be interested to know that I am leaving 
tomorrow to hunt for Narian in the mountains. If I find him, 
I will bring him back to Hytanica. Cannan believes he could 
be just as useful to us as to the enemy.”
 Steldor returned and handed me a glass of wine, looking 
askance at London, who bowed and departed. I had no time 
to ref lect on London’s words as guests continued to approach, 
wishing us health and happiness.
 When the group of well-wishers finally began to dwindle, 
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Lord Baelic, Steldor’s uncle and Cannan’s younger brother, 
approached. While I knew Lord Baelic’s wife, Lady Lania, and 
his oldest daughters Lady Dahnath and Lady Shaselle from my 
mother’s tea parties, I had never before met him. I knew little 
about him other than that he held the rank of major and was 
the cavalry officer at the Military Complex.
 Baelic was slightly shorter than his brother and his nephew, 
but otherwise bore a remarkable resemblance to Cannan, with 
hair so dark it was almost black, dark brown eyes, a chiseled 
jawline and a muscular build. It did not take me long, how-
ever, to discover a glaring difference between the brothers, 
for Baelic was as smiley as Cannan was grave.
 After Steldor made the introductions, Baelic kissed my 
hand.
 “Congratulations, Lord Steldor. Princess Alera, my sympa-
thies.”
 Ignoring Steldor’s groan of complaint, his uncle continued, 
looking playfully into my eyes.
 “If you’re ever in need of something you can hold over his 
head, come talk to me. I know everything about him that he 
would prefer to keep from his father.” He glanced merrily at 
Steldor, then finished, “And that’s my wedding gift to you.”
 “Is it impolite to refuse a gift?” Steldor retorted.
 “It depends on the gift,” Baelic countered with a crooked 
smile. “Surely you wouldn’t turn down one as high in quality 
as this.”
 Before Steldor could answer, I made my opinion known. 
“I have no intention of turning it down.”
 “I like her more every moment,” Baelic said. “I still can’t 
figure out what she’s doing with you.”
 I almost laughed out loud at Baelic’s willingness to needle his 
nephew, and was drawn to his light and engaging manner.
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 Steldor contemplated his uncle for a moment, the corners 
of his mouth pulling upward in amusement.
 “She settled for a twenty-one-year-old charmer when she 
found that all the old fools were taken,” he parried.
 “You cut me to the bone, dear nephew.”
 “Then I shall make up for it by hiring you as my jester, dear 
uncle.”
 With a chuckle and another deep bow, Baelic said to me, 
“It was a pleasure meeting you. I shall leave my incorrigible 
nephew in your care, and I heartily wish you the best of 
luck.”
 He slapped Steldor on the shoulder and departed, leaving no 
doubt in my mind as to from whom my husband had inherited 
his innate charm.
 As soon as Baelic had left us, my father drew Steldor away 
from me. Feeling awkward, I cast about for my sister, but 
instead saw Galen walking in my direction. I presumed he 
was coming to talk to his best friend, so was at a loss when he 
strode over to me instead.
 “May I have the pleasure of a dance?” he inquired, with a 
courteous bow.
 I examined him skeptically for a moment before rebuffing 
him. “I would prefer to watch the other couples.”
 Although I did not know him well, I assumed from my 
brief encounters with him that he was not likely to win my 
favor.
 He considered me carefully before responding. “No, you 
don’t care to dance with anyone, or no, you don’t care to 
dance with me?” He sounded curious, no trace of offense in 
his tone.
 Knowing that the truth would come across as rude, I started 
to tell a lie, but he put two fingers against my lips.

9780373210343_TS.indd   4829780373210343_TS.indd   482 2/4/11   9:31:16 AM2/4/11   9:31:16 AM

BOUND GALLEY EDITION February 10, 2011



483

 “Your hesitation speaks volumes, so I assume you would also 
be unwilling to keep company with me.” He inclined his head, 
smiling ruefully. “I will leave you in peace, My Lady.”
 Stung by guilt for refusing his request, I reached out my 
hand and caught his arm as he turned to walk away.
 “Please. A dance would be welcome after all.”
 “It will be my honor,” he said, and he escorted me onto 
the dance f loor.
 I discovered that, like Steldor, Galen was an excellent 
dancer, and I moved elegantly in his arms as he guided me 
among the other couples.
 “That wasn’t so bad, was it?” he remarked as the song ended 
and he led me from the f loor.
 “Actually, it was quite pleasant.”
 I glanced over toward Steldor, who was now bantering 
with Barid, Devant and others of his military friends. I sighed, 
having no desire to mingle with that particular group, and 
not trusting that I would be welcome in any case.
 “I would be happy to provide you companionship until 
someone more to your liking comes along,” Galen declared, 
taking note of my dilemma.
 I paused, unsure how to interpret his comment, but then 
smiled, for there was a twinkle in his soft brown eyes and a 
smirk playing at the corners of his mouth.
 “Your company is to my liking, sir,” I told him.
 We did not, however, have further time to converse, for a 
group of young women was moving toward us, clearly of a 
mind to speak with me.
 “As I am generally not that popular with the ladies,” Galen 
teased, “and as my sisters are among the throng, I will leave 
you in their hands.”
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 He bowed and departed, moving to join Steldor before my 
friends could swarm around me.
 It wasn’t long before I tired of the group’s conversation, for 
they were obsessed with comparing the marriage potential of 
the remaining eligible men of noble birth. Seeing my mother, 
I excused myself and went to her, weariness seeping through 
me. She was standing with Faramay, Lady Hauna, who was 
Galen’s mother and Tiersia, who had once again come as 
Galen’s date.
 As I talked with the women, I saw Steldor’s eyes f lit in 
my direction several times. The evening was growing late, 
as evidenced by the platters of food that servants were now 
bringing to the refreshment tables so that our guests might 
acquire the fortitude to celebrate until morning.
 Breaking from his friends, Steldor advanced on me. He 
bowed to the Queen and kissed his mother dutifully on the 
cheek, then slid an arm around my waist.
 “I think my wife is exhausted from the festivities and that 
we should perhaps retire for the night.”
 A chill swept over me at the thought of what was to come, 
and the nausea that had dissipated in the aftermath of the 
ceremony returned.
 With his arm encircling my waist, he drew me with him 
to receive permission from the King for us to leave, then also 
bade good-night to his father.
 I climbed the front stairway to the third f loor with Steldor, 
trailing the elderly priest who had yet to bless the bridal cham-
ber, feeling as though each slow and methodical step added a 
nail to my coffin. As we approached the room I had selected, 
Steldor guided me away from it, further down the hallway. 
We then approached the room that had most recently been 
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Narian’s. The priest and Steldor entered, but I hovered in the 
doorway, confused and dismayed.
 “This will serve us better,” Steldor said, taking my hand. 
Then he chastised me in a low voice, “I will tolerate no ghosts 
in my home.”
 I entered the room, feeling nervous and humiliated, since 
Steldor had surmised that I did not want to intrude upon this 
space. I stopped a few feet over the threshold and surveyed 
my prison. The room had, of course, been refurbished by my 
mother in preparation for this night. Across from us was a large 
four-poster bed topped with a golden spread and numerous 
pillows. Rose petals strewn across its surface added a subtle 
fragrance. A small table adjacent to the bed held a lantern along 
with a jug of wine and two goblets. A large fireplace took up 
most of the wall to our left, but no fire had been kindled as 
the day had been quite warm, and a sofa and several chairs 
were grouped about the hearth. The f lower-filled urns from 
the wedding had been brought up to the room and lined the 
wall to our right, adding a heady scent to the air.
 The priest moved to the side of the bed and beckoned for 
Steldor and me to come to him. I stood in embarrassment 
at my husband’s side as the clergyman blessed us and our 
wedding bed in order to ensure good fortune and fertility. 
The ceremony completed, I showed him to the door into the 
corridor.
 After the priest’s departure, I stood in the center of the 
room, eyeing Steldor, painfully aware that I now belonged 
to him, and that no one would interfere should he choose to 
assert his rights as a husband. He perused me as he tossed his 
leather jacket on one of the chairs and unlaced his white shirt, 
and I could see his silver wolf ’s head talisman lying against his 
sturdy chest. He came to me and unceremoniously kissed me, 
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placing his hands on the sides of my face. As his now-familiar 
scent washed over me, he ran his hands down my body until 
they rested upon my hips. I stiffened at his touch, and he 
stepped back from me.
 “Turn around,” he instructed, “and I will help you out of 
your wedding dress.”
 I silently beseeched him, but, seeing no compassion in his 
eyes, presented my back to him. He began to loosen the lacing 
of my gown, gently kissing my shoulders and neck as he did so. 
I shuddered, and he dropped his hands. Fearful of his inten-
tions, I pivoted and saw him standing with his arms crossed 
over his chest, his handsome face clouded by frustration.
 “What am I to do with you?” he asked. “I would like 
nothing better than to lie with you tonight, but it appears you 
would not come freely, but solely out of duty.”
 I cast my eyes to the f loor, afraid to respond to his accusa-
tion. He stepped toward me once more, and with one hand 
against the small of my back, the other enmeshed in my hair, 
clasped my body against his, kissing me with greater passion. 
When I again stiffened, he abruptly released me and retreated 
two steps. I waited in misery as he raked a hand through his 
dark hair, his eyes now f lashing.
 “It is our wedding night, Alera. You are intelligent enough 
to know what is expected.”
 “I know what is expected but don’t yet feel ready to submit, 
My Lord,” I said faintly. I decided my best ploy would be to 
use his own words against him. “You told me not long ago that 
you were willing to take things slowly. I implore you now to 
be true to that promise and permit me time to become more 
comfortable with you…physically.”
 To my surprise, he laughed.
 “You really are the devil, you know,” he said. “Fine, then, 
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I will give you some time, but willing or not, you do have an 
obligation as a wife and a queen to bear an heir.”
 He turned from me and moved toward the bed, pulling 
off his shirt, and in spite of myself, I couldn’t help staring at 
his muscular form. Noticing my gaze, he raised a denigrating 
eyebrow.
 “Just tell me how long you would like to look.”
 I averted my eyes, embarrassed yet again.
 “As there is only one bed, it is your choice whether to join 
me or make use of the sofa,” he added.
 With one last disparaging glance my way, he snuffed out the 
lantern and crawled beneath the inviting covers, leaving me 
to stand in the dark in my wedding gown, with no creature 
comforts should I elect to sleep apart from him.
 Disconcerted, I moved toward the chair upon which he 
had tossed his jacket, gathering the garment into my arms and 
fumbling my way to the sofa. It was now too dark for me to 
find my nightdress, and with no maid to assist me in disrob-
ing, it being expected that the groom would aid his wife on 
their wedding night, I was momentarily lost. Then I tugged 
apart the lacing Steldor had loosened, letting the gown fall 
with a soft rustle to the f loor. Using my husband’s coat as a 
blanket, I lay down on my chosen bed in my chemise to stare 
sightlessly at the ceiling, knowing that I was in for a restless 
night.
 Narian came to me in my dreams, enfolding me in his arms 
and whisking me away from all unhappiness. The dream was 
so sweet and real that I could feel his rough shirt brush across 
my cheek, breathe in his earthy scent and see the love in his 
deep blue eyes as he bent to press his lips to mine. I awoke 
abruptly to lie motionless in the dark, tears trickling from the 
corners of my eyes, wondering where he was and if I would 
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ever be with him again. I forced my mind to still, listening 
only to my heart and trusting in hope to be my guiding light. 
As I closed my eyes, I was filled with the certainty that he 
would find a way to come back to me. Despite everything, I 
had to believe that his love was unwavering, and as constant 
as the rhythm of my heart.

* * * * *

To be continued in ALLEGIANCE
and

concluded in SACRIFICE
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in Legacy and in me meant so much.
 Last but not least, thanks to every single person out there 
who reads this book—you’re the reason I’m able to do what 
I love for a living!

Until next time,
Cayla Kluver
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